
Please ask for Julie Britton: Telephone (01362) 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE

WARD REPRESENTATIVES WISHING TO SPEAK ON A PARTICULAR APPLICATION ARE 
ASKED TO INFORM THE PLANNING USHER WELL IN ADVANCE OF THE MEETING AND TO 
ARRIVE AT THE MEETING BY 9.30AM

Committee - PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date & Time - MONDAY, 22ND JULY, 2019 AT 9.30 am

Venue - ANGLIA ROOM, THE CONFERENCE SUITE, 
ELIZABETH HOUSE, DEREHAM

THE ORDER OF THE MEETING WILL VARY TO 
ALLOW FOR PUBLIC SPEAKING AND WILL 

NOT FOLLOW THAT OF THIS AGENDA

THIS MEETING WILL BE RECORDED BY THE COUNCIL

Mobile phones and other equipment may also be used to audio record, film, tweet or blog from this 
meeting by an individual Council Member or a member of the public.  No part of the meeting room 
is exempt from public filming etc unless the meeting resolves to go into private session.  However, 
the use of images or recordings arising from this is not under the Council’s control.  Please only 
audio record, film, tweet or blog the representative(s) of the application you are interested in and 
only do so if you have that person’s permission.
NB: The use of images or recordings arising from this is not under the Council’s control.

VOTING:

If the first vote is lost in considering an application, a new proposal will be requested (eg a 
vote for approval, if lost, does not automatically mean “refused”).  On a tied vote, the 
Chairman has a casting vote, if he/she wishes to use it.  It is necessary for summary 
reasons for approvals or refusals to be identified in each case.

Democratic Services
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE
Date: Thursday, 11 July 2019

Public Document Pack





BRECKLAND COUNCIL – PLANNING COMMITTEE

. PLANNING POLICY NOTE

THE STRENGTH OF PLANNING POLICY IN DETERMINING PLANNING APPLICATIONS

The Planning process is set up, IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST, to protect the public from the unacceptable 
planning activities of private individuals and development companies. Planning is primarily concerned to deal 
with issues of land use and the way they affect the environment.

The Council has a DUTY, through the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to prepare Local Development 
Documents (DPDs) to provide a statutory framework for planning decisions. The Development Plan for Breckland 
currently consists of a suite of documents. The primary document which sets out the overarching planning strategy 
for the District and the local planning policies is the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies document. This 
was adopted by Breckland Council on 17th December 2009 and is the local starting point in the determination of 
planning applications. Breckland Council has also adopted its Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPD, on 19th 
January 2012. The document allocates specific areas of land for development and revised settlement boundaries.

Breckland’s Plan contains the Council’s planning policies, which must be consistent with Government policy which is 
currently the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and accompanying technical guidance.

The full public scrutiny of the Council’s proposals will give the Plan an exceptional weight when dealing with planning 
applications.

This shift towards a “Plan-led” planning system is a major feature of planning legislation. The Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, states that planning applications should be determined in accordance with the policies of 
the Plan, unless material considerations which are relevant to planning indicate otherwise.

The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to achieve sustainable development. The core planning 
principles contained within the NPPF are summarised as:

 To be genuinely plan led
 To drive and support sustainable economic development
 Seek high quality design
 Conserve and enhance the natural environment
 Encourage the effective use of land
 Conserve heritage assets

Unless there are special reasons to do otherwise, planning permissions “run with the land”, and are NOT personal 
licences.

The factors to be used in determining applications will relate to the effect on the “public at large” and will NOT be 
those that refer to private interests.

Personal circumstances of applicants “will rarely” be an influencing factor, and then, only when the planning issues 
are “finely balanced”.

THEREFORE we will:
• acknowledge the strength of our policies,
• be consistent in the application of our policy, and
• if we need to adapt our policy, we should do it through the LDF process.

Decisions which are finely balanced, and which contradict policy will be recorded in detail, to explain and 
justify the decision, and the strength of the material planning reasons for doing so.

LOCAL COUNCILS

OCCASIONALLY, THERE ARE CONFLICTS WITH THE VIEWS OF THE PARISH OR TOWN COUNCIL. WHY IS 
THIS?

We ask local parish and town councils to recognise that comments received are taken into account. Where we 
disagree with those comments it will be because:

• Districts look to “wider” policies, and national, regional and county planning strategy.
 Other consultation responses may have affected our recommendation.
• There is an honest difference of opinion.



Planning Committee
22 July 2019

PART A
ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 8 - 18
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 24 June 2019.

2. APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES 
To receive apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS 
RECEIVED 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

5. REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
To consider any requests from Ward Members, officers or applicants to 
defer an application included in this agenda, so as to save any unnecessary 
waiting by members of the public attending for such applications.

6. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

7. LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) 
To receive an update.  

8. DEFERRED APPLICATIONS 19
To consider applications deferred at previous meetings including some, but 
not all, of those shown on the attached Schedule of Deferred Applications.

a) Dereham: Rear of Greenfields Road: Reference: 3PL/2016/0952/O 20 - 36 

Residential development of 48 dwellings

This application was heard at the Planning Committee meeting on 
9/01/2017, where Members resolved to grant planning permission 
subject to proposed conditions and a S106 Agreement to secure the 
following:

 Provision of on-site affordable housing at 20%
 Contributions to Library services of 75.00 per dwelling; and
 Contributions to local Primary Schools on a pro rata basis of 

3,039 per dwelling.



Planning Committee
22 July 2019

Page(s)
herewith

 Public Open Space Contribution.

It has taken this period to agree the wording of the S106 which has 
now been signed by all relevant parties. Given the significant period 
that has passed since the previous Committee resolution the Council 
has undertaken a public re-consultation with all neighbours and 
statutory consultees, which expires on 18th July 2019, the comments 
received are reported at Section B of the report.

b) Dereham:  Land East of Yaxham Road, South of Dumpling Green: 
Reference: 3PL/2010/1361/F - THIS APPLICATION HAS BEEN 
DEFERRED UNTIL THE SEPTEMBER MEETING

37 - 62 

Erection of 255 dwellings with associated open space.

At the last Planning Committee held on 24/06/2019, Members voted 
to defer this item, with a request that the Highways Authority attend 
and explain their reasoning for 'no objection' to the development. 
Members also raised concerns that the consultation period for the 
application had not yet expired. The consultation period on the 
application has expired and an update is provided for Members with 
regards to this item (see Section B of the report).

c) Watton: Rear of 121A, Brandon Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1087/F 63 - 78 

Erection of 9 dwellings and ancillary works.

This application was originally deferred from the Planning Committee 
meeting on 8th April 2019 as further information was required with 
regards to outstanding ecology and flood risk information. The report 
has been updated to reflect the current situation with regards to this 
site.

d) Yaxham: The Old Post Office, Norwich Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0312/F

79 - 86 

This application was considered by the Planning Committee on 2nd 
July 2018 and was resolved to be approved subject to conditions 
listed in the report and delegated authority be given to the Director of 
Planning & Building Control to grant permission on receipt of the 
resolution of the ecological information.

Twelve months have passed since the 2018 Committee meeting and 
the survey has not been submitted or instructed. On this basis, the 
application is brought back to Planning Committee with a 
recommendation of refusal due to lack of protected species 
information which conflicts with Policy CP 10 and The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.



Planning Committee
22 July 2019

Page(s)
herewith

9. SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
To consider the Schedule of Planning Applications:

a) Banham: Land to the south of Kenninghall Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0091/D

87 - 96 

Proposed development of 43 dwellings, associated infrastructure and 
open space.

b) Beeston: Land at Syers Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0424/VAR 97 - 106 

Variation of Conditions No 6 on 3PL/2017/0702/O -to allow retention 
of hedge line.

c) Billingford: Old Bells Farm, Elmham Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1254/O

107 - 118 

Two detached dwellings on site of old barns.

d) Carbrooke: Land to the rear of The Crown House, Meadow Lane: 
Reference: 3PL/2019/0596/F

119 - 129 

Proposed construction of two new bungalows.

e) Griston: 1 Watton Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1361/O 130 - 140 

Outline planning application for residential development of up to 3 
dwellings (with all matters reserved accept access).

f) Lynford: Lynford Gardens, Lynford Road: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0576/F

141 - 148 

Erection of dwelling.

g) Mileham: Litcham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1564/O 149 - 166 

Construction of 6 new dwellings including two affordable units.

h) Narborough:  Land to the west of Chalk Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2015/1180/O

167 - 184 

Erection of up to 40 dwellings.

i) North Lopham: Land at Meadow Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1118/F 185 - 199 

Erection of 7 dwellings and associated access and landscaping.

j) North Lopham: Church Farm, Church Road: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0608/VAR

200 - 210 

Variation of Condition 2 & 8 on 3PL/2017/0948/O (demolition of 
existing agricultural buildings. Erection of 15 new dwellings) - to allow 
for demolition to enable contamination reports to be carried out.



Planning Committee
22 July 2019

Page(s)
herewith

k) Quidenham: Land at Station Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1608/D 211 - 222 

Residential development - 24 dwellings.

l) Rocklands: Land South of The Street, Rockland All Saints: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1533/O

223 - 233 

Erection of one dwelling and garage with parking and turning and 
improved highway access.

m) Swaffham: Land on the East of Brandon Road: Reference: 
3OB/2019/0018/OB

234 - 237 

Affordable Housing Provision.

n) Swaffham: Great Friars Farm, Silver Drift: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0152/VAR

238 - 251 

Variation of conditions No 2 & 3 on 3PL2013/0623/F (anaerobic 
digestion renewable energy facility) - revised layout and design of 
buildings/plants and feedstock quantum.

o) Swaffham: Silver Drift, Reference: 3PL/2019/0154/F 252 - 256 

Retention of 2 x surface water lagoons and earth bunding.

p) Watton:  Land at Thetford Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0952/O 257 - 279 

Erection of up to 180 dwellings, the provision of open space and 
recreational facilities, with site access and associated highways and 
infrastructure works.

q) Whissonsett: The Paddocks, London Street: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0408/F

280 - 288 

Erection of one bungalow.

r) Wretham: Toft Barns, Church Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0321/F 289 - 299 

Erection of dwelling and detached garage.

10. APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
PLACE 

300 - 311

Report of the Executive Director of Place.

Members are requested to raise any questions at least two working days 
before the meeting to allow information to be provided to the Committee.

11. APPEALS (FOR INFORMATION) 312 - 313



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 24 June 2019 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr R. Atterwill
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen

Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mr K. Martin
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Miss H. Bushell (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr S Askew (Ward 
Representative)
Mr R.G. Kybird (Ward 
Representative)

Mr P. Morton (Ward Representative)
Mr S.G. Bambridge

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Jon Berry Head of Development Management
Naomi Minto Development Management Planner
Rebecca Collins Head of Major Projects
Fiona Hunter Principal Development Management Planner
Mark Simmonds Principal Development Management Planner
Tom Donnelly Development Management Planner
Joe Barrow Planning Graduate
Ruth Tudge Democratic Services Officer

 

Action By
63/19MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 28 May 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

64/19APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Helen Crane, with 
Councillor Hilary Bushell in attendance as her substitute.

65/19DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 

a) Attleborough:  Land off Long Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/1150/F

Councillor Suggitt declared an interest in this application. Having fully explained 
the nature and extent of her interest in this application before the Meeting to 
Michael Horn, the Solicitor to the Council, Mr Horn confirmed that this was a 
declarable matter but in his opinion, it was a personal non-prejudicial interest and 
that accordingly, Councillor Suggitt could remain in the room, take part in the 
debate and vote.

8

Agenda Item 1



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

b) Carbrooke: Manor Farm, Willow Corner: Reference: 3PL/2018/0815/F 
and Reference: 3PL/2018/0816/LB

Councillor Gilbert declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this application, 
he remained in the room but took no part in this discussion and did not vote.

66/19CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Chairman announced that Officer Carl Griffiths, a Principal Development 
Manager, had left Breckland Council and would be replaced by Chris Hobson. He 
also thanked Members for how well they had accepted and managed the transfer 
to go paperless. 

67/19REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 

Item 9(e): Beeston: Reference 3PL/2019/0372/F had been deferred.

68/19URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

69/19LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) 

The Director of Planning & Building Control, Simon Wood, provided the 
Committee with an update on the Local Plan.

The Local Plan was still in the middle of its consultation period, which would end 
on 12th July 2019. The 5 year housing land supply statement was still being 
finalised; there were some issues trying to get information from developers. That 
had now taken on more urgency and importance in terms of the rules around 
local authorities being able to demonstrate availability and deliverability of 
housing. Previously, the responsibility for that rested with developers, but that 
had now changed. It was still the intention to finalise this as soon as possible and 
Members would be kept updated on the process.

Cllr Atterwill stated his disappointment, as last month it was anticipated that a 
report would be ready for June. He said it was his understanding that an external 
consultant was looking at this work and asked if they had given any indication 
that the Council was getting somewhere near the 5 year housing supply target.

The Director of Planning and Building control stated that over the last 12 months 
up to March 30th, the Council had a record level of delivery of housing. Beyond 
that, they were still compiling the commitments and what was to be brought 
forward over the next 5 years and beyond. At this time, he could not provide an 
indication as to whether or not there may be a 5 year housing supply.

It was agreed that Simon Wood and Councillor Atterwill would meet outside of 
the meeting to go through this complex process. 

70/19DEFERRED APPLICATIONS 

(a) Dereham: Land East of Yaxham Road,  South of Dumpling Green: Reference: 
3PL/2010/1361/F  

Proposed 255 no. dwellings with associated open space.

This application had first been deferred from the Planning committee meeting 
9



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

held on 1st September 2014 for further information including an updated 
Transport Assessment and re-examination of the safety issues regarding the off-
site substandard railway bridge crossing.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, Head of 
Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative       Councillor Philip Morton
Ward Representative        Councillor Alison Webb
Visiting Ward Representative        Councillor Ian Martin
Agent Hopkins Homes  Chris Smith
Town Council  Tony Needham
Parish Council  Bob Gust
Objector  Mary Brayn
Objector  Allan Read
Objector  Valerie Pitt

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 3 for further deferment with a request that 
Highways attend and explain their reasoning for not objecting to the 
application.

71/19SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

(a) Attleborough:  Land off Long Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/1150/F  

Residential dwelling on existing agricultural unit to provide housing for Farm 
Manager.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent Oliver Jones - Plandescil

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 3 to defer the application to allow the 
applicant the opportunity to change the design.

(b) Attleborough: Oak Cottage, West Carr Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0051/O  

Sub division of garden to provide building plot.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Naomi Minto, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

10



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Simon Daniels

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(c) Beachamwell: Site to south of The Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/0345/O  

Proposed residential development for 19 residential dwellings.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Parish Council: Richard James

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for refusal as recommended.

(d) Beeston: Land Adjacent to Shalee Drury Square: Reference: 3PL/2019/0203/F  

Erection of detached house and garage.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: Jonathan Burton

DECISION: 6 x 5 refusal as recommended, with delegated authority to 
remove the reason for refusal relating to ecology, in consultation with 
ecologist based on new information submitted, if appropriate.

(e) Beeston: Land off The Street & Herne Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0372/F  

This application had been deferred (see Minute No. 67/19 above).

(f) Carbrooke: Manor Farm,Willow Corner: Reference: 3PL/2018/0815/F  

Restoration and sub-division of a Grade II  Listed farmhouse to form 2 x no 
dwellings; erection of 3 x no new dwellings; associated parking and turning 
areas; associated landscaping (AMENDED DESCRIPTION). This item was 
discussed in conjunction with Listed Building application 3PL/2018/0816/LB 
below.

11



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent Erica Whettingsteel of EJW Planning Ltd

DECISION: 10 for approval subject to the conditions listed in the Officer’s 
report, with x 1 abstention.

(g) Carbrooke: Manor Farm,Willow Corner: Reference: 3PL/2018/0816/LB  

Restoration and sub-division of a Grade II  Listed farmhouse to form 2 x no 
dwellings; erection of 3 x no new dwellings; associated parking and turning 
areas; associated landscaping (AMENDED DESCRIPTION). This item was 
discussed in conjunction with 3PL/2018/0815/F above.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent Erica Whettingsteel of EJW Planning Ltd

DECISION: 10 for approval subject to the conditions listed in the Officer’s 
report, with x 1 abstention.

(h) Colkirk: Land to side and rear of Oakridge, Market Hill: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0367/O  

Outline permission (access only) for 2 no. dwellings, associated access, 
driveways and amenity.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: Jason Barber, Studio 35

DECISION: Members voted 9 x for approval as recommended subject to 
conditions listed in the report.

12



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

(i) Colkirk: Land off Whissonsett Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1354/F  

Erection of 21 dwellings.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: Ian Hill
Transport consultant for Agent: Martin Doughty of Richard Jackson
Parish Council: Charles Joice

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 3 for approval as recommended subject to 
the list of conditions and a section 106 Agreement.

(j) Dereham: Springfield, South Green: Reference: 3PL/2019/0433/HOU  

First floor extension to side, and single storey extension to rear.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Joe Barrow, Planning 
Graduate.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval subject to conditions.

(k) East Tuddenham:  Land between Felgate Farm and Willow Cottage, Rotten 
Row: Reference: 3PL/2018/1492/O  

Proposed low carbon dwelling.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative Councillor Ian Martin
Applicant: Mr Eden
Agent: Matthew Cutting from David A Cutting 

Building Surveyors Limited

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval contrary to the 
Officer’s recommendation of refusal.

13



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

REASON(S): not detrimental to the open character of the area; is a 
sustainable location; would contribute to the 5 year housing supply; it is an 
environmentally friendly design and is a self-build property, which should 
be secured by a section106 Agreement.

The application be approved subject to delegated authority being granted 
to the Executive Director of Place to agree and impose suitable conditions 
and a S106 Agreement for the self-build dwelling.

(l) Garboldisham: Land off Hopton Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0416/F  

Erection of 25 single storey holiday lodges, reception building, groundskeeper 
building and associated access and parking.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: Jason Parker – Parker Planning 
Services

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 2 to defer this application to allow time for 
the agent to provide full business case.

(m) Great Ellingham: Aldercarr House, Attleborough Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1471/F  

New residential dwelling with incorporated double garage in position of 
demolished outbuilding.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: Nigel Hurrell – NH building Design

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(n) Mattishall: Planning Obligation for Poplar Farm 41 South Green: Reference: 
3OB/2019/0011/OB  

Modify planning obligation on pp 3PL/2016/0395/O – to reduce provision of 
affordable housing.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins Head 
14



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 1 to allow the modification as recommended 
subject to a Deed of Variation to secure 10% affordable housing provision.

(o) New Buckenham: Land Off of Cuffer Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0301/F  

Proposed Farm Building and Associated Works.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative Councillor Stephen Askew
Applicant: Charles Stimpson
Objector: Steve Highton

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to conditions as listed in the report.

(p) North Elmham: Dale Farm, Great Heath Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0332/F  

Erection of two storey and single storey extensions to side of property, new porch 
to the front and to add a skin around the existing walls to match the stone of the 
new extensions (revised scheme).

Consideration was given to the application presented by Joe Barrow, Planning 
Graduate.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: James Brown

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval subject to conditions 
listed in the report.

(q) North Elmham: Development Site adjacent 15 Larch Grove: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0369/F  

Erection of new dwelling on land off Larch Grove.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
15



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval subject to conditions.

(r) Old Buckenham:  9 The Old Yard: Reference: 3PL/2019/0539/F  

Erection of office building with first floor 2 bed residential accommodation – 
revised elevations (3PL/2018/0887/F).

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval subject to conditions 
as listed in the report.

(s) Saham Toney: Saham Tythe Barn, Chequers Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0455/F  

Change of Use application from beauty salon/A1 hairdressers and studio, to 
residential C3.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Joe Barrow, Planning 
Graduate.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Nigel Garriock
Saham Toney Neighbourhood Plan 
Group: Chris Blow

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to conditions as listed in the report.

(t) Saham Toney: Meadows Farm, Chequers Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0011/F  

Development of 3 no. Contemporary detached dwellings and garaging on land at 
Meadow Farm.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

16



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: John Barbuk-Patterson Design Ltd

Saham Toney Neighbourhood
Plan Group: Chris Blow

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 2 for approval as recommended subject to 
conditions as listed in the report.

(u) Saham Toney:  Goffes School House, Pound Hill: Reference: 3PL/2019/0314/F  

Erection of a 1.1/2 Storey dwelling including detached garage and re-use of 
existing vehicle access. Creation of new vehicle access to serve existing 
dwelling.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Joe Barrow, Planning 
Graduate.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Lawyer for the Applicant: Chris Burgess

Saham Toney Neighbourhood 
Plan Group: Chris Blow

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 2 for refusal as recommended.

(v) Stow Bedon: Pig Patch House, Mere Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0456/VAR  

Variation of Condition No 2 on 3PL/2015/0461/F – Omission of semi-basement 
resulting in reduction of height of building, erection of entrance porch, small first 
floor addition & change to fenestration (west 1st floor), changes to siting of 
building (westerly direction).

Consideration was given to the application presented by Naomi Minto, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to conditions as listed in the report.

17



Planning Committee
24 June 2019

Action By

(w) Watton/Carbrooke: Ex RAF Officers Mess Site (Heritage Park), Portal Avenue: 
Reference: 3PL/2019/0487/VAR  

Variation of Condition No.5 on 3PL/2014/1378/F – with regard to removal of 
trees.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval subject to conditions 
as listed in the report.

(x) Weeting: The Old Station Yard, Mundford Road, Brandon: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0313/O  

Residential Development (13 dwellings)

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative Councillor Robert Kybird
Objector: Mike Edwards

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for refusal as recommended.

72/19APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 

Noted.

73/19APPEALS SUMMARY (FOR INFORMATION) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 3.40 pm

CHAIRMAN

18



BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE – 22 July 2019: SCHEDULE OF DEFERRED APPLICATIONS

REFERENCE AND DETAILS OF APPLICATIONS MEETING 
FIRST 
REPORTED TO

RECOMMENDATION REASON FOR 
DEFERMENT

DATE 
EXPECTED 
TO RETURN 
TO 
COMMITTEE

3PL/2018/1150/F: Attleborough:  Land off Long 
Street: Residential dwelling on existing agricultural 
unit to provide housing for Farm Manager

24/06/2019 Refusal To allow the applicant the 
opportunity to change the 
design

tbc

3PL/2019/0416/F: Garboldisham: Land off Hopton 
Road: Erection of 25 single storey holiday lodges, 
reception building, groundskeeper building and 
associated access and parking

24/06/2019 Refusal To allow time for the agent 
to provide full business 
case

tbc

19

A
genda Item

 8



 

 

ITEM: 1 RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2016/0952/O CASE OFFICER Rebecca Collins

LOCATION: DEREHAM APPNTYPE: Outline
Rear of Greenfields Road POLICY: In Settlemnt Bndry

ALLOCATION: N
CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr Robin Green
Church Farmhouse Bawburgh

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Michael Haslam Associates Ltd
Woodcote Cargate Lane

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Residential development of 48 dwellings

DEFERRED REASON

(A) Site History

This application was heard at Planning Committee on 9/01/2017, were members resolved to grant planning
permission subject to proposed conditions and a S106 Agreement to secure the following:

Provision of on site affordable housing at 20%.
Contributions to Library services of 75.00 per dwelling.
Contributions to local Primary Schools on a pro rata basis of 3,039 per dwelling.
Public Open Space Contribution.

It has taken this period to agree the wording of the s.106 which has now been signed by all relevant parties.
Given the significant period that has past since the previous committee resolution the Council has
undertaken a public re-consultation with all neighbours and statutory consultees, which expires on 18th July
2019, the comments received are reported as follows:

(B) Consultations

Environmental Protection Officer
No objection subject to a contaminated land condition.

Facilities Management
The application includes the provision of open space as part of the development, including a play area and
extensive woodland, hedges and trees to form a visual buffer and some open space containing drainage
infrastructure. If it is intended to offer the open space to BDC, Facilities Management would wish to be
consulted on the details of the proposed open spaces at the appropriate time. However, BDC will only
generally consider adopting areas of low maintenance and it is possible that BDC might not be prepared to
adopt the open spaces proposed.  Consequently the S106 Agreement should show BDC as the first option
for adoption but provide an opportunity for the Council to decline to take on the open space if it chooses and
for the developer to make other arrangements for the management of these areas, through the Town Council
or a management company etc.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 20

Agenda Item 8a



(C) Representations

A site notice has been erected and a public consultation with neighbours has been undertaken and one letter
of representation has been received.  Their comments have been summerised as follows:

- This site was never intended for building homes;
- It will cause congestion with the new hosing development at the top of Greenfields Road;
- We need to make sure ALL infrastructure is in place within Dereham town before we flood it with new
residents.  Doctors, NHS dentists and the green space are all needed.

Any further comments received will be reported in the committee supplementary report.

(D) Assessment

The application was resolved to grant planning permission in January 2017.  This is a material planning
consideration in the determination of this application.  Paragraph 47 of the NPPF reminds us (in accordance
with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) 'Planning law requires that
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise'.  Given the earlier resolution to grant planning permission and the time that
has past since this resolution then it is appropriate to consider material change in circumstance, which may
result in an alternative recommendation based on those material changes.  It is not intended to revisit all
matters, only those which have materially changed since the earlier resolution to grant Planning Permission.

Material Planning considerations can include changes to policy as well as material changes in site
characteristics or cumulative development.  The material changes have been further considered below.

The application site lies in the settlement boundary of Dereham.  In the 2017 Planning Committee report the
officer sets out that the Council can demonstrate a five year housing land supply.  The Council currently can
not demonstrate a five year housing land supply, which would be a change in material circumstance which
would weigh in favour of permitting development in this location, however, this would have minor weight in
this instance, given the sites location within the Dereham settlement boundary, where there is already a
presumption in favour of development in accordance with Policies SS1 and and CP1.

Since 2017 the Councils adopted Development Plan has not changed and primarily consists of The
Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies (2009), with regards to Dereham.  Although the
emerging Local Plan is a material planning consideration, given it has not been formally adopted it can only
be given moderate weight in the determination of this application.  Since 2017, however, the latest version of
the NPPF has been adopted (February 2019), this is a material change.  The emerging Dereham
Neighbourhood Plan is progressing, however, it is at such an early stage, that it can not be given significant
weight in the determination of this application at this time.

Policies within the emerging Local Plan, which can be given moderate weight in accordance with Paragraph
48 of the NPPF, continue to support the delivery of housing, including in market towns such as Dereham and
within settlement boundaries.  This is also supported by the latest version of the NPPF.  Therefore, it is
considered that the principle of development continues to be established in this location and remains
consistent with the Development Plan, emerging Local Plan and the NPPF (2019).

With regards to the latest version of the NPPF (2019), which is a new material consideration, as set out
above the principle of housing delivery is supported in sustainable locations, which this is considered to be,

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 21



given its location in the Dereham settlement boundary.  Other relevant policies within the NPPF largely align
with the policies and matters previously considered and raise no new material considerations.  In addition,
The NPPF includes an additional policy, Policy 11, which seeks to make an effective use of the land.  The
site density, as proposed, is approximately 19 dwellings per hectare, this is fairly low density for a site in a
Market Town/Settlement boundary.  That said Policy 11 states:

Planning policies and decisions should support development that makes efficient use of land, taking into
account:
a) the identified need for different types of housing and other forms of development, and the availability of
land suitable for accommodating it;
b) local market conditions and viability;
c) the availability and capacity of infrastructure and services - both existing and proposed - as well as their
potential for further improvement and the scope to promote sustainable travel modes that limit future car use;
d) the desirability of maintaining an area's prevailing character and setting (including residential gardens), or
of promoting regeneration and change; and
e) the importance of securing well-designed, attractive and healthy places.

This is an outline planning permission with all matters apart from access reserved.  With the planning
application an indicative layout has been submitted.  The previously committee report assessed this and
stated that the indicative layout 'shows that the development would be consistent with the predominantly
residential character of the area and its design and layout would be compatible with its surroundings . . .  A
mix of house types is shown which would not be inappropriate to the character of the wider area which is
predominantly comprised of detached and semi detached dwellings'.  It is also set out in the minutes of the
committee that the number of dwellings had been significantly reduced to meet the Council's requirements
for this location.
 Therefore the proposal is considered consistent with the aims of policy, albeit low density, and is considered
acceptable for these reasons.

Other policies which seek to protect the amenity of neighbours, ecology, highways, trees and flood risk were
all considered previously, it is not considered that there is material change in policy in this regard and these
aspects of the development remain acceptable for this reason.

The latest version of the NPPF (2019) introduces new requirements in terms of demonstrating viability.
Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states, in this regard:

Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from development, planning applications
that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether
particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be
given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard to all the circumstances in
the case, including whether the plan and the viability evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change
in site circumstances since the plan was brought into force. All viability assessments, including any
undertaken at the plan-making stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national planning
guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly available.

Despite the time that has past since the applicants submission of viability and its review by the District
Valuers (October 2016), it is not considered that there has been a material change in site circumstance or the
development to warrant an update to this review.  This has been covered reasonably in the section 106
agreement which requires at or before 90% occupation a 'open book analysis' to be submitted to the Valuer
for approval or in the event the developer fails to complete all the dwellings (and has no intention to do so) a
request for an 'open book analysis' can be made by the Council.  If the development is found to have higher

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 22



 

 

 

 

value then there is a requirement in the section 106 to pay any affordable housing contribution due, subject
to the development not having been completed within 3 years of the date of the reserved matters approval.

The signed section 106 agreement in addition to that set out above with regards to affordable housing
requires contributions to Library services; contributions to local Primary Schools; and Public Open Space and
maintenance contribution.  With regards to facilities management response the section 106 reflects their
comments.

(E) Conclusion

Despite the adoption of the latest version of the NPPF and the emerging Local Plan, it is considered that
there has been no material change in circumstance to warrant a change in recommendation for this planning
application.  In fact, the Council's current lack of a five year housing land supply further weighs in favour of
granting planning permission on this site.

The Council therefore considers this application is acceptable and recommends ratification of the approval of
planning permission, subject to planning conditions (as set out at the end of the report) and the signed
section 106 agreement, as detailed above.

(F) Recommendation

Approval subject to planning conditions and the signed section 106 agreement.

REASON FOR COMMITEE CONSIDERAT

The application is referred to Committee as a major development proposal.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development and policy matters.
Local character, amenity and trees.
Access.
Ecology.
Other matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Outline permission is sought for residential development of 2.47 hectares of land between Greenfields Road
and the A47 in Dereham.  Whilst permission is sought for access only with all other matters reserved
indicative layout drawings have been submitted which show 48 houses together with roads and public open
space.

The proposed houses would utilise a new access from Greenfields Road opposite Honeysuckle Drive.

The application is supported by a number of documents and technical reports, including a Design & Access
Statement, Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, Arboricultural Impact Assessment, contaminated land
assessment, noise assessment, toolkit viability assessment and Flood Risk Assessment.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 23



 

 

 

 

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is located to the eastern side of Dereham and to the south of Greenfields Road.  The site
lies between existing residential development to the north and east and the A47 to the south.  The Greens
Road industrial estate lies beyond the western boundary of the site.  The site extends to around 2.47
hectares in total, is broadly rectangular in shape and comprises mainly open scrub grassland.  There are a
number of trees within and bordering the site, however, these are largely confined to the boundaries.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate
The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance have also been taken into account, where appropriate.

SS1 Spatial Strategy
CP01 Housing
CP04 Infrastructure
CP05 Developer Obligations
CP08 Natural Resources
CP10 Natural Environment
DC01 Protection of Amenity
DC02 Principles of New Housing
DC04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC12 Trees and Landscape
DC16 Design

NPPF With particular reference to paragraphs 14, 17, 24, 26, 27, 32, 34, 35, 49, 103 & 118
NPPG National Planning Practise Guidance

'Manual for Streets' 2007

Dereham Draft Neighbourhood Plan (Draft only - given the stage it is at it is considered to carry no weight)

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 24



 

 

CONSULTATIONS

CRIME REDUCTION & ARCHITECTURAL LIAISON OFFICER
Recommends that the developments design uses crime prevention through environmental design principles.
DEREHAM T C
No objections in terms of access.
Pedestrian and cycle link would improve connectivity to Hall Lane.
Concerns regarding maintenance of earth bund.
Concerns regarding design and layout of indicative scheme and that it did not meet design standards.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection.
Plan required showing visibility of 2.4 x 43m can be achieved.
Link from estate to cycle path will be required at detailed stage.
Hall Lane to the south is subject to an application to formalise it as a public right of way .
There is no objection to the extension of existing waiting restrictions.
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL
Education contributions are sought on a pro rata basis towards additional classroom capacity at;

-Kings Park Infant School
-Dereham Church Infant School
-Grove House Nursery and Infant School
-Dereham C of E Junior Academy
-Dereham 6th Form centre

Contributions are also sought towards one fire hydrant per 50 dwellings and library facilities of 75.00, (per
dwelling).  Also comment that green infrastructure should be provided within the site.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
No comment as application falls below threshold for providing detailed comment.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
The site area and number of dwellings trigger the requirement for affordable housing.
40% provision is required 65% of which should be social rent and 35% shared equity.
A Section 106 Agreement will be required to secure the affordable housing
contribution.
FACILITIES MANAGEMENT
Section 106 Agreement should provide the opportunity to decline to adopt the public open space.

The Council is not a drainage authority and will not adopt drainage features.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objections subject to a construction environmental management plan being secured to include;

-  Updated badger survey
-  Retention of site boundaries as greenspace
-Avoidance of night working

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 25



 

 

 

-Best practise and enhancement measures as set out in the report.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
Has only one area of concern regarding the industrial estate to the western boundary.  Further information on
the past uses is therefore required.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
No objections, note the site is located above a principal aquifer and within a source protection zone but do
not consider the proposal to be high risk.

The water environment is potentially vulnerable and there is an increased potential for pollution from
inappropriately located and/or designed infiltration, (SuDS).  All need to meet the criteria in our Groundwater
Protection: Principles and Practice, (GP3), position statements G1 to G13.
RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA
No objection
DISTRICT VALUATION OFFICE
Based on the information provided the scheme can afford to provide 20% affordable housing together with
contributions totalling 337,488.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER No Comments Received
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE No Comments Received
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS No Comments Received

Education contributions are sought on a pro rata basis towards additional classroom capacity at;

-Kings Park Infant School
-Dereham Church Infant School
-Grove House Nursery and Infant School
-Dereham C of E Junior Academy
-Dereham 6th Form centre

Contributions are also sought towards one fire hydrant per 50 dwellings and library facilities of 3,600, (75.00
per dwelling).  Also comment that green infrastructure should be provided within the site.

REPRESENTATIONS

Eight representations have been received from local residents concerns raised include;

Noise
Design / Layout poor
Site is not in the Emerging plan
Greenfields already has substantial number of new homes to be built
Traffic, particularly at the junction of Greenfields Road and Norwich Road
Highway and pedestrian safety
Surface water flooding
Tree removal
Doctors / schools full

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 26



 

Loss of green space
Loss of views
Removal of section of earth bund will lead to noise / visual intrusion
Houses should be no higher than existing houses on Greenfields Road
Safety at night / alignment of cycle path

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 This application is referred to Committee as a major development proposal.

2.0 Principle of development and policy matters.

2.1  The site is located adjacent to Dereham and would be bound on the northern and eastern sides by
existing housing.  The southern part of the site is bounded by the A47 and the western side of the site is
bounded by an industrial estate.  Given the Council has recently confirmed that it considers it has a five year
housing land supply this means that it's policies relevant to the supply of housing land can be considered up
to date.  Given that the application site is within the settlement boundary for Dereham the proposal to
develop the site for housing is in accordance with current policy and it does not matter that it has not been
allocated as a preferred location for development in the emerging local plan.

2.2  The NPPF defines sustainable development in broad terms by reference to economic, social and
environmental considerations and indicates that planning should seek gains in relation to each element.  The
provision of housing to meet local needs is identified as a key component of sustainable development and in
this respect the NPPF seeks to boost significantly the supply of housing.

2.3  The site in question was previously in agricultural use and as such is Greenfield.  Whilst the loss of
Greenfield land is regrettable it is inevitable if the Council is to achieve its housing growth aspirations.  The
land is shown on Natural England's Agricultural land classification maps as being Grade 3, but it is not clear
whether it would be high quality class 3a land to which policy CP8 and para 112 of the NPPF would apply or
lower quality class 3b.  The area of land to be lost at 2.47 HA is relatively small and it is noted that the
threshold for consultation with Natural England is 20 HA. The land is currently either fallow or close cut grass
and it is also inevitable that some agricultural land will be lost as part of the Council's aspirations to deliver
housing.

2.4  Whilst the application is submitted in outline the indicative layout plans show that the development would
be consistent with the predominantly residential character of the area and its design and layout would be
compatible with its surroundings.  The proposal would make a significant contribution to the supply of
housing in the area and the construction of the development would provide some economic benefits, albeit
short-term.  These considerations weigh in favour of the proposal.

2.4  In terms of affordable housing the applicant has submitted a viability appraisal which states that when
other contributions are taken into account the scheme can afford a 20% contribution to affordable housing
only.  The applicants assessment has been subject to independent scrutiny by the District Valuer  who more
or less concurs with the applicant although the DV applies a higher level of contributions at 337,488

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 27



compared with the applicant's 174,000.  Whilst it would be preferable to have a full 40% contribution to
affordable housing this is not always possible with all developments and in this case it has been
independently verified that only a 20% contribution is possible.  This, together with the other necessary
contributions towards education, library facilities and open space should be secured by a Section 106
Agreement.

3.0 Effects on local character, amenity and trees

3.1  Whilst the application has been submitted in outline with access only included at this stage the applicant
has submitted an indicative layout plan from which some conclusions can be drawn regarding the possible
impacts of the development of the land.  It is considered that the submitted indicative site layout shows that a
well designed scheme can be achieved within the site which would result in a relatively low density of 19.43
dwellings per hectare.  A mix of house types is shown which would not be inappropriate to the character of
the wider area which is predominantly comprised of detached and semi detached dwellings.

3.2  As already noted the site contains a number of trees.  The submitted tree survey identifies 30 individual
trees or small groups of trees comprised of mainly category B, (moderate value), or category C, (low value),
trees.  The indicative layout shows a number of these trees on the northern and eastern sides of the site to
be removed as part of the indicative scheme.  Trees to the southern and western flanks of the site would
largely be retained.

3.3  The Council's Tree and Countryside Officer has no objection to the principal of the development but
comments that the layout shown on the outline application does not take into account the tree constraints
and the layout can be altered to allow the retention of the category B trees along the eastern boundary.
Minor changes at the site entrance would also allow the majority, if not all of the trees to be retained in the
north east corner of the site.

3.4  At this stage layout and landscaping are reserved and the layout could be further refined at reserved
matters stage to reduce the need for tree removal.  Retention of a number of trees within the site would,
however, be difficult due to the need to provide access within and whilst the loss of these and other trees is
regrettable, given the potential scope for replanting within the site and optimisation of the layout at reserved
matters stage to retain as many trees as possible the proposal is considered acceptable.

3.5  Whilst development of the scale proposed would inevitably have some impact on the amenities currently
enjoyed by neighbouring residents in terms of placing dwellings where there was previously an agricultural
field this is not an unusual situation and it is considered that an acceptable layout and design can be
achieved which would avoid any significant harm.  The submitted indicative plan shows good separation
distances could be maintained between existing and proposed dwellings to help reduce overlooking, together
with the retention of existing vegetation and scope for planting of new boundary screening.  It is possible that
some disturbance would be caused due to the increased activity and traffic, but given the scale of the
development, this would not be considered excessive.

3.6  The presence of the Green Road industrial estate to the west of the site is noted by the Council's
Environmental Health Officer who has issued a holding objection.  The noise environment of the site is also

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 28



characterised by the presence of the A47 to the south. The applicant has submitted a detailed noise report
which concludes that the site is acoustically appropriate for the proposed development and selection of
building materials will allow the noise criteria in BS 8233:2014 to be met, it is also claimed that the layout of
the site can be adjusted to take into account the noise from the A47 to provide for an acceptable outdoor,
(garden), environment.  The Environmental Health Officers comments on this report have been sought.

3.7  Subject to the comments of the Environmental Health Officer it is considered that a reserved matters
scheme could be designed which would be in keeping with the character and appearance of the area and
would not be likely to result in any significant adverse effects on residential amenity.  The proposal would
thus accord with Core Strategy Policies, DC02, DC12 and DC16, and with relevant guidance in the NPPF.

4.0 Access

4.1 Access to the development would be gained via a new access onto Greenfields Road.

4.2  The application site is 1.2km from the Town centre and 380m from Dereham Netherd High School, 800m
from Dereham 6th Form Centre and 1.12km from the nearest primary school at Kings Park.  The site is
clearly in a sustainable location for housing development.

4.3  Norfolk County Council Highways raise no objection to the proposals but require further detail of the
proposed access including the visibility that can be achieved onto Greenfields Road to a minimum of 2.4 x
43m.

4.5  Whilst comments have been received from neighbours that the development, which falls under the
threshold for providing a Transport Assessment, would result in excessive levels of traffic and congestion
NPPF paragraph 32 states that 'development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds
where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe' it is not considered that the additional
traffic generated by the development would be likely to have a 'severe' traffic impact.

4.6  Comments regarding the potential designation of Hall Lane as a PROW are noted and any reserved
matters application would be required to make appropriate connections to adjacent public footpaths.

4.7  In light of the above it is considered that, on balance, the proposal is acceptable on the grounds of
Highway Safety and the proposed development would comply with policy CP4(e) of the adopted Core
Strategy DPD and paragraphs 17, 32, 34 and 35 of the NPPF.

5.0 Ecology

5.1  The Habitat Survey submitted in support of the application notes that the site comprised of a flat area of
improved grassland with steep banks that hosted tall ruderal vegetation. The margins of the site were
identified as potential foraging grounds for badgers but none were found to be present on site.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 29



5.2  The Council's Ecologist comments that the development of the site is acceptable subject to a CEMP
being secured by condition to include further badger surveys and mitigation measures as identified in the
submitted ecological report.

5.5  Subject to appropriate mitigation measures to accommodate bats within the development the proposal
would not be likely to have an adverse effect upon matters of ecological interest and the proposal is thus in
accord with policies CP10 of the adopted Core Strategy DPD and paragraph 118 of the NPPF.

6 Other Matters

6.1  Local infrastructure - concerns have been raised about the ability of the general infrastructure to cope
with additional housing.  However, no objections have been raised by statutory consultees in this respect.
Financial contributions can be secured by way of a S106 Agreement to the expansion / improvement of local
school accommodation, as well as to local library services.

6.2  A Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted which identifies that the site is within Flood Zone 1 - that
with the lowest risk of flooding and there is no evidence of risk of flooding from sewers, groundwater, or
artificial sources such as reservoirs or canals.  Whilst the amount of impervious areas would increase as a
result of the development, the rate of runoff can be limited to the current Greenfield rate and the proposal
would not result in any increase in flood risk.  The Environment Agency do not object subject to the careful
design of any SuDS drainage systems.

6.4  In terms of the potential for contaminated land on site the Council's Contaminated Land Officer requests
that further information is submitted.  Given the use of the site is agricultural rather than industrial it is
considered that there is a low probability of contamination and that it would be reasonable to apply conditions
in this instance.

7.0 Conclusion

7.1  The proposal is within the settlement boundary for Dereham and is considered to be compliant with
current adopted policy.  The site would make a significant contribution to the provision of housing and safe
access from Greenfields Road could be provided.  Whilst local concerns are acknowledged, there is no
substantive evidence to suggest that the proposal would have a significant adverse effect on local
infrastructure, highway safety and convenience or residential amenity.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION

8.1  Permit subject to conditions and a S106 Agreement to secure;

Provision of on site affordable housing at 20%.
Contributions to Library services of 75.00 per dwelling.
Contributions to local Primary Schools on a pro rata basis of 3,039 per dwelling.
Public Open Space Contribution.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 30



 

 
CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (3 years)
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
THREE YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

2 Approval of Reserved Matters condition
This approval is granted following the grant of Outline Planning Permission reference
3PL/2016/0952/O dated XXXX
Reason for condition:-
The time limit by which the development must be commenced is indicated on that
Permission.

3 In accordance with submitted
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out at the end of this decision notice:
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Remediation scheme
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the following details shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by
the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development hereby
approved:
A. Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the
site, whether or not it originates on the site. The investigation and risk assessment must be
undertaken by
competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced. The report of the
findings must
include: (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; (ii) an assessment of
the potential
risks to: human health, property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock,
pets, woodland
and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems,
archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and
proposal of the
preferred option(s).
B. Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 31



unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural and
historical
environment. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation
objectives and
remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme must
ensure that
the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection
Act 1990 in
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.
2
C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the
commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The
Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of
the remediation
scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report
(referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of the
remediation carried
out must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological
systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable
risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
Informative: Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process. During the
course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary
to address land contamination risks. Where this is the case the condition may be discharged
by the
Council without all the steps specified being completed. In all cases written confirmation
should be
obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of the condition have been met.

5 Unexpected contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was
not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning
Authority. An
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with details to be
agreed in writing

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 32



with the Local Planning Authority. Where remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme
must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following completion
of measures
identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and
approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological
systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable
risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

6 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above the laying of foundations precise details of
the means of surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection
with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.  This condition
is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above the laying of foundations, the precise details
of the means of foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection
with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.  This condition
is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Landscaping scheme to be submitted - hard and
soft
No development shall take place on site until full details of both hard and soft landscape
works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and
these works shall be carried out as approved.  These details shall include:
-hard surfacing materials;
-means of enclosure;
-proposed finished levels or contours;
-minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units,
signs, lighting etc,)
Soft landscaping shall include:
-Planting plans;
-Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 33



grass establishment);
-Schedules of planting, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where
appropriate;
-       Maintenance and treatment of the bund;
-Implementation programme
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Boundary treatment/screening to be agreed
Prior to first the occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted a plan indicating the
positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatment/screening to be erected shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The boundary
treatment/screening shall be completed first occupation of the dwelling to which the
boundary treatment adjoins or in accordance with a timetable agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in its entirety in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Ecological miitgation measures
As recommended in the submitted ecological report, prior to the commencement of
development a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This must include the following:
- An updated badger survey including camera trapping and any necessary avoidance and
mitigation measures which must be adhered to, submitted to the local planning authority for
approval.
- The boundaries of site to be retained as native greenspace (trees, scrub, banks of
grassland etc) and added to with native planting where gaps are present.
- A 5m buffer from the boundary habitats to any housing development. This is in part due to
the presence of foraging badger on site which may be impacted by vegetation removal and
close proximity of housing and construction works to foraging routes. This should not be
subject to any artificial lighting, creating dark corridors.
- Night working must be avoided and any artificial lighting on site should be avoided where
possible and minimised and restricted to where it is needed, away from any vegetation. Any
artificial lighting sources should be narrow spectrum light and should emit minimal ultra-
violet light to reduce negative impacts to nocturnal species.
- As much 'ornamental planting' to be native species of benefit to wildlife as possible.
- The best practice measures in Section 7.2 of the Ecological Assessment report.
- The enhancement measures in Section 7.3 of the Ecological Assessment report.

The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details.

Reason for condition:-
Information is required prior to the commencement of development to protect and enhance

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 34



 

biodiversity in accordance with Policy 15 of the NPPF.
11 Fire Hydrants

Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level a scheme shall be submitted for
the provision of one fire hydrant (served by mains water supply) serving the development.
No dwelling shall be occupied until the hydrant(s) have been provided in accordance with
the scheme as approved.
Reason for condition:-
In order to secure the provision of fire hydrants.
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Vehicular access
Prior to any works progressing above slab level on any of the dwellings hereby approved, a
plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, based on
a topographical survey, showing the proposed access with 6.0m junction radii and visibility
splays measuring 2.4 x 43m.
Reason for condition:-
To protect highway safety in accordance with Policy CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

13 Visibility splays
With the reserved matters application, full details of a direct cyclepath link from the proposed
estate road to the existing cyclepath, without the need to exit the site and a link to Hall Lane
PROW, shall be submitted and approved as part of any subsequent reserved matters
application.
Reason for condition:-
To encourage walking and cycling in accordance with the principles of the NPPF and Policy
CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

16 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new planning application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 35



AGENDA ITEM 8 

DEFERRED APPLICATIONS    

Item. 8(a)  
 
Location:  Dereham – Rear of Greenfields Road 
 
Proposal: Residential development of 48 dwellings 
 
REFERENCE: 3PL/2016/0952/O 
 
Applicant: Michael Haslam Associates Ltd 
 
Author: Rebecca Collins 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Town Council 
The Council would like to reiterate its previous comments made in August 2016, emphasising the need 
for a pedestrian and Cycle link to Hall Lane PROW to the South of the site.  Policy DC11 sets out the 
quantum of outdoor playing space which this development should provide.  The 106 agreement states 
that the Open space must be in accordance with DC11. The indicative layout for the development 
shows a play area considerably less than the 2880 sq m required under DC11.  Within the 106 
agreement a figure for £8.50 per sq m has been agreed for the 10 year maintenance contribution - it 
is the Town Council's view that this is a gross underestimation of the 10 year maintenance costs. 
 
Ramblers Association  
The comments made by The Ramblers in 2016 stand, the more so as Hall Lane, which runs along the 
southern border of the application site, has now been legally recognised as being a right of way. It is 
a Restricted Byway, allowing walkers, cyclists, horse riders and carriage drivers (but not powered 
vehicles) to use it, further emphasising the case to provide connectivity and establish alternative 
routes to Tesco and into Dereham. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority 
The Planning Officer has spoken to the LLFA who do not have objections to the scheme but wish to 
recommend condition(s) with regards to drainage. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
This is an outline planning permission with all matters apart from access reserved.  The plans shown 
are indicative and a note can be added to the permission to ensure connectivity and provision of open 
space is reviewed and provided at reserved matters stage. 
 
The maintenance contribution is a standard maintenance contribution based on current policy.  There 
is potential to review this with the adoption of the emerging Local Plan but for the purpose of this 
application the maintenance contribution has not changed since the earlier granting of planning 
permission. 
 
Recommendation: 
The application is recommended for approval subject to a further conditions with regards drainage.  
 
 

36



 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2010/1361/F CASE OFFICER Rebecca Collins

LOCATION: DEREHAM APPNTYPE: Full
Land East of Yaxham Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
South of Dumpling Green ALLOCATION:

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Hopkins Homes Limited
Melton Park House Scott Lane

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Hopkins Homes Limited
Melton Park House Scott Lane

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of 255 dwellings with associated open space

DEFERRED REASON

(A) HISTORY

At the last Planning Committee (24/06/2019) Members voted to defer this item, with a request that the
Highways Authority attend and explain their reasoning for 'no objection' to the development.  Members also
raised concerns that the consultation period for the application had not yet expired.  The consultation period
on the application has expired and the following update is provided for members with regards to this item.

(B) CONSULTATIONS

The consultation period for the application has expired and the following consultation responses were
reported to members via the supplementary report.

Historic Buildings Consultant
No further comment

Contaminated Land Officer
Approval of the application is recommended providing the development proceeds in line with the application
details and subject to conditions including an updated SI given that the original DS/SI is now nine years old.

Trees and Countryside Officer
The report from Haydens gives up to date information regarding the trees on site though no information
relating to the implications of the proposed layout on the trees/hedges associated with site. It will be
necessary to provide an Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Method statement and Tree Protection Plan
based on the information contained within the supplied survey and the layout provided.

LLFA
After looking at the submitted information on the portal, there is nothing added/changed regarding FRA and
drainage strategy and there are therefore no additional comments made.

Highways Authority

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 37

Agenda Item 8b



With regards to the offsite works. The applicant is proposing a roundabout on Yaxham Road which will not
only provide an access to their development but will also act as a gateway feature and will slow traffic down.
In addition two toucan crossing facilities are proposed with a footway/cycleway along the site frontage. The
applicant has identified a pinch point along the footway/cycleway, although the highway authority considers
that this could potentially be overcome through the detailed design process by potentially narrowing the
carriageway. The precise locations of the Toucan crossings will also be determined through the detailed
design. In addition the applicant is proposing some minor works to the Mid Norfolk Railway bridge which
moves the footway and creates better footway provision across the bridge.

The highway authority considers that as there will be development along the site frontage, a new
footway/cycleway, toucan crossings and a roundabout, the 30mph limit should be extended to a point south
of the new roundabout. Given the above comments and subject to further confirmation from the applicant
regarding any minor amendments they would be willing to accommodate with regards to the layout, the local
highway authority has no objection subject to the recommended conditions.

Mid Norfolk Railway Preservation Trust
Comments previously submitted (and reported in committee report) still apply.

The following further consultation responses have been received since the Planning Committee:

Dereham Town Council
Dereham Town Council have submitted three documents raising queries with regards to the submitted
Transport Assessment directed at the responses given by Highways England and Highways Authority and
information submitted in support of the Planning Application.  They also query why no study was made of the
ground water hydrology, as changes in ground water hydrology could affect the natural springs rising within
Badley Moor.

Yaxham Town Council
Highways Issues.
These were a major factor in ruling this site out of the emerging Local Plan. That plan was based on a
signalised roundabout being installed at the Tavern Lane junction.  NCC Highways have declared this as
unfeasible.  So, how, will the road system cope with this development and other permitted sites including
291+ dwellings from the Toftwood allocated site (3PL/2015/1490/O - resolution to grant 12/2018) and the
further 100 dwellings agreed (3PL/2017/0563/O resolution to grant 12/2017) on the Westfield Road?

The resolution to grant for the Toftwood allocated site, 3PL/2015/1490/O, included the requirement for the
replacement of the single carriageway bridge on Westfield Lane with a fully functioning two-carriageway
bridge. This application is said to have taken account of recent permissions within the area but does not
appear to have realised that the Westfield Lane is bridge is going to be radically upgraded, otherwise how
and why does this application, as does the Officer Report, make reference to the footpath upgrades it
proposes to the existing bridge? A two way bridge is going make it a lot easier for traffic from the Shipdham
Road by-passing central Dereham to come out onto the proposed Yaxham Road roundabout.  Therefore, the
Transport Assessment is out of date and needs re-modelling.

Surface Water drainage
Another large housing development with an attenuated flow through existing land drains into the River Tud.
The other is the 291 homes in Toftwood, 3PL/2015/1490/O, also draining surface water into the River Tud.
As far as Yaxham is concerned there is already a substantial flood risk with the Environment Agency map
putting the eastern end of Cutthroat Lane in the Flood Zone 3. Anglian
Water comments of 14 June 2018, Section 3 para 3.1 Foul sewerage - the development will lead to an

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 38



unacceptable risk of flooding downstream - i.e. Cutthroat Lane, Yaxham. In Section 4 - Surface
Water drainage - Anglian Water deems this to be unacceptable.  Where is there anything from Anglian Water
saying these views have changed? There is therefore a real threat to the River Tud which is 350m to the
south of the drainage basin, and sits 5-10m below it.

Badley Moor is a SSSI and a part of the Norfolk Valley Fens SAC. It is only 500m from the drainage basin,
and again between 5 and 10m down gradient from the basin.  The only reference in the Officer Report is
contained in the extract from Yaxham PC's submission and the Officer report says Natural England offers no
objection.

Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan Working Group
- Concerned about the unacceptable risk of flooding downstream into Cutthroat Lane, Yaxham.  The surface
water drainage scheme was deemed unacceptable by AW.  Where are the mitigation measures as required
in June 2018?
- Additional traffic and deficient road infrastructure including the Westfield Lane bridge.
- Only 18% being offered out of 255 new dwellings. The existing requirement in Breckland is 40%.

NCC Obligations
Although there would still be spare capacity at Early Education, High school and Sixth Form levels, there
would be insufficient places at Infant and Junior school levels for children from this proposed development
should it be approved. Therefore, education contributions for Infant and Junior school provision as follows will
be sought:

- Toftwood Infant School 29 x £14,022 = £406,638
- Toftwood Community Junior School 35 x £14,022 = £490,770

Total education contributions sought = £897,408

Norfolk Fire Services have indicated that the proposed development will require 1 hydrant per 50 dwellings
(on a minimum 90-mm main) for the residential development at a cost of £824 per hydrant.

A development of 255 dwellings would place increased pressure on the existing library service particularly in
relation to library stock, such as books and information technology. This stock is required to increase the
capacity of the library. It has been calculated that a development of this scale would require a total
contribution of £19,125 (i.e. £75 per dwelling).

Green infrastructure should be included within the proposed site in line with local policy. Connections into the
local Green Infrastructure (GI) network, including Public Rights of Way and ecological features, should be
considered alongside the potential impacts of development. We would advise the Local Planning Authority
that a maintenance/mitigation contribution or commuted sum for new and existing GI features may be
required in addition to the County response, in order comply with local policy.

With regard to the promoted circular 'health walks' proposed a contribution of £30 per dwelling is sought for
the improvement of signage, surfaces and boardwalks on the routes. Within this amount there will also be
opportunities to create signage to link routes together and the creation of leaflets to promote these walks for
the residents of the new development.

Historic Environment Service
Our advice of 19/06/2018 remains valid.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 39



Wildlife Trust
It appears that Environment Agency (EA) are satisfied, but looking at the December 2013 email from Natural
England (NE), which appears to pass responsibility to EA, there's no specific reference to what may or may
not happen to the Norfolk Valley Fen SAC, and no specific reference to groundwater movement. To the best
of my knowledge, EA's subsequent responses only cover surface water issues (run-off and foul water), which
appear to be adequately covered via the nearby Mattishall treatment works.

Regarding great crested newts (GCN), we were surprised to find that none were found on the most recent
survey round. The survey methods appear sound, but populations often exist based around a series of linked
ponds, with breeding populations able to cope with occasional ponds drying out before recolonising when
suitable again. Given the previous results, we'd recommend a condition requiring a precautionary approach
to site clearance, plus the inclusion of features in the landscaping to promote restoration or connectivity in the
wider landscape for GCN post-development.

Environment Agency
Contamination
The site is located above a Principal Aquifer and within Source Protection Zone (SPZ) 3. However, we do not
consider this proposal to be High Risk. Therefore, we will not be providing detailed site-specific advice or
comments with regards to land contamination issues for this site. The developer should address risks to
controlled waters from contamination at the site, following the requirements of the National Planning Policy
Framework and the Environment Agency Guiding Principles for Land Contamination.

Infiltration Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)
The water environment is potentially vulnerable and there is an increased potential for pollution from
inappropriately located and/or designed infiltration (SuDS). We consider any infiltration (SuDS) greater than
2.0 m below ground level to be a deep system and are generally not acceptable. If the use of deep bore
soakaways is proposed, we would wish to be re-consulted. All infiltration SuDS require a minimum of 1.2 m
clearance between the base of infiltration SuDS and peak seasonal groundwater levels.

NCC Ecology
The Phase 2 Ecological Surveys and Assessment report (SES; June 2019) is broadly fit for purpose. We
agree with Norfolk Wildlife Trust's comments that 'the great crested newt survey methods appear sound, but
populations often exist based around a series of linked ponds, with breeding populations able to cope with
occasional ponds drying out before recolonising when suitable again.' Given the previous results (surveys in
2010 found great crested newts present in Ponds, 2, 3 and 4, all located within the site boundary) and
considering that seven ponds within 500 metres of the site could not be surveyed in 2018 (we cannot
assume absence of great crested newts in these ponds), it will be necessary to 'condition a precautionary
approach to site clearance, plus the inclusion of features in the landscaping to promote restoration or
connectivity in the wider landscape for great crested newts post-development.'

A Habitats Regulations Assessment (SES; 2019 - technically a 'report to inform a HRA') has been submitted
in support of this application. The Environment Agency are the statutory body with responsibility for the water
environment and they have no objections to the proposals; they have stated in their comments dated 2nd
July that they 'would have also considered the protection of groundwater at that time'.  Given that the water
impacts of the proposal appear to have been covered, we recommend Breckland DC as the competent
authority (as defined by the Habs Regs) adopt the Habitats Regulations Assessment (SES; 2019) and secure
the proposed financial contribution to the mitigation strategy through the planning system.

If you are minded to approve this application, we recommend that you condition an Ecological Management
Plan.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 40



(C) REPRESENTATIONS

The following representations were reported to members via the committee supplementary report:

- The development would result in excessive additional traffic congestion to the detriment of the local
highway network;
- The development would result in an unacceptable loss of green space;
- Local infrastructure such as doctors, dentists and schools cannot accommodate the additional impact that
would arise from the development;
- The development site is not identified as part of the Local Plan and as such permission should be refused;
- Dumpling Green is a private road and as such the consent of the private landowners is required for any
footpath connecting to it;
- There are inadequate local employment opportunities for future residents which would result in the
likelihood of them having to travel significant distance to access employment and use the highways,
exacerbating existing congestion;
- Has the development been considered cumulatively with approved schemes off Westfield Lane?
- The development will have negative implications for wildlife, including deer;
- The site is subject to high flood risk which would be exacerbated by the proposed development;
- The development would result in the loss of agricultural land;
- The development is outside of the settlement boundary and would result in urban sprawl;
- The development would harm nearby SSSI's;
- The development would result in excessive additional pollution, including light pollution, noise pollution, litter
and human pollution.

A further two representations (totaling 9 representations) were received during the remainder of the
consultation period, raising no new material planning considerations to that set out in the
Committee/Supplementary report.

(D) ASSESSMENT

No new material planning consideration have been raised either during the remainder of the consultation
period or from those already set out in the earlier Planning Committee report, appended to this deferred item
for information.  That said, three main issues of concern continue to be raised by Dereham and Yaxham
Parish Council and local people, which are highways, flood risk and ecology.  These are further covered
below for information:

Highways
Concerns with regards to impact on the highway network, traffic generation and movement and accessibility
are noted and have been taken into consideration in the determination of the application.  The Highways
Authority and Highways England have confirmed in their recent consultation responses that they have no
objection to the proposals in this regard.  The latest version of the Transport Assessment concludes :

'It is considered that the proposed development does not significantly impact upon the operation of the local
highway network and that capacity issues at the junctions are, on the whole, pre-existing issues within the
local highway network. Given the proposed improvements to the local highway network and bus provision,
alongside the Travel Plan operation, it is considered that the development proposals are acceptable, and, in
highway safety terms, there is no reason why this development should not be granted consent'.

New development can only be required to mitigate its impacts and not those of a pre-existing situation.  On

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 41



this basis the application is recommended for approval.

The Highways Authority have confirmed that the two way bridge at Westfield Lane has been taken into
consideration in their deliberations of the site and that this would in-fact give more options for travelling
vehicles in the area further taking pressure off the Yaxham Road/A47 roundabout in favour of this
development, when implemented.  With regards to the applicants submitted Transport Assessment, it would
not be appropriate to include these works in the modelling as they have not taken place and therefore the
Transport Assessment (TA) is a representation of the worst-case scenario.  In addition, the applicants have
confirmed that they will contribute £500,000 to the footbridge/road improvement works, this could potentially
be widened or pay for enhancements to the existing road bridge over the railway line.

Further comments have been raised by Dereham Town Council with regards to the cycle strategy which has
been submitted in support of the Transport Assessment.  The Highways Authority have recommended that
the cycle strategy is fit for purpose and no further information is required.  Conditions are proposed to ensure
off-site highways works including the cycleway/footway are acceptable and therefore no further information is
required at time.

Concerns have also been raised by local residents with regards to crime and disorder along Dumpling
Green.  There is an existing public right of way that runs along this route.  The development proposes open
space adjacent to Dumpling Green to avoid vehicle accesses onto this private road.  The open space is well
surveyed with properties proposed facing onto it.  It is considered this will create a green open and probably
further used environment adjacent to this private road, which is more likely to reduce the fear of crime due to
increased surveillance and increased use of the right of way due to a more pleasant environment.  To that
end the development is considered acceptable in this regard and in accordance with Policy 8 of the NPPF.

Flood Risk
The comments received with regards to Flood Risk are noted, specifically with regards to ground water.  The
information submitted in support of the application has been assessed by the LLFA and Environment Agency
who are satisfied with regards to flood risk, subject to the imposition of conditions.  They have also confirmed
that infiltration is acceptable, subject to depth and bore holes.  The applicants have confirmed the following:

Foul strategy - discharge to Anglia Water (AW) sewer via new adopted pump station. Treatment works
discharged to will be Dereham or Mattishall. AW are obliged to provide capacity, so if Dereham, AW are
obliged to increase capacity to take the flows. It is noted that AW have no objections and have suggested
conditions.

A further response from AW has been chased and will be provided to members of the Planning Committee if
received.

Surface water - existing land drains will be retained and enhanced. The proposed surface water strategy is
for adopted surface water sewers within the development to outflow to an attenuation basin, which will have a
(restricted) outfall to Salt Lake track culvert located to the south east of the site.

Conditions are also proposed with regard to both foul water and surface water drainage to check and agree
appropriate details.  No further studies have been requested or are required by statutory consultees. On this
basis, the proposal is considered to accord with the requirements of Policy 14 of the NPPF and is not
considered to warrant refusal of planning permission on this basis.

Ecology
It is noted that Badley Moor SSSI, a part of the Norfolk Valley Fens SAC is located in close proximity to the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 42



site.  It is noted that Yaxham Parish Council are concerned that the impacts of this development have not
been properly considered in this regard.  However, it should be noted that updated Phase 2 ecological
surveys were undertaken in June 2019 and have been consulted upon with statutory consultees.  The
Wildlife Trust and our own Ecologist have reviewed the submitted information and raise no objection in this
regard, subject to the imposition of conditions, which have been proposed.

The submitted ecology information contains acceptable mitigation measures to protect ecology and a
condition is required for an ecological management plan, which includes requirements to enhance ecology in
accordance with Policy 15 of the NPPF, as well as the information as set out in the submitted ecology
reports.  The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in this regard.

It is noted that no comments from Natural England have been sought an these have been chased and will be
updated to members of the Planning Committee once received.

Other matters
Dereham Town Council has raised concerns about the assessment of the application, specifically with
regards to the latest version of Transport Assessment (Rev 5).  For information the Highways Authority have
confirmed that they have based their assessment on this version and therefore are satisfied with the
development in terms of highway safety and traffic generation on Norfolk County Roads in accordance with
Policy CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy.  As statutory advisors in this regard the Council see no reason to
object to their conclusions and recommend approval on this basis.

The re-assurance of Highways England has also been sought in this regard and will be reported to members
of the Planning Committee at the meeting.

(E) CONTRIBUTIONS/OBLIGATIONS

The supplementary report referred to Section 8.0 of the committee report, which relates to open space. It
stated 'in addition to what is set out within the report, it should be noted that the proposed open space would
include both requisite typologies including sport and outdoor play space onsite'.  This is to accord with the
requirements of Policy DC11 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

Also, following additional/updated contributions would also be sought and secured through the signing of the
section 106 agreement if planning permission is granted:

- Education contribution - £897,408
- Library contribution - £19,125
- Healthcare Contribution - £92,575
- Provision of 18% (46) affordable dwellings with a tenure split of 70% affordable rented housing and 30%
shared ownership and an appropriate mix of unit sizes
- Positive, late stage review mechanism to be secured to ensure that any uplift in the viability of the scheme
is captured as an additional affordable housing contribution (noted that this amount shall not exceed the
equivalent of 25% affordable housing provision)
- On-site open space provision including sport and outdoor play space onsite and maintenance contribution
- Residential Travel Plan and monitoring contribution
- £30 per dwelling is sought for the improvement of signage, surfaces and boardwalks on the routes.
- £500,000 towards a footbridge/two way bridge at Westfield Lane.

(F) RECOMMENDATION

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 43



 

 

 

 

The recommendation remains unchanged with the application recommended for APPROVAL subject to
conditions (see updated list of conditions at end of this report) and the signing of the section 106 agreement
to cover the updated list of obligations, as set out above.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is being presented to committee as a major planning application.

KEY ISSUES

It is noted that there has been a significant amount of objection to the proposal from local residents raising a
number of issues.  The Town Council also objects to the development of the site.  Taking these comments
into account, the main issues that need to be considered are:

Principle of development of the site
Access & highway impact
Ecology
Design & layout
Amenity
Drainage
Affordable housing
Open space

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

This is a full planning application for 255 dwellings and associated works, comprising the following:

* Residential development of the site, comprising a total of 255 residential dwellings;

* Construction of two new vehicular access junctions into the site from Yaxham Road, in order to serve the
development;

* An area of 4.37ha of associated Public Open Space, to be utilised by both new and existing local residents.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site lies approximately 1 mile south-east of the defined town centre of Dereham and to the
east of the B1135 Yaxham Road.  To the north of the site is a track known as Dumpling Green.  The site
comprises a total of 6 broadly rectangular parcels of adjoining land, together totalling approximately 17.2
Hectares.  All of the land is currently in agricultural use and is classified as Grade 3 (good).

The site abuts the existing Settlement Boundary of the town.  To the north-west, the existing Grade II Listed
dwelling of Green Farm and the neighbouring dwelling of Willow House lie between the site and Dumpling
Green, whilst to the north-east the detached dwelling and curtilage to Poppyfield is similarly accessed off
Dumpling Green. To the south lies the detached farm house and associated buildings of Horseshoe Farm.

The majority of the existing site boundaries are delineated and enclosed by existing trees and field hedging,
this means that views into the site from both Dumpling Green and Yaxham Road are limited to occasional
gaps and access gateways.  A woodland belt lies adjacent to the western Yaxham Road boundary of the site.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 44



 

 

 

 

 

The application site is relatively flat across the northern half of the site, before falling away to the south
towards the edge of the valley of the River Tud, which lies beyond Horseshoe Farm to the south.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.05 Developer Obligations
CP.06 Green Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.11 Open Space
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.14 Energy Efficiency
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF With particular regard to Sections 6, 7, 10 & 11, paras. 8, 32, 47, 49
SS1 Spatial Strategy
National Planning Policy Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

The Council seeks to enter into Planning Obligations to provide necessary local infrastructure requirements
on development sites. This could include, where necessary, for development to deliver site specific open

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 45



 

 

space, connection to utility services (as required by legislation), habitat protection, transport improvements
and archaeology.

Affordable housing provision would be secured through Section 106 to meet local affordable housing needs.

In relation to open space, the Council has identified a shortfall of outdoor sports provision and childrens
playspace across the district. The evidence for this shortfall is found in the Council's Open Space
Assessment. Therefore, to remedy the identified shortfall, the Council seeks Unilateral Undertakings to
provide contributions towards open space improvements under the provisions of adopted Policy DC11 where
developments would not meet the threshold for on-site provision. In light of the evidenced shortfall of open
space, the Council considers that these contributions are demonstrably improving open space provision in
areas of evidenced shortfall and therefore comply with Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations.

The Council is investigating the the implementation of a Community Infratstrutucre Levy (CIL). As such the
payment of CIL and S106 obligations will be used for different requirements, and developments will not be
charged same items of infrastructure through both S106 and CIL. Once adopted, CIL will replace S106
contributions towards off-ste infrastucture.

The current application is recommended for approval, subject to a Section 106 Agreement to secure the
following items:

- Education contribution - £698,640
- Library contribution - £19,125
- Healthcare Contribution - £92,575
- Provision of 18% (46) affordable dwellings with a tenure split of 70% affordable rented housing and 30%
shared ownership and an appropriate mix of unit sizes
- Positive, late stage review mechanism to be secured to ensure that any uplift in the viability of the scheme
is captured as an additional affordable housing contribution (noted that this amount shall not exceed the
equivalent of 25% affordable housing provision)
- On-site open space provision
- Residential Travel Plan

CONSULTATIONS

DEREHAM TOWN COUNCIL
Summary of comments
Norfolk County Councils document Safe and Sustainable Development provides guidance on transport
issues as they relate to new developments. The guidance defines the planning terms material and significant
as: any increase in traffic on a link of a junction, where all links into a junction have less than 15% spare
capacity at peak times

The level of congestion at both these junctions is both a Material and Significant consideration.
The Transport Assessment for this application identifies that, taking this development along with the other
committed developments into account:

The NPPF states that developments should only be refused on transport grounds where the residual
cumulative impacts of developments are severe. Norfolk County Council Guidance states that with regards to
the NPPF any impact is deemed to occur when increases in delays and or/or queues at a junction are

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 46



unacceptable unacceptable is not defined in the guidance therefore the dictionary definition can be used]

The queues at these two junctions are currently considered unacceptable by most people, so the fact that
they will be four times worse in just 7 years is totally unacceptable. Even if this development on its own only
contributes a small proportion of that increase, it is an increase. So this development will be making an
unacceptable situation 4% worse therefore the impact will be severe.  The applicant does not seem to be
contributing to infrastructure identified in the Dereham Transport study as being needed for development to
take place.

The Breckland Council Transport study carried out by WYG and adopted as evidence for the Local Plan
states that 12.4.2 if large scale developments were allocated the provision of new or improved bus services
and good pedestrian and cycle links would ensure that the sites were accessible by non-car modes, with the
result that the pressure on the highway network would be reduced. The WYG transport study has been
adopted by Breckland Council and Norfolk County Council and been subject to public inspection by an
inspector appointed by the Government. WYGs recommendation for improved cycle links to be made should
be implemented.

The developer is proposing a shared use cycle/pedestrian path on the south side of Yaxham Road. It is
believed that the shared footway is already in place and was part of the off-site contribution for the former
Cemex site. However to make this link meet current standards it would be beneficial and safer to give priority
to the shared use facility at side road.

It is self-evident that soft measures to encouraging cycling as proposed by the applicant in the TPF 8.4 will
have absolutely no effect, if the highway connecting the development to likely destinations is unsafe for
cyclists. The Application should be refused because the Residential Travel Plan has not demonstrated how
residents can effectively cycle to likely services.

Breckland Emerging Local Plan Policy GEN 2 (which was not contested at inspection therefore carries
considerable weight in determining planning applications) states that; the Council will require that all new
developments will maximise connectivity within and through a development and to the surrounding areas,
including the provision of high quality and safe pedestrian cycle routes.

The environmental impact assessment is still out of date and should be carried out again because Great
Crested newts have been identified near the development site.
NORFOLK LANDSCAPE ARCHAEOLOGY
The proposed development site lies in an area of probable medieval settlement fronting onto a former
common (Dumpling Green). An archaeological desk-based assessment and geophysical survey have
previously been carried out at the site. The geophysical survey identified a low density of anomalies, some of
which are likely to relate to field boundaries. It is unclear whether the results are due to the soils at the site
being unsuitable for magnetometry or whether they represent a genuinely low density of below-ground
archaeological features at the site. Either way, potential exists for heritage assets with archaeological interest
(buried archaeological remains) of types which are not suited to detection through geophysical survey to be
present at the site (particularly evidence of prehistoric activity). Consequently there is some potential that
heritage assets with archaeological interest (buried archaeological remains) will be present at the site and
that their significance would be adversely affected by the proposed development. If planning permission is
granted, we therefore ask that this be subject to a programme of archaeological mitigatory work in
accordance with National Planning Policy Framework para. 141.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 47



Foul Drainage: In our previous response (letter dated 15th August 2014 ref AC/2011/113605/05) we also
provided advice regarding capacity at local Waste Water Treatment Works to serve this site; our advice from
2014 still stands, there is not capacity at Dereham but there is sufficient capacity at Mattishall. In our previous
response we also recommended foul drainage conditions; these remain pertinent and we wish to retain these
conditions.
HIGHWAYS AGENCY
No objection - subject to a condition requiring a residential Travel Plan.
NCC: PROW OFFICER
No objection in principle, although raises concerns in respect of the un-adopted status of Dumpling Green
and its poor condition, which would not be good for cyclists.
ANGLIAN WATER
No objection subject to conditions.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
The potential impact of this proposed development on Green Farm, which is a grade II listed building, needs
to be given full consideration
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
There are no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the
development proceeds in line with the application details.
NATIONAL GRID
No objection.
WHINBURGH & WESTFIELD P C
The site is a green field site, and is not included in the LDF Site Specific document - The site is outside the
Dereham Settlement Boundary, and no attempt has been made to justify the development on the grounds of
agricultural dwellings or other acceptable exceptional reasons. - The development will result in an
unacceptable increase in the traffic on the B1135, a road which struggles to cope with present volumes. -
The inadequate and under-estimated figures for traffic movements provided fail to take account of the
approved development of the new Recycling Centre in Dereham. - The B1135 is the main route for our
parishioners to access Dereham itself (including Tesco), and also the A47 for Norwich and Swaffham and
beyond. The increased traffic on the road will severely impact this access. - Vehicles leaving the proposed
development heading for Watton, Thetford, and beyond will cut through Whinburgh and then Westfield
heading for the A1075. Again, these roads are single track, and unable to handle any increase in volumes. -
Alternately, they will travel along Westfield Lane, over the narrow railway bridge, on a road which is already
busy because of the Toftwood Infant School, causing increased danger to the school children.

COMMENTS ON RECONSULTATION - Since the new Recycling Centre has opened traffic jams are
sometimes backing up onto the A47. If this development is allowed to proceed, this will be a worse problem,
and it seems inevitable that a major accident, possibly including deaths, will occur as a result.

The revised drainage assessment still seems to pay little respect to the nearby County Wildlife sites, and the
great crested newts seen in the earlier survey seem to have vanished. The new traffic survey seems to have
been carried out on the theoretical national peak traffic times rather than the actual peak times which occur in
Dereham. This survey seems to come to very different conclusions to the one carried out for Breckland,
MID NORFOLK RAILWAY PRESERVATION TRUST
Evidence from the writer's own eyes in recent times, of the congestion along Yaxham Road South queueing
up to the A47 roundabout, for passage over the Mid Norfolk Railway's Level Crossing, makes clear to me

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 48



that the several historic Consultation Responses of our then Director, Mr Peter Warner, should be taken very
seriously. In his responses dated 20th February 2013 and 23rd December 2013, Mr Warner calls for
contributions toward an improved Level Crossing warning and lighting system; his justifications are recorded
within his several letters. I must make plain that the Level Crossing belongs to the MNRPT and it is the
MNRPT which needs to pay for road closure costs and those associated with repairs to the road and
pavements. Greater traffic flows equal greater repair costs. MNRPT therefore places its objection upon this
Application until such time as it receives assurances of a substantial five figure S106 contribution toward the
fund already held by Breckland Council, for the purpose of updating the Crossing and its repair.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
Dereham and the District as a whole have an identified need for affordable housing with the current Strategic
Housing Market Assessment indicating that 398 affordable homes are required per year for the next 5 years.

I would ask that some level of certainty regarding the level of affordable housing is sought to prevent a
viability claim in the future which would result in a reduction in affordable dwellings on the site. Although the
scheme is policy compliant in terms of affordable housing, the mix of dwellings provided does not accurately
reflect the need for the area. The greatest need is for 1-bed and 2-bed accommodation. The application only
currently offers 21 1-bed dwellings, and 21 2-bed dwellings. There are 30no. 3-bed and 30no. 4-bed
dwellings to be provided as affordable which does not provide a mix that accurately reflects the need. We
would expect to see a considerable reduction in 4-bed dwellings and see a considerable increase in the
number of 2-bed dwellings being provided. We have grave concerns that if the number of 4-bed dwellings
remains the same, then there will be considerable problems in securing a Housing Association to own and
manage the properties. We also have concerns regarding the numbers of affordable dwellings clustered
together on-site. The Council's adopted affordable housing policy (Dec 2009) suggests that affordable
housing should be developed in clusters of no more than 10-12 dwellings and be pepper-potted ocross the
site. In on area of the plan there are 41 affordable dwellings in the same area which we deem to be too large
an amount. We would ask that this was spread across the site in a better manner. Information as to how the
affordable dwellings shall be provided as affordable dwellings will need to be provided, along with the tenure
mix of the dwellings. The affordable housing dwellings must be built free from public subsidy and be built to
at least the HCA Housing Quality Indicator Standards and code for sustainable homes level 3.
RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA
The scheme would provide 2 links at the north of the site, labelled Proposed New Permeability Pedestrian /
Cycleway route. These provide outlets on to Dumpling Green, which provides access to properties along this
road, and also acts as the route of Dereham FP26. The road is unsurfaced, with a few mild pot holes. Unless
there is some change to the surface of this route, we are concerned that the legal rights of walkers could be
negatively impacted if there is significantly increased use of the road by cyclists. We believe that this may be
less than straightforward given the current legal status of Dumpling Green itself. We have no objection - in
fact, the contrary - to increased cycle use, but not at the expense of problems for walkers.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
No comments.
YAXHAM P C
As far as Yaxham is concerned about the increased flood risk and contamination threat to the River Tud is
unacceptable. More traffic is apparent without any remedy. Foul sewerage provision continues to be a
problem. None of these basic infrastructure problems have been resolved with this new application. There is
simply yet another site map showing house types but without up to date consultee reports.

This application was first lodged in 2010, was deferred in 2014 due to insufficient and out of date reports and
the same issues are unresolved some 9 years later. The applicant should be requested to start again with up

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 49



 

 

 

 

to date consultation from all the statutory bodies and the neighbours because there have been a lot of
changes in the last 8 years. There is now the outline permission for 291 homes on the Lanpro site at
Westfield to consider as well as the Dereham traffic survey which outlines the possibility of a link road from
the Hopkins Homes site to the A47 at Mattishall cutting a swathe through Dumpling Green and Badley Moor.

There are very serious omissions in this application which should be properly resolved before going
anywhere near the Planning Committee. It is quite shameful that these consultations have not been properly
sought by Breckland planners.

REPRESENTATIONS

A total of 88 responses have been received, including 50 objections. The material planning considerations
set out within the objections can be summarised as follows:

-The development would increase traffic onto Yaxham Road
-The development would lead to gridlock at the Tesco's roundabout
-Dumpling Green should be kept as a farming area
-The development would result in a loss of mature hedging and trees
-The development would negatively impact on the quality of life of surrounding residents
-The development would detrimentally impact on local wildlife
-Inadequate access to the site is proposed
-There are other more suitable sites in Dereham for development
-Local infrastructure would not be able to cope with the development
-The drainage proposals for the development are inadequate
-The proposed housing density is excessive
-Dumpling Green bridleway is historic and should be preserved
-The development would lead to an increase in crime
-The development would result in a loss of rural character
-40% affordable housing is excessive
-There is inadequate capacity at local schools to accommodate the child yield of the development

A further public consultation is currently underway, expiring on 28th June 2019.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of Development

1.1  For decision making purposes, as required by Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act
2004, the Development Plan comprises the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document, together with the Site Specific Allocations DPD.  Material considerations in
respect of national planning policy are the NPPF and the recently published National Planning Policy
Guidance.

1.2  The site is located outside the Settlement Boundary in an area of open countryside (as defined by
policies SS1, DC2, CP1, and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009), where development is heavily restricted.  The application is clearly contrary to these
policies.  Furthermore, the site is not being put forward for 100% affordable housing under the rural

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 50



exceptions policy DC5.  The proposal should therefore be refused unless there are material considerations
that dictate otherwise.  The lack of a 5-year housing supply carries significant weight in the consideration of
the application.

1.3  Paragraphs 47 and 49 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) state that where an authority
does not have an up to date five year housing land supply (at present the District figure is 3.3 years), the
relevant local policies for the supply of housing as referred to above should not be considered up-to-date and
that housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable
development.

1.4  The Government defines sustainable development as having three dimensions.  These dimensions give
rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:

- economic, in terms of building a strong economy and in particular by ensuring that sufficient land of the right
type is available in the right places;

- social, by supporting, strong vibrant and healthy communities by providing the supply of housing required to
meet future need in a high quality environment with accessible local services, and;

- environmental, through the protection and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment.

1.5  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation because they
are mutually dependent; therefore a balanced assessment against these three dimensions is required.

1.6  In terms of economic and social sustainability, Dereham has a high level of facilities and (as set out in
Core Strategy policy SS1) is a town planned for focussed housing growth.  Key factors that have led to this
planned growth are its existing employment base and its location adjacent the A47 trunk road.  Over the plan
period to 2026 Dereham will need to deliver approximately 2000 new homes, 600 of which should come from
new sites.  In terms of location there can be little argument that the site is sustainable, however this is subject
to the environmental impacts of the proposal being acceptable when balanced against the benefits.

1.7  Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires new sites for housing development to be deliverable, which is
defined as being available now, be suitable in terms of location, and be achievable in respect of housing
being developed on the site within the next five years.  The applicant has explained that first occupations of
the development could be within 9-12 months from commencement, and that approx. 200 dwellings are likely
to be provided within five years from commencement on site.

2.0  Access & highway impact

2.1  The application has been the subject of a number of amendments since initially submitted in 2010 and
the Transport Assessment has been through several iterations. The current Transport Assessment, upon
which this recommendation is predicated, was submitted in February 2019. The TA was amended following
comments from NCC Highways, to take account of recently committed schemes in the local area and
cognisant of the Dereham Transport Study. Given the passage of time since the application was first
submitted, the updated TA also reflects the current highways context and is considered to be robust in
respect of allowing for full assessment of the application.

2.2    The proposed development will be accessed off Yaxham Road by a roundabout to its southern edge
and a priority junction to the northern edge.  The development will also provide improved walking/cycling links

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 51



between the site and the Tesco's roundabout to the north and improved walking facilities along Westfield
Lane.  The developer has also agreed to pay £114,750 (index linked) in a lump sum payment to Norfolk
County Council for the County Council to produce/implement and monitor a Residential Travel Plan.  This will
be secured via S106 which will need to be in place prior to any permission being issued.  The applicants
have submitted a comprehensive Traffic Assessment (TA) with the application, which has been reviewed by
Norfolk County Council and the Highways Agency.  No objection to the development has been raised.

2.3  Concerns have been raised by the Mid Norfolk Railway Preservation Trust regarding any potential
'significant' increase in vehicular movements across two existing level crossings within the town, notably the
existing crossing on Yaxham Road, to the north of the application site, under the A47 flyover.  The applicant's
Transport Assessment indicates that, allowing for the development to be fully completed within this initial 5-
year period, peak-hour flows across the nearest Yaxham Road crossing are unlikely to increase by more
than 8% overall.  It is considered that an 8% increase is not significant.

2.4  The strong opposition to the development in terms of highway impact from local residents and the Town
Council is noted, particularly in respect of the amount of time passed since the TA was undertaken (August
2010).  In light of these concerns NCC: Highways have been consulted again.  They comment that when the
application was submitted, the traffic impact of the development was assessed for the AM and PM peak
hours, background traffic was 'growthed' and appropriate assessments undertaken.  Given that there has
been very little background growth in traffic since the application was submitted, it is unlikely that there will be
any significant changes in the forecasted impacts of the development.  It would not be reasonable to request
the applicant to reassess the traffic impacts of the proposal as it is unlikely that they would come to any
different conclusions and any proposed mitigation would not be different to that already proposed.  Any
additional impacts would not be considered 'severe' in the context of Paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

2.5  Whilst there are other committed developments in the local, most notably on land off Westfield Lane
(3PL/2015/1490/O), these developments have been fully assessed within the current transport assessment
and the cumulative impact has been fully assessed by NCC Highways who offer no objection to the scheme.

2.6  As paragraph 109 of the NPPF states, 'development should only be refused on transport grounds, where
the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe'.

3.0  Ecology

3.1  The site comprises agricultural fields with intensively managed hedgerows.  The field margins do contain
large mature trees (predominately oak). There are ponds within the site and within 500 metres of the site,
and whilst the ecological value of the site is considered to be relatively low, the presence of ponds could give
rise to suitable habitat for Great Crested Newts (GCN's) as well as other reptiles.  Following a desk top
survey submitted with the application, a reptile and great crested newt surveys were undertaken and the
results submitted.

3.2  Although GCN surveys in 2011 found a small colony of newts in one of the ponds, when the site was
resurveyed in June 2014, no GCN's were found.  The survey report states that 'Given the deterioration of
aquatic habitat (in particular breeding habitat) it is thought likely that the small GCN population potentially
present in 2010 may have died out.  In any case no presence was detected during the 2014 survey with
additional effort undertaken above recommended best practice survey effort.'

3.3  No evidence of reptiles was found.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 52



3.4  As the Ecological Consultant points out, a development of this size also has the potential to impact on
wider European Protected Sites such as the Breckland SAC and SPA through increased recreation and
access despite being distant from the sites.  However, it is not considered that this impact would be
significant and carries limited weight in the planning balance.

3.5  Subject to an update of the existing Extended Phase 1 Habitat Report being undertaken along with
suitable conditions being attached to any permission granted, and a long term management plan for retained
or created habitats and landscaping being submitted as well as details of the extent of tree works proposed,
then no objection to the development is raised.

3.6  Natural England (the Government's advisor on such matters) also have no objection to the scheme,
which (as amended) is considered to accord with the Core Strategy policy CP10 and the relevant
requirements of the NPPF.

4.0  Design and layout

4.1  Both Core Strategy policy DC16 and Section 7 of the NPPF require high quality design, and great
importance is attached to the design of the built environment, with it seen as a key aspect of sustainable
development.  The design and access statement submitted with the application explains how the scheme
has been influenced by a contextual and character appraisal of the site and the surrounding area.

4.2  The proposed development contains an appropriate mix of 2, 3, 4 and 5 bedroom dwellings and the
external finishes, materials and detailing is considered to be appropriate for its context.  Open space in
excess of the minimum required is proposed and its location throughout the scheme assists in establishing a
more edge of town character and feel to the development.  The layout is structured around a hierarchy of
streets with variations in character that help to define streets and keep vehicle speeds low.  A minimum of 2
vehicle parking spaces per dwelling is proposed, with spaces being provided for 3, 4, and 5 bed dwellings.
This accords with the requirements set out in policy DC19 of the Core Strategy.

4.3  The retention of the majority of the existing tree belt to the Yaxham Road frontage helps both to minimise
the general impact of the development and to create a strong landscape character to the scheme.

4.4  The impact on the setting of Green Farm (Grade II Listed) has been considered in assessing the layout
of the scheme.  It is considered that there would be no significant harm to the setting of this historic asset.

4.5  Overall, in terms of design quality, the scheme is considered acceptable and accords with Core Strategy
policies DC16 and DC17 and the relevant requirements of sections 7 and 12 of the NPPF.

5.0  Amenity

5.1  Due to the site not bordering any existing residential dwellings, the scheme will have very little direct
impact on neighbouring amenity.  Clearly there will be a degree of environmental impact (as is the case with
any new development), however this impact has to be balanced against the benefits of the proposal in terms
of housing delivery, affordable housing provision and the provision of publically accessible open space.
There will of course be additional traffic generation, but as NCC: highways have indicated, the impact of this
will not be severe.

5.2  Two pedestrian/cycle paths are proposed to link through to Dumpling Green in order to provide

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 53



permeability for the development.  As highlighted by the Ramblers Association, as well as NCC Rights of
Way, Dumpling Green is currently an un-adopted, unsurfaced track which provides shared vehicular access
to a number of existing residential dwellings, together with a commercial Nursery Business, as well as
providing the route of a public footpath.  The land within the applicant's control directly adjoins the southern
boundary of this track, with existing gaps between lengths of hedging and trees providing existing informal
pedestrian linkages.

5.3  Providing pedestrian links is considered to be an important aspect of the design of the scheme as it will
connect the development to the wider area, further potentially reducing the reliance on the motor car for local
travel.

5.4  It is not considered that pedestrian/cycle access onto Dumpling Green would have a significantly harmful
impact on the existing levels of amenity enjoyed by residents.  Further details of these footpath links can be
required to be submitted and agreed by condition. Whilst there has been objections to the scheme on the
basis that Dumpling Green is a private road with no public right of way, right of legal access is a civil matter
and is not a material planning consideration in the determination of this application.

5.5  The application is considered to accord with the requirements of Core Strategy policy DC1 (Amenity).

6.0  Drainage

6.1  Surface Water - The site is within Flood Zone 1 and is therefore not susceptible to fluvial flood risk.  As
the soil type on this site is clay and loam, infiltration testing shows that soakaways as a means of surface
water drainage is inappropriate.  The scheme therefore proposes an attenuated flow to existing land drains
and ditches utilising permeable paving storage, swales and a detention basin.  The EA are content with this
approach and do not object to the application, subject to appropriate conditions.

6.2  Foul Water - when the application was submitted back in 2010 it was apparent that there was no spare
capacity at the Dereham Waste Water Treatment Works (WWTW) and that an alternative solution would
have to be found.  The revised proposals now involve the installation of a foul water pumping station on the
site that will connect to a drainage system ending up at the Mattishall WWTW.  To confirm foul water
connectivity for the proposed development into the public foul sewer network a Section 98 Pre Requisition
Appraisal has been prepared and submitted to Anglian Water.  The results of the appraisal are summarised
below:

- The Dereham East Growth scheme has been developed by Anglian Water out of the  need to provide a
strategic solution for planned growth in the Dereham catchment as there is a lack of both treatment capacity
and sewer capacity within the existing public sewer network;

- The Dumpling Green development site has been included as part of the overall  Growth Scheme strategy;

- The Anglian Water Dumpling Green strategy will include an onsite pumping station that will pump site
specific development and third party flows, from existing and new development in Dereham including the
proposed Norwich Road and Greenfield Lane developments, to the Mattishall WWTW via a 225mm diameter
rising main approximately 2.5km in length;

- The onsite pumping station will provide 14 cu.m. of emergency storage in accordance with Sewers for
Adoption/Anglian Water requirements; and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 54



- The pumping station and associated infrastructure including rising mains will be adopted by Anglian Water

- The development foul water sewer network will drain via gravity to the foul water pumping station and will
be designed to Sewers for Adoption criteria to enable the sewer arrangement to be offered for adoption
under a Section 104 agreement.

6.3  Subject to details of the above drainage scheme being secured by condition, Anglian Water raise no
objection to the application, which accords with Core Strategy policy DC13 (Flood Risk) and the relevant
sections of the NPPF and the NPPG.

7.0  Affordable Housing

7.1At the time of the application being made, 40% provision was required on sites capable of
accommodating 5 or more dwellings and/or 0.1ha. This is then further split into 70% being made available for
rent and 30% for shared ownership, shared equity or any other intermediate product that meets the
intermediate definition within NPPF, meets an identified need in the District and is agreed by the Council.
However, NPPF states that affordable housing should only be sought on developments of 10 or more
dwellings or 0.5ha.

7.2It should be noted that when the application was first reported to committee in September 2014, the
scheme comprised a, then, policy compliant level of 40% affordable housing. Subsequent to the deferral of
the application at the 2014 committee meeting, further work on the viability of the scheme was undertaken on
behalf of the applicant by Inali and a viability assessment was submitted to the Council for review in August
2017. The viability report summarised that a level of 18% affordable housing is now the maximum viable level
that can be provided. It should be noted that the build costs upon which the 18% affordable housing offer is
partly predicated are fully inclusive of all identified S106 contributions as well as the off-site highway
improvements and footpath considered as necessary mitigation.

7.3The Council instructed DVS to undertake formal review of the viability assessment which found that the
methodologies used, the assumptions made and the conclusions drawn within the Inali report were largely
sound and reasonable. DVS thus concurred with the viability assessment submitted by Inali and concluded
that 18% is the maximum viable level of affordable housing that could be delivered by the scheme.

7.4In light of the clear advice from the Council's appointed viability consultants, and fully cognisant of the
wider package of off-site improvements being delivered by the scheme, officers consider that the proposed
level of affordable housing is acceptable in this case.

8.0  Open Space

8.1  The scheme will provide for generous levels of open space totalling some 4.4 hectares. This comprises
2.2 hectares of public open space, which can accommodate LEAP's, as well as 2.1 hectares of strategic
open space, which will be able to be used for more informal recreation. This exceeds the requirements of
Core Strategy policy DC11.

8.2  Policy DC11 also requires that the application make on site provision for on site open space and outdoor
play space. Both of these would be provided for within the open space provision with details secured through
the S106.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 55



9.0  Planning Obligations

9.1  Any permission granted would be subject to a S106 legal agreement. This would require the following
obligations:

-Education contribution - £763,112
-Library contribution - £15,300
-Healthcare Contribution - £92,575
-Provision of 18% (46) affordable dwellings with a tenure split of 70% affordable rented housing and 30%
shared ownership and an appropriate mix of unit sizes
-Positive, late stage review mechanism to be secured to ensure that any uplift in the viability of the scheme is
captured as an additional affordable housing contribution (noted that this amount shall not exceed the
equivalent of 25% affordable housing provision)
-On-site open space provision and maintenance

9.2  The application is therefore considered to accord with the requirements of Core Strategy CP5 in this
respect.

10.0  Other matters

10.1  The site has been identified as being within an area of probable medieval settlement fronting onto a
former common in Dumpling Green. As a result of this, the applicant was required to undertake an
archaeological desk based assessment and geophysical survey to establish the likelihood of any such
remains being in situ.

10.2   In review of the desk-based assessment and geophysical survey, Norfolk HES note some anomalies
were identified and the potential for heritage assets with archaeological interest exist. Such remains may be
suited to detection through geophysical survey and as such Norfolk HES officers have requested that a
condition be attached to ensure that a programme of archaeological mitigation work is undertaken. Such a
condition is attached accordingly.

11.0  Conclusion

11.1  It is accepted that there is not a five year supply of sites within Breckland district. The National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) is clear and explicit that in such circumstances Local Planning Authorities should
consider favourably sustainable development that would address that deficit. The lack of a five year supply
and the requirements of the NPPF are a very strong material consideration in favour of this application.

11.2  The site is in a sustainable location, close to existing facilities and local employment. The requirements
of the NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable development, and the identified benefits from the
development outweigh other material considerations, including any identified harmful impacts, and the
proposed development can be accepted as a departure from normal policy.

11.3  The design and layout of the scheme is appropriate for its context and will not significantly harm the
amenities of neighbouring properties. The development accords with the relevant Core Strategy policies, in
particular DC1, DC4, DC11, DC13 and DC16. These policies are given due weight as they remain
wholly/partly consistent with the published NPPF.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 56



 

 

11.4  In all other respects, and subject to appropriate conditions, the proposed development is in accordance
with Sections 6, 7, 10 & 11 of the NPPF and relevant Core Strategy policies and would not result in
significant and demonstrable harm in accordance with Paragraph 11 of the NPPF. The application is
recommended for approval, subject to no new material planning considerations being raised during the
remainder of the consultation period (28th June 2019).

RECOMMENDATION

Recommendation GRANT planning permission, subject to no new material planning considerations being
raised during the remainder of the consultation period (28th June 2019) and signing of the section 106
agreement.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.  Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

2 In accordance with submitted plans
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, plans,
drawings, and other documents and details submitted or provided by the applicant, as
amended by the documents referred to above.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials and samples to be approved
Prior to the commencement of work on site, details and samples of all external materials to
be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and
this condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to these matters which have
been given in the current application.  Only such agreed materials shall be used in
connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of a satisfactory appearance of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC1 and DC16 of the Breckland
Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 Boundary screening to be agreed
Prior to works above slab level, a scheme for the provision of boundary screening, shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.  Such scheme as may be agreed
shall be carried out in its entirety prior to the first occupation of the dwellings which the
screening adjoins.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development and for the protection of
neighbouring amenity. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC1 and DC16
of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Landscaping - details and implementation

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 57



Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme of landscaping which shall take
account of any existing trees or hedges on the site, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be carried out during the
planting season November/March immediately following the commencement of the
development, or within such longer period as may be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall take account of the Council's leaflet "Tree pack"
(Landscaping advice for applicants).  Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five)
years from the completion of the landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of the
same size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement in the interests of visual amenity and to ensure
a satisfactory form of development. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy
DC12 and DC16 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Foul water strategy
Prior to the commencement of any works above the laying of foundations, a foul water
strategy shall been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No
dwellings, hereby approved, shall be occupied until the works have first been carried out in
accordance with the foul water strategy so approved unless otherwise first agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required to minimise the possibilities of flooding in accordance with Policy 14 of
the NPPF.

7 Adoption/maintenance of surface water scheme
Prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved, details of who will adopt
and maintain each aspect of the surface water drainage scheme for the lifetime of the
development shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
along with the maintenance schedule which shall be in accordance with the
recommendations in The SUDS Manual (CIRIA, C697).
Reason for condition:-
To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from
the site for the lifetime of the development in accordance with Policy 14 of the NPPF.

8 Contamination
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the
site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and obtained written
approval from the Local Planning Authority for, a remediation strategy detailing how this
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the proposed development does not cause pollution of Controlled Waters and
that development complies with approved details in the interests of  protection of Controlled
Waters in accordance with Policy 14 of the NPPF.

9 Details of roads, drainage etc.
Prior to the commencement of development, detailed plans of the roads, footways,
cycleways, foul and surface water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 58



the Local Planning Authority. All construction works shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved plans.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement to ensure satisfactory development of the site
and a satisfactory standard of highway design and construction in accordance with Policy
CP4 Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Management/maintenance of streets
Prior to the commencement of development, details of the proposed arrangements for future
management and maintenance of the proposed streets within the development have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. (The streets shall
thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved management and maintenance
details until such time as an agreement has been entered into under Section 38 of the
Highways Act 1980 or a Private Management and Maintenance Company has been
established).
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement to ensure satisfactory development of the site
and to ensure estate roads are managed and maintained thereafter to a suitable and safe
standard in accordance with Policy CP4 Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Standard estate road condition
No works shall be carried out on roads, footways, cycleways, foul and surface water sewers
otherwise than in accordance with specifications to be first submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure satisfactory development of the site and to ensure estate roads are constructed to
a standard suitable for adoption as public highway in accordance with Policy CP4 Breckland
Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Road Surfacing
Prior to first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, the road(s), footway(s) and
cycleway(s) shall be constructed to binder course surfacing level from the dwelling to the
adjoining County road in accordance with the details to be first approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure satisfactory development of the site in accordance with Policy CP4 Breckland
Adopted Core Strategy.

13 Standard estate road condition
All footway(s) and cycleway(s) shall be fully surfaced in accordance with a phasing plan to
be first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the commencement of
development.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement to ensure the satisfactory development of the
site in accordance with Policy CP4 Breckland Adopted Core Strategy
This condition will require to be discharged

14 Construction traffic (parking)

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 59



Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing provision for on site parking for
construction workers for the duration of the construction period has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be
implemented throughout the construction period.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement to ensure adequate off street parking during
construction in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CP4 Breckland
Adopted Core Strategy
This condition will require to be discharged

15 Wheel washing facilities- temporary for
construction vehicle
No works shall commence on site until the details of the wheel cleaning facilities for
construction vehicles have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.  The approved scheme shall be implemented throughout the construction period.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement to prevent extraneous material being deposited
on the highway in accordance with Policy CP4 Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

16 Highway improvements-offsite A
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings, prior to the commencement
of development, a detailed scheme for the off-site highway improvement works as indicated
on drawing(s) number(ed) 1366/GA/001 Rev D Sheets 1 and 2 and 1366/GA/003 Rev A
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved, the approved off-site
highway improvement works, shall be fully completed, unless first agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement to ensure that the highway improvement works
are designed to an appropriate standard in the interest of highway safety and to protect the
environment of the local highway corridor in accordance with Policy CP4 Breckland Adopted
Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

17 Travel plan not agreed at planning stage
Prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved, an Interim Travel Plan shall
be submitted to and, approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, such a Travel Plan
shall accord with Norfolk County Council document `Guidance Notes for the Submission of
Travel Plans`.  The Interim Travel Plan shall be implemented from first occupation of any of
the dwellings hereby approved and the development shall accord with the approved details.

Not more than one year following approval of the Interim Travel Plan, a Full Travel Plan,
based on the Interim Travel Plan, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.  The Approved Full Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with
the timetable and targets contained therein and shall continue to be implemented as long as
any part of the development is occupied, subject to any approved modifications, which shall
first be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority or as part of the annual review.
Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 60



To ensure that the development offers a wide range of travel choices to reduce the impact of
travel and transport on the environment in accordance with Policy 9 of the NPPF.
This condition will require to be discharged

18 Management plan for habitats etc.
Prior to the commencement of development, a long term management plan for retained or
created habitats and landscaping, along with a full method statement outlining the
precautionary working methods and enhancement for the identified potential Great Crested
Newt habitat shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement in order to ensure the protection of the natural
environment in accordance with Core Strategy policy CP10.

19 Pedestrian/cycleway links
Within 6 months of the commencement of development, full details of the
pedestrian/cycleway links to Dumpling Green shall be submitted to and agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details shall include the future management
and maintenance arrangements of the pedestrian/cycleway links and a timetable for
implementing the improvement works. The works shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
In the interest of the amenity of future occupiers of the development and that of existing
residents of Dumpling Green in accordance with Policy DC01 of the Breckland Core
Strategy.

20 Ecoloigcal management plan
An ecological management plan (EMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the
LPA at the reserved matters stage.  The content of the EMP shall include the following.
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed,
b) Ecological constraints on site that might influence management
c) Aims and objectives of management
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives including mitigation
detailed in the ES submitted with the application namely that for
- great crested newts including precautionary approach to site clearance, plus the inclusion
of features in the landscaping to promote restoration or connectivity in the wider landscape
for great crested newts post-development,
- protection and enhancement of bat feeding and commuting corridors,
- protection and enhancement of hedgerows
- details of the SANGs
- No. of nest boxes for birds
- Mitigation, Enhancement and residual impact measures outlined in principle in section 6 of
the Phase 2 Ecological Surveys and Assessment report (SES; June 2019).
e) Prescriptions for management actions
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled
forward over a five-year period)
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan
h) On-going monitoring and remedial measures

If prior to the commencement of development, more than two years have passed since
surveys were undertaken then updated surveys may be required at the reserved matters

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 61



 

stage and any additional mitigation measures that need incorporating into the site's design
agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

The EMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanisms by which the long-
term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer. The plan shall also set out
(where the results of monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the EMP are
not being met) how remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so the
development still delivers the fully function biodiversity objectives of the originally approved
scheme.
Reason for condition:-
To protect and enhance ecology in accordance with Policy 15 of the NPPF.

21 Energy Efficiency
The development shall generate a minimum of 10% of the predicted energy requirement of
the development from decentralised renewable and/or low carbon sources.
Reason for the condition:-
To secure at least 10% of the site's energy from decentralised and renewable or low carbon
sources to accord with policy DC14 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

22 Fire hydrants
Prior to first occupation a scheme for the provision of Fire Hydrants (1 hydrant per 50
dwellings (on a minimum 90-mm main) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with
approved scheme.
Reason for condition:-
For the safety of and protection of the amenity of future occupants in accordance with Policy
DC01 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

24 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new planning application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 62



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2017/1087/F CASE OFFICER Rebecca Collins

LOCATION: WATTON APPNTYPE: Full
Rear of 121A POLICY: In Settlemnt Bndry
Brandon Road, Watton ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Barconn Homes Ltd
C/O Agents

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: David Futter Associates Ltd
Arkitech House 35 Whiffler Road
Norwich

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of 9 dwellings and ancillary works

DEFERRED REASON

This application was originally deferred from Planning Committee on 8th April 2019 as further information
was required with regards to outstanding ecology and flood risk information.  The report has been updated
below to reflect the current situation with regards to this site.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application was called in for committee consideration by Councillor Gilbert.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of sustainable development
Character and appearance
Amenity
Trees and landscape
Ecology
Highways Impacts
Other Matters
Conclusions

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The applicant seeks full planning permission for the erection of 9 two-storey dwellings with a total floor space
of 999 sqm, comprising of  3 terraced properties and 6 semi-detached properties.  The terraced properties
would be 2 bed dwellings and the semi-detached properties would be 3 bed dwellings.  The dwellings would
be accessed off Stokes Avenue.

The proposed site layout shows the housing facing onto an internal access road to the west and northern
parts of the site with an area of public open space and a swale to the east of the access. The proposed site

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 63

Agenda Item 8c



 

 

 

 

 

 

layout also shows a proposed path to the existing public right of way to the west of the site and the upgrading
of the existing footpath to Brandon Road.

Materials chosen for the dwellings include red facing brickwork, Crest Wold pantiles and white uPVC barge
boards and windows.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is a rectangular piece of land and extends to 0.49 hectares, located within the defined settlement
boundary for Watton. The site sits to the south of Brandon Road to the west of Stokes Avenue.

The surrounding area is residential and commercial, inclusive of Cranswick Country Foods Norfolk to the
west and rural open fields to the south and south east. Watton has been defined within the Adopted Local
Plan (2009) as a market town which provides a good range of services for day to day needs.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2015/0769/O Permission 22-01-16
Erection of 9 dwellings (outline)

3PL/2015/0769/O - Erection of 9 dwellings (outline) - permitted 22.01.16

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 64



 

 

 

NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not applicable

CONSULTATIONS

WATTON TOWN COUNCIL
Watton Town Council objects and would endorse the report compiled by Watton Neighbourhood Plan
Drainage Group:
The application has been going on for 17 months because of the difficulty in finding a drainage strategy that
would satisfy the County Council's Flood Risk Officer.  The original drainage strategy was to discharge into
the ditches on site. Applicants have now had an investigation of the culvert on site and two in the Bridleway
and found that there is a surface water sewer that runs all the way to Cranswick to the Watton Brook.   This is
new information and it is blocked with debris in places as well as not in good repair.  New elements include
the use of swales by converting one of the ditches to this form to hold water and hold it back while allowing
sediment to fall to the bottom. It is not clear whether the water from the swales goes into the attenuation tank
which will discharge into a new section of surface water sewer in the Bridleway paid for by the applicants.

I don't know if the County Council are responsible for the ditches along the bridleway but we can make the
point that clearing these and getting the water into the surface water sewer could help mitigate the risk of
flooding. Another source of flooding is the ditch that runs along the Stokes Avenue development and the
properties in that street that were flooded and some in Brandon Road refer to the water coming from there.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
The revised layout amends the design of the dwellings, albeit the proposed private access road remains
principally along the same alignment. In contrast to earlier revisions drawing 6660-P02-RevJ now includes a
pedestrian link to the adjacent public right of way, Watton RB2. To enable all users to pass on this path it
should be 2m in width. Furthermore, the section of Watton RB2 that links the site to Brandon Road should be
upgraded in accordance with details to be agreed with Norfolk County Council's Public Rights of Way Team.

Should your Authority support the application we would recommend drawing 6660-P02 be amended to widen
the footway that links to Watton RB2 to 2m. Subject to a revised plan being received we would recommend
the following condition and informative be appended to the consent notice in addition to those recommended
in our response of 10 April 2018:
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Objection.

Further information has been provided and is currently being consulted upon with the LLFA.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Initial comments: No objection subject to a Tree Protection Plan.

Comments on amended pans: There do not appear to be any significant changes to the layout which would
materially alter the arboricultural implications. The inclusion of a footpath within the site may  require
specialist construction as it appears to be positioned within the Root Protection Area of retained trees. An

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 65



addendum to the submitted TS and AIA addressing and additional implications, and for clarity a tree
protection plan should be included.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
I can confirm that the site area and number of dwellings proposed trigger the thresholds of the Council's
affordable housing policy as per DC4 of the Council's Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document.
At present a 25% provision is required on sites capable of accommodating 5 or more dwellings and/or
0.17ha.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
Comments on amended site layout: The PEA report (Eco-Check Consultancy; 2017) needs updating to take
into account the revised proposals.

Further information has been submitted and is with NCC Ecology for comment.

Previous comments: No objection subject to conditions.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
Based on the fact that the information provided to me at this time relates to surface water drainage and
flooding; there are no further comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objections.
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
Comments on original plans: The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Watton Water
Recycling Centre. Anglian Water are obligated to accept the foul flows from the development with the benefit
of planning consent and will therefore take the necessary steps to ensure that there is sufficient treatment
capacity should the Planning Authority grant planning permission.  The sewerage system at present has
available capacity for these foul flows via a gravity connection regime.

The surface water strategy/flood risk assessment submitted with the planning application, dated 30/4/18
reference 3254, is currently unacceptable. Insufficient evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the
proposed means of surface water connection to the foul sewer is the most suitable solution, or that it will not
have a detrimental impact to the network.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE
The proposed development will not have any significant impact on the historic environment and we do not
wish to make any recommendations for archaeological work.
NATURAL ENGLAND
No objection.  The proposed amendments to the original application are unlikely to have significantly different
impacts on the natural environment than the original proposal.
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER
We welcome the inclusion of the requested footpath link from the development to the Public Right of Way,
known as Watton Restricted Byway 2. We note the Proposed Site Layout Plan includes a New 2.0m wide
footpath to continue down Bridal Way to connect to Brandon road built to NCC highway standards. The
Restricted Byway must remain suitable for its users and horses are generally not keen on tarmac. We would
suggest some improvement would be beneficial, but not a fully sealed surface. Furthermore, a 2m wide
surface within an RB is not suitable as if it happened to be used by a horse and cart, the cart may not quite fit
on a 2m width surface. A good compromise would be improvement of the surface of the RB from the footpath

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 66



 

 

 

 

link to the Brandon Road with road plainings to a width of 3m. The specification for this would need to be
formally agreed with the Norfolk County Council Public Rights of Way team, and a Temporary Closure Order
may be required prior to the commencement of any works within the RB.

NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST No Comments Received
NORFOLK RIVERS INTERNAL DRAINAGE BOARD No Comments Received
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY
COUNCIL

No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

Six letters of objection have been received in response to the initial public consultation.  These letters are
summarised as follows:

-Impact on amenity
-Increased risk of flooding due to the proposal
-Removal of vegetation and hedges
-Impact on ecology
-Heavy increase in surface water runoff from Stokes Avenue
-Increase in noise
-Noise from construction traffic
-Increased traffic congestion.

- If the site is given permission, the proposed fence with boarders my garden (new 1.2m high post and wire
fence ), to be changed to a solid wooden fence with concrete posts so as to future proof.  I would like this to
be put in place before the works begin to give screening and privacy whilst these works are undertaken.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Sustainable Development

1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2019) confirms that local authorities should attach
significant weight to the benefits of economic and housing growth and enable the delivery of sustainable
developments.  It states that achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three
overarching objectives, namely an economic objective, a social objective and an environmental objective.
The application will therefore be assessed in the content of the presumption in favour of sustainable
development.

1.2 In relation to housing, NPPF states that to support the Government's objective of significantly boosting
the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is
needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with
permission is developed without unnecessary delay.  In order to achieve this objective government requires
that authorities should identify and maintain a rolling supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide
five years worth of housing against their housing requirements plus an additional buffer of 5% to ensure
choice and competition in the market for land.  Where there has been persistent under delivery the buffer
should be increased to 20%.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 67



1.3 Paragraph 78 of the NPPF states that in order to promote sustainable development in rural areas,
housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning
policies should identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will support local
services.

1.4 The site is located within the defined settlement boundary for Watton, therefore it accords with policies
CP1, CP14 and DC2 of the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Development Plan Document
(2009). The principle of residential development is acceptable provided the proposal is suitable in terms of
appropriate density, mix, type and character.

1.5 From a social and economic perspective, Watton has been defined under policy SS1 as a mid sized
market town that provides a good range of services for their residents day-to-day needs but have limited
capacity for expansion due to the constraints of its heritage buildings and Conservation Areas.

1.6 It is considered the proposal would provide short term economic benefits from construction, and benefit
the local economic by settling families.

1.7 The site is located within walking distance of Watton town centre, where there are retail, commercial and
entertainment facilities. It is considered the site is located within a sustainable location.

1.8 The proposal in principle is considered to be a sustainable form of development in accordance with the
NPPF.

2.0 Impact on character of the area

2.1 The NPPF and the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Development Plan Document
(2009) require new development to give careful consideration to its impact on the site and surroundings.
Core Policy DC2 deals with housing mix and density, whilst Policy DC16 promotes good design and
highlights the importance of local character and the important role layout and siting have on the appearance
of an area.

2.2 The proposed development is located to the rear of 121A Brandon Road, Watton and is bounded by
Peddars Way to the West, and back gardens of housing to the north and east and a car park serving
dwellings to the South. The site is relatively flat and level and is predominantly grassland to the north and
dense continuous scrub to the south. The boundary treatment for the site includes fences to the north, east
and west with a mix of mature trees to the west and north west.  The surrounding dwellings are a mix of
bungalows and two storey properties. Materials proposed for the dwellings include red facing brickwork and
Crest Wold pantiles.

2.3 The proposed number of dwellings has been reduced from 12 to 9 and they are set along the western
and northern boundaries, leaving an area of open space to the eastern boundary. The varying house types
and designs add interest to the proposal, however maintain a level of uniformity by utilising the same
materials, window fenestration and amenity space is provided for each dwelling. The properties respect the
character of the surrounding area.

2.4 The proposal is located in an area surrounded by residential development to the north, south and east,
therefore it is considered to be acceptable in terms of its impact on the open countryside.

2.5 The proposal is considered to have given due regard to the parameters of policies DC1 and DC16 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009) as well as

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 68



having regard to paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

3.0 Impact on amenity

3.1 Policy DC1of the Core Strategy requires that all new developments have regard to amenity
considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable impacts on
the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2 The proposal provides acceptable separation distances between the existing and proposed dwellings to
the north, south, south east and east. A construction management plan condition is recommended to ensure
construction impacts are mitigated.

3.3 It is considered that the proposed development is acceptable in terms if its impact on existing residential
occupiers.

4.0 Impact on Trees

4.1 Policy DC12 states that development that would result in the loss or the deterioration in the quality of
important natural features such as protected trees and hedgerows will not normally be permitted.

4.2 The Tree Officer has advised no objection to the proposal on the basis that a tree protection plan is
required under a condition as well as an addendum to the AIA relating to the proposed footpath within the
site. The proposal is considered to comply with policy DC12 of the Adopted Local Plan (2009).

5.0 Impact on Ecology

5.1 The site comprises scrub and grass land with some tree cover predominantly to the boundaries with a
mature hedgerow running along the western boundary with Peddars Way.

5.2 A preliminary ecological appraisal was submitted to support the application. The Natural Environment
Team stated that if any mature trees are to be impacted upon by the proposed development a Preliminary
Roost Assessment will need to be carried out and a  condition is recommended for this. A Construction
Environmental Management Plan has also been conditioned alongside the mitigation measures identified in
the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal.  However, in response to the amended site layout the Natural
Environment Team have advised that the Preliminary Roost Assessment will need updating to take into
account the revised proposals.  Further information has been submitted and a response from our ecologist is
awaited in this regard.

5.3 Natural England were consulted and have no objections to the proposal.

5.4 With regards to the impact on the Stone Curlew it is noted that the site is in excess of 1 km from the SPA
but just within the 1500m buffer zone set out in policy CP10 of the Core Strategy. However, the site is a
significant distance from the SPA and is masked by the existing built development of Watton to the north,
south, east and west. Therefore, the proposed development would accord with policy CP10(a) of the Core
Strategy.

5.5 It is considered that subject to conditions and the receipt of an updated ecological report there would be
no significant harm caused to important landscape features and nature conservation interests within and
around the site as required by policy DC12 and CP10 of the Core Strategy DPD.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 69



6.0 Highways Impacts

6.1 Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.

6.2 With regards to traffic generation, it is noted that the proposal would generate additional vehicular
movements along the local highway network. However, it is considered that the surrounding network is such
that it could accommodate the additional traffic without causing any significant adverse impact on the safety
and operation of the surrounding highway network.

6.3 NCC Highways have advised no objections subject to conditions.  The proposal is therefore considered
in accordance with Policy CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy.  The submitted plan indicates adequate
parking on site in accordance with Policy DC19 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

6.4 The Rights of Way officer has advised no objection to the proposal but advises that a Public Right of
Way, known as Watton Restricted Byway 2 is aligned along the western boundary of the site and has
advised that a link should be provided to integrate to this right of way.  This link is shown on the proposed
site plan and a condition is recommended to secure this.  The revised plan also shows that the surfacing of a
section of this existing right of way between the site and Brandon Road will be upgraded.  A condition is also
proposed for this.

6.5 It is considered that the proposal is acceptable in terms of its impact on highway safety in accordance
with policies CP4 and DC19 of the Breckland Core Strategy as well as having regard to paragraphs 108 and
109 of the NPPF.

7.0 Affordable Housing Provision

5.1 Since the publication of the revised NPPF in July 2018 (now updated 2019), affordable housing
contributions can be sought on developments of 10 units or more or on sites of more than 0.5 hectares.  The
site is less than 0.5 hectares and is only 9 units are proposed therefore no affordable housing is required. As
to whether the density represents under development of the site and a deliberate circumvention of affordable
housing requirements, it should be noted that previous application 3PL/2015/0769/O was approved
comprising of 9 dwellings on the same site area, given the precedent of the consented scheme, it is
considered that the density and layout of the development is appropriate and does not represent a
circumvention of affordable housing requirements in accordance with policy DC4 of the Breckland Core
Strategy.

5.2 Given the proposal is 9 dwellings and the proposed layout is considered to accord with the character of
the area, the proposal is also considered to accord with Policy 11 of the NPPF, which seeks to make an
effective use of land.

6.0 Flood Risk

6.1 The LLFA and Anglian Water have been consulted on the proposal. The LLFA originally objected to the
proposal due to concern about the drainage of surface water from the site without increasing the risk of
flooding elsewhere.  Additional information was submitted to address this objection, but the LLFA still advised
that it was not acceptable.  The agent has submitted further additional information to respond to these
comments and the LLFA have been consulted on this.  Watton Town Council have objected to the proposal
on grounds of flooding.  Subject to no objections from the LLFA being received based on the latest, additional
information, then the proposal is considered acceptable and in accordance with Policy 14 of the NPPF.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 70



 

 

7.0 Other Matters

7.1 The Contaminated Land Officer has been consulted on the proposal and has no objection to the proposal
subject to conditions.  The proposal is therefore considered in accordance with Policy 15 of the NPPF.

7.2 The Historic Environment Service were consulted on the application and have no objections to the
proposal.  The proposal is therefore considered in accordance with Policy 16 of the NPPF.

7.0 Conclusions

7.1 The proposal falls within the defined settlement boundary, and is in accordance with policies SS1, CP1
and DC2. By consequence, the application is considered to be sited in a sustainable location, in accordance
with the NPPF.

7.2 The applicant has worked positively and proactively with the Local Authority to address concerns within
the locality and respective neighbouring residents.

7.3 On the basis of the above assessment and subject to the LLFA and our ecologist withdrawing their
objection, the proposal is recommended for approval subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

The application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions and the LLFA and our Ecologist
withdrawing their objections.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of THREE YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials to be approved
The external materials to be used in the construction of this development shall accord with
the details as shown on the approved plans and application form.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 71



4 Boundary screening to be agreed
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, a scheme for the provision of
boundary screening, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.  Such
scheme as may be agreed shall be completed prior to the occupation of the development
which the screening adjoins to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To safeguard the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and to ensure the
satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of
the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Surfacing - details and construction
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the
construction, surfacing and drainage of the parking and servicing areas, the means of
access to the site and details of all paving to be carried out shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such work shall be completed to the
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority before the occupation of the development hereby
permitted and thereafter retained.
Reasons for condition:-
(a) In the interests of the orderly development of the site and to ensure the satisfactory
development of the site in accordance with Policy DC16 of the Breckland Core Strategy.
(b) To minimise the possibilities of flooding in accordance with Policy 14 of the NPPF.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Landscaping - details and implementation
Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted a scheme of landscaping which
shall take account of any existing trees or hedges on the site, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be carried
out during the planting season November/March immediately following the commencement
of the development, or within such longer period as may be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall take account of the Council's leaflet "Tree pack"
(Landscaping advice for applicants).  Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five)
years from the completion of the landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of the
same size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 12
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Hardlandscaping - details and completion
Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted details of the hard landscaping
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such
approved works shall be completed in all respects before the occupation of the development
to which it adjoins and thereafter retained, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 72



To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC01
and DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Non-standard condition
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted an updated Tree Survey,
Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Impact Assessment shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be constructed
in accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement, to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, in accordance with Policy DC01 and DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

9 Non-standard condition
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access /
footway / on-site car parking / turning shall be laid out in accordance with the approved plan
and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking / manoeuvring area, in the interests of
highway safety in accordance with Policy CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

10 Non-standard condition
Prior to the commencement of any works on site a Construction Traffic Management Plan, to
incorporate details of on-site parking for construction workers, access arrangements for
delivery vehicles and temporary wheel washing facilities for the duration of the construction
period shall be submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

For the duration of the construction period all traffic associated with the construction of the
development shall comply with the Construction Traffic Management Plan and unless
otherwise first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
This is required to be pre-commencement in the interests of maintaining highway efficiency
and safety in accordance with Policy CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

11 Non-standard condition
Details of the footpath connection to the Public Right of Way, known as Watton Restricted
Byway 2, shall be submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority
prior to the commencement of development.  The approved connection shall be fully
implemented prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings on the site.
Reason for condition:
Details are required prior to commencement to ensure pedestrian permeability through the
site in the interests of accessibility, in accordance with the principles of sustainability as set
out in the NPPF.

12 Non-standard condition
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings, no works shall commence
above slab level, on any of the dwellings hereby approved, unless or until detailed drawings
for improvements to the Public Right of Way 'Watton RB2' between the site and Brandon
Road, as indicated on the approved drawing, have been submitted to and approved in

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 73



writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved, the permitted the public
right of way improvement works shall be completed.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor
and to ensure pedestrian permeability in the interests of accessibility, in accordance with the
principles of sustainability as set out in the NPPF.

13 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above the laying of foundations, precise details of
the means of surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection
with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.  This condition
is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

14 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above the laying of foundations, precise details of
the means of foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this
approval.
Reason for condition:-
To minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.  This condition
is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

15 Contaminated Land - Site
Investigation/Remediation
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the following details shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development
hereby approved:
A.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include: (i) a survey of the extent, scale
and nature of contamination; (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of remedial options,
and proposal of the preferred option(s).
B.  Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 74



natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
The above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement to ensure that risks from land contamination to
the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite
receptors.

INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed.  In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

16 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 75



 

17 Ecology CEMP condition
No development shall take place (including demolition ground works, vegetation clearance)
until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This CEMP should be
informed by the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Eco-check Consultancy Ltd; November
2017) and shall include the following:

- Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities
- Identification of 'biodiversity protection zones'
- Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or
reduce impacts during construction;
- The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features;
- The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to
oversee works;
- Responsible persons and lines of communication;
- The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person;
- Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

The approved CEMP: Biodiversity shall be adhered to and implemented through the
construction phases strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless agreed in writing
by the local planning authority.
Reason for condition:-
This is required pre-commencement as the proposals require ground works and engineering
works and on site and any ecological protection and mitigation measures will need
implementing prior to commencement of these works on site in the interests of maintaining
and enhancing biodiversity.
This condition will require to be discharged

18 Non-standard condition
Prior to any works being undertaken to any mature trees on the site, a Preliminary Roost
Assessment shall be carried out and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with any required
mitigation measures.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of maintaining and enhancing biodiversity in accordance with Policy 15 of the
NPPF as well as having regard to Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy.

19 Non-standard condition
The development shall accord with Mitigation and enhancement measures as outlined in
Section 8 and Section 9 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Eco-check
Consultancy Ltd; November 2017).
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of maintaining and enhancing biodiversity in accordance with Policy 15 of the
NPPF as well as having regard to Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 76



Item. 8(c)  
 
Location:  Rear of 121A Brandon Road, Watton 
 
Proposal: Erection of 9 dwellings and ancillary works: REFERENCE: 3PL/2017/1087/F 
 
Applicant: Barconn Homes Ltd 
 
Author: Rebecca Collins 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
NCC Ecology 
The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report (Eco-Check Consultancy Ltd.; November 2017) is fit for 
purpose. If you are minded to approve this application, we recommend that you condition an 
Ecological Management Plan (EMP) and a biodiversity enhancement plan.  
 
Flood Risk Officer 

1. The applicant has now provided CCTV survey and associated drawings to demonstrate that 
the watercourse that is adjacent the site is likely to have entered the culvert and run through 
the grounds of 121a Brandon Road and connected to a surface water sewer in Brandon 
Road.  It is still unclear who maintains the downstream sewer and if they are aware of the 
extent of the drainage catchment inputting to it and would accept diversion proposal. 

2. The CCTV survey confirms the applicant’s statement that the culvert is in a poor state of repair 
and blocked in places.  The applicant indicates that they wish to divert this culvert into the 
bridleway adjacent 121a Brandon Road to allow the connection to the existing system to be 
reinstated.  It is unclear if the owner or responsible body for maintaining this bridleway have 
given permission for this culvert diversion.  It is also unclear if the new properties would be 
responsible in perpetuity for the maintenance of the new culvert diversion.   

3. Whilst the drainage strategy included details for the sizing of the drainage structures, there 
are some assumptions which need to be revisited during any updated submissions or 
detailed design.   

4. The applicant has not considered the risk of flooding from all sources any further than stated 
in the Flood Risk Assessment, stating that surface water flooding is limited to the edge of the 
site and hence the development is in Flood Zone 1.   We would advise that more detailed 
information be provided as the flood risk associate with the watercourse adjacent the site 
to investigate the catchment area of the watercourse (which would include the upstream 
urbanised area), the capacity of the ordinary watercourse, if the watercourse would overtop 
elsewhere on the site, the capacity of the culvert existing and proposed and define the 
extent of flooding that would be anticipated on the site.   

5. As previously indicated local residents have made representation including photographs 
showing surface water flooding adjacent the site and there is no assessment that this would 
not enter the site itself.   There are also several properties downstream of the location which 
have been subject to significant flooding as a result of overwhelmed drainage networks.  

6. Due to the uncertainty of the flood risk to the site from offsite and the potential capacity of 
the discharge location to surcharge the proposed drainage scheme we would advise that the 
proposed housing could not be assessed to be free from a risk of flooding from all 
sources.   We would also advise that raising the finished ground floor levels (FFL) 150mm 
above ground level may be significantly below the flood level expected on the site.   We 
advise that information should be presented to demonstrate that the vulnerable development 
(especially housing) is in the lowest area of risk of flooding and FFL be at least 300mm above 

77



any source of flooding.  This freeboard allowance should be raised up to 600mm depending 
on the level of uncertainly attached to the assessment.  

7. If the above is addressed the applicant would also need to consider the finished ground floor 
levels to be 300mm above the flood levels in any drainage structure, e.g. tank, swale, drainage 
gully or pipe. 

8. We note that the drainage storage areas are on the topographical highest part of the site and 
the houses on the lowest, hence is it also unclear how the drainage could efficiently use gravity 
drainage.      

 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION from Applications re: Flood Risk 

 
1. We’ve written to NCC informing them of our intention to divert the existing culvert and are 

awaiting comments. 
2. We now have confirmation from NCC highways that they do own the bridal way. 
3. This has been modelled.  Please see Pg.1 of the storm sewer calculations which lays this out 

in accordance with the latest FEH data. Please see Pg. 5 of the attached calculations for details 
of the surcharge. 

4. The sites natural topography falls away from the site, hence the natural flow of water will be 
away from the site. The site is also surround by ditches with would intercept water flowing 
towards the site, part of the proposal is to clear these ditches to maintain this. Please also see 
the attached EA surface water maps which show the proposed properties will be out of the 
flood risk area. 

5. As stated above the sites natural topography falls away from the site, hence the natural flow 
of water will be away from the site. The site is also surround by ditches with would intercept 
water flowing towards the site, part of the proposal is to clear these ditches to maintain this. 
As far as downstream drainage networks are concerned the proposed scheme is to store 
stormwater and discharge it at green field rate, therefore the proposal will be no worst that 
the existing. 

6. Please see Pg. 5 of the attached calculations for details of the surcharge. We have stated in 
the strategy that we are happy to set the proposed FFL heights to this standard. We would 
expect this to be conditioned, however for the avoidance of doubt I have marked the 
proposed FFL heights on the proposed site layout. Please also see the attached EA surface 
water maps which show the proposed properties will be out of the flood risk area. 

7. We have stated in the strategy that we are happy to set the proposed FFL heights to this 
standard. We would expect this to be conditioned, however for the avoidance of doubt I have 
marked the proposed FFL heights on the proposed site layout. 

8. The attached calculations demonstrate that the proposed surface water network will flow by 
gravity alone.   

 
ASSESSMENT 
Ecology conditions will be updated to reflect the ecologist latest comments. 
 
Based on the additional flood risk information submitted it is considered that the proposal is 
acceptable in this regard and/or the outstanding matters of outfall, culvert connection and 
maintenance/management of surface water can be dealt with by suitably worded conditions to 
address matters of surface water drainage and a FFL condition, which can be added to any subsequent 
planning permission.  
 
RECOMMENDATION The application is recommended for approval subject to a further condition with 
regards to surface water drainage.  
 

78



 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/0312/F CASE OFFICER Fiona Hunter

LOCATION: YAXHAM APPNTYPE: Full
The Old Post Office,Norwich Road POLICY: In Settlemnt Bndry
Yaxham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Housing Ladder (Breckland) Ltd
8 Hudson Avenue Trowse

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Landmark Associates
2 Muir Drive Hingham

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Demolition of outbuildings and part of the frontage of the Old Post Office, sub-division of
curtilage & erection of a detached bungalow, alterations to the Old Post Office, access and
associated works

DEFERRED REASON

This application was considered by planning committee on 2nd July 2018 and was resolved to be approved
subject to conditions listed in the report and delegated authority be given to the Director of Planning &
Building Control to grant permission on receipt of the resolution of the ecological information.

The ecological information related to a bat survey which was required to identify if there are any bats using
the building to be demolished and if so, the species, the type of use and the quantum. The Council's
ecological advisor confirmed this survey is required as per the government circular on planning and
biodiversity (Circular 06/2005) which makes it explicit that "the presence or absence of protected species,
and the extent to which they could be affected by a proposed development, should be established before
planning permission is granted, since otherwise all material considerations might not have been considered
in making the decision". In respect to whether the survey could be conditioned, the circular advises this
should only be in exceptional circumstances.

Twelve months have passed since the 2018 committee meeting and the survey has not been submitted or
instructed. On this basis, the application is brought back to planning committee with a recommendation of
refusal due to lack of protected species information which conflicts with Policy CP 10 and The Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.

The original committee report is provided below unedited other than the conditions have been replaced with
a reason for refusal.

RECOMMENDATION

Refusal due to lack of information with regards to protected species contrary to Policy CP 10 of the Core
Strategy and Section 15 of the NPPF together with the The Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2010.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 79

Agenda Item 8d



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The applicant is a Breckland District Council Councillor.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development
Landscape, character and appearance of the area
Design
Impact on amenity
Access and highway impact
Other Matters - Ecology, Contamination, third party comments etc.

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Full planning permission is sought to redevelop the site to provide 1 residential bungalow, together with
creation of a new access and demolition works to retail unit at the front of the site.

The bungalow is  approximately 21.4m wide with a double garage to the side. The bungalow would have a
hipped gable tile roof, with brick walls. The dwelling would have a shallow front gable projection in the centre
of the building.

Alterations to the existing shop, which is located to the front of the site, involve removal of 1.0m from the front
of the unit and the reconstruction of the front elevation.

A new access to the rear of the site would be created along the north east flank of the shop to service both
the shop and the bungalow.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is located within the settlement boundary of Yaxham on Norwich Road, within the Clint
Green section of the settlement. The site is occupied by a vacant shop unit to the front, with a flat above. The
remaining part of the site is kept grass with no formal use, with a wooden storage building at the rear.

The site shares access arrangements with Yaxham Church of England Primary School which adjoins the site
to the south east. A detached bungalow occupies the site immediately to the north east. The immediate area
consists largely of detached residential properties and the site is in close proximity to the junction with Well
Hill. Yaxham footpath 2 passes close to the site.The plot amounts to approximately 0.1 hectares.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2017/1000/F - Residential access from Clint Green with turning area. Approved - 22.11.2017.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 80



 

 

 

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.03 - Replacement Dwellings
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
SS1 Spatial Strategy
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not applicable

CONSULTATIONS

YAXHAM P C
The Parish Council supports this application as it;

1) The site is within the settlement boundary
2) It is large enough for the new bungalow and retained Old Post Office combined house & shop, a much
loved local building, beside the school.
3) It seeks to discharge highways conditions from the previous access permission, particularly the closing off
of the shared access with the primary school.
4) The proposed reduction of the front of the shop taking it back 1m and thereby increasing the visibility splay
for both this site and the access to the Primary School.
5) The gifting of the land at the front to highways to widen the footpath.
6) The re-opening of a proper shop would be welcomed by the community.

We would point out the following concerns;

- Highways indicate that the application does not follow the PROW Footpath 2 alignment.
- Previous approval was for just residential use of the access.
- Waste and commercial vehicle access needs addressed.
- Concern about the viability of the unit.
- Removal of chimney a concern.
- No bathroom for the shop.
- Japanese Knotweed present on site.
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 81



 

We note that the Design and Access statement 3.39 gives a description of Yaxham footpath 2. However, this
is not the legal alignment of the route as shown on the Definitive map. The legal alignment of the PROW is
directly coincident with the proposed building. The full legal extent of this footpath must remain open and
accessible for the duration of the development and subsequent occupation. We therefore object to the
application and suggest that either the proposal is altered so as not to impact on the legal alignment of FP2,
or a Town and Country Planning Act 1990 order application should be made to the planning authority to
divert the PROW.

2nd Response

It would appear that in this instance the Definitive Statement should take precedence over the Definitive Map
with the legal alignment of the PROW taking the existing walked route close to the school. As such the
planning application will not affect the legal alignment of the PROW.
CLAIRE SULLIVAN -CHAIR OF GOVERNORS
The school do not object to the application and welcome the widening of the footpath as this will greatly
improve the walking route for children to and from school. We also welcome the blocking off of the current
shared access.

We would like to ask that during construction the applicant be considerate in carrying out any proposed
works, in particular that involve the current shared access so that the building work does not interfere (as far
as possible) with the running of the school and therefore due consideration be given to the impact of noise,
pollution/dust and machinery
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No ecological information has been submitted in support of this application. From photographs of the site and
publically available aerial sources the building appears to be suitable for roosting bats.

As such, I recommend that the applicant is asked to provide further information on the suitability for bats of
the buildings where development is proposed before the application can be determined. An assessment of
the building against the criteria in the Natural Englands Bat Mitigation Guidelines detailing suitability will be
necessary, and this may lead to the need for further surveys.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
I recommend approval subject to a waste management and vehicle management plan.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Having reviewed the application as submitted, it appears that this development would be
classed as minor development. The Local Planning Authority would be responsible for assessing the
suitability for any surface water drainage proposal for minor development in line with National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF).

Having reviewed the application as submitted, it appears that this development would be
classed as minor development. The Local Planning Authority would be responsible for assessing the
suitability for any surface water drainage proposal for minor development in line with National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF).

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT No Comments Received
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT No Comments Received

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 82



 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS

The application was advertised in the local press, a site notice displayed, and letters sent to neighbouring
residents. The following representations were received and can be summarised as follows;

Support

- Single dwelling would be in character.
- New access will bring highway improvements and will benefit the school.
- There is a demand for smaller units and bungalows locally.
- Site is within the settlement boundary.
- A village shop would be good for residents.
- Seems a reasonable proposition.
- New shop will help restore the village.
- A local convenience store would be welcome.
- This will clean up and refurbish a dilapidated property.
- This will be an asset to the village.
- The proposal will help boost housing supply.

Objection

- Concern about parking arrangements.
- Concern about Japanese Knotweed seen on site.
- No details about the nature of the business.
- More details about refuse storage needed.
- Concern about the new access and highway safety.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of the Development

1.1 There are three key elements to what is proposed; a dwelling, work to the vacant shop and provision of a
new access. The application site is within the settlement boundary and as such the provision of a new
dwelling would accord with Policies SS01, DC02 and CP14 of the adopted Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined
Settlement Boundaries.

1.2 The NPPF encourages the use of under-utilised or brownfield land and locating rural housing where it
can support the vitality of rural villages, all which the application comprises.

1.3 Therefore the general principle of a new dwelling is acceptable in principle.

1.4 The reduction of the shop front elevation by 1m does not conflict with any adopted policies or the NPPF,
given that it is necessary to achieve a better viability splay for the access and the adjacent school. This
aspect of the proposal is therefore also considered acceptable in principle.

2.0 Landscape, character and appearance of the area

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 83



2.1 Policy DC.16 requires that all new design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of
an area. Particular regard should be given to reinforcing locally distinctive patterns of development,
landscape and culture and complimenting existing buildings. The NPPF at para. 58 requires that new
development establishes a strong sense of place and responds to local character to reflect the identity of
local surroundings. Whilst local authorities should not impose architectural styles it is important to reinforce
local distinctiveness (para. 60).

2.2 The proposed development is for a single storey detached dwelling. In that respect the village includes
many examples of such designs. Whilst the house is set back, this is an existing trait of the village in this
locale and generally follows the line of bungalows to the north east. The plot may not be as generous as
others in the area but this is not a fatal design flaw and a useable rear and side amenity area would be
provided. The proposal would ensure the more efficient use of the site would generally conform to the
character of the settlement. A landscaping scheme could be agreed by condition.

3.0 Design and Layout

3.1 The proposed design is conventional and raises no issues. As stated bungalows are common feature
locally and the proposed materials would not appear out of place. The layout is acceptable and adequate
parking and amenity space would be provided. The alterations to the shop unit raise no particular concerns
and its overall character would be retained. The proposal complies with Policy DC.16.

4.0 Impact on amenity

4.1 There would be no significant conflict with the residence attached to the shop and a new dwelling.The
residential dwelling would adjoin 1 residential dwelling (Shiralee). The proposed garage, which has a hipped
roof is close to the common boundary at a distance of approximately 1.0m. Whilst the flank wall of the garage
would project beyond Shiralee's rear elevation, at single storey and with a roof that pitches away to a hip,
there would be no significant impact. Shiralee is served by a relatively generous rear garden and the
proposed dwelling would not appear particularly dominant or result in excessive loss of light or overlooking.
The proposal generally accords with policy DC.01.

4.2 There would be no adverse impacts on the school and footpath No.2 would remain open and free from
obstruction. The proposed retail unit brings no obvious amenity related concerns to existing residents.

5.0 Access and Highway Impact

5.1 The proposal would result in the creation of a new access onto the highway and a new parking area for
the residential unit and shop. The works to the shop, would result in improved highways viability for the
school and the shop which is a key benefit of the proposal.

5.2 In addition, the application proposed to 'gift' the land at the front of the site to enable Norfolk County
Council to deliver a footpath. Whilst this pavement would be beneficial, Norfolk County Council have clarified
that they do not have the funds for the physical works for the pavement. The applicant has said no to paying
for the pavement, and therefore this application needs to be considered on the basis that the footpath will not
be delivered and will remain as part of the wider site ownership.

5.3 The Highways Authority are not objecting to this proposal and the access and highways safety are
acceptable and in accordance with policy CP 4.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 84



 

 

6.0 Other Matters

6.1 The Lead Local Flood Authority has raised no concern with the proposed development which is minor in
nature and with floodzone 1. The proposal is in accordance with Policy DC.13.

6.2 The Environmental Health section of the council is content with the scheme subject to conditions
agreeing waste and traffic management plans and details of extraction equipment. The application can be
conditioned accordingly. A construction management plan is also deemed necessary and these reports
addresses concerns raised by third party correspondence.

6.3 The PROW Officer has withdrawn objections and footpath No.02 would remain open and free from
obstruction.

6.4 NCC Ecologists have highlighted how works to the shop could impact on roosting bats as the building is
suitable as a place of refuge. A survey to ascertain the presence/absence of bats is underway. We
recommend this report is concluded and submitted to the Council prior to determination. If mitigation is
necessary we recommend this is conditioned.

6.5 . Third party correspondence has highlighted the potential presence of Japanese Knotweed on site and
the application has been supported by a treatment plan. Having considered this, the Contaminated Land
Officer has not objected to the proposal, and we recommend this treatment plan is conditioned.

6.6 Third party concern has also been raised in relation to the viability of the proposed unit, which is
considered small. The proposed small reduction in the unit, which would bring highway safety benefits and is
a modest reduction, is not considered a reason why consent should be refused. Many small village units
providing everyday conveniences supporting local communities survive on relatively modest facilities.

6.7 Concern is also raised about the loss of a chimney, which is deemed a positive characteristic of the
building. When a building enjoys no statutory protection it is difficult for councils to exercise this level of
control over development.

7.0 Conclusion

7.1 In light of the above appraisal it is considered the proposed scheme, which has no conflict with policy
aims, is acceptable and is it therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions, subject to two
caveats. Delegated Authority is sought to liaise with Norfolk County Council Natural Environment Services in
respect of the Bat Survey and agree mitigation measures conditions if necessary. In the event that the
Natural England are of the view the development is not acceptable and cannot be mitigated in respect of bats
then delegated authority is sought to refuse the application.

REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

1 Non-std reason for refusal
No information has been submitted to account for protected species which could be
detrimentally affected by the scheme. The development therefore fails the requirements of
the  Breckland Council Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009) Policy CP 10 and The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2010.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 85



 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 86



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/0091/D CASE OFFICER Fiona Hunter

LOCATION: BANHAM APPNTYPE: Reserved Matters
Land to the south of Kenninghall Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Banham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: MLN (Land and Properties) Limited
C/o GVA

LB GRADE: Adjacent Grade 2

AGENT: GVA
Norfolk House 7 Norfolk Street

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Proposed development of 43 dwellings, associated infrastructure and open space.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is, as defined by the scheme of delegation, a major planning application as it relates to 43
dwellings and is therefore referred to planning committee.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Access
Layout and Scale
Appearance
Landscaping
Other Matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Consent is sought for Reserved Matters for details of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping in relation to
Outline Planning Permission 3PL/2014/1006/O for 43 dwellings.

Details of access have already been agreed under the Outline Planning Permission via approved drawing
SCP/14003/FO2 Rev A which details one vehicle access point to Kenninghall Road.

The proposed site layout broadly accords with the indicative Outline Planning application plan as required by
Condition 4 of the Outline Planning Permission. The site access road runs through the middle of the site with
a grassed landscaping strip adjacent. This is due to a high pressure gas pipe running through the site which
cannot be developed for housing or equipped playing spaces. The houses are then accessed off 5 private
roads, with 8 units facing towards Kenninghall Road.

A attenuation lagoon is proposed in the north-east corner of the site. Two public open spaces are proposed,
one in the south-east corner and one in the south-west corner.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 87

Agenda Item 9a



 

 

 

 

 

The dwellings are proposed to be a mix of red brick blend, light grey brick blend, white brick blend and beige
render with grey or orange pantiles. The windows and door frames are grey PVC, with white fascias. The
exception to the above is house type 3 which has vertical mid-grey cladding with grey roof, and white
window.

The dwelling mix is as follows:

29 x 2 bedroom houses
11 x 3 bedroom houses
3 x 4 bedroom houses

17 of the 2 bedroom units are affordable dwellings, 5 of which are part rent part sale (intermediate).

SITE AND LOCATION

The site comprises 2.5 hectares of land located to the western edge of Banham. It is immediately adjacent to
but outside the Settlement Boundary and in close proximity to Banham Zoo.  Kenninghall Road runs adjacent
to the northern edge of the site and is one of the primary roads into the centre of the village.  Access to the
site is taken from a field gate from Kenninghall Road.

Two dwellings on Wash Lane bound the eastern edge of the site whilst agricultural fields border the site to
the west.  Wash Farmhouse, a Grade 2 Listed Building is located to the south-east of the site together with
outbuildings of both domestic and agricultural use and appearance. This listed property is partly screened
from the site be existing trees and hedges and buildings within its curtliage.

The site is relatively flat although slightly raised from the highway.  Dense hedgerows with hedgerow trees
are located along the boundaries with the exception of the northern boundary where the majority of the
boundary is enclosed by post and rail fencing.  The site comprises of predominantly improved grassland and
areas of scrub vegetation and is currently used as grazing land for horses.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2014/1006/O Permission 16-02-16
Outline planning application for the erection of up to 43 dwellings

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 88



 

 

 

 

CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.11 Open Space
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.18 Community facilities, recreation and leisure
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

A S106 dated 16/02/2016 is tied to the associated Outline Planning Permission. This legal agreement
required 40% of the development to be provided as affordable housing.

The agreement also requires a 1,720sqm outdoor sports space and 860m play space comprising a Local
Area of Play with equipment on site.

Other requirements include contributions for education and library.

CONSULTATIONS

BANHAM P C
Only one access into and from the site, featureless design of properties, with no variation, not in keeping with
the village character, existing problems with sewage drainage and 3 points where heavy vehicles, eg oil
tankers, waste disposal trucks, removal vans would either cross the gas main or use it as a turning point.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The ecologist needs to attempt to gain access to the field pond within 40 metres of the site to carry out an
HSI assessment, which may lead to the need for further surveys. Due to the time that has elapsed since the
previous site visit it may now be possible to access this pond. The pool on site should also be included the
protected species section. It is not clear if this pool was assessed for its suitably to support great crested
newts. An updated data search will be necessary and we would usually expect to see a standard 2km radius
data search.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 89



NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
Raises concern with poor access for maintence to south-east open space with the need to use a shared
drive, together with  lack of overlooking to both open spaces. However, raises no objection on a highways
safety ground.

There are a few minor technical issues including providing 1m x 1m splays at junctions.  If you agree these
matters can be resolved as part of the technical assessment of the proposed estate roads.
HEALTH & SAFETY EXECUTIVE
Do not advise against development following amendments.
NATIONAL AIR TRAFFIC SERVICES
No objection.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection subject to conditions.
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
The surface water strategy/flood risk assessment submitted with the planning application relevant to Anglian
Water is unacceptable. No evidence has been provided to show that the surface water hierarchy has been
followed as stipulated in Building Regulations Part H. This encompasses the trial pit logs from the infiltration
tests and the investigations in to discharging to a watercourse. If these methods are deemed to be unfeasible
for the site, we require confirmation of the intended manhole connection point and discharge rate proposed
before a connection to the public surface water sewer is permitted. We would therefore recommend that the
applicant needs to consult with Anglian Water and the Environment Agency.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
No objection.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
No objection.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
No objection and are able to recommend discharge of Outline conditions 7 and 19.
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER
The developer and any subsequent property management company should be aware that they may be liable
for repairs to the surface of Banham Public Footpath 30 in accordance with the Highways Act 1980 should
damage occur to the surface of Footpath 30 as a result of Wash Farm Stream flooding due to the proposed
surface water discharge into it.
RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA
No comment.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to condition requiring a site investigation and remediation if necessary, together with an
asbestos informative.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
The content of the revised Design and Access statement is noted and on that basis I have no objection to the
proposal in broad terms of principle, subject to additional landscape screening between the proposed
development and the designated heritage asset.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT OFFICER

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 90



 

 

 

 

No objection. Please note the Outline Planning Condition requires further archaeological investigation.

NATIONAL GRID No Comments Received
ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

The application was advertised in the local press, a site notice displayed, and letters sent to neighbouring
residents. Further consultations were held on 24th July 2018 and 5th June 2019 due to submission of
amended plans and supporting information. 12 local representations were received and are summarised
below:

- Concern in respect of environmental damage/ nuisance including noise, pollution, extra vehicle movements,
construction works.
- Development will make the pot hole / sink hole on Kenninghall Road worsen
- Development will cause off-site flooding
- Local school cannot accommodate further children and what facilities are there for older children?
- Local Services and Facilities cannot accommodate additional residents
- Is there really employment locally for new residents
- Questions the need for housing in Banham
- Danger due to works near gas pipe
- Previously developed sites should be developed instead
- Loss of view
- Light pollution
- Entrance on bad position.
- Local roads not suitable for large vehicles
- Houses to close with no gardens
- Kenninghall Road will need to be widened and extensive work needed to created visibility splays
- Development will be visually intrusive
- Proposed design is ugly and dull
- Animal proof fencing required along southern boundary
- Density to high
- Harm to trees
- Harm to wildlife

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of Development

1.1 The principle of development is established by the grant of outline planning permission (ref:
3PL/2014/1006/O) on 16th February 2016. The current application only considers matters relating to
appearance, layout, landscaping and scale of the development, which are discussed in the following
sections.

1.2 Local residents have raised that the village has insufficient amenities and facilities for the development,
however, the principle of development has already been approved therefore is not for consideration under
this application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 91



2.0 Access

2.1  Condition 3 of the outline consent approves a plan which details the sites vehicle access. The submitted
application complies with this.

2.2 Residents have raised concern  in respect of the access point and the state of Kenninghall Road
including width, and condition. However, as aforementioned these are not matters for consideration. More
specifically, off-site highways works were agreed at the Outline stage and conditioned (conditions 14 and 15).
Based on the foregoing the development is considered to comply with Policy CP4 and paragraph 180 of the
NPPF (2019).

2.3 NCC Highways had raised objection to the development, however, following amendments have
withdrawn this. Some minor technical issues will need to be sorted out at the highways detailed design stage
which could be dealt with by way of condition.

3.0 Layout

3.1  Condition 4 of the outline consent requires the reserved matters to broadly accord with the approved
Indicative Site Layout. This requirement is met. It is also noted that a gas pipe runs through the site which
has acted as a constraint to the site's layout, for example, no play space could be located above the pipe or
the easement.

3.2 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF sets out that "The creation of high quality buildings and places is
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development
acceptable to communities."

3.3 The Outline S106 requires 1,720sqm for outdoor sports and 860sqm for open space play. The
development meets this requirement with 2000sqm of general open space and 1966sqm of play space
incoporating landscaping. The outdoor sports space is not laid out for formal use, however, the S106
provides no definition of outdoor sports.

3.4 Outline condition 22 requires the development to accord with the approved Ecology Report. This report
included recommendations for compensation habitat including two wildlife ponds, newt hibernacula and
wildflower areas. There is likely sufficient space for this within the general open space area, however, the
application seeks approval of landscape and these identified key features should be included.

3.5 The layout overall is considered poor quality for the following reasons:

- Minimal overlooking of the two public open spaces (POS) which would result in safety issues and being less
well used.
- Insufficient overlooking of the access road which would hamper the developments ability to create a
welcoming, distinct and attractive place to live.
- The development will appear car parking dominated due to the parking being in front of the plots.
- Shared access over private road to access south-east POS.
- Unnecessarily large area of hard standing areas in front of plots 1 and 2.

3.6 In respect of overlooking, unit 18 is the closest to the larger POS. The front of the dwelling would over
look the POS entrance, and if boundary treatment is conditioned, it's dining room window of 68cm width

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 92



would overlook the central part of the open space. The POS entrance would also be overlooked by vistas
down the site spine access road.  Units 26 and 25 upper rear bedroom windows would overlook the western
(and rear) part of the open space with a 10.9m distance, and units 23 and 24  rear bedroom would also
overlook with a 16.8m distance. Whilst there is some overlooking as detailed, this is considered wholly
inadequate for a 2,000sqm open space, resulting in an unwelcoming and unsafe area at the rear of the
development.

3.7 The smaller POS with equipped play area is overlooked by a single property unit 15 including it's ground
floor kitchen and living room, assuming boundary treatments is conditioned, and at upper floor two bedroom
windows. This provides better direct overlooking than the larger POS, however, is clearly lacking given that
when the unit is not occupied, which may be as simple as the residents being out, the space will be afforded
no overlooking. Furthermore, the route to the smaller POS is also equally lacking in visibility.  It is not
considered impossible to provide good levels of overlooking for both POS, as per the Outline indicative
layout. This is therefore considered a significant failing of the proposal given the importance of public open
spaces for health, creating communities and leisure and thus are fundamental components of creating good
places to live.

3.8 Due to the foregoing reasons, the proposed layout is considered inadequate, and would result in: unsafe
and underused POS; an unwelcoming and lacking in distinctiveness key access road; a car parking dominant
development along the side streets. On the foregoing basis, the development layout is not acceptable and
does not accord with paragraphs 91, 127 and 130 of the NPPF, nor Policies DC 16 and DC 1.

Heritage Assets

3.9 Any decisions relating to Listed Buildings and their settings must address the statutory considerations of
the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in particular sections 16, 66 and 72 as well
as satisfying the relevant policies within the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 and the development
plan. National policy states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation. Core Strategy
Policy DC17 seeks to ensure that new development preserves and enhances the character, appearance and
setting of listed buildings.

3.10 To the south east of the site lies Wash Farm House, a Grade II listed property. Views to the listed
building from within the site are screened by existing mature trees on the site boundary. The proposed
development includes two open spaces at the north- east and south-east which will allow the obscured views
to remain from the public realm to this listed property. The Historic Building Officer has not objected to the
proposal. On the foregoing basis, the development is considered compliant with Policy DC 17 and Section 16
of the NPPF.

4.0 Appearance/ Design

4.1 The units key materials are proposed to be red brick, light grey brick and white brick blend, beige render,
orange roof tiles and grey roof tiles. The form of the units is simple and traditional with pitched roof with no
chimneys. Interest is created by a contrast brick course splitting the upper and lower storeys, with some units
also having different upper wall material. The scheme is tied together by the use of grey windows, doors and
PV goods. There is three exceptions which is units 2, 15 and 43 which is proposed to have vertical mid-grey
cladding with grey roof, and white windows. In total, there is 5 different house types.

4.2 It is unfortunate that the high quality brick blend approach was not used for house type 1 instead
substituting for a homogeneous beige render at upper floor level and watering down the design ethos of the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 93



overall development which creates its sense of place.

4.3 Type 5 is also considered a negative of the overall design as the materials proposed are from barns in
the locality, however, the detailing is otherwise that of a modern traditional house. For example, the use of
picture windows with contrast frames would have given the unit the finesse needed to make the appearance
visually pleasing and contemporary.

4.4 The design is considered a moderate negative of the proposal and not in accordance with Policy DC 16
nor NPPF par 127 and 130.

5.0 Landscaping

5.1 Landscaping proposals were submitted, however, have not been updated since revised site plans were
submitted. This would need to be conditioned. Information will also be needed in respect of open space
maintenance.

6.0 Mix of Dwellings

6.1 The application proposes a mix of dwelling sizes from 2 bedroom to 4 bedroom. This provides a
reasonable mix, albeit incorporation of bungalows and 1 bedroom units would have been preferable and
provided a more balanced mix. All proposed dwellings meet the Technical housing standards - nationally
described space standards.

6.2 7 affordable units are proposed as required by the Outline S106 agreement all which are two bedroom
house units. The Housing Officer has not objected to this mix.

6.3 The mix and unit sizes are found to be acceptable and accord with the principles of Policy DC 1 and DC
2.

7.0 Drainage

7.1 The application is supported by a drainage report by Mayer Brown and additional information and
amendments contained within a letter dated 20 May 2019. The strategy was supported by infiltration testing,
which found only one location which was suitable for  for infiltration drainage in the north-east corner. The
strategy proposes to drain the units fronting Kenninghall Road to a infiltration basin and the rest of the site to
a underground attenuation tank underneath the play area, which is then discharged at a controlled rate of 5
litres per second to Wash Farm Stream.

7.2  The LLFA have reviewed the latest information and have found these to be acceptable, including
recommending approval of Outline drainage conditions 7 and 19. The development is therefore compliant
with Policy DC 13.

8.0 Other Matters

8.1  The Trees and Landscaping Consultant has reviewed the Arboricultral Statement and found this to be
acceptable. A condition has been recommended, and with this, the development accords with Policy DC 12.

8.2 Following site layout amendments, the Health and Safety Executive have withdrawn their objections as
all vulnerable uses such as dwellings and playing space have been moved from the high pressure gas pipe
"consultation" zone.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 94



 

 

9.0 Conclusion

9.1 The principle of development for the erection of 42 dwellings was established by the grant of outline
planning permission in 2016. The current application only considers matters relating to appearance, layout,
landscaping and scale of the development together with S106 compliance.

9.2 The appearance of the units house types 1 and 5 are not high quality and do not positively contribute to
creating a sense of place, this is considered a moderate negative of the proposal.

9.3 The layout of the development provides insufficient overlooking to the two public open spaces and
access road and as such would result in an unsafe and undesirable environment and not encourage and
support healthy lifestyles nor create opportunities for meetings between people who might not otherwise
come into contact with each other. In addition, the layout of the development would result in a poor visual
layout which is car parking dominant. As a result the proposed layout is not considered acceptable and would
not meet the requirements of Policy DC 16 of the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Document 2009 or paragraphs 91, 127 and 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

9.4 The application seeks approval of landscape and layout, however, has failed to meet the ecological
mitigation requirement of Outline Condition 22 such as providing at least two ponds. The landscaping and
layout is therefore found to be unacceptable in accordance with policy CP 10 and The Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.

9.5 The lack of high quality design of both the elevations, street scene arrangement and layout results
cumulatively in a unsustainable place, furthermore the landscaping and layout proposals in respect of
ecology are unacceptable. The harm identified is considered to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, and therefore refusal is recommended.

RECOMMENDATION

That Planning Permission be refused.

REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

1 Layout
The layout of the development provides insufficient overlooking to the two public open
spaces and as such would result in an unsafe and undesirable environment which would not
encourage and support healthy lifestyles nor create opportunities for meetings between
people who might not otherwise come into contact with each other. Likewise, there is
insufficient overlooking of the access road which has hampered the developments ability to
create a welcoming, distinct and attractive place to live.

As a result the proposed layout is not considered acceptable and would not meet the
requirements of Policy DC 16 of the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Document 2009 or paragraphs 91, 127 and 130 of the National Planning Policy
Framework 2019.

2 Units Design
House type 1 is proposed to be beige render at the second storey rather than the high

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 95



 

quality brick blend of other units and given its frequency and grouping is considered to
detract from the development. House type 5 is a barn aesthetic approach but lacks the
detailing to create a pleasing visual appearance. As a result the proposed dwelling design is
not considered acceptable and would not meet the requirements of Policy DC 16 of the
Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Document 2009 or paragraphs
127 or 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

3 Ecology
The application seeks approval of layout and landscaping, however, the requirements of
Outline Planning Permission reference 3PL/2014/1006/O condition 22 in respect of ecology
have not been met. Specifically the requirement for two wildlife ponds, newt hibernacula and
wildflower areas to mitigate against the potential loss great crested newt habitat. Nor has an
updated great crested newt surveys been submitted with the application to demonstrate
these features are not required.  The development therefore fails the requirements of  the
Breckland Council Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009) Policy CP 10 and The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2010.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 96



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0424/VAR CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: BEESTON APPNTYPE: Variation of Cond's
Land at Syers Lane POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Beeston ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Rural Land Associates
c/o Agent

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Icon Consulting
Hethel Engineering Centre Chapman
Way

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Variation of Conditions No 6 on 3PL/2017/0702/O -to allow retention of hedge line

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The Outline application was originally determined at Committee and there are issues that warrant Committee
consideration.

KEY ISSUES

Acceptability variation of condition 6 relating to to application 3PL/2017/0702/O.

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The proposal seeks the variation of Condition (6) on planning permission 3PL/2017/0702/O which was
approved on 25th October 2017. The proposed variation is related to the access and is to allow for the
retention of the hedge-line to Syers Lane to be able to implement the outline permission which is to erect two
detached dwellings.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site relates to a 0.35 hectare site. It is roughly rectangular in shape measuring approximately
70m by 51m. The site is bounded by residential properties and agricultural/open fields. The site itself is
bounded by mature trees and hedging at varying heights.

EIA REQUIRED

Not required.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

- 3PL/2019/0065/VAR: Variation of conditions 8 & 9 on 3PL/2017/0702/O - Refused 11/04/2019

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 97

Agenda Item 9b



 

 

 

 

 

- 3PL/2018/1205/D: Reserved Matters application relating to the below permission - Withdrawn 06/01/2019

- 3PL/2017/0702/O: Erection of two detached dwellings - Permission granted 25/10/2017

- 3PL/2016/1385/O: Erection of four detached dwellings - refused

- 3PL/2003/0250/O: Erection of two dwellings - refused 2003

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not applicable.

CONSULTATIONS

BEESTON WITH BITTERING PARISH COUNCIL
The parish council continues to object to this proposal as the application proposes to create a new access to
the site rather than use the existing field gate entrance and ditch crossing which will have less impact on
Rose Cottage, the dwelling directly opposite the site.

The parish council reiterates its view that a new access to the site is unnecessary and the existing field gate
access and crossing of the ditch should be used.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
My comments of the 28 June 2017 for application 3PL/2017/0702/O still apply.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
The original permission was subject to a condition requiring the carriageway of Syers Lane to be widened
along the site frontage to enable two vehicles to pass.This would require the removal of the existing hedge
and I understand that is not acceptable to your Authority. The current proposal includes a passing place,
which coincides with the access arrangements, to enable as much of the hedge as possible to be retained.
Whilst this is not ideal, given the circumstances, I would be prepared to accept this compromise situation. I
will however require full details of the access construction, and the ditch piping will need to be agreed by the
LLFA, at the reserved matters stage. As previously requested details of visibility splays measuring 2.4m x

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 98



 

 

 

 

43m together with parking and turning arrangements will also be required as part of the reserved matters
submission.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection based on hedgerow being retained as shown. If approved the hedgerow will no longer be
protected by the hedgerow regulations as it will become a garden hedge, therefore a condition should be
attached which would ensure that the hedgerow is retained at a height of no less than 2m.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objections.

REPRESENTATIONS

A Site Notice was displayed from 03-06-2019 to 24-06-2019.

Seven neighbours have been directly notified. No objections have been received but one neighbour has
concerns as detailed below.

The diagram of the proposed variation is misleading and vague because it does not show the existing
entrance onto the land which is in the NE corner of the plot. There is clearly far less visual impact on showing
two new proposed driveways without showing the existing one. The proposed introduction of two driveways
is a repeat of the original proposal from 2017 which is not possible to implement without removing a major
section of the hedgeline. The splayed driveways that The Highways Department request cannot happen
without removing most of the hedge. The red lines on the diagram are very vague and do not show exactly
how much of the hedge from the roadside will be removed to allow for the proposed road widening. We
reiterate that widening the lane outside this development will only allow traffic to travel more quickly.
The lane is single tracked, without pavements or street lighting and, without providing the necessary safety
measures for pedestrians, the proposed road widening will only increase the danger for pedestrians making
their way to the Primary School and the Bus stop for High School. If this development must go ahead, the
developers must consider the proposed one shared driveway proposal and plans should take into account
the conservation of the hedge and also the safety of the road users. These issues, among others were all
highlighted at the original District Council meeting in 2017.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle.

1.1  In deciding an application under section 73, the Council may only consider the question of the conditions
subject to which planning permission should be granted. It does not allow for the opportunity to re-visit the
principles of development behind the enabling permission.

1.2  This application seeks to vary one of the conditions which was attached to the Outline Permission. A
reserved matters application has recently been withdrawn following officer advice. This was due to the
conflict between the need to provide 4.8m road width and to retain the hedge; both aspects were shown as
being achievable elements in the Outline Plans and was accordingly conditioned as such. However, it would
appear that these elements conflict and both are not possible which results in this Section 73 application in
order to  'regularise' the change in accordance with the  issued Outline Consent under reference
3PL/2017/0702/O.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 99



1.3  Condition 6 stated that:

No development whatsoever shall take place until the following details of the reserved matters referred to
above shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
i) Localised widening along the site frontage to achieve a 4.8m carriageway width;
ii) Access proposal to include details of ditch piping approved by the County Council's Flood Water
Management Team;
iii) Visibility Splays measuring 2.4m x 43m.

Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion of the landscaping scheme die,
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season
with others of the same size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.''

1.4 The issues relating to the proposed variation are set out below.

2.0 Highways Impact

2.1 The NPPF requires new developments to provide safe and suitable access to the site for all people.
Policy CP4 seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new developments.

2.2 The Highways officer has been consulted and advises that the original permission was subject to a
condition requiring the carriageway of Syers Lane to be widened along the site frontage to enable two
vehicles to pass. This would require the removal of the existing hedge and understands this is not acceptable
to our authority. The current proposal includes a passing place, which coincides with the access
arrangements, to enable as much of the hedge as possible to be retained. Whilst this is not ideal, given the
circumstances they are prepared to accept this compromise situation. They will require full details of the
access construction and the ditch piping will need to be agreed by the LLFA at the reserved matters stage.
As previously requested, details of visibility splays measuring 2.4m x 43m together with parking and turning
arrangements will also be required as part of the reserved matters application.

2.3 Therefore, the proposals would comply with Policy CP4.

3.0 Impact on Trees and Hedgerow

3.1 Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

3.2 The Tree and Countryside Consultant has previously advised that there was concern relating to the
hedge along the site's frontage of Syers Lane. The hedge is over 20 metres long and older than 30 years.
The mix of species and associated features may well mean that the hedge would be recognised as being
important under the 1997 Hedgerow Regulations. There is a presumption in favour of protecting and
retaining important hedgerows.

3.3 The Tree and Countryside Consultant has commented that they have no objections on this application
based on the hedgerow being retained as shown. If the application is approved the hedgerow will no longer
be protected by the hedgerow regulations as it will become a garden hedge, therefore a condition should be
attached which would ensure that the hedgerow is retained at a height of no less than 2m.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 100



 

 

3.4 Therefore, the proposals comply with Policy DC12 subject to conditions.

4.0 Impact on Ecology

4.1  Policy CP10 seeks to protect the natural environment including protected species and Policy CP11
seeks the protection and enhancement of the landscape for the sake of its intrinsic beauty and benefit to the
rural character. Development should have particular regard to maintaining the aesthetic and biodiversity
qualities of natural and man-made features within the landscape, including consideration of individual or
groups of natural and man-made features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers, streams or other
topographical features.

4.2 The Natural Environment Team have been consulted and advise that they have no objections.

4.3 Based on the retention of the extent of the hedge as shown on the submitted plans, and comments
received, the proposal complies with Policy CP10 and the NPPF.

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 The proposal to vary the the condition which relates to the access, on balance is considered to be
acceptable in the cirumstances. The proposals therefore comply with policy CP4 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and  Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

RECOMMENDATION

This application is recommended for approval.

CONDITIONS

1 Material Amendment
This permission seeks a material amendment to planning permission 3PL/2017/0702/O.
The development must commence in accordance with the time scale and conditions set out
in the original permission.
Reason for condition:-
To comply with section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1999 (as amended).

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale, access and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Non-standard condition

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 101



Notwithstanding Condition 1 above, any site clearance works affecting potential bird nesting
habitat shall be undertaken outside of the bird nesting season (1 March to 31 July). If works
need to be completed during the bird nesting season they shall only be done so following
checks by an ecologist to ensure that no active birds' nests are present in areas to be
impacted. If any active birds' nests are identified works shall cease until the nesting season
has ceased.
Reason for condition:-
For the protection of nesting common bird species in accordance with Policies CP10 and
CP11 of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document (2009) and the NPPF

5 Number of dwellings only (outline)
The reserved matters referred to above shall relate to the construction of two dwellings only
and of no more than two-stories in height.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the development is compatible with the form and character of the surrounding
area in accordance with policies DC1 & DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

6 Non-standard highways condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the following details of the reserved
matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority:

i)  Visibility Splays measuring 2.4m x 43m.
ii) Access proposal to include details of ditch piping approved by the County Council's Flood
Water Management Team;
iii) Parking and turning arrangements.

Written confirmation of the agreement of the Lead Local Flood Authority to the access
construction and the ditch piping shall be submitted at the reserved matters stage.

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason for condition:-
This condition is required because it is an Outline permission and the details are not
included in the current submission.

7 Prior approval of slab level
As part of the submission of reserved matters precise details of the slab levels of the
dwellings/building hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of the development to
safeguard the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and to ensure the
satisfactory appearance of the development from its outset, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Landscaping - details and implementation

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 102



Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted a scheme of landscaping which
shall take account of any existing trees or hedges on the site, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be carried
out during the planting season November/March immediately following the commencement
of the development, or within such longer period as may be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall take account of the Council's leaflet "Tree pack"
(Landscaping advice for applicants).  Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five)
years from the completion of the landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of the
same size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 12
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Trees/hedges to be retained
The existing protected hedgerow is to be retained at a height of no less than 2m.
Reason for condition:-
To protect the existing hedgerow which is recognised as being important under the 1997
Hedgerow Regulations.

10 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.  The agreed details shall be fully implemented before occupation of any dwelling
on site and shall thereafter be retained. Only such agreed systems or works shall be agreed
in connection with this approval.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted and agreed to minimise the possibilities of flooding
from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The agreed details shall be fully implemented before occupation of any dwelling
on site and shall thereafter be retained. Only such agreed systems or works shall be agreed
in connection with this approval.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the
development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 103



12 Non-standard condition
As part of the submission of reserved matters, details of the ways in which the creations of
small habitat areas, the use of native species in any landscape planting and the ways in
which the site will be enhanced for bat and bird species through the incorporation of bat/bird
boxes into built structures or on retained trees shall be provided. The development shall be
carried out in strict accordance with the approved details and the measures shall be
thereafter retained.
Reason for condition:-
To provide opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around development in
accordance with the NPPF and Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009) and the NPPF.

13 Construct traffic management &
routing/exceptional wear/tear
As part of the Reserved Matters application, a Construction Traffic Management Plan and
Access Route which shall incorporate adequate provision for addressing any abnormal wear
and tear to the highway shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority together with proposals to control and manage construction traffic using the
'Construction Traffic Access Route' and to ensure that construction traffic does not adversely
impact on the school.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of maintaining highway efficiency and safety in accordance with Policy CP.04
of the Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

14 Construct traffic management &
routing/exceptional wear/tear
For the duration of the construction period all traffic associated with the construction of the
development will comply with the Construction Traffic Management Plan and use only the
Construction Traffic Access Route and no other local roads.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of maintaining highway efficiency and safety in accordance with Policy CP.04
of the Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

15 Ground Gas condition
The development shall include ground gas protection measures, or a site investigation may
be undertaken to provide site specific assessment which would need to be acted on
accordingly.  The Local Planning Authority shall approve the proposals in either case before
works on the site commence.  The scheme shall be constructed and completed in
accordance with the approved specification at such times as may be specified in the
approved scheme.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure a safe development in accordance with Policy DC1 of the Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

16 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 104



 

the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

20 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 105



AGENDA ITEM 9 
SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS    

Item. 9(b)  

Location:   Land at Syers Lane, Beeston 

Proposal:  Variation of Conditions No 6 on 3PL/2017/0702/O - to allow retention of hedge line. 

REFERENCE:  3PL/2019/0424/VAR 

Applicant: Mr Colin Hilder 

Author: Mark Simmonds 

CONSULTATIONS 

One further local representation has been received raising the following: 

- Do not wish to object to entrance being moved. 

- Driveway for the properties should be shared which would improve residential amenity for 

neighbours and reduce amount of hedgerow required to be removed. 

CONDITIONS 

Further to correspondence with the agent and applicant it is proposed to amend Condition 1 to read: 

This permission seeks a material amendment to planning permission 3PL/2017/0702/O.  The 

development must commence in accordance with the time scale and conditions set out in the original 

permission except as amended in this approval. 

Reason for condition:- 

To comply with section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1999 (as amended). 

RECOMMENDATION  

The Recommendation remains the same as the main report – Approval with conditions including 

amendment to condition 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

106



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1254/O CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: BILLINGFORD APPNTYPE: Outline
Old Bells Farm Elmham Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Billingford ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mrs Germain Finnleeming
Old Bells Farm, Elmham Road
Billingford

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Burt & Stone Planning Consultancy
4, Redisham Close, Lowestoft

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Two detached dwellings on site of old barns

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is referred to planning committee as it is contrary to the development plan.

KEY ISSUES

- Principle of Development
- Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area
- Impact upon Highway Safety
- Amenity Impact
- Ecological Impact
- Flood and Drainage Issues
- Impact upon Trees
- Other matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks outline planning permission  for two detached dwellings with access but with all other
matters reserved for subsequent approval on land on Old Bells Farm, Elmham Road, Billingford. Access to
the proposed dwelling would use the existing access track that leads from Elmham Road to the north.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site falls beyond any settlement boundary and comprises 974 sq. metres of land to the rear
of Old Bells Farm, Elmham Road, Billingford.

Elmham Road/The Street runs east-west through the centre of the village. Along the south side of Elmham
Road is a row of residential properties.The application site is located to the south of these properties. On the
site are some disused barns. The application site is surrounded by a wooded area.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 107

Agenda Item 9c



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The application site is approximately 7 miles north-east of the town of Dereham and 2 miles west of the
village of North Elmham.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2018/0595/F - Demolition of exisitng barns and erection of a single-storey dwelling - Withdrawn
September 2018.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NP Neighbourhood Plan
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not applicable

CONSULTATIONS

BILLINGFORD PARISH COUNCIL
Billingford Parish Council has no objections to this application.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 108



 

 

 

 

The proposal is located in a village with limited amenities and consequently any residents would be reliant on
travelling by car to access services and amenities on a daily basis. The application is submitted in Outline
with only Access included for current consideration. Subject to the access achieving a minimum width of
4.5m for the first 10m I would not wish to raise any highway safety concerns regarding its use to serve two
additional dwellings. If your Authority is minded to grant approval details of a communal turning area and
parking in accordance with adopted guidelines must form part of the reserved matters submission. Subject to
conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
Recommend approval providing the development proceeds in line with the application details and subject to
conditions to alleviate any environmental concerns.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; May 2019) submitted in support of this application is fit for
purpose. The report highlights the proposed development site has been identified as having potential to
support a number of protected and valued species, including birds, foraging bats and Species of Principal
Importance. We support the mitigation measures proposed to
reduce the likelihood of impacts on ecological receptors to acceptable levels. Any lighting on the site (if
necessary) must be installed in accordance with section 7.4 of the Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology;
May 2019) to mitigate potential impacts on commuting and foraging bats. Subject to conditions.

PRINCIPAL PLANNER MINERAL & WASTE POLICY No Comments Received
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

The site notice was displayed from 26-10-2018 to 16-11-2018.
Two neighbours have been directly notified.
No representations have been received.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1 This application seeks permission for the erection of two dwellings with access to be considered at this
outline stage. The subject site is located outside of the Settlement Boundary as designated by the adopted
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009). For this reason the
proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC02 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document which seeks to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries.

1.2 However, paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019) states that where an authority does not have an up-to-date
Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply of housing, as
referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.3 The Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply as at 31st March 2018 was confirmed at the Planning
Committee on the 30th July 2018. The five year supply is not being currently met, although the council will

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 109



prioritise work on establishing a five year housing land supply target. The emerging new local plan is
currently at examination and when adopted, new policies and allocations will be able to be included within
the five year housing land supply, which will ensure the Council is able to meet this. In these cases the NPPF
makes provision, in principle, for Local Planning Authorities to positively consider sites that are not within
defined Settlement Boundaries. This must be balanced against other policy requirements and aims including
securing sustainable development, protecting the countryside, and good design.

1.4 The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and decision-takers and is a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development. The
Government outlines three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental
(paragraph 8). These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:
and economic, social and environmental.

1.5 Paragraph 9 states that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually
dependent and that the planning system should play an active role in guiding development to sustainable
solutions. A balanced assessment against these roles is, therefore, required.

1.6 In terms of the economic criteria, the proposal would provide two additional dwellings and would,
therefore, make a positive, albeit small, contribution to the housing supply and longer-term economic benefits
through the additional household spend within the wider area that would be generated by the provision of two
dwellings.

1.7 In terms of the social aspect the village of Billingford is classified in Policy SS1 as a rural settlement.
These are settlements that have few local services and are not therefore capable of sustaining consequential
growth as many are completely reliant on higher order settlements for services and facilities. Dereham is
several miles away from the application site, some needs would be met in North Elmham, which is
approximately 2 miles to the west, which has some facilities including a small supermarket and a public
house. The route to North Elmham is unlit and has no footpath and so cycling and walking would only be a
viable option during summer months. Bus services do serve Billingford, linking it to Norwich, Dereham
Fakenham and Tittleshall. The services are infrequent and would provide some limited service for any
potential occupiers.The occupiers of any new dwellings here would therefore be highly reliant on car use to
get to higher order settlements.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute towards protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a proposals impact on the character
and appearance of the area within which it is situated is therefore, integral to the environmental dimension of
sustainable development, as is design. Core Strategy Policy CP11 says, amongst other things, that the
countryside will be protected for its intrinsic beauty and rural character and that the design of new
development should be sympathetic to landscape character, informed by the Council's Landscape Character
Assessment (LCA).

2.2  The south side of Elmham Road is characterised by an established ribbon of dwellings. The application
site is set well back from Old Bells Farm and well screened by mature trees and hedgerow. The agent
considers the land to be brownfield land as the existing barns were previously used for a nursery. Therefore,
it is considered that these proposed dwellings are acceptable in this instance and would in fact improve the
current setting.

2.3 Billingford features buildings of varying design. Materials, styles and scales differ throughout the village,

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 110



although generally, a traditional-style design approach is taken. Dwellings tend to be one or two storeys, in
brick, render or flint, with a pitched clay tile roof. The proposed site plan submitted demonstrates that the two
dwellings will be of a similar scale to the barns to be demolished but to create some separation and suitable
parking and access details they are not placed on the exact footprint as the barns, however, they are an
acceptable size and as the application is in outline form only then these details will be further considered at
reserved matters stage.

2.4  It is considered that the erection of two dwellings on the site would not result in a form of development
out of keeping with the existing pattern of development and is therefore considered to accord with Policies
CP11, DC1, DC16 and Paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

2.5 Under paragraph 61 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) requires Councils to plan for
people wishing to build their own homes. This can be a material planning consideration for this application as
self-build has been identified as the method of delivering the site and whilst not overriding the applicant is
prepared to enter into a section 106 agreement to secure the development as self-build. This is a positive
consideration for this application.

3.0 Highway Safety

3.1 Policy CP4 seeks development that is not detrimental to highway safety, as does the NPPF (2019).
Policy DC19 sets out the car parking requirements.

3.2 The Highway Authority advised that the village has limited services and residents would be reliant on
travelling by car to access services and amenities on a daily basis. The application is submitted in Outline
with only Access included for current consideration.
Subject to the access achieving a minimum width of 4.5m for the first 10m they would not wish to raise any
highway safety concerns regarding its use to serve two additional dwellings. If approval is granted details of a
communal turning area and parking in accordance with adopted guidelines must form part of the reserved
matters submission.

3.3 Therefore, subject to conditions the proposal is acceptable with regards to highway safety.

4.0 Amenity Impact

4.1 Policy DC1 sets out that for all new development, consideration will need to be given to the impact upon
amenity. Development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable effects on the amenities of the
area or the residential amenity of neighbouring occupants, or future occupants of the development site.

4.2 The proposed dwellings would not be located close to any existing dwellings to give rise to impacts in
terms of overshadowing, privacy or over-dominance. The occupiers of Old Bells Farm are likely to experience
some impact in relation to the use of the access track to the immediate west of their property. On the basis
that two dwellings are proposed and taking into account the history and previous use of the site, on balance
the impacts arising from this would not be considered as unacceptable disturbance.

4.3 The proposed dwellings have been set away from each other to provide a sufficient level of privacy and
each would have sufficient private amenity space. As this application is in outline form, details of design and
window placement would be considered at reserved matters stage to ensure each dwelling has an
acceptable level of privacy.

4.3 In light of the above, the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of amenity.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 111



5.0 Ecology

5.1 Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  Proposals need to
ensure that the ecological network and protected species are not harmed or detrimentally impacted and
mitigation measures are put in place where appropriate.

5.2 The Natural Environment Team have been consulted and state that the Ecology Report (Wild Frontier
Ecology; May 2019) submitted in support of this application is fit for purpose. The report highlights 'the
proposed development site has been identified as having potential to support a number of protected and
valued species, including birds, foraging bats and Species of Principal Importance'. They support the
mitigation measures proposed to reduce the likelihood of impacts on ecological receptors to acceptable
levels. Any lighting on the site (if necessary) must be installed in accordance with section 7.4 of the Ecology
Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; May 2019) to mitigate potential impacts on commuting and foraging bats.

5.3 The proposal therefore complies with Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy, subject to conditions.

6.0 Flood and Drainage Issues

6.1 Policy DC13 relates to flood risk and paragraph 163 of the NPPF (2019) stipulates that when determining
planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and
development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light of this assessment (and
the sequential and exception tests, as appropriate) it can be demonstrated that:

a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk, unless there are
overriding reasons to prefer a different location;

b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;

c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would be
inappropriate;

d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and

e) safe access an escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed emergency plan.

6.1 The application site is within Flood Zone 1 and so the risk of flooding is low. However, the wider site
owned by the applicant has a watercourse running along the southern boundary, with which there is some
associated river flood risk and surface water flood risk.

6.2 The Environment Agency have previously advised the area is not of high risk.

The application site is partially within the Internal Drainage District (IDD) of Norfolk Rivers Internal Drainage
Board. The Water Management Alliance has noted that as the proposal intends to dispose of surface water
via infiltration, they would expect the application to be accompanied by a drainage strategy for the site. This
should cover infiltration testing. Should the testing conclude that a strategy wholly reliant on infiltration is not
viable and a surface water (or treated foul water) discharge is proposed to a watercourse within an IDD
(either directly or indirectly), then the proposed development will require a land drainage consent in line with
the Board's byelaws. This can be suitably conditioned.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 112



 

7.0 Impact upon Trees

7.1 An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) has been submitted as part of the application. The AIA
identifies thirteen individual trees and fifteen tree groups within the site. The trees have been assessed as
being of varying condition and value, from the very highest to the lowest. One Leyland cypress has been
identified as being of the poorest condition. The proposed development would see the removal of this tree.
All other trees shall be retained. The AIA contains an Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection
Plan that sets out the measures to be followed to ensure the protection of the retained trees during the
construction of the development.

7.2 The Tree and Countryside Consultant has been consulted but not yet commented on this current
application, however, they did comment on the previously withdrawn application which is considered still
applicable as this was on 28th June 2018 for this same report. They noted the potential for harm to the trees
on the site and advised that conditions would be imposed that ensure the works must be in accordance with
the supplied tree protection plan and method statement provided, and that arboricultural supervision would
be required. A further condition is recommended relating to details of the proposed access surface material,
given the potential this could have to harm tree roots.

7.3 Subject to conditions, the application would not be harmful to trees and would comply with policy DC12.

8.0 Other Matters

The Contaminated Land Officer has considered the proposal and has advised that they have no objections or
comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the development proceeds in line with the
application details and subject to a condition relating to a desk study, site investigation and any required
remediation works. The proposal, therefore, accords with Policy CP9.

9.0 Planning Balance and Conclusion

9.1 In terms of the overall planning balance of the scheme, whilst the proposed development would be
located outside of a Settlement Boundary, as the Council does not currently have a five year housing land
supply the Framework establishes that the relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be
considered to be up to date and permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the Framework taken as a
whole. The proposed development would replace existing structures on land which is not considered to be
isolated due to the existing surrounding residential development and would in fact improve the setting of the
site itself and therefore, it is not considered that there would be any harm to the character and setting of the
area. The applicant is prepared to enter into a section 106 agreement to secure the development as self-
build which is also a positive aspect as this would be a quick build and provide much needed housing stock.

In light of the above, it is not considered there are any adverse impacts which would outweigh the benefits of
the development of two self build dwellings in this instance and the application is recommended for approval,
subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning Permission subject to condition and the signing of a section 106 agreement to secure the self
build

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 113



 
CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (3 years)
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
THREE YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale, access and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

4 External materials and samples to be approved
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level details and samples of all external
materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, and this condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to these matters
which have been given in the current application.  Only such agreed materials shall be used
in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Non-standard condition-Highway Safety
The details to be submitted at Reserved Matters Stage shall include details of a communal
turning area and parking in accordance with NCC adopted guidance. The details as
approved at reserved matters shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed details
prior to the occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved and retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, accessibility and sustainability in accordance with
Policy CP04 of the Core Strategy.

6 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular shall be
constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority and shall additionally be maintained in perpetuity at a minimum width of
4.5 metres for a minimum length of 10 metres as measured from the near edge of the
highway carriageway. Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be
intercepted and disposal of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the
highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 114



or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and to comply
with Policy CP.04 of the Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Trees Protection Plan
No development shall take place in pursuance of this permission until details of the no dig
construction as well as of an auditable system of arboricultural site supervision and
inspection for the duration of the no dig construction works associated with the site entrance
have been submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
The works are required to be undertaken prior to the commencement of the development in
order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in accordance
with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Non-standard condition - Trees 1
Operations on site shall take place in complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural
Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement
(AMS) provided by A.T Coombes dated 27th February 2018. No other operations shall
commence on site in connection with the development until the tree protection works and
any pre-emptive tree works required by the approved AIA or AMS have been carried out and
all tree protection barriers are in place as indicated on the TPP. Works shall not commence
until written confirmation has been obtained to confirm that fencing is in place as specified.
The protective fencing shall be retained in a good and effective condition for the duration of
the construction of the development and shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or
otherwise, until all site works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and
surplus materials removed from site, unless the prior written approval of the local planning
authority has been sought and obtained.
Reason for condition:-
The works are required to be undertaken prior to the commencement of the development in
order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in accordance
with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

9 Non-standard condition - Trees 2
No development shall take place in pursuance of this permission until details of an auditable
system of arboricultural site supervision and inspection have been submitted to and
approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The details shall provide for site
supervision and inspection for the duration of the construction works, with onsite monitoring
of any works which are proposed within the root protection areas of retained trees. Written
confirmation from the arboriculturalist will be required to confirm that works have been
carried out as specified in order for the condition to be discharged.
Reason for condition:-
The works are required to be undertaken prior to the commencement of the development in
order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in accordance
with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

10 Ecology
The proposed development shall proceed in-line with the mitigation measures outlined in

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 115



section 7 of the Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; May 2019).
Enhancement measures outlined in section 8 of the Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology;
May 2019) shall be incorporated into the site's design to provide 'net gains for nature' in-line
with paragraph 170 of the NPPF.
Reason for condition:-
To provide opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around development in
accordance with the NPPF and Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009) and the NPPF.

11 Landscaping scheme to be submitted - hard and
soft
No development shall take place on site until full details of both hard and soft landscape
works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and
these works shall be carried out as approved.  These details shall include:
-hard surfacing materials;
-means of enclosure;
-proposed finished levels or contours;
-minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units,
signs, lighting etc,)
Soft landscaping shall include:
-Planting plans;
-Written specifications ( including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and
grass establishment);
-Schedules of planting, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where
appropriate;
-Implementation programme

The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Non-standard drainage condition
Prior to commencement of development a drainage strategy for the site shall be submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This shall include infiltration
testing.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the
dwellings shall not be occupied until the drainage scheme is fully implemented.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of providing drainage strategy details to the satisfaction of the IDD and in
order to establish the appropriate drainage consents in accordance with Policies DC 1 and
DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
Note: Should the testing conclude that a strategy wholly reliant on infiltration is not viable
and a surface water (or treated foul water) discharge is proposed to a watercourse within an
IDD (either directly or indirectly), then the proposed development will require a land drainage

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 116



consent in line with the Board's byelaws.
13 Precise details of surface water disposal

Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

14 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

15 Contaminated Land - Desk Study/Site
Investigation
Prior to the commencement of the development, the following details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
A.  Desk Study
A desk study and risk assessment to determine the risk of any contamination on the site,
whether or not it originates on the site.  The desk study and risk assessment must be
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced.
The report of the findings must include an assessment of the potential risks to human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
B.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include (i) the same details as in part A
above (ii) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination and (iii) an appraisal of
remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
C.  Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 117



 

contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
D Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
The above must be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development to ensure that risks
from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised,
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours
and other offsite receptors from the outset of the development.
INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed.  In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

16 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 118



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0596/F CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: CARBROOKE APPNTYPE: Full
Land to the rear of The Crown House
Meadow Lane

POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry

Carbrooke ALLOCATION: N
CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mrs  Woolley
Felgarth Church Street

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: David A Cutting Building Survey
Breckland Business Centre St Withburga
Lane

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Proposed construction of two new bungalows

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

This application is referred to Committee as the development proposal is outside of the settlement boundary
and contrary to the Local Plan.

KEY ISSUES

- Principle of Development
- Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area
- Impact upon Highway Safety
- Amenity Impact
- Ecological Impact
- Flood and Drainage Issues
- Impact upon Trees
- Other matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks permission for the erection of two bungalows with integral garages on land to the
rear/north of Crown House, Meadow Lane.  The bungalows are designed to accommodate 3 beds and
materials are shown as red brick and flint with slate grey concrete pantiles.

SITE AND LOCATION

Meadow Lane is a road leading off Shipdham Road/Church Street and ceases at Crown House.  The land is
currently used as garden land. There is an existing access point from Meadow Lane. Other residential uses
exist to the east and south and permission has been granted for two dwellings on paddock land to the west
and more recently two bungalows directly adjacent to this application site to the south. The site is outside of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 119

Agenda Item 9d



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

the settlement boundary.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

None

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

N/A

CONSULTATIONS

CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
I have looked at the application submitted and, based on the information provided to me at this time; there
are no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the development
proceeds in line with the application details.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 120



 

 
REPRESENTATIONS

The site notice was displayed from 24-06-2019 to 15-07-2019.

10 neighbours have been directly notified.
7 objections have been received, 1 with concerns and 3 supporters. Their comments have been summarised
below.

- Increased traffic on a very bad junction.
- No footpath to left of junction.
- The bottom of Meadow Lane is prone to flooding in heavy rain.
- Over-development of a small village which has no facilities.
- Impact on village life.
- Meadow Lane is a single track lane not designed for vehicles.
- The garage mentioned is derelict and the nearest doctors surgery is not 2.5 miles away as they have not
taken patients from the village for approximately five years.
- The site is not immediately adjacent to the settlement boundary.
- Some of the facilities mentioned are on the Watton to Norwich main road and are accessible via a very
narrow lane (Summer Lane) which has no footpath and is very dangerous particularly with the size of tractors
and lorries which use it these days.
-  The Doctors are not taking patients from Carbrooke and the Dental Practice is no longer taking NHS
patients.
-  Meadow Lane is a private  un-adopted, un-maintained lane, which poses the question, who will maintain it?
-  There is an 8 inch water main running across the field.
- There is insufficient parking for the teachers and other staff so they are forced to park on the road and
sometimes on the pavement.
- The village has very few footpaths, no lighting of any sort and lots of narrow roads, that carry way more
traffic than they were ever intended to. Not just private vehicles but many large farm vehicles and large
lorries.
- As there is another couple of bungalows already passed we have no objection to this application, especially
as they will not be seen from the road and that drainage and driveway will be the same as the other two
bungalows passed at Crown House.
- The bungalows do seem very large and much larger than any other dwellings in the area.

Supporters comments:
- The buildings are to the rear of plot so can not be seen from buildings around the site or from the road and
as for the picture of the cars on church street it is only at start of school and end of school which if they use
the village hall car park correctly and small school car park it would not be hard to use the road.
- Small building plots of 1-4 houses are better than larger estates forced on to villages in this area.
- As there is another couple of bungalows already passed we have no objection to this application, especially
as they will not be seen from the road and that drainage and driveway will be the same as the other two
bungalows passed at Crown House.
- Having lived in the village for over 14 years and seen various new properties built including, as we
understand 2 other bungalows sited close to where these 2 are proposed we see no reason why this
application should not be approved.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 121



 
ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1 This application seeks full permission for the erection of two dwellings. The site is located outside of the
Settlement Boundary as designated by the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document (2009). For this reason the proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC02
and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document which seeks
to focus new housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.

1.2 However, paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019) states that where an authority does not have an up-to-date
Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply of housing, as
referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.3 The Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply as at 31st March 2018 was confirmed at the Planning
Committee on the 30th July 2018. The five year supply is not being currently met, although the council will
prioritise work on establishing a five year housing land supply target. The emerging new local plan is
currently at examination and when adopted, new policies and allocations will be able to be included within
the five year housing land supply, which will ensure the Council is able to meet this. In these cases the NPPF
makes provision, in principle, for Local Planning Authorities to positively consider sites that are not within
defined Settlement Boundaries. This must be balanced against other policy requirements and aims including
securing sustainable development, protecting the countryside, and good design.

1.4 The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and decision-takers and is a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development. The
Government outlines three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental
(paragraph 8). These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:
and economic, social and environmental.

1.5 Paragraph 9 states that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually
dependent and that the planning system should play an active role in guiding development to sustainable
solutions. A balanced assessment against these roles is, therefore, required.

1.6 In terms of the economic criteria, the proposal would provide two additional dwellings and would,
therefore, make a positive, albeit small contribution to the housing supply and longer-term economic benefits
through the additional household spend within the wider area that would be generated by the provision of two
dwellings.

1.7 In terms of the social role, the site lies outside but is closely related to the Carbrooke Settlement
Boundary. There is a good range of local facilities and amenities in Carbrooke. Watton, a Market Town, is
also nearby (approximately 2.5 miles to the south-west) and cycling this distance would be possible. Overall,
there are some services in the village and connection to public transport linking the site to Watton and
Norwich (bus stop at Broadmoor Road, approximately 0.2 mile to the south-east of the application site) but it
is likely that to undertake day to day activities and meet day to day needs, such as shopping and
employment, the occupants of the new dwelling would rely on the private car for some trips. However, there
would be the option to use other modes such as walking, cycling or public transport. The site is as accessible
to services as other dwellings in the settlement boundary. In the context of the district as a whole the site is in
a relatively sustainable location. The scheme would not be isolated, and as such the site's location does not

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 122



count against it.

1.8 In light of the above, the proposal is considered to meet the economic and social aims of sustainable
development.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.3  Whilst the proposed development would be outside the defined settlement limit, the proposed
development would adjoin the built up area of the village. The application site sits behind the linear
development fronting Church Street and would be adjacent to new development to the south with adjoins
existing residential development. The Council's Landscape Character Assessment indicates that the site falls
within the B5 River Wissey Tributary Farmland character area.  Development considerations here include:
conserving existing small scale rural road pattern; ensuring that new development reflects the use of local
materials, preserving the identities of settlements, monitoring the boundary treatments, discouraging
materials or species which could have a suburbanising influence of the landscape; ensuring that important
views to landmark features are conserved and seeking to enhance settlement edges and integration within
the landscape setting.  The proposal would consolidate the existing pattern of development.  Whilst this will
result in some loss of character given the existing garden use, the harm would be limited given the following
factors:

-  generous proportions of the site will maintain a spacious character;
- the proposal will not appear isolated given the close proximity and relationship to existing residential
development;
-  the proposal would not cause material harm to the character and appearance of the area given its location,
away from main streetscene views and the modest scale of development;
- the proposal will create some biodiversity enhancements.

2.4  It is considered that the erection of two dwellings on the site would not result in a form of development
out of keeping with the existing character or pattern of development and is therefore considered to accord
with Policies CP11, DC1, DC16 and Paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

3.0 Highway Safety

3.1 Policy CP4 seeks development that is not detrimental to highway safety, as does the NPPF (2019).
Policy DC19 sets out the car parking requirements.

3.2 The Highway Authority have been consulted and advised that the site lies in a village with limited
amenities and facilities required on a daily basis and it is therefore considered that residents would have a
high reliance on the use of the private car to access these. Meadow Lane is private and, in the main, single
track although it allows a two-way flow of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 123



traffic immediately adjacent to its junction with the County highway and is also hard surfaced at this point. A
footway exists to the western side of Church Lane which provides a continuous pedestrian route to the
school and village hall.
The submitted details include a size 3 turning area which would accommodate the turning movements of
most visiting vehicles and these would consequently be unlikely to reverse down the lane.

3.3 Therefore, subject to conditions the proposal is considered acceptable with regards to highway safety.

4.0 Amenity Impact

4.1 Policy DC1 sets out that for all new development, consideration will need to be given to the impact upon
amenity. Development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable effects on the amenities of the
area or the residential amenity of neighbouring occupants, or future occupants of the development site.

4.2 The application seeks permission for two, single storey dwellings with integral garages. The submitted
plan demonstrates sufficient separation distances and generous private amenity space. Window placements
have been considered and show that there will be no loss of privacy for future residents. The scale and
orientation will ensure that the impact on the level of amenity currently enjoyed by nearby properties will not
be significantly affected, particularly in terms of loss of light, overshadowing, over dominance and increased
noise and disturbance.

4.3 In light of the above, the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of amenity and complies with Policy
DC1.

5.0 Ecology

5.1 Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  Proposals need to
ensure that the ecological network and protected species are not harmed or detrimentally impacted and
mitigation measures are put in place where appropriate.

5.2 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted (Gray Ecology: May 2019)

5.2 The Natural Environment Team have been consulted but have not yet submitted their response, therefore
this will be presented in a supplementary report for the Planning Committee meeting.

5.3 The proposal therefore has the ability to comply with Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy, subject to
conditions.

6.0 Flood and Drainage Issues

6.1 Policy DC13 relates to flood risk and paragraph 163 of the NPPF (2019) stipulates that when determining
planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and
development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light of this assessment (and
the sequential and exception tests, as appropriate) it can be demonstrated that:

a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk, unless there are
overriding reasons to prefer a different location;

b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 124



 

 

c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would be
inappropriate;

d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and

e) safe access an escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed emergency plan.

6.1 The application site is within Flood Zone 1 and so the risk of flooding is low. The site is also a very low
risk area for surface water flooding according to the Environment Agency maps. The proposal is therefore
considered to accord with Policy DC13 and paragraph 163 of the NPPF (2019).

7.0 Other Matters

The Contaminated Land Officer has considered the proposal and has advised that, based on the information
provided at this time, there are no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection,
providing the development proceeds in line with the application details. The proposal, therefore, accords with
Policy CP9.

8.0 Planning Balance and Conclusion

8.1 In terms of the overall planning balance of the scheme, whilst the proposed development would be
located outside of a Settlement Boundary, as the Council does not currently have a five year housing land
supply the Framework establishes that the relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be
considered to be up to date and permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the Framework taken as a
whole. The proposed development is not considered to be isolated due to the existing surrounding residential
development and therefore, it is not considered that there would be any harm to the character and setting of
the area.

8.2 In light of the above, it is not considered there are any adverse impacts which would outweigh the
benefits of the development of two dwellings in this instance and the application is recommended for
approval, subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

That Planning Permission be granted subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 125



Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Traffic routing
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access,
parking and communal turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and
drained in accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that
specific use.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of maintaining highway efficiency and safety.  This needs to be a pre-
commencement condition as it deals with safeguards associated with the construction period
of the development.

5 External materials and samples to be approved
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level details and samples of all external
materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, and this condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to these matters
which have been given in the current application.  Only such agreed materials shall be used
in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Landscaping - details and implementation
Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted a scheme of landscaping which
shall take account of any existing trees or hedges on the site, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be carried
out during the planting season November/March immediately following the commencement
of the development, or within such longer period as may be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall take account of the Council's leaflet "Tree pack"
(Landscaping advice for applicants).  Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five)
years from the completion of the landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of the
same size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 12
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the
development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 126



 

Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the
development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 127



Item. 9(d)  

Location:   Land to the rear of The Crown House, Meadow Lane, Carbrooke 

Proposal:  Proposed construction of two new bungalows 

REFERENCE: Reference: 3PL/2019/0596/F 

Applicant: Mrs Woolley 

Author: Mark Simmonds 

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 

Three further local representations supporting the scheme have been received and raised the 

following key points: 

- We have no objection to the proposed development and welcome much needed single story 
dwellings to the local housing stock. 

- I cannot find any reason to object to the building of 2 bungalows, in fact I support any 
additional housing in the locality. I believe it is a good idea to have both old and new homes. 
It enhances rather than distracts from the beauty of the village. 

- We support the application for two single storey buildings which would allow older people to 
stay in the village rather than relocate.  

 
 
Two further local representations objecting to the scheme have been received and raised the 

following key points: 

- Submission documents inaccurate 

- Address misleading 

- There is no bus stop near the church 

- Loss of privacy 

- Not in settlement boundary of the village 

- Intrusion into countryside and would lead to further development 

- Detrimental impact on the rural character of the village 
- Too much development is village 

- Facilities further away than implied by the submission documents 

- Doctors surgery full 

- Ecology mitigation insufficient 

- Plans to remove more hedgerow than shown on the location plan 

- Meadow Lane not suitable for more vehicles 

 
CONSULTEE COMMENT 

The Natural Environment Team (NET) made the following comments: 

128



The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Gray Ecology; May 2019) submitted in support of this application 

is fit for purpose. If you are minded to approve this application, we recommend that you condition 

the following:  

• The proposed development must proceed in accordance with section 6 of the Preliminary 

Ecological Appraisal (Gray Ecology; May 2019). 

• Enhancement measures outlined in section 7 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Gray 

Ecology; May 2019) need to be incorporated into the site’s design. Enhancement measures 

must be clearly shown on the site plans. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Recommendation remains the same as the main report – Approval with Conditions as set in the 

committee report together with those recommended by NET as listed above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

129



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1361/O CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: GRISTON APPNTYPE: Outline
1 Watton Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Griston ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Client
C/o NKF Planning Consultancy Ltd 34
Queen Elizabeth Avenue

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: NKF Planning Consultancy Limited
34 Queen Elizabeth Avenue Gaywood

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Outline planning application for residential development of up to 3 dwellings (with all matters
reserved accept access)

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Committee as the recommendation is contrary to Policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on the chartacter and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Ecological implications
Tree impact

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks outline consent with access for consideration for the erection of up to 3 dwellings on
land to the rear of 1 Watton Road, Griston.

Improved access is proposed to the eastern side of No.1 Watton Road.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site currently lies to the rear of No.1 Watton Road and is surrounded by trees and vegetation.
Residential uses lie to the south and east of the site which face both Watton Road and Carbrooke Road to
the east.  No.1 Watton Road and its garden falls inside the Settlement Boundary however this land is outside.

EIA REQUIRED

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 130

Agenda Item 9e



 

 

 

 

 

 

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

GRISTON PARISH CLERK
Griston Parish Council strongly objects to this planning application on the following grounds. The tranquillity
of the village could become compromised with more properties, there has been a number of new properties
built in recent years, does the village need more. We need to maintain the rural status not become joined to
other villages or become a suburb of Watton. Bungalows could be extended by adding an extra storey which
would further compromise the privacy of nearby established properties. There are ecological issues with the
loss of habitats for wildlife, which is rich in the area. More properties mean more traffic, there are issues in
the village of motorists not obeying speed limits, this could increase. This area of the village is becoming
overcrowded with new build properties which is putting a strain on the drainage infrastructure. Access to the
properties could be problematic to emergency vehicular access as well as large delivery and refuse vehicles.
Established residents could suffer financial loss if the value of their properties decreases due to the proximity
of the proposed new builds.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 131



 

 

 

 

The Parish Council wish to point out that in this application sewage should be connected to the main sewer in
the village. The properties will be sited very close to the recreation ground, particularly near the children's
play area. Will residents complain of nuisance from the noise of children playing. Currently the wild area not
only provides habitat for wild life and the birds, it gives a buffer to noise.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to conditions.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Whilst the trees are large and highly visible, the majority are multi stem, with potentially weak unions and not
particularly good examples.  My opinion remains the same that the site, with tree retention as shown is not
likely to be sustainable and that there is likely to be future pressure for tree removal and or heavy pruning. I
do not consider that the trees are sufficient reason for refusal but it would be a good idea to get some
suitable tree planting as part of the application.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
Response will be reported in the supplementary report.

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 19-12-2018
Consultations issued:06-12-2018

4 representations received raising issues and objections relating to:

- Access
- Loss of privacy
- Environment and ecological issues
- Setting a precedent for other development
- Erosion of the village
- Noise and disturbance
- Loss of property value in the area
- Concern regarding the eventual size of the dwellings
- Outside of Settlement Boundary location.

These are covered in the main report however it should be noted that setting a precedent for other
development cannot be a material planning consideration, as each application is determined in its own right
and loss of property value is also not a material planning consideration.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle

1.1  The application site is located outside of the Griston defined Settlement Boundary, as designated by the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 132



adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009). For this
reason the proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC 2 and CP 14, which seek to focus new housing
within defined Settlement Boundaries.

1.2  Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications for housing are out-of-date,
granting permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits.

1.3  The Council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document, with regard to housing supply, are not considered up-to-date
and therefore the material considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within
paragrapgh 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.4  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide up to three new dwellings and
would therefore make a small contribution to the housing supply shortfall. The proposal would also provide
some limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during
construction, and longer-term economic benefits through the additional household spend within the
surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of up to three new homes.

1.5  The village of Griston is classified in Policy SS1 as a rural settlement which are villages that are usually
dependent on higher order settlements for access to services and facilities.  The site lies immediately
adjacent to the existing Settlement Boundary and Griston benefits from a public house and various
employment opportunities such as Wayland Prison, and a Care Home in addition to the presence of a
commercial/industrial area all within walking distance.  Additionally, there is a bus stop approximately a 2
minute walk from the site which links the village to Watton, Thetford and Norwich on a regular service with
Konect Bus.

1.6  In light of these factors, the site is considered to meet the aims and objectives of the economic and
social roles of sustainable development.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 133



dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.3  Policy CP11 seeks the protection and enhancement of the landscape for the sake of its intrinsic beauty
and benefit to the rural character.  Development should have particular regard to maintaining the aesthetic
and biodiversity qualities of natural and man-made features within the landscape, including consideration of
individual or groups of natural and man-made features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers,
streams or other topographical features.

2.4  The application has been submitted in outline with only access as a matter for assessment at this time
therefore the design, layout and scale will all be fully assessed at the time of any reserved matters
submission.  Notwithstanding this, an indicative layout has been submitted which indicates three, single
storey dwellings within a linear formation behind an existing pair of semi-detached dwellings.  This indicative
layout provides some satisfaction that a scheme can be accommodated within the site without causing undue
harm on the character and appearance of the area.  The site itself is currently garden and is situated behind
existing development, therefore its development would not result in the loss of important views or strategic
gaps within the streetscene.  A condition will be added to any forthcoming approval to ensure that the
dwellings will be single storey only in order to limit the visual bulk, intrusion and neighbour impact.  In light of
the above, the application is considered to have due regard to the aforementioned policies and the
environmental role of sustainable development as well as paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

3.0  Amenity impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  As stated, the application is submitted in outline, with access only for consideration however the
application is accompanied by an indicative plan which indicates three single storey dwellings set within
relatively spacious plots, whilst also retaining adequate amenity space for the existing dwellings.  In terms of
noise and disturbance resulting from the access, this has been carefully considered, and, on balance is
considered acceptable.  There is considered to be sufficient separation between the access and the
dwellings either side, including a new beech hedge to serve no.1 to add a further buffer.  As well as this, the
rear gardens of the adjoining dwellings along Carbrooke Road range from approximately 17m to 20m to the
rear boundary which abuts the site.  In terms of the comments made in respect of the noise from the playing
area/field this will be properly assessed at the reserved matters stage however the indicative plan illustrates
a good separation distance between the plots and the western boundary and there would be an element of
buyer beware in this regard.  In light of these factors, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DC1
and paragraph 127 of the NPPF which in part seeks a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

4.0  Highway safety

4.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

4.2  The proposal was amended during the course of the application process at the request of the Highway

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 134



Authority, this amendment sought to address visibility requirements, increase the access width to 4.5m for
10m into the site and provide more manoeuvring distance to the rear of the revised parking for No.1 Watton
Road.  Following these amendments no objection was raised in respect of highway safety subject to
conditions.

5.0  Ecological implications

5.1  Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  There is an
expectation that development will incorporate biodiversity or geological features where opportunities exist.

5.2  An Ecological appraisal was submitted during the course of the application process, the comments of the
ecology team are still awaited. This will be reported either via the supplementary report or verbally at the
meeting.

6.0  Tree impact

6.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.  None of the
trees within the applicant's ownership are covered by a TPO and the site does not form part of a
conservation area.

6.2  The application site does contain several trees, and was therefore accompanied by an Arboricultural
Implications Assessment and Tree Protection Plan.  This report indicates the removal of several category B
and C trees however the majority are proposed for retention.  The Tree and Countryside Officer concluded
that whilst the trees are large and highly visible, the majority are multi stem, with potentially weak unions and
not particularly good examples.  His opinion however is that the tree retention as shown is not likely to be
sustainable and there is likely to be future pressure for tree removal and or heavy pruning. However it is not
considered that the trees are of sufficient quality to warrant refusal but it would be beneficial to get some
suitable replacement tree planting as part of the application.  This can be adequately conditioned.  In light of
this, the application is considered to accord with Policy DC12.

7.0  Conclusion

7.1  The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls outside of any
settlement boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the
NPPF and this development would provide a small contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. On this
basis, the other key principle considerations for this proposal must be assessed and whether the site is a
sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the countryside.

7.2  The site is in close proximity to other dwellings.  The plans indicate that the site can be developed and
due to the presence of dwellings to the south and east, the impact will be limited. On this basis, the
development of the site would not negatively impact the character and appearance of the countryside or the
amenity of the neighbours and therefore complies with Policy CP 11 and DC1.

7.3  When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the nature of the site and its
proximity to the existing settlement boundary and existing development when weighed against the the small
negative harm created by the site's location outside of the settlement boundary, is considered to be
outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in the district and due to the aforementioned
reasons the development will not cause significant harm to the street scene or character and appearance of
the countryside.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 135



 

 

7.4  In accordance with the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, and therefore the granting of planning permission is recommended.

RECOMMENDATION

That Planning Permission be Granted subject to conditions listed below and no adverse ecology comments
being received

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years) Early Delivery
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Single storey dwelling only
The details to be submitted for Approval of Reserved Matters shall be for single storey
dwellings only with no habitable floor space or windows in the roof.
Reason for condition:-
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a form of development compatible with adjacent
property and in the interests of the residential and visual amenities of the locality, as
required by policies DC1 & DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

5 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the access shall be
constructed to a minimum width of 4.5 metres for its first 10 metres as measured from the
nearside carriageway edge and the access crossing over the footway shall be constructed in
accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority
in accordance with the highways specification TRAD 1 and thereafter retained at the position

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 136



shown on the approved plan. Arrangement shall be made for surface water drainage to be
intercepted and disposal of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the
highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety in accordance
with Policy CP4 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Provision of visibility splays - west of the access
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay
measuring 2.4 metres x 43 metres shall be provided to the western side of the access where
it meets the highway. The splay shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any
obstruction exceeding 1.05 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF (2019) and
in accordance with Policy CP4 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Provision of visibility splays - east of access
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted a 2.4 metre wide
parallel visibility splay (as measured back from the near edge of the adjacent highway
carriageway) shall be provided to the east of the access roadside frontage The splay shall
thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction exceeding 1.05 metres above
the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF ( 2019) and
in accordance with Policy CP4 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Contaminated Land - Desk Study/Site
Investigation
Prior to the commencement of the development, the following details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
A.  Desk Study
A desk study and risk assessment to determine the risk of any contamination on the site,
whether or not it originates on the site.  The desk study and risk assessment must be
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced.
The report of the findings must include an assessment of the potential risks to human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
B.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include (i) the same details as in part A
above (ii) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination and (iii) an appraisal of
remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
C.  Remediation Scheme

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 137



A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
D Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
The above must be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development to ensure that risks
from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised,
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours
and other offsite receptors from the outset of the development.
INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed.  In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 138



 

This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 139



Item. 9(e):  

Location: 1 Watton Road, Griston 

Proposal: Outline planning application for residential development of up to 3 dwellings (with all 

matters reserved accept access) 

REFERENCE: 3PL/2018/1361/O 

Applicant: C/O NKF Planning Consultancy Ltd 

Author: Lisa O’Donovan 

CONSULTEE COMMENT 

The Ecology Team has advised that reptile surveys are required prior to determination. 

CONDITIONS 

An additional condition is also recommended: 

The reserved matters as specified by Condition 2 of this decision, shall include details of a landscaping 

and tree planting scheme, which shall take account of any existing trees or hedges on the site. The 

landscaping and tree planting shall be carried out in accordance with the scheme as approved during 

the planting season of the November/March immediately following the commencement of the 

development, or within such longer period as may be agreed in writing, with the Local Planning 

Authority, and in accordance with the Council's leaflet "Tree pack" (Landscaping advice for applicants). 

Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion of the landscaping 

scheme die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next 

planting season with others of the same size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives 

written consent to any variation. Reason for condition:- 

Reason for condition:- 

In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development having regard to Policy CP 10 of 

the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009). 

RECOMMENDATION 

Delegated powers to Executive Director of Place to resolve the outstanding ecology issue and then 

approve the application with the conditions detailed in the committee report together with the 

additional landscaping condition and any recommended by Norfolk County Council Natural 

Environment Team. 

 

 

 

 

140



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0576/F CASE OFFICER Tom Donnelly

LOCATION: LYNFORD APPNTYPE: Full
Lynford Gardens Lynford Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Lynford ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs  Tilley
Lynford Gardens, Lynford Road Lynford

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Clayland Architects
The Glass House Lynford Gardens

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of dwelling

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought before committee as the recommendation is contrary to policy

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Impact on character and appearance
Design and appearance
Impact on amenities
Impact on character and setting of adjacent Listed Building
Ecological impact
Impact on parking provision and highway safety

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The proposal seeks the erection of a large, detached, two storey dwelling which would be of brick
construction with sedum roofs. The proposal includes the formal landscaping of the existing walled garden.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is at Lynford Gardens, Lynford Road in Lynford. The site is within the walled gardens
adjacent to Lynford Hall. The surrounding area comprises of some holiday units, offices for the applicants
business and an existing residential unit.

EIA REQUIRED

No

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 141

Agenda Item 9f



 

 

 

 

 

 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.19 Parking Provision
LBC Planning(Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

HISTORIC ENGLAND
No objections
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
The site lies some distance from the public highway and will share the access which serves the applicants
adjacent business. I am assuming that the dwelling will be tied to the adjacent business and, on that basis,
would not raise a highway objection.
NATURAL ENGLAND
No objection
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
No objection

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 142



 

 

 

 

ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
Further information requested regarding suitability
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
No comments
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to conditions
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
No objection

LYNFORD P C No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

A site notice and press notice were posted for the application which expired on 21-06-19 and 01-07-09
respectively.

No responses were received.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of development

1.1  This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a residential dwelling. The site lies
outside of any defined Settlement Boundary and therefore the application is contrary to Policies SS1, DC2
and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.  The
principle of development is therefore not accepted.

1.2  Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development. Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-to-
date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits.

1.3  The council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document relating to housing land supply are not considered up-to-date
and therefore the material considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within
paragraph 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 143



future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.4  In terms of economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide one residential dwelling for market
sale, which would make a positive, albeit small, contribution to the housing supply. The proposal would
provide limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during
construction. However, given the small scale nature of the development these benefits are not considered to
be significant and not definitive in this instance.

1.5  Lynford is identified as a rural settlement within Policy SS1 of the Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document Adopted 2009. This states that nominal housing growth will be
provided where local capacity allows. Policy CP14 of the DPD states that the type and scale of development
will reflect the need to maintain the viability of these communities. The relevant criterion in relation to housing
identifies that residential development will only be permitted where there are suitable sites available sites
inside the limits of a defined settlement boundary.

1.6  An additional point of consideration is that the dwelling is intended to be occupied by the owners of an
existing business that operates from buildings already on site. This would therefore reduce vehicular
movements necessary for the purposes of employment.

2.0  Impact on character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute towards protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a proposals impact on the character
and appearance of the area within which it is situated is therefore, integral to the environmental dimension of
sustainable development, as is design. Core Strategy Policy CP11 says, amongst other things, that the
countryside will be protected for its intrinsic beauty and rural character and that the design of new
development should be sympathetic to landscape character, informed by the Council's Landscape Character
Assessment (LCA).

2.2  The site lies outside any defined Settlement Boundary and is approximately 1.6km away from the
Settlement Boundary of Mundford which is defined as a Key Service Centre in Policy SS1, meaning that it is
capable adequate services and facilities to meet the day-to-day requirements of their existing residents.

2.3  The site is set away from any public vantage points and is shielded from public view by existing holiday
accommodation and the substantial walls that form the walled gardens. It is therefore considered that the
proposal would have minimal impact in visual amenity and environmental terms.

2.3  It is considered that the erection of a dwelling on the site would not result in a form of development
detrimental to the character and appearance of the area and is therefore considered to accord with Policies
CP11, DC1, DC16 and Paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

3.0  Design and appearance

3.1  The proposal seeks the erection of a large, detached, two storey dwelling which would be of brick
construction with sedum roofs. The proposal includes the formal landscaping of the existing walled garden.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 144



3.2  The proposed dwelling has been designed so as to draw on the influences of the existing walled gardens
and existing buildings elsewhere on the site. Whilst the building appears large in footprint, it is not excessive
in depth and has been designed so as not to protrude above the highest point of the walled garden. In terms
of external appearance, the proposed dwelling utilises some environmental benefits including solar panels.
Additionally, the proposed palette of materials are considered to be of high quality which would result in a
high quality of development.

3.3  An additional benefit in design and appearance terms is that it would result in the formal landscaping of
the remainder of the walled garden which is currently left untended. It is considered that the formal
landscaping of the walled garden would provide additional benefits visually.

3.4  On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would satisfy the requirements of Policy
DC16 in terms of design and appearance.

4.0 Impact on amenities

4.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

4.2  The siting of the proposed dwelling is immediately adjacent to several existing holiday units but is
separated from these by virtue of the front wall of the walled gardens. There are no other residential
properties in the vicinity of the site. The dwelling is considered to be well contained within the site, provides
suitable amenity provision and is not considered to give rise to any detrimental amenity impacts, particularly
in terms of overlooking, over-dominance or overbearing.

4.3  On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy DC1 in terms of the
impact on neighbour amenity.

5.0  Impact on character and setting of adjacent Listed Building

5.1  Any decisions relating to listed buildings and their settings and conservation areas must address the
statutory considerations of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (see in
particular sections 16, 66 and 72) as well as satisfying the relevant policies within the National Planning
Policy Framework and the development plan.  National policy states that when considering the impact of a
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to
the asset's conservation.  Core Strategy Policy DC17 seeks to ensure that new development preserves and
enhances the character, appearance and setting of conservation areas and listed buildings.

5.2  Neither the Historic Buildings Officer nor Historic England have raised any objections to the proposal. It
has been demonstrated that the walled gardens would not be considered as curtilage listed to Lynford Hall
and the site is considered to be a sufficient distance away from the Listed Building so as not to impact on it.

5.3  The proposal is overall considered to satisfy the requirements of Policy DC17 and Section 66 of the
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990.

6.0  Ecological Impact

6.1  The ecological impacts of the proposal were considered with regard to Policy 10 of the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009. The County Ecologist has requested

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 145



 

 

further information regarding the potential of the existing walls to roost bats. This information has been
requested from the agent and will be addressed by way of a supplementary report following further
consultation with the County Ecologist.

7.0  Impact on parking provision and highway safety

7.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

7.2  The highways officer has raised no objections to the proposal on the basis that the access has been
constructed to a suitable standard by virtue of the previous permission when the applicants business was
established on the site. It is not considered that the proposal would have a detrimental impact on highway
safety and has a sufficient level of parking provision to be acceptable in highway safety terms.

8.0  Conclusion

8.1 The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls out any settlement
boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the NPPF and
this development would provide a small contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply.  On this basis, the
other key principle considerations for this proposal must be assessed and are whether the site is a
sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the countryside.

8.2  When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the small negative harm
created by the site's location away from services and facilities for a single dwelling, is considered to be
outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in the district and the nature of proposed dwelling in
its surrounding context prevents any harm to the street scene or character and appearance of the
countryside.

8.3  In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and therefore, approval of planning permission is recommended subject
to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

That planning permission be GRANTED, subject to no adverse comments being received from the County
Ecologist on the additional bat surveys to be provided.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 146



Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 Full schedule of works
No development shall take place until an appropriate full schedule of works has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to the commencement of development to ensure the special
architectural and historic interest of the building as required by Policy DC 17 of the Adopted
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Landscaping scheme to be submitted - hard and
soft
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, full details of both hard
and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and these works shall be carried out as approved.  These details shall
include:
-hard surfacing materials;
-means of enclosure;
-proposed finished levels or contours;
-minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units,
signs, lighting etc,)
Soft landscaping shall include:
-Planting plans;
-Written specifications ( including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and
grass establishment);
-Schedules of planting, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where
appropriate;
-Implementation programme
Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 147



 

In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 External materials as approved
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed using the materials specified on the
planning application form and / or submitted drawings.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by policies DC 1 & DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 148



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1564/O CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: MILEHAM APPNTYPE: Outline
Litcham Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Mileham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Norfolk County Council
Norfolk County Council County Hall

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: NPS Property Consultants Ltd
Nautilus House 10 Central Avenue

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Construction of 6 new dwellings including two affordable units

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Committee as the recommendation is contrary to Policy.

KEY ISSUES

- Principle of Development
- Impact on the character and appearance of the area
- Highway Safety impact
- Impact on amenity
- Impact on ecology
- Impact on trees
- Flood risk & Drainage
- Affordable Housing
- Other matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

This application seeks outline planning permission, with access to be considered and all other matters
reserved, for the construction of six dwellings including two affordable units on land adjacent to Number 35
Litcham Road, Mileham. Access to serve the development would be via three new access points directly
from Litcham Road.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site comprises a broadly rectangular parcel of land to the south of Litcham Road in Mileham.
The site area is approximately 0.48 hectares of agricultural land located adjacent to No. 35 Litcham Road.
The site lies immediately adjacent to and opposite Mileham Settlement Boundary.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 149

Agenda Item 9g



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.05 Affordable Housing on Exception Sites
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Section 106 to secure the 2 affordable units.

CONSULTATIONS

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
The site is located in a village with limited amenities and poor public transport . The village is served by a
restricted bus service which only provides:
1 return trip between Narborough and Easton College week days/ term time only (Konnectbus 13D)
1 return trip between the village and Dereham on Tuesdays and Fridays only ( Carters Routes 1 and 2)
1 return trip between Litcham and Norwich on a Wednesday only
1 return trip to Kings Lynn on a Tuesday (Peelings Route 1)
The frequency of the service, and choice of destination, could not realistically contribute

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 150



toward a model shift away from the use of the private car to access services and amenities required on an
everyday basis and it is therefore considered that the residents of this development would have a high
reliance on travelling by private car. I appreciate, however,that transport sustainability is only one of the
matters you need to consider and that there may be planning reasons which outweigh concern in this
respect. With that in mind and given that the application is submitted in Outline with only Access included for
current consideration, if you are minded to grant permission I will require details of parking and turning to
form part of any Reserved Matters submission and subject to further conditions.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
Additional affordable housing is a welcome addition to the stock.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
This planning application is supported by an Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; June 2018). It is not
clear from the plans provided if a 5m buffer zone will be enforced during construction works to mitigate
potential impacts on water voles. As stated in the report due to the presence of great crested newts within 50
metres of the proposal site, an EPS licence must be obtained from Natural England in order to proceed with
the development. Full great crested newt presence/absence surveys of all ponds within 500 metres of the
proposed development, with further surveys to estimate the population of newts in any pond in which they
are found to be present needs to be carried out prior to the planning application being determined. As stated
in the report the mitigation strategy for this species will depend on the size and location of populations found.
A full impact assessment and mitigation strategy for this species needs to be produced following the
completion of all necessary surveys.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
Based on the information provided to me at this time; there are no objections or further comments on the
grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the development proceeds in line with the application details.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection. No development should take place within the identified RPA of T2.
NORFOLK FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE
Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service would like to add a planning condition to this development.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Further to our previous email below, we would like to highlight that a flood investigation into flooding in
Mileham that occurred in 2016 and 2018 is going to be published in the next few weeks and will be made
publically available. Please note that two properties were internally flooded and 11 properties were externally
flooded downstream of the proposed development site in 2016 and 2018. Although we will not be technically
reviewing this application as this is a minor application and falls outside our statutory role, we would advise
that you satisfy yourself that the development does not increase flood risk downstream. Please note that
there is a watercourse adjacent to the development and for major developments we would require a buffer
strip to ensure that sufficient access is made available to maintain a watercourse within the development. We
would also advise the applicant to apply for consent where there is the intention to amend the watercourse.
NATURAL ENGLAND
No objections. Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will
not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature conservation sites or landscapes.
NORFOLK RIVERS INTERNAL DRAINAGE BOARD
I note that through the submission of an addendum to the flood/surface water drainage report (NPS Group,
June 2019) the applicant has stated that if a strategy wholly reliant on infiltration is not viable, then a surface
water discharge would be proposed to a watercourse. In order to avoid conflict between the planning process
and the relevant Boards regulatory regime and consenting process please be aware of the following:

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 151



 

 

 

As per our letter dated 20/02/2019, if (following testing) a strategy wholly reliant on infiltration is not viable
and a surface water discharge is proposed to a watercourse within the Internal Drainage District (directly or
indirectly), then the proposed development will require land drainage consent in line with the Boards byelaws
(specifically byelaw 3). Any consent granted will likely be conditional, pending the payment a surface water
development contribution fee, calculated in line with the Boards charging policy.
Additionally, while the applicant has referenced attenuating any surface water discharge to the greenfield
runoff rate, please be aware that consent is required in line with byelaw 3 for any additional rate or volume of
water introduced to the Internal Drainage District. Whilst the consenting process as set out under the Land
Drainage Act 1991 and the aforementioned Byelaws are separate from planning, the ability to implement a
planning permission may be dependent on the granting of these consents. As such we strongly recommend
that any application to discharge is made to the Board prior to determination of the planning application.

REPRESENTATIONS

The site notice has been displayed from 11-01-2019 to 01-02-2019.
28 Neighbours have been directly notified.

Seventeen objections have been made by local residents raising the following issues:

-A proposal for 5 dwellings (3PL/2018/0155/O) was already refused for the same site.
-The proposal would seriously exacerbate the existing high flood risk in the area due to the   ditch on the site.
-       Surface water drainage issues.
-The site is out of settlement boundaries of Mileham.
-Lack of public transport, facilities and amenities for the future residents.
-Increase of noise and disturbance to the village through the arrival of new cars.
-More supply than demand in view of long-term unsold new-built properties in Mileham.
-Detrimental impact upon open views and landscape.
-Loss of views to the oak tree in the middle of the field considered as local landmark.
-Loss of verge land would mean a harm upon local wildlife, especially barn owls.
-The road has heavy traffic -motorists, agricultural machinery, a sharp bend to west, uncertainty about on-
street parking,
-National speed limit where the site access is proposed -this would pose a risk to the safety of road users.
-No footpath to serve the future residents of proposed houses.
-       Additional traffic/pressure on Litcham
-       Wider implication of the irreversible destruction of invaluable farmland.
-        The amended illustrative plan suggests that Plot No 1 will directly abut No 35 Litcham Road, thereby
introducing
restrictions to light and air access which I consider to be detrimental to the property and its occupants.

-        Further comments have been received with concerns that no site flood risk or ground investigations
have been carried out. Also that no consideration given to the high ground water levels in the village. The
BGS map shows the area immediately downstream/west of the site as being at 75% at risk of ground water
flooding. There is a spring in the field to the east of the site and Institute of Hydrology records show above
ground readings in the village.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 152



 
ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of development

1.1 The application seeks Outline permission for the erection of a six new dwellings to include two affordable
units on land outside of the Mileham settlement boundary.  For this reason the proposal conflicts in principle
with Policies DC02 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document, (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.  However, as the
Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land, policies in respect of the supply of
housing cannot be considered to be up-to-date and can be given little weight.  The application is therefore
assessed against the benefits provided in relation to the sustainable development tests as set out in the
NPPF.

1.2 The NPPF identifies three dimensions of sustainable development:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

Paragraph 8 of the NPPF also stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation because they
are mutually dependent; therefore a balanced assessment against these three roles is required.

1.3 In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide six new dwellings and would
provide some short-term economic benefits through construction, and longer-term economic benefits through
additional household spend within the surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of the
dwellings.

1.4 Socially, it is noted that Mileham has a shop and post office, village hall, church, cafe and a garden
nursery.  There is also provision of bus services running through the village, connecting it with Dereham,
Fakenham, Kings Lynn and Norwich, as well as smaller settlements, such as Litcham and Narborough.
However the bus services are limited.  The next nearest settlement providing additional facilities with
opportunities for employment and a good range of bus services is Litcham, located approximately 2 miles
away.  Litcham has a post office and general store, health centre, pub, village hall, primary school and high
school.  A designated coach service stops in Mileham to commute children to and from Litcham school.  In
addition, a coach service caters for students travelling between Mileham and Easton College.

1.5 Paragraph 78 of the revised NPPF (2019) encourages housing in rural areas where it will enhance or
maintain the vitality of rural communities, for example, development in one village may support the services
of a nearby village.  As discussed above, the nearby village of Litcham has a wider range of services and
facilities and would require relatively short car trips / bus journeys to access.  Furthermore, the NPPF aims to
avoid isolated homes in the countryside and recognises that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 153



solutions will vary from urban to rural areas.  The proposed scheme would not result in isolated new homes
and provides the potential for rural communities to grow and develop.  It is considered that the proposal is
sustainably located in terms of its proximity and accessibility to available facilities and would therefore meet
the requirements of the social role of sustainable development.

1.6 A planning application by a different applicant (3PL/2018/0155/O) to erect five detached dwellings on
land adjacent to 61 Litcham Road and Beeston Road was refused on 27 March 2018. The reasons for
refusal were that the new residential development would be outside a settlement boundary that would be
remote from services and facilities, the built development would detract from the character, appearance and
openness of the site and insufficient information had been provided regarding ecology. The application site
was further west of this application site adjacent to Beeston Road. This current application is considered to
relate closer to the existing development, is directly adjacent to the existing built development to the east and
north.

2.0 Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1 The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2 Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.3 The site lies adjacent to existing development which fronts Litcham Road with further existing
development also opposite Litcham Road. The proposed layout would be related to the existing linear form of
development fronting Litcham Road and therefore, it is considered that the erection of six dwellings on the
site would not result in a form of development out of keeping with the existing pattern of development.

2.4 The application has been submitted in outline form only with access to be considered, therefore design,
siting and layout will all be considered at a later date.  Notwithstanding that, an indicative layout plan has
been provided which indicates that six dwellings can be adequately positioned within the site with acceptable
separation distances between them.

2.5 In light of these factors, the application is considered to accord with Policies CP11, DC1, DC16 and
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

3.0 Highway Safety Impact

3.1 Policy CP 4 requires access and safety concerns are resolved within all new developments. Policy DC 19
sets out the required parking standards.

3.3 The proposal would include the creation of three new access points to serve the development from
Litcham Road.

3.4 The Highways Authority have been consulted and advised that the site is located in a village with limited
amenities and poor public transport. The village is served by a restricted bus service which only provides:
1 return trip between Narborough and Easton College week days/ term time only (Konnectbus 13D)

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 154



1 return trip between the village and Dereham on Tuesdays and Fridays only ( Carters Routes 1 and 2)
1 return trip between Litcham and Norwich on a Wednesday only
1 return trip to Kings Lynn on a Tuesday (Peelings Route 1)
The frequency of the service, and choice of destination, could not realistically contribute toward a model shift
away from the use of the private car to access services and amenities required on an everyday basis and it is
therefore considered that the residents of this development would have a high reliance on travelling by
private car. They appreciate, however, that transport sustainability is only one of the matters to consider and
that there may be planning reasons which outweigh concern in this respect. Details of parking and turning will
need to form part of any Reserved Matters submission and subject to conditions.

3.5 It is therefore considered that the proposed development would be consistent with the requirements of
policies CP 4 and DC 19 of the Core Strategy.

4.0 Impact on Amenity

4.1 Policy DC1 sets out that for all new development, consideration will need to be given to the impact upon
amenity. Development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable effects on the amenities of the
area or the residential amenity of neighbouring occupants, or future occupants of the development site.

4.2 The submitted plan with the application illustrates a scheme with six dwellings. Plot 1 would be located
nearest to adjacent existing development, no. 35 Litcham Road which is to the east of the site, the indicative
plan shows sufficient separation distances between the two and any window placements could be carefully
considered at reserved matters stage along with appropriate boundary screening.

4.3 It is therefore considered that the site could satisfactorily accommodate the proposed development with
no detrimental harm caused to amenity.

5.0 Impact on Ecology

5.1 The NPPF seeks to minimise impacts on biodiversity. Policy CP 10 seeks to enhance biodiversity within
the district. Areas of biodiversity will be protected from harm.

5.2 The NCC Ecologist has been consulted as part of this application and have advised that the application is
supported by an Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; June 2018). It is not clear from the plans provided if
a 5m buffer zone will be enforced during construction works to mitigate potential impacts on water voles. As
stated in the report 'due to the presence of great crested newts within 50 metres of the proposal site, an EPS
licence must be obtained from Natural England in order to proceed with the development.' Full great crested
newt presence/absence surveys of all ponds within 500 metres of the proposed development, with further
surveys to estimate the population of newts in any pond in which they are found to be present needs to be
carried out prior to the planning application being determined. As stated in the report 'the mitigation strategy
for this species will depend on the size and location of populations found. A full impact assessment and
mitigation strategy for this species needs to be produced following the completion of all necessary surveys.'
Great crested newts are protected under Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)
and Schedule 2 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) making great
crested newts European Protected Species.

5.3 The extant government circular on planning and biodiversity (Circular 06/2005) makes it explicit that "the
presence or absence of protected species, and the extent to which they could be affected by a proposed
development, should be established before planning permission is granted, since otherwise all material
considerations might not have been considered in making the decision."

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 155



5.4 They support the creation of a single skylark plot shown on the site location plan (NPS group; September
2018) to offset the loss of the arable land and also support the recommendation in the Ecology Report (Wild
Frontier Ecology; June 2018) of 'two further plots as enhancement measures' to provide net gains for
biodiversity.

5.5 An updated Ecology and GCN Survey has been submitted but we have not yet received a response from
the Ecologist, therefore, this will be presented in a supplementary report for the Planning Committee.

6.0 Impact on trees

6.1 Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

6.2 An Preliminary Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been provided which confirms that there is one
category B tree. Four individual trees (T1, T3-5) and one group (G1) have been classified as Category C.
These trees are small or in poorer condition and do not play such a significant role in the local landscape.

6.3 The Tree officer has been consulted and stated no objection, they confirmed that no development should
take place within the identified RPA of T2.

6.4 Therefore, subject to conditions, the proposals comply with Policy DC12.

7.0 Flood Risk

7.1 Policy DC13 relates to flood risk and paragraph 163 of the NPPF (2019) stipulates that when determining
planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and
development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light of this assessment (and
the sequential and exception tests, as appropriate) it can be demonstrated that:

a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk, unless there are
overriding reasons to prefer a different location;

b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;

c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would be
inappropriate;

d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and

e) safe access an escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed emergency plan.

7.2 The application site is within Flood Zone 1 and so the risk of flooding is low. Therefore, the proposal is
considered to accord with Policy DC13 and paragraph 163 of the NPPF (2019).

8.0 Drainage

8.1 The Norfolk Rivers Drainage Board have been consulted and note that through the submission of an
addendum to the flood/surface water drainage report (NPS Group, June 2019) the applicant has stated that if
a strategy wholly reliant on infiltration is not viable, then a surface water discharge would be proposed to a

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 156



watercourse.
If (following testing) a strategy wholly reliant on infiltration is not viable and a surface water discharge is
proposed to a watercourse within the Internal Drainage District (directly or indirectly), then the proposed
development will require land drainage consent in line with the Board's byelaws (specifically byelaw 3). Any
consent granted will likely be conditional, pending the payment a surface water development contribution fee,
calculated in line with the Board's charging policy.
Additionally, while the applicant has referenced attenuating any surface water discharge to the greenfield
runoff rate, please be aware that consent is required in line with byelaw 3 for any additional rate or volume of
water introduced to the Internal Drainage District.

8.2 The agent was asked to provide testing but said they are unable to carry out any ground testing due to
crops being currently grown on the land and have provided further details which shows the geological
information for this area which suggests the land is made from gravels and sands which would have good
permeability. The agent further requested that this be conditioned for completion if the application is
approved.

8.3 Norfolk County Council produced an Investigation Report into the flooding in Mileham in January 2018.
This highlights the problem areas which have been affected by and are at risk of surface water flooding. The
map identifies the areas and this application site is not located within a known area of risk. The Environment
Agency surface water maps also identify surface water flooding at differing levels in Mileham, but show this
application site to be at very low risk with low risk outside of the site further to the rear.

8.4 Concern has been raised by local residents regarding the impact of the proposed development on flood
risk, as the surrounding area has be prone to levels of flooding. The proposed development is to be sited on
land in Flood Zone 1, which is land assessed as having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of river or
sea flooding. The site is not, therefore, considered to be detrimental to flood risk, however a condition would
be attached to any consent to ensure that adequate drainage is required for the scheme. As a result the
scheme would accord with the requirements of Policy DC 13.

9.0 Affordable Housing

9.1 The applicant has proposed two affordable units on site alongside four market dwellings. The Housing
Enabling Officer has commented that a site of this size (below 0.5ha and 9 or fewer units) is not required to
provide affordable housing. However it is noted that 2 units are offered, and the proposed 2-bed units are in
accordance with the highest need in the district. They would therefore be a welcome addition to the stock.

9.2 A S106 agreement has been submitted as part of this application.

10.0 Other matters

10.1 Natural England

10.2 Natural England have been consulted and consider that the proposed development will not have
significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature conservation sites or landscapes and therefore
have no objections. They advised due to the development's proximity to the River Nar Site of Special
Scientific Interest and recent issues with flooding within the village, appropriate SUDS should be incorporated
into the development. This is necessary to avoid damage to the River Nar SSSI from excess surface water
runoff entering the river via the ditch network causing a pollution risk and damaging sediment ingress.

10.3 Contaminated Land

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 157



 

 

10.4 The Contaminated Land Officer has been consulted and confirms that based on the information
provided at this time, namely their mapping reference to an unknown filled pit to the north east of the
proposed development site, they
recommend approval providing the development proceeds in line with the application details and subject to
conditions to alleviate environmental concerns.

11.0 Conclusion

11.1  The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls outside of any
settlement boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the
NPPF and this development would provide a contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. On this basis,
the other key principle considerations for this proposal must be assessed and whether the site is a
sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the countryside.

11.2  The site is in close proximity to other dwellings. The plans indicate that the site can be developed and
due to the presence of dwellings to the north and the east, the impact will be limited. On this basis, the
development of the site would not negatively impact the character and appearance of the area and therefore
complies with Policy CP 11.

11.3  When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the nature of the site and its
proximity to the existing settlement boundary and existing development when weighed against the the small
negative harm created by the site's location outside of the settlement boundary, is considered to be
outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in the district and due to the aforementioned
reasons within the report that the development will not cause significant and demonstrable harm to the street
scene or character and appearance of the area or highway safety given the number of dwellings proposed
and already accommodated along Litcham Road.

11.4  In accordance with the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, and therefore the granting of planning permission is recommended, subject to
conditions and signing of a section 106 agreement to secure the two affordable units.

RECOMMENDATION

That Planning Permission be granted subject to a Section 106 to secure two units of affordable housing.

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years) Early Delivery
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 158



No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale, access, parking, turning and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

4 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

5 Landscaping - details and implementation
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted a scheme of landscaping which
shall take account of any existing trees or hedges on the site, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be carried
out during the planting season November/March immediately following the commencement
of the development, or within such longer period as may be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall take account of the Council's leaflet "Tree pack"
(Landscaping advice for applicants).  Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five)
years from the completion of the landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of the
same size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 12
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 External materials and samples to be approved
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level details and samples of all external
materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, and this condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to these matters
which have been given in the current application.  Only such agreed materials shall be used
in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular accesses
shall be constructed, and ditch piped, in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the highways specification.
Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposal of
separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 159



To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety. In accordance
with Policy CP4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Access - gradient
The gradient of the vehicular access shall not exceed 1:12 for the first 5 metres into the site
as measured from the near channel edge of the adjacent carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the safety of persons using the access and users of the highway. In
accordance with Policy CP4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

9 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted visibility splays
measuring 2.4 metres x 59 metres shall be provided to each side of each access where it
meets the highway.The splays shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any
obstruction exceeding 1.05 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF (2019) and
in accordance with Policy CP4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Non-standard condition - Drainage
Prior to the commencement of development, a ground investigation to determine the
infiltration potential of the site and the depth to groundwater shall be carried out. The
investigation reports shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. If on-site material is considered favourable then infiltration testing in line with BRE
365 should be undertaken to determine its efficiency.

If (following testing) a strategy wholly reliant on infiltration is not viable and a surface water
discharge is proposed to a watercourse within the Internal Drainage District (directly or
indirectly), then the proposed development will require land drainage consent in line with the
Board's byelaws (specifically byelaw 3). Any consent granted will likely be conditional,
pending the payment a surface water development contribution fee, calculated in line with
the Board's charging policy.

Additionally, while the applicant has referenced attenuating any surface water discharge to
the greenfield runoff rate, please be aware that consent is required in line with byelaw 3 for
any additional rate or volume of water introduced to the Internal Drainage District.

The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 160



11 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

13 Non-standard condition - Norfolk Fire and
Rescue Service
No development shall commence on site until a scheme has been submitted for the
provision of 1 fire hydrant (on a minimum 90mm main) on the development in a location
agreed with the Council in consultation with Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service.The fire
hydrant as approved shall be installed prior to first occupation.
Informative:
With reference to the condition, the developer will be expected to meet the costs of
supplying and installing the fire hydrant.
Reason for Condition:-
To ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site for the local fire service to
tackle any property fire and in accordance with Policy DC1 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

14 External materials to be approved
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the colour of the
external materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.  Only such agreed materials shall be used in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

15 Contaminated Land - Desk Study/Site
Investigation
Prior to the commencement of the development, the following details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 161



A.  Desk Study
A desk study and risk assessment to determine the risk of any contamination on the site,
whether or not it originates on the site.  The desk study and risk assessment must be
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced.
The report of the findings must include an assessment of the potential risks to human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
B.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include (i) the same details as in part A
above (ii) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination and (iii) an appraisal of
remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
C.  Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
D Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
The above must be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development to ensure that risks
from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised,
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours
and other offsite receptors from the outset of the development.
INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed.  In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

16 Contaminated Land - Unexpected

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 162



 

Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

21 Inf 2
This development involves works within the public highway that can only be carried out by
Norfolk County Council as Highway Authority unless otherwise agreed in writing. It is an
OFFENCE to carry out any works within the Public Highway, which includes a Public Right
of Way, without the permission of the Highway Authority. Please note that it is the
Applicants' responsibility to ensure that, in addition to planning permission, any necessary
consents or approvals under the Highways Act 1980 and the New Roads and Street Works
Act 1991 are also obtained from the County Council. Advice on this matter can be obtained
from the County Council's Highway Development Management Group.
Please contact Kay Gordon 01362 656211.
If required, street furniture will need to be repositioned at the Applicants own expense.
Public Utility apparatus may be affected by this proposal. Contact the appropriate utility
service to reach agreement on any necessary alterations, which have to be carried out at the
expense of the developer. Please be aware it is the applicants responsibility to clarify the
boundary with the public highway. The highway boundary may not match the applicants title
plan. Please contact the highway research team at highway.boundaries@norfolk.gov.uk for
further details. Private structures such as fences or walls will not be permitted on highway
land.

22 NOTE NCC Inf 8 Flood Risk and Water
Management
Where works affect the flow of an ordinary water course then under the terms of the Flood
and Water Management Act 2010; Land Drainage Act 1991; and Water Resources Act
1991; you need to contact the Flood Water Management team at
water.management@norfolk.gov.uk or Tel: 0344 800 8020.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 163



Item. 9(g)  

Location: Litcham Road, Mileham   

Proposal:  Construction of 6 new dwellings including two affordable units. 

REFERENCE:  3PL/2018/1564/O 

Applicant: Norfolk County Council 

Author: Mark Simmonds 

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 

Two additional comments received raising the following: 

1. The amended proposal suggests permeable paving to the front of the properties whilst "Highways" 
require a tar macadam (impermeable) connection to the highway. Thus, an unresolved conflict exists 
which is likely to exacerbate the existing flooding problems to the west of Mileham. 
 
2. To the rear of the proposed properties (if permeable) a wildlife area is planned. It seems likely to 
me that this area will degenerate rapidly as it risks becoming a dumping ground for builders rubble 
and garden waste as the properties become occupied. What steps are in place to mitigate this risk? 
 
CONDITIONS 

Further to correspondence with the agent and applicant it is proposed to amend Condition 9 to read: 

9. Prior to the commencement of development a ground investigation to determine the infiltration 
potential of the site and the depth to groundwater is required. If on-site material is considered 
favourable then infiltration testing in line with BRE 365 should be undertaken to determine its 
efficiency. 
  
Reason for condition:- 
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to minimise the 
possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development. This condition is imposed in accordance 
with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document 2009 
 
With the following Informative added to the decision notice: 
 
INFORMATIVE 
If (following testing) a strategy wholly reliant on infiltration is not viable and a surface water discharge 
is proposed to a watercourse within the Internal Drainage District (directly or indirectly), then the 
proposed development will require land drainage consent in line with the Board's byelaws (specifically 
byelaw 3). Any consent granted will likely be conditional, pending the payment a surface water 
development contribution fee, calculated in line with the Board's charging policy. Additionally, while 
the applicant has referenced attenuating any surface water discharge to the greenfield runoff rate, 
please be aware that consent is required in line with byelaw 3 for any additional rate or volume of 
water introduced to the Internal Drainage District. 
 
The Natural Environment Team have made the following comments: 
 

164



The Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; June 2019) is fit for purpose. The report highlights ‘it was 
discovered that several ponds in the vicinity of the development were surveyed for great crested 
newts in 2017 for an adjacent planning application, and great crested newts were confirmed breeding. 
WFE undertook a suite of population estimate surveys in 2019, which confirmed the presence of a 
medium sized metapopulation between the ponds. As a result the proposed works will require a 
European Protected Species licence in order to proceed.’ 
  
If you are minded to approve this application, we recommend that you provide the below informative 
and condition the following: 
 
• Construction Environmental Management Plan (biodiversity) 

“No development shall take place (including demolition ground works, vegetation clearance) 
until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The CEMP shall include 
the following: 

 
- Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities; 
- Identification of ‘biodiversity protection zones’; 
- Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid 

or reduce impacts during construction; 
- The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features; 
- The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site 

to oversee works; 
- Responsible persons and lines of communication; 
- The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 

similarly competent person; 
- Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

 
• Mitigation measures outlined in principle in section 7 of the Ecology Report (Wild Frontier 

Ecology; June 2019) and Wildlife Area and Drainage Strategy (nps Group; June 2019). 
 
If more than two years have passed since surveys were undertaken then update surveys may be 
required at the reserved matters stage and any additional mitigation measures that need 
incorporating into the site’s design agreed with the local planning authority. 
 
The approved CEMP: Biodiversity shall be adhered to and implemented through the construction 
phases strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority.” 
 
• Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) 

“A landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority prior to the commencement of the development. The 
content of the LEMP shall include the following. 
a)            Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 
b)            Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 
c)            Aims and objectives of management. 
d)            Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. 
e)            Prescriptions for management actions. 
f)           Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled 

forward over a five-year period). 
g)           Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan. 

165



h)           Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures. 
i)            Enhancement measures outlined in principle in section 8 of the Ecology Report (Wild 

Frontier Ecology; June 2019) and Wildlife Area and Drainage Strategy (nps Group; June 
2019). 

 
If more than two years have passed since surveys were undertaken then update surveys may be 
required at the reserved matters stage and any additional mitigation measures that need 
incorporating into the site’s design agreed with the local planning authority. 
 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism (s) by which the long-term 
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(ies) 
responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/ or remedial 
action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully 
functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.” 
 
EPS licence – Informative 
“NOTE: The applicant is advised that Great Crested Newts are protected species under the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 and the Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2017.  The granting of 
planning permission does not absolve the applicant/developer/successors in title from obtaining a 
licence issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 53 of the Conservation of Habitat and 
Species Regulations 2017 and complying with the terms and conditions of any licences. The applicant 
is therefore advised to contact Natural England and acquire the necessary Licence(s) prior to any 
development/works commencing on site.” 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Recommendation remains the same as the main report – Approval with Conditions, together with 

the conditions amendments detailed above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

166



 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2015/1180/O CASE OFFICER Rebecca Collins

LOCATION: NARBOROUGH APPNTYPE: Outline
Land to the west of Chalk Lane POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry

ALLOCATION: N
CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Blubird Land & Planning Ltd
16 Mere Close Saham Toney

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Blubird Land & Planning Ltd
16 Mere Close Saham Toney

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of up to 40 dwellings

DEFERRED REASON

(A) Site History

This application was heard at Planning Committee on 4/06/2018, were members resolved to grant planning
permission subject to proposed conditions and a S106 Agreement to secure the following:

- 46, 576 Early years education (outline so on formula basis)
- 116,440 pounds for Primary education (outline so on formula basis)
- 1no fire hydrant at 815 pounds
- 3,000 pounds to NCC for libraries
- 9,500 pounds to NCC for Green Infrastructure Network
- 22.5% affordable housing

It has taken this period to agree the wording of the s.106 which has now been signed by all relevant parties.
An earlier version of the S.106 was previously signed, not finalised when an error was spotted by the County
Council in their text.  Agreement was gained from all parties to revised the S.106 and this has lead to the
current delay, which is in excess of 12 months since the last committee resolution.

Given the significant period that has past since the previous committee resolution the Council is referring this
back to planning committee to ratify the decision.  This is on the basis that there has been no material
planning considerations since the earlier resolution to grant to planning permission.

(D) Assessment

The application was resolved to grant planning permission in June 2018.  This is a material planning
consideration in the determination of this application.  Paragraph 47 of the NPPF reminds us (in accordance
with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) 'Planning law requires that
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise'.  Given the earlier resolution to grant planning permission and the time that
has past since this resolution then it is appropriate to consider material change in circumstance, which may
result in an alternative recommendation based on those material changes.  It is not intended to revisit all

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 167

Agenda Item 9h



matters, only those which have materially changed since the earlier resolution to grant Planning Permission.

Material Planning considerations can include changes to policy as well as material changes in site
characteristics or cumulative development.  The material changes have been further considered below.

Since 2018 the Councils adopted Development Plan has not changed and primarily consists of The
Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies (2009), with regards to Narborough.  Although
the emerging Local Plan is a material planning consideration, given it has not been formally adopted it can
only be given moderate weight in the determination of this application.  Since 2017, however, the latest
version of the NPPF has been adopted (February 2019), this is a material change.

Policies within the emerging Local Plan, which can be given moderate weight in accordance with Paragraph
48 of the NPPF, continue to support the delivery of housing, including in Local Services Centres such as
Narborough.  This is also supported by the latest version of the NPPF.  Therefore, it is considered that the
principle of development continues to be established in this location and remains consistent with the
Development Plan, emerging Local Plan and the NPPF (2019).

With regards to the latest version of the NPPF (2019), which is a new material consideration, as set out
above.  Previously this application was considered in the context of the titled balance, paragraph 11 of the
NPPF (2009) and the lack of a five year housing land supply.  The Policy position in this context has not
changed and therefore, the application was determined giving considerable weight to paragraph 11 and
sustainable development, which this application was determined to be in the context of not being outweighed
by significant and demonstratble harm.  Despite a change to paragraph numbers in the NPPF, this text has
not materially changed and therefore continues to weigh in favour of granting planning permission for this
application.

Other relevant policies within the NPPF largely align with the policies and matters previously considered and
raise no new material considerations.  In addition, The NPPF includes an additional policy, Policy 11, which
seeks to make an effective use of the land.  The overall density proposed of 21 dwellings per hectare would
not be dis-similar to the adjacent site to the north of 20 dwellings per hectare and the indicative layout
proposed is considered to be well-conceived with well defined streets and a series of integrated open
spaces.  This is considered consistent with the requirements of policy 11 of the NPPF.

As the application is outline with all matters reserved, detailed matters of access, layout and design are not
open for consideration.  With the planning application an indicative layout has been submitted.  The
previously committee report assessed this and stated that the indicative layout 'Nevertheless, it is considered
that the submitted indicative framework plan, together with the design analysis and concepts outlined in the
Design & Access Statement, demonstrate satisfactorily that development of the scale proposed could be
accommodated on the site without causing significant harm to the character and appearance of the
surrounding landscape and townscape'.  Therefore the proposal is considered consistent with the aims of
relevant policies.

Other policies which seek to protect Highway Safety and Traffic Implications; Flood risk and drainage;
Ecology and nature conservation considerations; and Amenity considerations
were all considered previously, it is not considered that there is material change in policy in this regard and
these aspects of the development remain acceptable for this reason.

The latest version of the NPPF (2019) introduces new requirements in terms of demonstrating viability.
Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states, in this regard:

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 168



 

 

 

Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from development, planning applications
that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether
particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be
given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard to all the circumstances in
the case, including whether the plan and the viability evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change
in site circumstances since the plan was brought into force. All viability assessments, including any
undertaken at the plan-making stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national planning
guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly available.

Despite the time that has past since the applicants submission of viability and its review by the District
Valuers (October 2017), it is not considered that there has been a material change in site circumstance or the
development to warrant an update to this review.

The signed section 106 agreement in addition to that set out above with regards to affordable housing
requires contributions to Early years education, Primary education, libraries and for the Green Infrastructure
Network.  As well as securing open space and a maintenance contribution for the development.

(E) Conclusion

Despite the adoption of the latest version of the NPPF and the emerging Local Plan, it is considered that
there has been no material change in circumstance to warrant a change in recommendation for this planning
application.

The Council therefore considers this application is acceptable and recommends the committee ratify their
earlier approval of planning permission, subject to planning conditions (as set out at the end of the report)
and the signed section 106 agreement, as detailed above.

(F) Recommendation

Approval subject to planning conditions and the signed section 106 agreement.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application represents a major development and is outside the defined settlement of the village and
therefore requires to be determined by the Planning Committee in accordance with the Council's delegated
authority.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Impact upon the character and appearance of the area
Highway Safety and Traffic Implications
Flood risk and drainage
Affordable Housing and S106 Contributions
Ecology and nature conservation considerations
Amenity considerations

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 169



 

 

 

 

 

The application seeks outline planning permission for up to 40no. dwellings with associated open space.  All
matters are reserved.  Access, layout and scale with appearance and landscaping would be for future
consideration.  However, the submitted indicative plan shows access off the development site to the north
and off Chalk Lane itself.

The indicative layout provides a layout that demonstrates how 40no. dwellings could be accommodated on
site with a LEAP provided and other areas of public open space.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site consists of a 1.91 hectare parcel of agricultural land on the southern outskirts of
Narborough.  The site lies to the south of the existing development site for 55no. dwellings that is being
developed by Persimmon Homes.  A disused railway lies to the west of the site incorporating the Narborough
Embankment SSSI.  The remainder of the agricultural field to the south.  The eastern boundary is
demarcated by a mature hedgerow and Chalk Lane.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

To north of application site -

3PL/2012/1093O - Outline application for 55no dwellings - Approved 12.02.14
3PL/2015/0926/D - Reserved matters application for erection of 55 dwellings - Approved 19.02.16

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.11 Open Space
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.14 Energy Efficiency

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 170



 

 

 

DC.16 Design
NPPF With particular regard to Paragraphs 9, 47, 52 and With particular regard to

paragraph 55.

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

S106 contributions would be required for:-

- 46, 576 Early years education (outline so on formula basis)
- 116,440 pounds for Primary education (outline so on formula basis)
- 1no fire hydrant at 815 pounds
- 3,000 pounds to NCC for libraries
- 9,500 pounds to NCC for Green Infrastructure Network
- 22.5% affordable housing

CONSULTATIONS

ASSET MANAGEMENT
The development includes the provision of open space which might or might not involve a LAP and LEAP. If
it is intended to offer the open space to Breckland, Facilities Management would wish to be consulted on the
details of the proposed open spaces at the appropriate time. BDC will usually only consider adopting areas of
low maintenance when provided with a perimeter knee rail fence to restrict vehicular access and it is possible
that BDC would not be prepared to adopt the open spaces proposed. Consequently the S106 Agreement
should provide an opportunity for the Council to decline to take on the open space if it chooses and for the
developer to make other arrangements for the management of these areas, through the Town Council or a
management company etc
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The Ecological Report (Wild Frontier Ecology, 2015) sufficiently assesses the application site. The proposed
retail development is unlikely to have an adverse effect upon protected sites or species provided the
Mitigation and Best Practice Measures (Section 7 of the report) are adhered to throughout the development.
In addition the following recommendations made by the Norfolk Wildlife Trust (letter dated 21st December
2015) should be incorporated into the development: New signage should be erected at the Narborough
Railway Embankment SSSI to ensure that dogs are kept under control and clean-up rules are adhered to.
Interpretive material should be provided to all new residents in order to ensure that the policy to keep dogs
under control and strict clean-up rules are adhered to. Should any protected species be encountered
throughout the construction process, all activities must immediately cease and the advice of a suitably
qualified ecologist should be sought. In line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in aiming to
achieve sustainable development and the obligations on public bodies to conserve and enhance biodiversity
as required by the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006, it is advised that the
recommendations made in Section 7.3 of the report are adopted throughout site activities and construction.
NARBOROUGH P C
No objections.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
No objection to this application. Please consult the IDB on the submitted Drainage Strategy. The site is
located above a Principal Aquifer. However, we do not consider this proposal to be High Risk.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 171



ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Narborough Water Recycling Centre that will
have available capacity for these flows. The sewerage system at present has available capacity for these
flows.
NATURAL ENGLAND
Natural England has no comments to make on this application.
NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST
This report states that Narborough Railway Embankment SSSI is within 270 m of the development and
recognises that residents of the new development are likely to visit this site, which is a nature reserve,
managed by Norfolk Wildlife Trust. The report also notes that the reserve has a policy to keep dogs under
control with strict clean-up rules. It goes on to make the assessment that the small increase in visitors will not
affect the integrity of the SSSI.

As a result it is our view that if the application is approved this should be on condition that interpretational
materials are provided to new residents, along with erection of enhanced signage at a the entrance to the
SSSI that seeks to explain the ecological value and sensitivity of the SSSI. In our view this will not only help
protect the valuable chalk flora of the SSSI but also give new residents a better knowledge of the wildlife
interest of the area, where they will be living.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
Following the submission of revised proposal to demonstrate how access can be provided onto to Chalk
Lane with associated technical appraisal providing for the widening of Chalk Lane, no objections are raised
subject to conditions relating to:-

- visibility splays
- a construction management plan
- off site highways improvements
- a Traffic Regulation Order for an extension of the 30mph speed limit on Chalk Lane
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL
Contributions requested for the following -

- 46,576 GDP for Early years education
- 116,440 GDP for Primary education
- 1no fire hydrant at 815 GDP
- 3,000 GDP to NCC for libraries
- 9,500 GDP to NCC for Green Infrastructure Network
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Officers have screened this application and it falls below our current threshold for providing detailed
comment.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
The central part of the site is free from trees. Dwellings have been positioned away from trees on the eastern
boundary to allow sufficient space. Removal of low value trees only, with planting specified to compensate.
SUDS to be moved away from T20 as specified in tree report. No objection subject to conditions relating to
the development according with the approved Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan
(TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS).
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 172



 

 

 

 

The application has been subject to viability testing with District Valuer.  It is important to demonstrate that
the assessment is carried out using the most robust methods to maximise affordable housing provision on
site.  The affordable housing mix will need to be determined at reserved matters.
CRIME REDUCTION & ARCHITECTURAL LIAISON OFFICER
Good quality pre-application discussion enables better coordination between public and private resources
and improved outcomes for the community. This is of course merely an indicative layout at this outline stage
and lacks the real detail to comment fully.  The proposed layout does show rear access foot paths in two
areas. Firstly, behind plots 25 to 30, which makes those plots and plots 17 to 20 vulnerable to break ins, 85%
of burglaries occur from the rear. Secondly, the same can be said to 31 to 39.

HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

Two letters of representation have been received raising the following issues:-

- Concerns on how the scheme relates to the development approved under 3PL/2012/1093/O
- Concerned that scheme that refers to adjacent development that does not have permission

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.  Principle of development

1.1  For decision making purposes, as required by Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act
2004, the Development Plan comprises the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document, together with the Site Specific Allocations DPD. Material considerations in
respect of national planning policy are the NPPF and the more recently published National Planning Policy
Guidance.

1.2  In relation to settlement boundaries, the objectives of Policy CP14 include focussing development in
sustainable locations with access to key services and protecting the form and character of settlements.
These objectives are consistent with the NPPF's key aims and so in this respect Policy CP14 can be afforded
some weight in accordance with paragraph 215. The site is located outside the settlement boundary of
Narborough in an area of open countryside (as defined by policies SS1, DC02, CP01 and CP14 of the Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009), where development is
heavily restricted.

1.3  Planning law requires that planning applications are determined in accordance with the development
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  It is necessary to consider therefore whether in this
case any such material considerations, including national planning policy, would justify a departure from
policy.

1.4  Paragraphs 47 and 49 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) clearly state that where an
authority does not have an up to date five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply
of housing as referred to above should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  Furthermore, it is noted
that recent case law has identified that those development plan policies that would in effect restrict the supply

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 173



of housing including those identified above can only be given limited weight.

1.5  The NPPF defines sustainable development in broad terms by reference to economic, social and
environmental considerations and indicates that planning should seek gains in relation to each element.  The
provision of housing to meet local needs is identified as a key component of sustainable development and in
this respect the NPPF seeks to boost significantly the supply of housing.  The conservation of the natural
environment is also central to the NPPF, including protecting valued landscapes and minimising effects on
biodiversity.  In order to promote sustainable development in rural areas, the NPPF indicates that housing
should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of local communities.

1.6  Narborough is a defined as a Service Centre village in both the adopted Core Strategy and in the
emerging Local Plan it contains adequate services and facilities to meet the day-to-day requirements of its
residents. Narborough has a primary school, post office, community centre, restaurant and doctor's surgery.
There is a regular bus service and is located on the X1 route between Peterborough and Lowestoft.  There
are a range of businesses and employment opportunities within the village.  In these terms, the application
site is considered to be a sustainable location for new development.

1.7  Although outside the defined settlement limit, the proposed development would adjoin the existing
Persimmon Homes development site that in turn adjoins the existing the settlement boundary and main built
up area of the village to the north. The proposal would therefore be closely related to the built form of the
settlement and would not result in an isolated development in the countryside.  The residential use would
also be compatible with the general residential character of the area north, and being bounded by the mature
hedgerow  on both the eastern and western boundaries the proposal would not conflict with local policies
which seek to avoid intrusive development in rural landscapes.

1.8  It is noted that the new households would provide economic support for existing shops and facilities and
contribute to the vitality of the local community and a range of transport options would be available to them.
The construction of the development would have some short-term economic benefits.  The development
would thus be consistent with the NPPF principles that housing should be located where it will maintain or
enhance the vitality of existing communities, minimise the need to travel and support economic growth.

1.9  The provision of up to 40 dwellings would provide a significant contribution towards providing housing,
particularly in light of the significant current shortfall in the provision of housing land in the District and has
therefore been given significant weight in favour of the proposal.

1.10  Although the application site is not an allocated site for development in the adopted Core Strategy it
has been put forward as a preferred allocation in the emerging Local Plan and has not been subject to
objections.

1.11  In terms of availability and delivery, Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires new sites for housing
development to be deliverable, which is defined as being available now, suitable in terms of location and be
achievable in respect of housing being developed on the site within the next five years.  Although the
application is in outline form, there is nothing to suggest that there are any technical constraints which would
prevent the development coming forward in the short term.  Indeed it is noted that a detailed indicative layout
has been included within the submission.  To encourage the early delivery of the proposed housing, a two
year time limit for the submission of reserved matters is recommended, with a further year to start work.

1.12  Having regard to the above, it is concluded that the proposal would represent sustainable development,
as defined in the NPPF and would not conflict with the objectives of development plan policies and would be
suitable for residential development.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 174



2. Character and impact on surrounding area and landscape

2.1  Policy CP11 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure that the landscape of the District will be protected for
the sake of its own intrinsic beauty and its benefit to the rural character.  Development within the District is
also expected to be of the highest design quality in terms of both architecture and landscape.  It should have
regard to good practice in urban design and fully consider the context within which it sits.  It should embrace
opportunities to enhance the character and appearance of an area and contribute to creating a sense of local
distinctiveness.

2.2 The proposed development would extend the built up area of the village to the south and the appearance
of the site would change from open farmland to a built up housing area.  However, the scheme would be
largely contained visually by the adjacent built development to the north and the existing boundary hedging /
trees to the east and west.

2.3  The proposal would transform and erode the open aspect of the neighbouring dwellings immediately to
the north of the site.  However, it is noted this effect would be localised and could be mitigated to some
extent by sensitive development layout proposals with appropriate separation distances, landscaped areas
and additional planting.  The proposed residential development would also be consistent with the residential
character of the area to the north of the site.

2.4  As the application is outline with all matters reserved, detailed matters of access,  layout and design are
not open for consideration.  Nevertheless, it is considered that the submitted indicative framework plan,
together with the design analysis and concepts outlined in the Design & Access Statement, demonstrate
satisfactorily that development of the scale proposed could be accommodated on the site without causing
significant harm to the character and appearance of the surrounding landscape and townscape.

2.5  The overall density proposed of 21 dwellings per hectare would not be dis-similar to the adjacent site to
the north of 20 dwellings per hectare and the indicative layout proposed is considered to be well-conceived
with well defined streets and a series of integrated open spaces. Policy DC11 requires the minimum
provision of a LEAP which is identified  on the indicative layout. The density of the development is such that
the overall requirements of DC11 could be met on site with children's playspace being identified as the
priority.  The open spaces would also provide good opportunities to enhance connections with the adjacent
development to the north.  In this context it is considered that the proposal would not appear out of place nor
cause harm to the surrounding village setting.  Issues raised by the Architectural Liaison Officer would be
principally be dealt with at reserved matters stage and are not considered to go to the heart of developing
this site.

2.6  Issues relating to impacts on existing landscaping can be addressed via conditions and by following the
recommendations set out in the applicant's tree report.  No objections have been raised by the Tree Officer
subject to appropriate conditions in this regard.

2.7  It is considered therefore, that the proposal would be compatible with the established pattern and
character of surrounding development and would be a logical addition to the existing built up area, effectively
rounding off this part of the village.  The application proposal would not conflict therefore with Core Strategy
Policies CP11, DC02 or DC16, nor with the guidance in paragraphs 58 and 109 of the NPPF.

3. Highway Safety and Traffic Implications

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 175



3.1  Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of movement
should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment.  Planning decisions should take
account of whether:

-  the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on the nature and
location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure;

-  safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and

-  improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit the significant
impacts of the development.

-  Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative
impacts of development are severe.

3.2 Outline permission is sought for the provision of up to 40 dwellings.  Access is a reserved matter but
following negotiations with the Highways Authority and the submission of revised plans it has been
established that appropriate vehicular access can be facilitated into the site from Chalk Lane.

3.3 The indicative layout identifies linkages through to the north but this would be an issue to be resolved at
the reserved matters stage.  Nonetheless, footpath linkages northwards along Chalk Lane would facilitate
appropriate access into the village.  Additional information has been submitted which addresses concerns of
the Highway Authority including details  to provide a scheme of works including carriageway widening to 6m
along Chalk Lane, footway improvements on both sides of Chalk Lane to enable safe access between the
site and local services, improved crossing facilities across Chalk Lane and strengthening of the gateway into
the village.  Similarly, it has been agreed that a Traffic Regulation Order will be promoted to extend the
existing 30mph speed limit to beyond the southern boundary of the site.

3.4  The Highways Authority have reviewed the proposal and submission documents and have subsequently
raised no objections to the application, to a scheme for off-site highway works and their undertaking in
accordance with an agreement with the Highways Authority under Section 278 of the Highways Act.

3.5  Having regard to the revised evidence submitted the comments of the Highways Authority it is
considered that the proposed access arrangements would be acceptable and the application is considered to
accord with paragraph 32 of the NPPF, which states that, 'development should only be refused on transport
grounds, where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe'.

4.  Flood risk and drainage

4.1  Paragraph 103 of the NPPF stipulates that when determining planning applications, local planning
authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only consider development appropriate in
areas at risk of flooding where, informed by a site-specific flood risk assessment following the sequential test.
and if required the Exception Test.  In this case the site is in Flood Zone 1 and is not in a known area of
flooding.  The LLFA have not identified site specific issues and have stated that it is below its threshold for
consideration on that basis.  The Environment Agency have not raised objections.

4.2  Anglian Water have confirmed that there is capacity in the foul water network and have not raised
objections on that basis.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 176



5.  Affordable Housing and S106 Contributions

5.1  Core Strategy Policy DC04 requires that to meet District housing needs the Council will require 40% of
the total number of housing units to be provided and maintained as affordable housing within all new
residential development on sites which the Local Planning Authority determines has a capacity for five or
more dwellings; or comprises an area of 0.17 ha or more.

5.2  The applicants have submitted a Viability Appraisal which concludes that, taking into account the
abnormal costs of remediating and developing the site and significant Section 106 and Section 278
obligations the delivery of 40% affordable housing would render the scheme unviable.  On this basis the
application does not accord with the full requirements of Core Strategy Policy DC04.

5.3  However, the Viability Appraisal has been independently reviewed by the District Valuer (DVS Property
Specialists)  and following discussions they agree that a scheme delivering 22.5% affordable housing is
considered to be viable.  The applicants have agreed to provide 22.5% affordable housing, and are willing to
enter into a S106 Legal Agreement to secure its provision.  The Strategic Housing Service have sought
assurances that the most robust methodologies have been used to come to the agreed level of affordable
housing and it is considered in this instance there is no evidence to depart from the advice of the District
Valuer.

5.4  It is noted that paragraph 205 of the NPPF requires that local planning authorities should take account of
changes in market conditions over time and wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent planned
development being stalled.

5.5  Footnote 11 to paragraph 47 of the NPPF states that to be considered deliverable, sites should be
available now, offer a suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect that
housing will be delivered on the site within five years and in particular that development of the site is viable.
Whilst the application is considered to accord with this aspect of the NPPF, Members will need to take a view
as to whether or not a reduction in the level of affordable housing on site is acceptable, having regard to the
acknowledged lack of housing land supply.

5.6  In terms of other S106 contributions these are set out in the earlier section of this report and have not
been the subject of objection by the applicant.  The would come forward as part of the package of
contributions for this development.

6. Ecology and nature conservation considerations

6.1  Both Core Strategy policy CP10 and the NPPF require that development should contribute to a net gain
in biodiversity with an emphasis on improving ecological networks and linkages where possible.
Furthermore, in order to accord with Section 40 of the 2006 Natural Environment & Rural Communities,
(NERC), Act, paragraph 118 of the 2012 National Planning Policy Framework, (NPPF) and policies CP06,
CP08, CP10 and CP11 and of the 2012 Breckland Adopted Core Strategy & Development Control Policies
Development Plan, all of which promote the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity through
sustainable development, the applicant must do more to ensure that the scheme constitutes sustainable
development and that the existing natural features are conserved in a way that guarantees their long-terms
viability.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 177



6.2  The site sits to the east of the Narbrough Railway Embankment SSSI (270m from the development).
Following comments from Norfolk Wildlife Trust and the Council's Ecologists it is recommended that
measures to set out in the applicant's Ecological Report should be followed to protect the adjacent SSSI
including information about the value of the designated site.

6.3  The Council's Ecologists have agreed with the proposed mitigation and biodiversity enhancement
measures, and recommended conditions to secure these.  Further, S106  contributions which would be
secured to improve and enhance the local green infrastructure network would assist in mitigating the impacts
of the development on its surroundings.

7.  Amenity considerations

7.1  The proposed development would be located to the south of the recently constructed development site.
It is considered, given the density, and likely height and scale of the dwellings that in principle the proposals
would provide for an acceptable form residential environment and it is noted that the provision of adequate
private amenity space and levels of outlook and daylight for each dwelling and its future occupants would be
secured through the detailed design of the proposed development within reserved matters applications and
its assessment against the above policies.

7.2  Additional traffic movements would result in some additional disturbance to existing residents on the
approach roads to the application site.  However, given the existing situation and the likely volume, speed
and distribution of such traffic, it is not considered that such disturbance would cause significant harm to the
amenity of nearby residents.

7.3  On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would not result in unacceptable effects on the amenities
of local residents.  Consequently the proposal would not conflict with Core Strategy Policy DC01 or with the
guidance set out in paragraph 17 of the NPPF.

8.  Conclusion

8.1  Although outside the Settlement Boundary, the proposal would be well related to the built form and
existing village and would not result in an unacceptable intrusion into the countryside.  Local services and
facilities would be readily accessible and could expect to derive support from new residents.  Further the site
is identified as a preferred allocation in the emerging Local Plan and has not been the subject of objections.

8.2   The development has been considered and weight applied in the planning balance exercise to asses
the potential harm of development when considered in context of the overall benefits.  Taking all of these
matters into account, it is concluded that the adverse impacts of the proposed development would not
demonstrably outweigh its benefits and the proposal would represent sustainable development, as defined in
the NPPF, and would not conflict with the objectives of development plan policies.  For these reasons, it is
considered that a departure from Core Strategy Policy CP14 is justified in this case.  In principle, the site is
considered to be suitable for residential development.

 RECOMMENDATION

The application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions, the completion of a S106 Legal
Agreement with contributions as set out in this report.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 178



 

 

Delegated authority is requested for the application to be refused by the Council's Planning Manager, if the
legal formalities in respect of the Section 106 are not completed within three months of any resolution to
approve by members, or that the Planning Manager has the authority to agree another more appropriate time
scale for the completion of any such agreement.

RECOMMENDATION

The application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions, the completion of a S106 Legal
Agreement with contributions as set out in this report.

Delegated authority is requested for the application to be refused by the Council's Planning Manager, if the
legal formalities in respect of the Section 106 are not completed within three months of any resolution to
approve by members, or that the Planning Manager has the authority to agree another more appropriate time
scale for the completion of any such agreement.

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years)
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within ONE YEAR of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
access, appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 Standard outline landscaping condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide for a landscaping
and tree planting scheme, which shall take account of any existing trees or hedges on the
site. The landscaping and tree planting shall be carried out in accordance with the scheme
as approved during the planting season of the November/March immediately following the
commencement of the development, or within such longer period as may be agreed in
writing, with the Local Planning Authority, and in accordance with the Council's leaflet "Tree
pack" (Landscaping advice for applicants).
Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion of the
landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced during the next planting season with others of the same size and species unless
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 179



This condition will require to be discharged
4 Contaminated Land - Unexpected

Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Precise details of surface water disposal
Development shall not begin until a scheme for surface water disposal including details of its
future maintenance and timing/phasing arrangements has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority. Infiltration systems shall only be used where it can
be demonstrated that they will not pose a risk to groundwater quality. The scheme shall be
implemented as approved.
Reason for condition:
To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled waters (particularly principal aquifer and
EU water framework directive drinking water protected area) in line with National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF; paragraphs 109, 121), EU Water Framework Directive, Anglian
River Basin Management Plan and Environment Agency Groundwater Protection
(GP3:2008) position statements P4-1 to P4-12 inclusive. The water environment is
potentially vulnerable and there is an increased potential for pollution from inappropriately
located and/or designed infiltration sustainable drainage systems (Suds) such as
soakaways, unsealed porous pavement systems or infiltration basins.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Highways
No development shall commence until details of the proposed arrangements for future
management and maintenance of the proposed streets within the development have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the
Highway Authority.  (The streets shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the
approved management and maintenance details until such time as an agreement has been
entered into under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 or a Private Management and
Maintenance Company has been established).

Reason:
To ensure satisfactory development of the site and to ensure estate roads are managed and
maintained thereafter to a suitable and safe standard.

7 highways

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 180



No works shall commence on the site until such time as detailed plans of the roads,
footways, foul and surface water drainage have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority.  All construction
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.

Reason:
To ensure satisfactory development of the site and a satisfactory standard of highway
design and construction

8 highways
No works shall be carried out on roads, footways, foul and surface water sewers otherwise
than in accordance with the specifications of the Local Planning Authority in consultation
with the Highway Authority.

Reason:
To ensure satisfactory development of the site and to ensure estate roads are constructed to
a standard suitable for adoption as public highway.

9 highways
Before any dwelling is first occupied the road(s) and footway(s) shall be constructed to
binder course surfacing level from the dwelling to the adjoining County road in accordance
with the details to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with
the Highway Authority.

Reason:
To ensure satisfactory development of the site.

10 highways
Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted a visibility splay measuring 2.4m x
120m shall be provided to each side of the access where it meets the highway and such
splays shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction exceeding 0.225
metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.

Reason:
In the interests of highway safety.

11 highways
Prior to the commencement of any works on site a Construction Traffic Management Plan, to
incorporate details of on-site parking for construction workers, access arrangements for
delivery vehicles and temporary wheel washing facilities for the duration of the construction
period shall be submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority in
consultation with Norfolk County Council Highway Authority. For the duration of the
construction period all traffic associated with the construction of the development will comply
with the Construction Traffic Management Plan and unless otherwise approved in writing
with the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority

Reason:
In the interests of maintaining highway efficiency and safety

12 highways
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings no works shall commence
on site unless otherwise agreed in writing until a detailed scheme for the off-site highway

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 181



improvement works as indicated on drawing number 5830-C-101-01-P3 have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the
Highway Authority.

Reason:
To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor.

13 Non-standard highways condition
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the off-site highway
improvement works referred to in Condition 12 shall be completed to the written satisfaction
of the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority.

Reason:
To ensure that the highway network is adequate to cater for the development proposed.

14 Non-standard highways condition
No works shall commence on the site until the Traffic Regulation Order for the extension of
the existing 30mph speed limit on Chalk Lane has been promoted by the Highway Authority.

Reason:
In the interests of highway safety.

15 Fencing protection for existing trees
Prior to the commencement of any work on the site, all trees to be retained shall be
protected by the erection of Tree Protection Fencing which accords with the specification set
out in the attached documents.  This fencing shall be retained throughout the period of the
development and at all times when works (as defined below) are being carried out on the
site.  For the purposes of this condition "work" shall include the storage of plant, materials,
site huts or the use of any machinery either for preparatory site work or construction itself.
"Trees" shall refer to all trees both on and adjacent to the site.
Protective fencing shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with Practice Note:
Construction and Maintenance of Tree Protection Fencing (see enclosed tree pack attached
to this permission).
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the amenities of the area.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy DC12 of the Breckland Adopted Core
Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

16 External materials and samples to be approved
Prior to the commencement of work on site, details and samples of all external materials to
be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and
this condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to these matters which have
been given in the current application.  Only such agreed materials shall be used in
connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of a satisfactory appearance of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC1 and DC16 of the Breckland
Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 182



17 Trees/hedges to be retained
Operations on site shall take place in complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural
Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement
(AMS)   No other operations shall commence on site in connection with the development
until the tree protection works and any pre-emptive tree works required by the approved AIA
or AMS have been carried out and all tree protection barriers are in place as indicated on the
TPP. The protective fencing shall be retained in a good and effective condition for the
duration of the construction of the development and shall not be moved or removed,
temporarily or otherwise, until all site works have been completed and all equipment,
machinery and surplus materials removed from site, unless the prior written approval of the
local planning authority has been sought and obtained.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the interest of the visual amenity
of the area.

18 Boundary screening to be agreed
Before the commencement of work on site, a scheme for the provision of boundary
screening, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.  Such scheme as
may be agreed shall be carried out in its entirety prior to the first occupation of the dwellings
which the screening adjoins to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development and for the protection of
neighbouring amenity.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC1 and DC16 of the Breckland
Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

19 Foul drainage to main sewer
Foul drainage from the proposed development shall be discharged to the main sewer.
Reason for condition:-
To prevent the pollution of the water environment.

20 biodiversity enhancements
Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, a detailed scheme of
biodiversity enhancements, including details of when they should be implemented, should be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The contents of the
agreed scheme shall have regard to the recommendations of the Ecological Report  (wild
Frontier Ecology 2015) and shall be adhered to throughout the development of the site.
Reason for condition:- In the interests of improving biodiversity within the locality.  This
condition is imposed in accordance with the requirements of Policy CP10 of the Adopted
Breckland Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

24 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 183



 

plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new planning application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 184



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1118/F CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: NORTH LOPHAM APPNTYPE: Full
Land at Meadow Lane POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
North Lopham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: Y

APPLICANT: Silverley Properties Ltd, Ms S
.

LB GRADE: Grade II

AGENT: Beacon Planning
8 Quy Court Colliers Lane

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of 7no. dwellings and associated access and landscaping

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

This application is referred to Committee as the proposal is recommended for approval contrary to policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Impact upon character and appearance of area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Impact on the character and appearance of the North Lopham Conservation Area
Impact onTrees
Impact on Ecology
Flood risk and Drainage
Appeal on adjacent site.
Affordable Housing and Policy DC4.

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks full permission for the erection of 7no. dwellings, with associated access and
landscaping, on land to the north of Meadow Lane, North Lopham.
Units 1 and 2 are proposed as a semi-detached pair of one and a half storey, two bedroom dwellings.
Units 3 and 4 are proposed as  two-storey and two/ one and a half storey semi-detached pair with three
bedrooms.
Plots 5 and 6 proposed to be detached two-storey with four bedrooms.
Plot 7 proposed as a smaller detached one and a half storey house with three bedrooms.
All the dwellings are shown as having parking for two cars in the form of car port or parking spaces, plus two
visitor spaces.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 185

Agenda Item 9i



 

 

 

 

 

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is currently a grass field, east of The Street and north of Meadow Lane. The plot of land is outside of
but adjacent to the settlement boundary, with residential development to the north west, east, south and west
(on the opposite side of The Street).
The site falls within the Conservation area.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.19 Parking Provision
LBC Planning(Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Policy DC4 requires a contribution of 40% affordable housing on schemes which reach the threshold.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 186



 

 

The current threshold set out in the NPPF (2019) is 0.5ha or 10 dwellings.

This application makes no offer for affordable housing and is contrary to Policy DC4.

An Independent Viability Appraisal has been carried out which was challenged by the developer and fully
assessed by the DV who have concluded that the scheme is not viable if providing affordable units, however,
a small contribution of £10,000 has been negotiated and this is felt on balance to be acceptable in Lieu of
provision of site which is not possible due to the non-viable nature of the scheme.

CONSULTATIONS

NORTH LOPHAM P C
When the plans for this development were presented to the North Lopham Parish Council there was broad
support for the design and layout but we would like to raise several points of concern about this application.
Firstly the proposed site is an area of open land which is not in the settlement boundary and acts as a green
lung in the centre of the Village which residents have always endeavoured to protect. Secondly an area of
this land was recently the subject of a planning application which Breckland Council turned down and is
currently fighting an appeal on and we do not see how this new application differs. Thirdly the drainage from
this site has been proved to be inadequate and has already led to the flooding of neighbouring properties and
we cannot see how the proposed mitigation is going to prevent this from becoming a serious threat.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
The internal access road will remain private and will not be considered for adoption.For the avoidance of
doubt my response relates to the revised drawing 1613-004 Rev B. If Permission is granted, conditions have
been specified.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
No objection. Predominantly as per informal pre application discussions. The specific specification for
external facing materials will need to be provided either as part of this application or via conditions.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
I recommend approval providing the development proceeds in line with the application details and subject to
conditions to alleviate environmental concerns.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Operations on site shall take place in complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural Impact
Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) provided by
Haydens dated 9th August 2018. No other operations shall commence on site in connection with the
development until the tree protection works and any pre-emptive tree works required by the approved AIA or
AMS have been carried out and all tree protection barriers are in place as indicated on the TPP. Works shall
not commence until written confirmation has been obtained from the appointed arboriculturalist to confirm
that fencing is in place as specified. The protective fencing shall be retained in a good and effective condition
for the duration of the construction of the development and shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or
otherwise, until all site works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials
removed from site, unless the prior written approval of the local planning authority has been sought and
obtained.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) report (Denny Ecology; July 2018).
The report highlights that the pond 150m north of the site was not accessible to survey directly. There is good

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 187



 

 

 

connectivity between the pond to the north and the site and suitable terrestrial habitat available on the site.
As such, precautionary methods of working need to be implemented on the site as outlined in a Biodiversity
Method Statement condition to reduce the likelihood of impacts on this species. The recommendations in the
PEA report need to be implemented to reduce the likelihood of impacts on ecological receptors and provide
net gains for nature (paragraph 170, NPPF).
There is potential for nesting birds to be present on the site. The report states that it is understood that all
existing hedgerows and trees will be retained in the new development. If any vegetation clearance is required
then the vegetation clearance needs to be subject to a timing constraint to avoid the bird nesting season.
If permission is granted, conditions have been specified.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
We have reviewed the information provided and we have no objection to the proposed development. The site
is situated within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) of the Environment Agencys Flood Map. The site is located above a
Principal Aquifer and within Source Protection Zone 3 (SPZ). The developer should address risks to
controlled waters from contamination at the site, following the requirements of the National Planning Policy
Framework and the Environment Agency Guiding Principles for Land Contamination, which can be found
here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-and-reducing-land-contamination If the
development proposes to use deep infiltration systems including boreholes and other structures that by-pass
the soil layer we would wish to be re-consulted.
NORFOLK COUNTY FIRE SERVICE HQ
Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service would like to add a planning condition to this development.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Officers have screened this application and it falls below our current threshold for providing detailed
comment.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
It is noted that a viability assessment has now been submitted on this site. If an independent review of the
viability determines that it is not viable to provide the policy requirement, a clawback provision will be
required as part of the S106 agreement. This will ensure that, should the scheme not be completed within
three years from date of planning approval, half of any profits in excess of the percentage stated in the
independent review shall be paid as a commuted sum to provide affordable housing in the district, up to an
amount where the scheme has made the equivalent of a policy compliant affordable housing contribution.

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice displayed: 20-10-2018 to 10-11-2018
Advertised to the public: 10-10-2018 to 02-11-2018

14 Neighbours have been directly notified.

9 representations received objecting to the proposals which are summarised further below, and in addition to
this the following was received:

1 letter was received with some concerns regarding drainage and flooding.
1 letter was received supporting the proposals.
1 letter was received following up on an earlier objection to confirm their concerns had not been addressed

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 188



 

following the submission of amended plans, therefore were still objecting to the proposals.

Objections and concerns;
- Outside of the development boundary.
- In the Conservation area.
- The last remaining pocket of green space.
- Drainage, surface water and historic flooding of the land. High water table.
- Not correct that the applicant has the full support of the neighbourhood.
- Overdevelopment in a village which is unsustainable, has a lack of any facilities and services.
- No public transport-one bus service running Saturday morning only.
- Not in keeping with the Character and setting of the area.
- Increased traffic, parking and parking issues.
- Rear gardens facing the Street-out of character with the area.
- Negative impacts on the wildlife.
- Negative impacts bats and owls.
- Ecology survey not fully completed, no survey on the pond for great crested newts.
- Drainage survey was carried out in July, hottest/dry month, feel this should be put on hold until a re-survey
is carried out in winter.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle

1.1 The application seeks full planning permission with associated access and landscaping for the erection of
seven dwellings on land outside of the North Lopham settlement boundary.  For this reason the proposal
conflicts in principle with Policies DC02 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries.  The application is therefore assessed against the benefits provided in relation to the sustainable
development tests as set out in the NPPF (2019).

1.2 The NPPF (2019) identifies three dimensions of sustainable development:

-  Economic, in terms of building a strong economy and in particular by ensuring that sufficient land is of the
right type and is available in the right places.
-  Social, by supporting, strong and healthy communities by providing the supply of housing required to meet
future need in a high quality environment with accessible local services and
-  Environmental, through the protection and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment.

1.3 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF (2019) also stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation
because they are mutually dependent; therefore a balanced assessment against these three roles is
required.

1.4 In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide seven new dwellings and would
provide some short-term economic benefits through its construction, and longer-term economic benefits
through additional household spend within the surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of
the dwellings.  Therefore, the proposals would achieve the economic objective of sustainable development.

1.5 In terms of the social role, the site lies outside but adjacent to the North Lopham Settlement Boundary.
North Lopham is a rural village and has a shop, one post office, a village hall and a Public House. There are

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 189



limited facilities or services and there is only one bus service on a Saturday morning, future residents would
be reliant on the use of a car for everyday needs. Therefore, the proposals potentially conflict with the social
and environmental roles of sustainable development.

16 .However, It is acknowledged that a wider range of facilities are available a short trip away in the nearby
villages of East Harling and Diss, the nearest Market Town which would be likely to derive some support from
the development and therefore material weight is given to these available facilities.  The NPPF (2019)
recognises that where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may support
services in a village nearby.  The proposed dwellings would therefore help support the services in nearby
East Harling and Diss, in line with paragraph 78 of the NPPF (2019).

2.0 Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1 The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2 Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.3 Policy CP11 seeks the protection and enhancement of the landscape for the sake of its intrinsic beauty
and benefit to the rural character.  Development should have particular regard to maintaining the aesthetic
and biodiversity qualities of natural and man-made features within the landscape, including consideration of
individual or groups of natural and man-made features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers,
streams or other topographical features.

2.4 The plot itself currently forms a large open green space to the north of Meadow Lane. The land also
forms part of the North Lopham Conservation area. The proposed scheme is considered to relate well to the
character of the area which consists of a mix of detached and semi-detached large dwellings within large
plots of land with generous sized gardens. It is acknowledged that there will be a loss of open green space,
however, due to the existing built form in the street and  what can be considered as being a sympathetic
design and layout proposition, the development on balance is not considered to be detrimental or
unsympathetic to its surroundings.

2.5 The existing landscaping to all boundaries which includes a variety of trees and hedgerow will be
retained which creates a natural screen to the plot, in addition further new planting is proposed to further
screen the development. New planting is proposed of orchard trees and hedgerow along Meadow Lane
which runs along the southern edge of the site to maintain the rural nature.

2.6 The proposals are considered to be infilling of vacant land as the development plot has existing
residential properties on all sides. To the north the prevailing pattern is linear, to the east  are five detached
properties and to the south a variety of detached dwellings are located which run adjacent to the private road
which runs south of the proposed plot. To the west runs the main road through the village, The Street
contains a a variety of detached dwellings and is adjacent to the plot.

2.7 In terms of design, Plots 1 & 2 have been designed with a black timber cladding, clay tiled roof, black
coated aluminium/timber composite windows and doors. Heritage detailing includes a metal chimney flute

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 190



and heritage styled rooflight.

2.8 Plots 3 & 4 have been proposed with similar qualities as plots 1 & 2 but with a mix of white render, timber
windows and doors and brick chimneys.

2.9 Plot 5 is proposed with white render, clay tiled roof, timber doors and windows and stepping brick
chimney.

2.91 Plots 6 & 7 are similar to plots 1 & 2 with black timber cladding, clay tiled roof, black coated
aluminium/timber composite windows and doors.

2.92 It should also be noted that the Agent has confirmed that meetings have been held with local residents
and the parish council whereby concerns were taken into account and amendments made resulting in this
submitted scheme.  The applicant submitted a detailed Design and Access statement which confirmed that
the number of dwellings have been reduced from eight to seven, with the layout amended to better suit the
existing neighbouring properties and also the inclusion of additional tree and hedge planting to create a
substantial buffer.

2.93 In light of the above, the proposal is considered to meet the environmental role of sustainable
development, paragraphs 8 and 11 of the NPPF (2019) and is considered to have due regard to Policy
DC16.

3.0 Amenity impact

3.1 Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2 The site layout plan submitted indicates that all the proposed dwellings could be developed without
having any significant impact on the level of amenity currently enjoyed by the adjoining occupiers, particularly
in terms of overlooking, loss of light and over-dominance. This is largely due to the large separation
distances between the properties and existing and proposed landscaping elements.  The proposal also
provides generous amenity space to all dwellings, along with sufficient parking facilities.

3.3 The proposal is therefore considered to comply with policy DC1 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

4.0 Highway safety

4.1 Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient Parking for all new development. The Highway Authority was
consulted and advised that the internal road will remain private and will not be considered for adoption. They
confirmed that their response relates to the revised drawing 1613-004-Rev B . Conditions have been
specified if permission is to be granted.

4.2 On that basis, no objection is raised in respect of highway safety subject to conditions.

5.0 Impact on the North Lopham Conservation Area

5.1 Any decisions relating to conservation areas must address the statutory considerations of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in particular section 72, as well as satisfying the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 191



relevant policies within the National Planning Policy Framework and the development plan.  National
guidance within the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation.  Core
Strategy Policy DC17 seeks to ensure that new development preserves and enhances the character,
appearance and setting of conservation areas and listed buildings.'

5.2 The North Lopham Conservation Area includes the historic core of the village and is characterised by a
loose pattern of development, with narrow streets lined by a mix of traditional brick cottages and larger
houses, creating an open/spacious character.

5.3 The plot is adjacent to the public highway and important streetscene views.  The proposal is considered
to have been developed sensitively, having regard to the character and appearance of the Conservation
Area.  The Council's Historic Buildings Officer was consulted and raised no objection on this basis, but
advised that the specific specification for external facing materials will need to be provided either as part of
this application or through conditions.

5.4 Accordingly, it is considered that the scheme would preserve the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area and that the proposal is acceptable in these terms having regard to the requirements of
the s72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

6.0 Impact on Trees

6.1 Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

6.2 The Council's Tree and Countryside consultant was consulted on the application and the supporting Tree
Survey.  They advised that if planning permission is granted, operations on site should take place in
complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP)
and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) provided by Haydens dated 9th August 2018. Subject to
conditions.

6.3 In light of the above, the proposal is considered to have due regard to Policy DC12.

7.0 Impact on Ecology

7.1 Both Core Strategy Policy CP10 and the NPPF (2019) require that development should contribute to a
net gain in biodiversity with an emphasis on improving ecological networks and linkages where possible.
The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and policies CP6, CP8, CP10 and CP11 all promote the
conservation and enhancement of biodiversity through sustainable development.

7.2 The Natural Environment Team have been consulted and advised that the application is supported by a
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) report (Denny Ecology; July 2018).
The report highlights that the pond 150m north of the site was not accessible to survey directly. There is good
connectivity between the pond to the north and the site and suitable terrestrial habitat available on the site.
As such, precautionary methods of working need to be implemented on the site as outlined in a Biodiversity
Method Statement condition to reduce the likelihood of impacts on this species. The recommendations in the
PEA report need to be implemented to reduce the likelihood of impacts on ecological receptors and provide
net gains for nature (paragraph 170, NPPF). There is potential for nesting birds to be present on the site. The
report states that 'it is understood that all existing hedgerows and trees will be retained in the new
development.' If any vegetation clearance is required then the vegetation clearance needs to be subject to a

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 192



timing constraint to avoid the bird nesting season and this can be controlled by condition.

7.3 As a result, the proposal complies with Policies CP6, CP8, CP10 and CP11 and the NPPF (2019),
subject to conditions.

8.0 Flood risk and Drainage.

8.1 The Environment Agency have been consulted and advised that the site is within Flood risk zone 1 (low
risk) of the Environment agencies flood map.A flood risk and drainage strategy has been submitted by the
applicant which concludes that the risk of flooding from rivers, seas and surface water is very low subject to
suitable design and maintenance of the drainage systems. Infiltration tests have been conducted and
confirmed that the surface water disposal via infiltration will be viable. Permeable pavements to have
approximately 170m3 storage volume for all storm events up to and including 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate
change. For extreme events, surface water runoff will be conveyed away from the buildings by careful design
of paving and landscape levels.

8.2 The proposal therefore has the ability to comply with the guidelines detailed in Paragraph 163 of the
NPPF (2019) and Policy DC13.

9.0 Other material considerations

9.1 Appeal on Adjacent Land - Ref: APP/F2605/W/18/3208697, Planning Ref: 3PL/2018/0456/O

9.1 An Appeal was allowed on 15th March 2019 on land at Meadow Lane for one dwelling on a small plot
adjoining this site where the reasons for refusal included the impact upon and loss of green open space. The
Planning Inspectorate concluded that  the proposal would not have an unduly harmful effect on the character
and appearance of the surrounding area. Therefore, the proposal would accord with Policies CP11, DC1 and
DC16 of the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies (December 2009) (CS).
Furthermore, the appeal site is a suitable location for a dwelling given the accessibility of the existing
services and facilities in North Lopham.

9.2 This appeal decision is a material consideration for this application specifically in regard to the location
and it is considered that the scheme for 7no. dwellings carries a materially different level of benefits in terms
of contribution to the housing supply and support to nearby villages and their services and facilities which
outweighs the harm that the proposals could accrue.

10.0 Affordable Housing

10.1 The requirements of Policy DC4 are that when the threshold is met 40% Affordable Housing is expected
as a contribution.The current threshold set out in the NPPF (2019) is 0.5ha or 10 dwellings.

The Case Officer would now request  25% . This reduced requirement would be in accordance with emerging
Policy HOU 7. Whilst this emerging Policy is not yet adopted, it has been through Examination in Public, and
the 25% requirement has not been amended as part of the current Main Modifications consultation. Whilst
the Council contends that the emerging Policies have limited weight at this stage, this particular requirement
has been underpinned by Council's Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment, 2017. Furthermore, it is
consistent with the NPPF 2019 and has no unresolved objections where paragraph 49 of the NPPF 2019
advised that weight should be given to the emerging policy.

10.2 In this case the applicant has put forward a case for no affordable housing. The case is set out in their

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 193



 

 

Design and Access and Planning Statement a Viability report has been submitted and independently
reviewed by the District Valuer who agreed that the scheme cannot provide units on site but indicated a
financial contribution could be made.

10.3 The Adopted Local Plan (Adopted December 2009) is still the relevant Local Plan for determining
planning applications and whilst policies directing the supply of and controlling residential development have
their weight limited by the lack of a five year housing land supply it is considered that policies relating to
contributions are still at full weight.

10.4 The emerging plan is not yet at a stage where its policies have superseded the existing local plan.

10.5 Policy DC4 which requires 40% affordable housing states that the requirement can only be reduced
where:

".....it is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Council that existing physical constraints on the site, in
addition to the 40% requirement, will result in extraordinary costs which the development could not be
reasonably expected to bear"

10.6 An Independent Viability Appraisal has been carried out which was challenged by the developer and
fully assessed by the District Valuer who have concluded that the scheme is not viable if providing affordable
units, however, a small contribution of £10,000 has been negotiated and on this basis is felt to be acceptable.

11.0 Conclusion

11.1 In terms of the overall planning balance of the scheme, it is considered that the proposal achieves all
the objectives of sustainable development as defined within paragraph 8 of the NPPF (2019). All objections
from residents have been carefully considered when assessing the planning balance and it is considered that
any impacts are negligible and that the benefits of the development outweigh any harm as perceived by
objectors. The development would provide a modest amount of housing contributing to the housing stock at a
time when the council are unable to provide a 5-year housing supply and therefore the presumption in favour
of sustainable development applies.

11.2 An Independent Viability Appraisal has been carried out  which was challenged by the developer and
fully assessed by the District Valuer who concluded that the scheme is not viable if providing affordable units,
however, a small contribution of £10,000. Taking into account the District Valuers conclusions, this
negotiated position is felt to be acceptable in this instance.

11.3 In light of the above, this application is now recommended for approval, subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning permission subject to conditions and signing of section 106 agreement for a financial
contribution of £10,000 towards affordable housing. It is recommended that the S106 Legal Agreement has a
'Claw back' mechanism for reviewing final sales figures for the development.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 194



with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be widened to 4.8 metres for the first 10 metres as measured from the nearside carriageway
edge. The access shall be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority and, where it lies within the highway in accordance
with the highways specification TRAD 5 and thereafter retained at the position shown on the
approved plan. Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted
and disposal of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and to comply
with Policy CP 04 of the Core Strategy,
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted visibility splays measuring
2.4.metres x 59metres shall be provided to each side of the access where it meets the
highway.The splays shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction
exceeding 0.6 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF and to
comply with Policy CP 04 of the Core Strategy,
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/ manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety and to comply with Policy CP 04 of the Core
Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Ecology condition
The development shall be carried out in-line with the recommendations in the PEA report
(Denny Ecology; July 2018) and enhancement measures outlined in section 4 of the PEA
report (Denny Ecology; July 2018) need to be incorporated into the site's design including

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 195



but not limited to the creation of amphibian / reptile hibernacula.

Precautionary methods of working shall be adhered to as outlined in a Biodiversity Method
Statement condition.

The following working practices will be adhered to throughout all construction:
- No piles of loose sand or other granular materials into which amphibians or reptiles could
bury themselves should be left around the site. All such materials should be delivered in
bags and kept on pallets or hardstanding until required for use;
- Should any waste be generated from the development, this should be placed straight into
skips or rubble sacks, or immediately removed and not left lying around the site;
- No bonfires should be made or lit on site. Amphibians and/or reptiles often use piles of
timber as a place of refuge;
- All trenches should be left covered at night. They must be checked in the morning before
they are filled in.
- The development footprint and any working areas should be maintained in its current
condition by regular mowing to ground level at weekly intervals until construction
commences.

In addition if any protected species are identified at any stage during the development, work
shall immediately cease and a suitably qualified ecologist contacted for further advice.

Reason for condition:-
For the protection of ecology and protected species, in accordance with Policy CP10 of the
adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009) and the NPPF (2018).

Note:
The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended
(section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while the
nest is in use or being built. Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence
against prosecution under this act. Trees and scrub are likely to contain nesting birds
between 1st March and 31st August inclusive. Trees and scrub are present on the
application site and are to be assumed to contain nesting birds between the above dates,
unless a recent survey has been undertaken by a competent ecologist to assess the nesting
bird activity on site during this period and has shown it is absolutely certain that nesting birds
are not present.

8 External materials and samples to be approved
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level details and samples of all external
materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, and this condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to these matters
which have been given in the current application.  Only such agreed materials shall be used
in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 196



9 Trees
Operations on site shall take place in complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural
Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement
(AMS) provided by Haydens dated 9th August 2018. No other operations shall commence
on site in connection with the development until the tree protection works and any pre-
emptive tree works required by the approved AIA or AMS have been carried out and all tree
protection barriers are in place as indicated on the TPP. Works shall not commence until
written confirmation has been obtained from the appointed arboriculturalist to confirm that
fencing is in place as specified. The protective fencing shall be retained in a good and
effective condition for the duration of the construction of the development and shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all site works have been completed and
all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed from site, unless the prior written
approval of the local planning authority has been sought and obtained.
Reason for condition:-
To preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and in the interests of
the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 12 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

10 Indicated landscaping to be implemented
The landscaping shown on the plan accompanying the application shall be carried out during
the first planting season October/March immediately following the commencement of works
on site. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion of the
landscaping die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced
during the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policy
DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.

11 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

13 Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service - condition

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 197



 

Prior to commencement of development a scheme for the provision for making provisions for
a Fire Hydrant shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling on site the Fire Hydrant shall be installed and
shall thereafter be so retained.
Reason for Condition:-
Condition is needed to ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site for the
local fire service to tackle any property fire.

Note: With reference to the condition, the developer will be expected to meet the costs of
supplying and installing the fire hydrant.

14 Inf 2-Public Highway
This development involves works within the public highway that can only be carried out by
Norfolk County Council as Highway Authority unless otherwise agreed in writing. It is an
OFFENCE to carry out any works within the Public Highway, which includes a Public Right
of Way, without the permission of the Highway Authority. Please note that it is the
Applicants' responsibility to ensure that, in addition to planning permission, any necessary
consents or approvals under the Highways Act 1980 and the New Roads and Street Works
Act 1991 are also obtained from the County Council. Advice on this matter can be obtained
from the County Council's Highway Development Management Group.
Please contact Kay Gordon 01362 656211.
If required, street furniture will need to be repositioned at the Applicants own expense.
Public Utility apparatus may be affected by this proposal. Contact the appropriate utility
service to reach agreement on any necessary alterations, which have to be carried out at the
expense of the developer. Please be aware it is the applicants responsibility to clarify the
boundary with the public highway. Private structures such as fences or walls will not be
permitted on highway land. The highway boundary may not match the applicants title plan.
Please contact the highway research team at highway.boundaries@norfolk.gov.uk for further
details.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 198



Item. 9(i)  

Location:  Land at Meadow Lane, North Lopham:  

Proposal: Erection of 7 dwellings and associated access and landscaping 

REFERENCE:  3PL/2018/1118/F  

Applicant: Silverley Properties Ltd 

Author: Mark Simmonds 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

Housing Enabling Officer 

No objection following District Valuer review. 

ASSESSMENT 

Through a District Valuer Review, it has been agreed that the maximum affordable housing 

contribution is £10,000 which allows 17.5% developers profit. The maximum viability review/ 

clawback figure has also been agreed. The applicant has agreed to this. 

CONDITIONS 

Condition 11:  Following correspondence with the Agent it is proposed to amend this condition to:  

‘Prior to occupation of any phase of residential development (unless otherwise approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority) details of the number and location of fire hydrant provision for the 

approved development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

The approved details shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved plans and prior to 

first occupation of any dwelling.’ 

RECOMMENDATION  

The Recommendation remains the same as the main report - Approval with S106 Legal Agreement 

with affordable housing monies contribution and viability review clause together with conditions as 

set out and amended condition 11. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

199



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0608/VAR CASE OFFICER Fiona Hunter

LOCATION: NORTH LOPHAM APPNTYPE: Variation of Cond's
Church Farm Church Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
North Lopham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: Adjacent

APPLICANT: J D Alston (estates)
Uphall Garboldisham

LB GRADE: Adjacent Grade 2

AGENT: Peter Codling Architects
7 The Old Church St Matthews Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Variation of Condition 2 & 8 on 3PL/2017/0948/O (demolition of existing agricultural buildings.
Erection of 15 new dwellings) - to allow for demolition to enable contamination reports to be
carried out

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is a variation of a major planning application.

KEY ISSUES

Whether the variations are acceptable.

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Variation of Conditions 2 & 8 of planning permission reference 3PL/2017/0948/O for "Demolition of existing
agricultural buildings. Erection of 15 new dwellings, re-positioned access to site with footway link to village
hall".

The application seeks to amend conditions 2 (reserved matters application) and and 8 (contamination
investigation) to enable demolition prior to satisfying the requirements of these conditions, together with
remedying the demolition of a grain store in breach of condition.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is occupied by a agricultural grain stores and extends to 0.63ha. The site is accessed from Church
Lane to the west of the site.

The grain store is a steel frame buildings with brickwork base and corrugated cement fibre walls and roof.
The land around the barn primarily constitutes hardstanding with some areas of mown lawn.

There was a another grain store on site (the western most store) which has been demolished since planning
permission 3PL/2017/0948/O was granted.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 200

Agenda Item 9j



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The site is located at the southern edge of the rural village of North Lopham, adjacent to the settlement
boundary. The site is also adjacent to the village Conservation Area which follows the sites northern and
eastern boundaries.

To the north of the site is two storey residential properties and Grade II Listed Church Farm House. A further
residential property, single storey Church Farm Stables runs immediately parallel to the north-east of the site.
Beyon these properties is Grade I Listed Saint Nicholas Church. To the east is residential garden and
agricultural land. To south is agricultural land with the village hall beyond. To the east of Church Road with
agricultural land beyond.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2017/0948/O Permission 15-04-19
Demolition of existing agricultural buildings. Erection of 15 new dwellings, re-positioned access to site with
footway link to village hall

3PL/2019/0554/F
demolition of existing agricultural buildings (part retrospective)

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.09 Pollution and Waste
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

The application is a variation to Outline Planning Permission reference: 3PL/2017/0948/O, which has an
associated S106 legal agreement dated 28th March 2019. This legal agreement is worded to enable the
Council to make it enforceable against Section 73 variation applications such as this one.

CONSULTATIONS

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
Norfolk County Council does not wish to restrict the grant of permission.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 201



 

 

 

 

CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objections or further comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the development
proceeds in line with the application details.

The scope of ground investigation submitted by Howlands has been agreed.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
No objection.

NORTH LOPHAM P C No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

A site notice was erected on 11th June 2019. Immediate neighbours were consulted on the 10th June 2019.
1 local representation was receiving raising that no further demolition should be allowed until appropriate
reports and investigations have taken place and there is reassurance and confirmation that the landowner
has complied with the planning regulations and necessary legislation. This is due to concern about land
contamination and the proper removal of asbestos.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Mechanism to Vary the Consent

1.1 The Council are able to grant retrospective variation of conditions via the Section 73a of the Town and
County Planning Act, 1990 where the consent has not lapsed.

1.2 Some of the conditions sought to be varied are condition precedents, i.e. a pre-commencement condition
precisely worded which goes to the heart of the consent. However, various case law has established that this
does not cause a consent to lapse in either of the following two circumstances:

a. That the condition precedents are approved or varied prior to when the consent would have otherwise
lapsed. The permission does not lapse until 15th April 2021, on this basis, the Council are able to accept,
consider and grant retrospective permission if the details are considered acceptable.

b. Where it would be unreasonable (in the Wednesbury sense) to enforce against the entire development.
Enforcing against this recently granted development because a building with no heritage value has been
demolished not in accordance with pre-commencement condition is unlikely to be considered reasonable and
not in the public interest (in this case not a good use of public monies). The development therefore also
meets this test, resulting in an extant planning permission.

1.3 The above has been established by case law, of which the following two are of particular relevance:
-  FG Whitley & Sons v SoS for Wales, 1992 by the Court of Appeal
-  Hart Aggregates Lt vs. Hartlepool BC, 2005 by the High Court

2.0 Whether the changes are acceptable

2.1 The Council's Contaminated Land Officer has not objected to the application, and it is understood that
contamination testing is needed where the buildings stood/ stand. On this basis, it is reasonable and no harm

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 202



 

 

caused by allowing these stores to be demolished before conditions are discharged.

2.2 Concern has been raised in respect of demolitions, of which, one building is yet to be demolished. There
is non-planning law which governs asbestos removal and disposal of waste and replicating these
requirements would not meet the NPPF condition tests of being necessary. If the asbestos is not properly
removed, this should be reported to and investigated by the HSE. However, some information in respect to
how the remaining store will be demolished has been provided as part of application 3PL/2019/0554/F. Given
the concern raised by a local residents and previously by the Parish Council outside of this condition, it is
considered reasonable to require the remaining store to be demolished in accordance with these details via a
new condition.

2.3 A number of other conditions have been updated to enable the grain stores to be demolished before the
conditions are discharged. This is considered acceptable given that the demolition of the remaining grain
store will be controlled via the new condition.

RECOMMENDATION

Approval subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Early delivery of Housing Time limit
Valid Application for all Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the
expiration of TWO YEARS beginning with 15th April 2019, and the development must be
begun within ONE YEAR of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.

Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development hereby permitted, other than the demolition of the grain stores, shall take
place until the plans and descriptions giving details of the reserved matters referred to above
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and these plans and
descriptions shall provide details of the appearance, scale, layout and landscaping of the
development.

Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development hereby permitted must be carried out in strict accordance with the
application form, and approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of
this notice.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Church Farm Stables Amenity Scheme

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 203



A scheme for the protection of Church Farm Stables amenity shall be submitted with the first
reserved matters application and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved scheme shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the
development.

Reason for condition:-
To protect the residential amenity of neighbouring Church Farm Stables in respect of
overlooking, overshadowing and prevention of creating a sense of enclosure, in accordance
with Policy DC 1 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

5 Access Condition
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be provided and thereafter retained at the position shown on the approved plan drawing
number 01 rev G in accordance with the highway specification Dwg. No. TRAD 5 attached.
Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of
separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.

Reason:-
To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous material or
surface water from or onto the highway, in accordance with Policy CP 4 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

6 External materials to be approved
Prior to the commencement of any development hereby permitted above slab level details of
the external materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.  Only such agreed materials shall be used in connection with this approval.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Trees/hedges to be retained
The existing trees and hedges on the site shall be retained unless agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority.  Should any approved trees or hedges die or be removed without
the written consent of the Local Planning Authority, they shall be replaced during the next
planting season with a tree(s) or hedging of a species, size and in the same location to the
satisfaction and written agreement of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy
DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.

8 Contaminated Land - Desk Study/Site
Investigation
The following details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted other than the
demolition of the grain stores:

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 204



A. Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include: (i) a survey of the extent, scale
and nature of contamination; (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of remedial options,
and proposal of the preferred option(s).

B. Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.

C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the
commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of
commencement of the remediation scheme works.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, and prior
to occupation of the development, a verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation
report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency s
Model
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11 .

Reason for condition:-
Details required at an early stage to ensure that risks from land contamination to the future
users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with the requirements of Policy CP 9 of the Adopted
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

Informative: Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process. During the
course of the risk assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear
that no further work is necessary to address land contamination risks. Where this is the case
the condition may  be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being
completed. In all cases written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 205



that the requirements of the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified development must cease and it must be
reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Before development
continues, an investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with
details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where remediation is
necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.  The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in full, and a
verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to occupation of the development.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

This condition is imposed in accordance with CP 9 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

10 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any development hereby permitted above slab level precise
details of the means of foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The approved foul water disposal scheme shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details  and made available prior to occupation.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.  This condition is
imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Precise details of surface water disposal
Any reserved matters application shall be accompanied by a detailed drainage scheme and
calculations. The approved drainage scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the
scheme as approved and made available prior to occupation, unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development. This condition is
imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Non-standard highways condition

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 206



No development hereby permitted shall commence on the site, other than demolition of the
grain stores, until such time as detailed plans of the roads, footways, foul and surface water
drainage have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in
consultation with the Highway Authority. All development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved plans.

Reason for condition:-
Details required prior to commencement to ensure satisfactory development of the site and a
satisfactory standard of highway design and construction, in accordance with Policy CP 4 of
the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

13 Non-standard highways condition
No development hereby permitted shall be carried out on roads, footways, foul and surface
water sewers otherwise than in accordance with the specifications of the Local Planning
Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure satisfactory development of the site and to ensure estate roads are constructed to
a standard suitable for adoption as public highway, in accordance with Policy CP 4 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

14 Non-standard highways condition
Before any dwelling is first occupied the road(s) and footway(s) shall be constructed to
binder course surfacing level from the dwelling to the adjoining County road in accordance
with the details to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with
the Highway Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure satisfactory development of the site, in accordance with Policy CP 4 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.

15 Non-standard highways condition
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted visibility splays measuring
2.4m x 59m and 2.4m x 120m shall be provided to the north and south of the access
respectively where it meets the highway and such splays shall thereafter be maintained at all
times free from any obstruction exceeding 0.225metres above the level of the adjacent
highway carriageway.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CP 4 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

16 Non-standard highways condition
Prior to the commencement of any development hereby permitted on site, other than
demolition of the grain stores, a Construction Traffic Management Plan, to incorporate
details of parking for construction workers, access arrangements for delivery vehicles and
temporary wheel washing facilities for the duration of the construction period shall be
submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority in consultation with

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 207



Norfolk County Council Highway Authority.

For the duration of the construction period all traffic associated with the construction of the
development shall comply with the Construction Traffic Management Plan and unless
otherwise approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the
Highway Authority.

Reason for condition:-
Details required prior to commencement in the interests of maintaining highway efficiency
and safety, in accordance with Policy DC 1 and CP 4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

17 Off-site Highways Works
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings no development hereby
permitted shall commence on site, other than demolition of the grain stores, until a detailed
scheme for the off-site highway improvement works as indicated on drawing numbers 5737-
01 Rev G & 5737-11 (to include footway improvements in the vicinity of the site, a new
public footway from the site to the village hall and carriageway widening on Church Road)
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in
consultation with the Highway Authority.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the approved off-site
highway improvement works shall be completed to the written satisfaction of the Local
Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority.

Reason for condition:-
Details required prior to commencement to ensure that the highway improvement works are
designed to an appropriate standard in the interest of highway safety and to protect the
environment of the local highway corridor, in accordance with Policy CP 4 of the Adopted
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

18 Non-standard highways condition
No development hereby permitted shall commence, other than demolition of the grain
stores, on the site until the Traffic Regulation Order for the extension of the 30mph speed
limit on Church Road has been promoted by the Highway Authority.

Reason for condition:-
Details required at an early stage in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with
Policy CP 4 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.

19 Non-standard condition
Demolition of the grain store shall take place in accordance with the approved details of full
planning permission reference 3PL/2019/0554/F.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of site safety, human health and prevention of contamination on site and in
accordance with Policy CP 9 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

21 Highways INF3

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 208



 

Street lighting is a concurrent power of the County, District and Parish Councils. However, it
is the County Council after consultation with the Local Lighting Authority (District or Parish
Council) who decides whether street lighting is required on proposed public highways.
Norfolk County Council will challenge any automatic assumption that street lighting needs to
be provided on part or all of the new development.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 209



Item. 9(j)  

Location:  Church Farm, Church Road, North Lopham 

Proposal: Variation of Condition 2 & 8 on 3PL/2017/0948/O (demolition of existing agricultural 

buildings. Erection of 15 new dwellings) - to allow for demolition to enable contamination reports to 

be carried out 

REFERENCE: 3PL/2019/0608/VAR 

Applicant: J D Alston (estates) 

Author: Fiona Hunter 

CONDITIONS 

Application ref: 3PL/2019/0554/F for the same site seeking permission for the demolition of the 

building includes a recommended condition for a demolition method statement. Given this application 

also seeks permission for demolition, it is recommended this conditions is applied to this decision if 

approved also.  

Prior to commencement of development including demolition of the eastern storage building, a 

demolition method statement and asbestos removal plan will be submitted to and agreed in writing 

with the Local Planning Authority. The development will take place in full accordance with the 

approved details. 

Reason for condition:-To ensure a safe demolition which minimises disturbance to residential 

neighbours in accordance with Policies DC 1 and CP 9 of the Breckland Core Strategy 2009. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

210



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2017/1608/D CASE OFFICER Rebecca Collins

LOCATION: QUIDENHAM APPNTYPE: Reserved Matters
Land at Station Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Quidenham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: DE & BPA Tye
Grape Farm Ovington

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: DFAL (david futter associates
Arkitech House 35 Whiffler Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Residential development - 24 dwellings

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is, as defined by the scheme of delegation, a major planning application and is therefore
referred to Planning Committee for this reason and the site lies outside a designated settlement boundary.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of development
Landscape, character and appearance of the area
Design and layout
Access and highway impact
Impact on amenity
Other Matters - Ecology, contamination, Affordable Housing, Planning Obligations

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

This proposal is a reserved matters application, considering all matters for 24 dwellings at Station Road,
Quidenham.

The principle of a residential development at the site has been agreed under outline application
3PL/2013/1123/D.  This application seeks reserved matters approval for 24 dwellings within the existing site
(10 affordable units/14 market).  This would include a mix of 1-4 bedroom units (detached, semi-detached,
terrace).

Seven accesses would be created onto Station Road (3 serving multiple units).  The buildings would be
finished in brick, pantile roof and timber cladding.  An area of communal open space would be provided to
the front of the site.  The scheme would include a mix of two storey and single storey dwellings.  Each
dwelling would be served by its own area of private amenity space.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 211

Agenda Item 9k



 

 

 

 

 

SITE AND LOCATION

The site consists of an agricultural field outside of the settlement boundary of Eccles (1.1 hectares). The plot
is located within existing row of residential development with properties to the north and to the south
dwellings running perpendicular along Wilby Road.  A roadside hedgerow exists to the front with a tree line
along the rear site boundary.  To the east and west of the site are open swathes of arable farmland.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2013/1123/O - Outline (24 dwellings). Approved - 29.01.2015.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.05 Developer Obligations
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.14 Energy Efficiency
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.18 Community facilities, recreation and leisure
DC.19 Parking Provision
LBC Planning(Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Affordable housing, open space, education and libraries were secured via a section 106 agreement on the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 212



 

 

outline planning permission (S106 dated 27.01.2015).

CONSULTATIONS

QUIDENHAM PARISH COUNCIL CLERK
Quidenham Parish Council supports this application for the reasons given in the previous application
3PL/2013/1123/O.

- A number of the smaller properties seem to be concentrated towards the southern end of the site. The
residents adjoining this site are concerned at the very close proximity of these dwellings.
- The Open Public Space has been planned for the rear of this site towards the fields and away from the
road. Would it not improve the overall look of the development if this open area were adjacent to Station
Road with the houses towards the rear?
- Alternatively, the Open Public Space could be situated adjacent to the
existing dwellings to the south of the site thereby lessening the impact of the proposed development on those
dwellings.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
The site is located above a Principal Aquifer. The developer should address risks to controlled waters from
contamination at the site.  The site is located in an area which is not served by the public foul sewer.
Accordingly, the proposal will need to be served by a non-mains drainage system.  In addition to planning
permission the applicant may also require an Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency.
NORFOLK RIVERS INTERNAL DRAINAGE BOARD
Please be aware that this site is not within our jurisdiction but is close to the boundary of the East Harling
Internal Drainage Board.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE
10/06/2019
No further phases of archaeological mitigation are required at Station Road, Quidenham (3PL/2017/1608/D)
as the findings of the trial trenching were minimal.

We note that the planning application is still undecided. Therefore we would like to withdraw our previous
recommendation asking for an archaeological mitigation condition (see email of 26th January 2018) as the
terms of our recommended condition have now been fulfilled.

26/01/2018
There is potential that heritage assets with archaeological interest (buried archaeological remains) will be
present at the site and that their significance will be adversely affected by the proposed development. If
planning permission is granted, we therefore ask that this be subject to a programme of archaeological
mitigatory work.
NATURAL ENGLAND
No comments to make on the application.
CRIME REDUCTION & ARCHITECTURAL LIAISON OFFICER
Observations on the proposed layout re: Design out crime:-
- Plot 8 could be rotated 180 degrees to face the road.
- Footpaths serving 13, 14, 17, 18 & 19 provide easy access to rear garden areas.
- Request the proposed parking locations which support plots 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, & 22 to be

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 213



reconsidered to incorporate security and surveillance measures.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
Earlier comments: Number of alterations sought to proposed layout. The public open space must be capable
of being served via an adopted road /footpath. The public will have no right of access via shared private
drives.

Revised Submission comments: No objection subject to conditions.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Officers have screened this application and it falls below our current threshold for providing detailed
comment. This is because the proposal is for less than 100 dwellings or 2 ha in size and is not within a
surface water flow path as defined by Environment Agency mapping. If you are aware of a particular surface
water flooding issue at this location which requires further bespoke advice, please re-consult detailing the
perceived nature of flooding or details of flooding that has occurred.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Landscaping proposals are acceptable. No details of tree size at planting have been provided. I would
suggest that trees should be standards with a minimum girth of 10-12cm.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
There are no details of the split between rent and shared ownership, which should be provided in line with
the previously agreed S106. The affordable housing mix is acceptable in terms of unit type. However from
the information supplied I was unable to identify which units will form the affordable housing, nor whether
they will comply within the space standard required. The affordable housing should be integrated into
residential layouts to provide a distribution of affordable housing within the development site that will enhance
community cohesion.
LOCALITY OFFICER S HITCHMAN
Applicants should make their own title enquiries and contact Facilities Management if there are any
Restrictive Covenants in favour of Council, which they need to request to alter in view of this planned
development. If the applicants are to request the Council to consider whether or not they wish to be the
nominated body for the Public Open Space they should make contact with Facilities Management to discuss.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Anglian Ecology; April 2019) and Report on eDNA testing of two ponds
in relation to proposed residential development on Land East of Station Road, Quidenham, Norfolk (Anglian
Ecology; May 2019) are fit for purpose. eDNA survey results confirm the absence of breeding great crested
newts in Pond 1 and Pond. Pond 3 had a poor suitability to sustain a breeding population of great crested
newts and was still not holding water and therefore excluded from further survey. No further surveys are
required.  No objection subject to conditions with regards to development needs to proceed in-line with the
further actions/ survey requirements outlined in table 3, section 7.3 (excluding further eDNA surveys) of the
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal; Enhancement measures outlined in section 8 of the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal (Anglian Ecology; April 2019) need to be incorporated into the sites design; and Assessment of
trees for bat roost potential.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
I have looked at the application submitted and, based on the information provided to me at this time; there
are no objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the development
proceeds in line with the application details.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection, unexpected land contamination condition suggested.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 214



 

 

 

 

AIR QUALITY OFFICER
Based on the information submitted it would appear that no Air Quality objectives set out in LAQM TG(16)
are likely to be breached. There are no objections on grounds of Local Air Quality Management.

AIR QUALITY OFFICER No Comments Received
ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING No Comments Received
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES OFFICER No Comments Received
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE No Comments Received
PRINCIPAL PLANNER MINERAL & WASTE POLICY No Comments Received
NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST No Comments Received
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER No Comments Received
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY
COUNCIL

No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

The application was advertised in the local press, site notice displayed at the site and letters sent to
neighbouring residents. 1 representation was received, the comments can be summarised as follows;

- Plots 1, 2, 3, 7 and 24 are beyond the existing building line.
- Concern about overlooking of No.25 Station Road.
- The school has now closed and the train links are minimal.
- Concern about the suitability of the proposed parking.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Principle of Development

1.1 This reserved matters application follows the granting of outline consent for an 24 unit scheme. The
general principle with regards to the policy conflict and absence of a 5 year supply of housing land was
discussed in detail under that application It was considered that paragraph 11 of the NPPF was triggered and
that the development, having regard to all material planning considerations, was a sustainable form of
development. The principle has therefore been established at outline planning application stage.

1.2 This application amounts to agreeing the development details, in line with the findings/conditions of the
outline application and all other material matters including obligations under the executed Section 106
Agreement.  All reserved matters are to be agreed at this stage - access, appearance, landscaping, layout
and scale.  These are further discussed below:

2.0  Appearance and landscape impact

2.1 Policy 12 of the NPPF and DC16 of the Core Strategy seek to achieve a high quality design.  The site is
located within the countryside. Core Strategy Policy CP11 says, amongst other things, that the countryside
will be protected for its intrinsic beauty and rural character, and that the design of new development should
be sympathetic to landscape character.  As discussed the principle of 24 dwellings has been agreed and it is

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 215



incumbent of this agreement that the rural character of the site will alter.

2.2 The existing heavy screen, particularly along the rear boundary, will aid with integration.  The existing
development along Station and Willby Road will also help ensure the scheme would form part of an existing
frontage of development and would result in the infill of a gap in that development. The vegetation and
existing development will help to with the creation of a contained development.  Impact on character of the
countryside will therefore be relatively localised.  Further on-site landscaping and the area of amenity space
will further aid with assimilation into this setting.  Whilst inexorable change is noted, the scheme generally
accords with policy CP.11.

3.0 Housing Layout, Scale and Density

3.1 The scheme results in a density of 22dph which is as per policy DC.02 and generally as agreed at outline
stage.  The proposed layout is spacious with good levels of amenity space and accommodation of the
necessary access arrangements.  Generous areas of communal open space are also provided.  The design
provides a mix of styles; front properties follow form and layout of existing pattern of development.  The
materials palette and finishes is in keeping with the existing aesthetic of the area which is predominantly brick
finishes.  Quality materials, something that can be secured by condition, will ensure a development that
would assimilate relatively seamlessly into the existing housing stock of the area.  The Height, Massing and
Scale are in keeping with existing development.

3.2 Twenty four dwellings can be accommodated whilst providing suitable levels of private amenity space,
parking and the incumbent ancillary requirements such as adequate access and turning facilities.  The
detailed design of each dwelling, its associated outbuildings, and positioning within the site is acceptable.
The design and layout raises no significant issues and is general compliance with policy DC.02 and DC.16 of
the Core Strategy as well  as having regard to paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019)

4.0 Access and Highway Impact

4.1 Policy CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy requires new development to ensure safe access and policy
DC19 of the Breckland Core Strategy ensures appropriate on site car parking provision.

4.2 The principle of the development has been agreed.  Previously, County Highways Authority engineers
requested amendments to the originally submitted layout and an amended plan was submitted.  The
Highways Authority has provided further comment (09.07.2018).  This still highlights concerns with the
proposed layout/location of public amenity space.  The applicant has since submitted further information and
the Highways Authority are now satisfied and raise no objections, subject to the imposition of conditions,
which will be imposed.  The proposal is therefore considered in accordance with policy CP4 in terms of
impact on highway safety and sufficient car parking is proposed to meet the requirements of policy DC19 of
the Breckland Core Strategy.

5.0 Impact on Amenity

5.1 Policy DC1 of the Core Strategy seeks all new development to protect the amenity of the area,
neighbouring and future occupants.  The layout is relatively spacious and each property would be served by
a suitable level of private amenity space. This space would remain suitably private and there would be no
adverse impacts with regard to loss of daylight/sunlight, overbearing impact or overshadowing. Whilst some
properties (plot 1 & 8) have rear elevations in relatively closed proximity (circa 7.0m), they are set at an offset
angle and it is not considered there would be serious mutual overlooking.  Nearside windows do not serve
habitable rooms and would as such be obscure glazed.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 216



5.2 Concern has been raised about potential impacts ion the amenity of residents at No.25 Station Road,
adjacent to the southern boundary.  A number of residential properties are proposed for along the southern
boundary adjoining this property.  However, the dwellings on the southern boundary are flank on to the rear
gardens of Wilby Road (plot No.20 which is also single storey) or facing towards No.25 (terrace of 3 houses).
The separation distance to a flank boundary (approximately 7.0m) is adequate and rear elevations would
face the side boundary of the property's garden area.  This boundary is relatively well screened and the
screening could be retained, as could existing 1.8m close boarded fencing along the flank boundary.  The
proposed single house (Plot 24) would be off set from No.25 at a reasonable distance.  No other existing
residential properties would be materially affected by the proposal, the dwelling to the north of the site is
separated from new dwellings by an access lane-way.  The impact on amenity would not be excessive and
the scheme is in general accordance with DC.01.

6.0 Trees and Landscaping

7.1 The retention of trees and hedgerows is supported by Policy DC12 of the Core Strategy.  The
landscaping proposals are acceptable to the council's landscaping consultant. Tree retention and details can
be secured by condition. The proposal is in accordance with policy DC.12.

7.0 Other issues

7.1 Ecology
The county ecologist have stated that the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal submitted, tested two ponds in
relation to proposed residential development .  Survey results confirm the absence of breeding great crested
newts in Pond 1 and Pond 2.  Pond 3 had a 'poor' suitability to sustain a breeding population of great crested
newts and was still not holding water and therefore excluded from further survey.   They do not require
further surveys on this basis but would require conditions if the application was approved.  The proposal is
therefore considered in accordance with Policy 15 of the NPPF.

7.2 Designing out crime
Whilst Norfolk Constabulary has requested amendments to the layout in relation to the positioning of parking
and footpath access to the rear of some plots (13, 14, 17, 18 & 19).  However, when considered in totality the
layout is considered to achieve a relatively safe development adhering to secure by design principles and is
therefore recommended for approval without amendment.

7.3 Affordable Housing
In order to secure compliance with policy DC.04 the Housing Enabling Officer has requested that the
affordable housing is interspersed within the development site.  Amended plans have been received and the
housing officer has removed their concerns on this basis (CHECK).

7.4 Contamination
The proposed development does not raise any significant concerns in relation to potential contamination. A
condition agreeing unexpected contamination awareness is suggested.  The scheme is therefore considered
in accordance with policy DC.09, subject to this condition.

7.5 Archaeology
Previously, the Historic Environment Officer has suggested that there could be potential archaeological
deposits on the site.  Further trial trenching was required and the applicants have submitted the necessary
information in this regard.  The historic environment team have subsequently withdrawn their request for
further information and are satisfied the scheme accords with Policy 16 of the NPPF.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 217



 

 

8.0 Conclusion

8.1 In light of the above appraisal it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable and in
general accordance with details agreed at outline stage. It is therefore recommended that consent is granted
subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

Recommend approval subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Approval of Reserved Matters condition
This approval is granted following the grant of Outline Planning Permission No
3PL/2013/1123/O dated 29th January 2015.
Reason for condition:-
The time limit by which the development must be commenced is indicated on that
Permission.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials and samples to be approved
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level details and samples of all external
materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, and this condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to these matters
which have been given in the current application.  Only such agreed materials shall be used
in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1
and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 No P.D. rights for extensions, sheds, etc
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order)
(with or without modification) no extensions or ancillary buildings as defined within Classes A
and B of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of that Order shall be erected or brought onto the land unless
an appropriate planning application is first submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development and the amenity of neighbouring
properties, in accordance with Policy DC1 and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

5 Boundary screening to be agreed

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 218



Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, a scheme for the provision of
boundary screening, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.  Such
scheme as may be agreed shall be completed prior to the occupation of the development
which the screening adjoins.
Reason for condition:-
To safeguard the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and to ensure the
satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of
the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Indicated landscaping to be implemented
The landscaping shown on the plans accompanying the application shall be carried out
during the first planting season October/March immediately following the commencement of
works on site. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion
of the landscaping die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced during the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the
Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. All trees shall have a girth of
not less than 10-12cm.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development and to protect trees in
accordance with Policy DC11 and DC12 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

7 Hours of operation during construction
No demolition, site clearance or construction shall be carried out, no machinery operated nor
deliveries taken at or waste despatched from the site outside the hours of 07:30 - 18:00
Monday to Friday, 08:00 - 13:00 Saturday nor at any time on Sundays, Bank Holidays or
Public Holidays.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DC1 of the Adopted
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Control Document 2009.

8 Full details of external lighting
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted details of the external lighting to
the site shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and only lighting so
agreed shall be installed on the site.  Such lighting shall be kept to a minimum for the
purposes of security and site safety, and shall prevent upward and outward light radiation.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy DC1 of the Breckland Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 219



This condition will require to be discharged
10 No additional windows at first floor

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (Amendment)(No 2)(England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) (with or without modification) there shall be no additional window or
other opening (or enlargement or alteration of existing or permitted openings) constructed at
first floor level or above in any elevation of plots 1, 4, 8, 10, 11, 12, 17 and 23, of the
development hereby approved without the prior written permission of the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To help safeguard the privacy and amenity of the occupiers of the adjacent properties.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy DC1 of the Breckland Adopted Core
Strategy.

11 Obscure glazing
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved window openings indicated as
obscure glazed on the approved plans shall be obscure glazed to a specification of not less
than the equivalent of classification 5 of Pilkington Glass and shall be retained in situ in
accordance with the approved drawings unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To prevent overlooking and to protect the amenity and living conditions of adjacent
residential property, as required by policy DC1 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

12 Non standard environmental restriction
The development shall proceed in complete accordance with the following:
- The further actions/ survey requirements outlined in table 3, section 7.3 (excluding further
eDNA surveys) of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Anglian Ecology; April 2019).
- The enhancement measures outlined in section 8 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Anglian Ecology; April 2019).
Reason for condition:-
To mitigate against the possible effects to wildlife in accordance with Policy 15 of the NPPF
as well as having regard to Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy.

13 non standard condition
Prior to the commencement of any work on the site, all trees to be retained shall be
protected by the erection of Tree Protection Fencing which accords with the specification set
out in the attached documents. This fencing shall be retained throughout the period of the
development and at all times when works (as defined below) are being carried out on the
site. For the purposes of this condition "work" shall include the storage of plant, materials,
site huts or the use of any machinery either for preparatory site work or construction itself.
"Trees" shall refer to all trees both on and adjacent to the site. Protective fencing shall be
constructed and maintained in accordance with Practice Note: Construction and
Maintenance of Tree Protection Fencing (see enclosed tree pack attached to this
permission).
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the amenities of the area. This condition is imposed in accordance with
Policy DC12 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.

14 non standard condition

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 220



 

No works to trees including removal, pruning or crown reduction shall take place unless a
competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check of the potential for bat roosts
and provided written confirmation that no bat roosts will be harmed and/or that there are
appropriate measures in place to protect bat interest on site.  Any such written confirmation
should be submitted to the local planning authority.
Reason for condition:-
To mitigate against the possible effects to wildlife in accordance with Policy 15 of the NPPF.

15 Standard estate road conditions
No works shall commence on the site until such time as detailed plans of the roads,
footways, foul and surface water drainage have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. All construction
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason for condition:-
This needs to be a pre-commencement condition to ensure satisfactory development of the
site and a satisfactory standard of highway design and construction in accordance with
Policy CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

16 Standard estate road conditions
Prior to the construction/occupation of the final dwelling all works shall be carried out on
roads/footways/cycleways/street lighting/foul and surface water sewers in accordance with
the approved specification to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure satisfactory development of the site and to ensure estate roads are constructed to
a standard suitable for adoption as public highway in accordance with Policy CP4 of the
Breckland Core Strategy.

17 Non standard highway condition
Before any dwelling is first occupied the road(s) and footway(s) shall be constructed to
binder course surfacing level from the dwelling to the adjoining County road in accordance
with the details to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with
the Highway Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure satisfactory development of the site in accordance with Policy CP4 of the
Breckland Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 221



Item. 9(k)  
 
Location:  Land at Station Road, Quidenham 
 
Proposal: Residential development - 24 dwellings 
 
REFERENCE: 3PL/2017/1608/F 
 
Applicant: DE & BPA Tye 
 
Author: Rebecca Collins 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Highways Authority 
No objection to the proposal subject to the imposition of highway conditions. 
 
Housing Team 
I am happy to remove the sizing objection.  However, the affordable all seems to be in the far corner 
plots 15-22, not well-integrated, as required by policy.  We would hope for at least 2 clusters in 
different parts of the site.  On that basis I must sustain objection. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
The housing officers concerns are noted with regards to the positioning and clustering of the 
affordable homes.  However, given the scale of the site (24 dwellings with 40% affordable dwellings, 
currently 10 dwellings).  It is common for affordable housing management companies to want to 
cluster groups of dwellings together for management reasons.  In addition, the dwellings in design and 
materials, as proposed are indivisible from other properties on the site.  Given the scale of the 
development proposed in this instance the proposal is considered acceptable and remains 
recommended for approval. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
The application is recommended for approval subject to the addition of further highways conditions, 
as set out above.  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

222



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1533/O CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: ROCKLANDS APPNTYPE: Outline
Land South of The Street Rockland All
Saints

POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry

Rocklands ALLOCATION: N
CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Ms M Corcoran
c/o Agent

LB GRADE: Grade II

AGENT: Roberts Molloy Architects & Co
3 Church Lane Bressingham

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of one dwelling and garage with parking and turning and improved highway access.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Committee as the recommendation is contrary to policy and there has been
significant local objection.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Impact on the adjacent Listed Building
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Tree implications
Ecological implications

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks outline consent, with access only as a matter for consideration for the erection of 1
dwelling.  The existing access point is shown to be used and upgraded.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is full of established mature vegetation and trees and is well screened to the road frontage by
established trees and hedgerow. The application form states that the land is currently meadowland.

Within the site lies three protected trees T2, T3 and T4 of 2006 No.42 with a group protection order on the
land to the north-east, reference: 2006 No.44.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 223

Agenda Item 9l



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

ROCKLANDS P C
We understand that this particular application only seeks permission as regards the access issue and we will
detail our objection to this aspect, as well as mentioning the other valid reasons for not allowing any
development on this site. The access is sited almost in the midst of the greatest concentration of traffic in the
village, due to its proximity to the very popular Rocklands Primary School. This is a pinch point, with parking
at all times of the day (increasing greatly at the start and end of the school day) for staff at the School which
stretches for many yards both up and down The Street, passed the proposed access for this site. The
Applicant knows these problems very well. When she lived in the village and her daughter attended the
school, she was a fierce campaigner against too much traffic in this area and the constant problem of
speeding vehicles. There is no pavement in the area of the access gateway. The constant conflict between

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 224



children, other pedestrians and traffic is ever present with the likelihood of an accident very acute. Adding
any further residential traffic is very undesirable.

This area of woodland and grassland (which previously formed part of the garden of The Rookery, before it
was split off at sale) is at the centre of the village, surrounded by the 3 houses of historic interest in the
village - The Rookery, Yeomans Cottage and Allison's Farm and is an integral part of Rocklands and should
be preserved.

The environmental report is not sufficiently detailed and not been conducted over an extended period of time
to properly reflect the wide variety of wildlife that use, or move through this wooded haven - bats, water voles,
owls of different types, deer etc. Flooding is a constant problem for Rocklands and this area of trees and
grassland form a very effective area to soak up excess rainfall. Any more concrete to create a greater runoff
will only put more pressure on the ditches in Low Lane which is one of the lowest points in the village where
flood waters run, when the drains cannot cope with very heavy inundations.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Satisfied with the updated AIA and have no objection to the outline proposal on the basis that only the
category C trees highlighted in the report will be removed and that the dwelling is no closer to trees than
shown in the outline layout.  It will be necessary to provide site specific details for the no-dig driveway as part
of reserved matters.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
No objection on the basis that it is stated that the existing TPO'S and further landscape features will remain
as part of the proposal. However, the ongoing preservation of these features might be questionable in the
event that they impact on the amenity of the proposed dwellings. The potential loss of these features would
then alter the relationship between the proposed dwellings and the adjacent heritage assets. Accordingly, if
the application is recommended for approval, the future retention of the landscape features will need to be
addressed.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to condition.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
No objections . However as the means for foul water disposal is currently unknown request that should the
proposed development intend to use a shared system or a septic tank for the disposal of foul water, further
information should be submitted to ensure that sufficient capacity and any shared responsibility is
conditioned if necessary.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
Although the report has some failings including the report refers to out of date guidance (some of which I
have already noted), in addition to referring to out of date bats and lighting guidance, the ecologist has now
provided sufficient information to address our concerns. The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Eco-check;
May 2019) highlights T26 and T27 as having bat roost potential, however the updated Arboricultural
Implications Assessment (Green Leaf; January 2019) does not require the removal of these trees. If this
changes a further survey will be required as outlined in section 10 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Eco-check; May 2019).

If  the application is minded to be approved the following conditions are recommended:
 (i) The proposed development must proceed in-line with section 8 and section 10 of the Preliminary

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 225



 

 

 

 

Ecological Appraisal (Eco-check; May 2019). The plans must demonstrate that any lighting will be sensitive
to reduce potential impacts on bats.

(ii) Enhancement measures need to be incorporated into the site's design including at least one nest box and
at least one bat box in suitable locations on the site, any fencing needs to be wildlife-friendly, creation of
vegetated buffers along the site margins and a hibernacula. Enhancement measures must be clearly shown
on the site plans.
NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST
Agree with the Ecology Team's approach and happy for application to be conditioned as suggested.

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 19-12-2018
Initial consultations issued: 14-12-2018

37 representations received, raising the following objections:
- Loss of form and character
- Drainage issues/flooding
- Parking and highway safety implications given the proximity of the school
- Fire service access
- Loss of important amenity land
- Infill/garden development
- Wildlife and ecological implications
- Outside of Settlement Boundary location.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Background

1.1  The proposal was amended during the course of the application process to reduce the scheme from two
dwellings to one following concerns raised by the Planning Officer.  This was the subject of a re-consultation.

2.0  Principle

2.1  The application site is located outside of the Rocklands defined Settlement Boundary as designated by
the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009). For this
reason the proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC2 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document which seeks to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries.

2.2  Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 226



2.3  The Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document are not considered up-to-date and therefore the material
considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within paragraph 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

2.4  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide one new dwelling and would,
therefore, make a positive, albeit small, contribution to the housing supply.  The proposal would have limited
short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during construction and
longer-term economic benefits through the additional household spend within the wider area that would be
generated by the provision of three dwellings. However, given the small scale nature of the development,
these benefits are not considered to be a significant and definitive overriding matter in this instance.

2.5  The village of Rocklands is classified in Policy SS1 as a rural settlement which are villages that are
usually dependent on higher order settlements for access to services and facilities.  It is split into two
sections, one to the north is known as Rockland St Peter and one to the south is known as Rockland All
Saints, the services (a public house, a shop with post office, a primary school and village hall) are available
within the southern section.  All of these facilities are located within an easy walking/cylcing distance to the
site.

2.6  In terms of public transport, this is limited however the proximity to the existing services within the Village
does reduce the reliance somewhat on higher order settlements and is not considered to be a material
negative factor in this instance.

3.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

3.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

3.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

3.3  The application has been submitted in outline with only access as a matter for consideration at this stage
therefore the design of the dwelling will be considered at a later stage.  Notwithstanding that, an indicative
layout plan has been provided which indicates that a dwelling can be accommodated within the site whilst

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 227



retaining the spacious layout which is prevalent along this southern side of The Street whilst also retaining a
number of the natural features.  In light of these factors, it is considered that a suitable design can be
provided at reserved matters which, alongside an acceptable layout will have a minimal impact on the overall
character and appearance of the area having due regard to Policy DC16, the environmental role of
sustainable development and also paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

3.4  Comments made in respect of this land being "important amenity land" are noted however the land is not
designated as such as part of the adopted Local Plan and the site is effectively private garden land/orchard.

4.0  Impact on the adjacent Listed Building

4.1  Any decisions relating to listed buildings and their settings must address the statutory considerations of
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in particular section 66, as well as
satisfying the relevant policies within the National Planning Policy Framework and the development plan.
National policy states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation.  Core Strategy Policy
DC17 seeks to ensure that new development preserves and enhances the character, appearance and
setting of conservation areas and listed buildings.

4.2  The significance of the listed building (The Rookery) derives principally from its historic fabric and setting
within its own grounds set away from the road.

4.3 The application site is situated forward of The Rookery and given the listed building's well screened
location within its own grounds, the dwelling's location is not considered likely to adversely impact on this.  In
addition, it is intended to retain a significant amount of the natural features within the application site which
will also help to retain the soft and green character of the site.  Accordingly, it is considered that the scheme
will preserve the special interest/setting of the listed building and the proposal is acceptable in these terms
having regard to the requirements of section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act
1990.

4.4 The Historic Buildings Officer advised that there is no objection on the basis that it is stated that the
existing TPO'S and further landscape features will remain as part of the proposal.  Accordingly, if the
application is recommended for approval, the future retention of the landscape features will need to be
addressed.

4.5  A revised indicative layout plan was provided indicating the position of the dwelling which would ensure
the retention of the majority of these features with the exception of some category C trees.  However, only
access is a matter for consideration at this stage.

5.0  Amenity impact

5.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

5.2  As stated, the application has been submitted in outline only therefore the full amenity issues will be
addressed in depth at a later date.  Notwithstanding that, it is considered that the site is of a size which can
accommodate a dwelling without having significant amenity issues on existing neighbouring residents,
particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of light and over dominance.  In terms of increased noise and
disturbance, this is not considered to be a material, negative factor given the small scale of development

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 228



proposed.

6.0  Highway safety

6.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development. Paragraphs 108 and 109 of
the NPPF (2019) are also relevant.

6.2  Norfolk County Council as Highways Authority was consulted on the proposal, advice provided was that
the site is located in a village with sparse pedestrian provision where the only footway is a short length in
front of the school. Consequently the adjacent highway network has to cater for the shared use of pedestrian
and vehicular traffic.

6.3  The site is, however, within close proximity to the school and a short walk/cycle from the village shop
and pub.

6.4  The submitted details demonstrate that an acceptable level of visibility can be provided from the access.
It is noted that the applicant also owns the land on the corner of The Street and Low Lane.  Visibility to the
west of this junction is currently obscured by overhanging vegetation which is within the applicant's control.
Trimming back this vegetation to the line of a 2.4m x 43m splay line would enhance highway safety and
benefit all road users.

6.5  Since the application is submitted in Outline, with only access included for consideration, details of
parking and turning provision will need to form part of any subsequent Reserved Matters submission.

6.6  The concerns raised locally in respect of highway safety and the proximity to the school were noted,
however, the addition of one dwelling in this location is not considered likely to significantly impact on the
existing situation in this regard.  This coupled with the positive advice of the highway authority rendered it
difficult to determine that demonstrable harm would be caused in respect of highway safety.

7.0  Tree implications

7.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

7.2  The site contains three preserved trees and is adjacent to a site with a group preservation order on the
trees to the north-east.  Following consultation with the Tree and Countryside Officer and a reduction in the
scheme, from two to one dwelling, it is considered that a dwelling can be adequately accommodated within
the site without causing signficant harm on the preserved trees both initially and long-term.  An amended
Arboricltural Report and plan was submitted and the Tree and Countryside Officer advised is satisfied with
the updated AIA and have no objection to the outline proposal on the basis that only the category C trees
highlighted in the report will be removed and that the dwelling is no closer to trees than shown in the outline
layout.  It will be necessary to provide site specific details for the no-dig driveway as part of reserved matters.
In light of this, the proposal is considered to have due regard to Policy DC12.

8.0  Ecological implications

8.1  Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  There is an
expectation that development will incorporate biodiversity or geological features where opportunities exist.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 229



 

 

8.2  The application has been supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal as well as further information
in respect of water voles, following receipt of this detail the Ecology Team advised that although the report
has some failings including referring to out of date guidance, in addition to referring to out of date bats and
lighting guidance, the applicant's ecologist has now provided sufficient information to address initial
concerns.

8.3 The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Eco-check; May 2019) highlights T26 and T27 as having bat roost
potential, however the updated Arboricultural Implications Assessment (Green Leaf; January 2019) does not
require the removal of these trees. If this changes a further survey will be required as outlined in section 10 of
the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Eco-check; May 2019).  No objections are raised subject to conditions
requiring the development to proceed d in-line with section 8 and section 10 of the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal (Eco-check; May 2019). The plans submitted as part of the reserved matters must demonstrate
that any lighting will be sensitive to reduce potential impacts on bats and enhancement measures shall be
incorporated into the site's final design.  In light of these conditions, the application is considered to accord
with Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy.

8.4  Norfolk Wildlife Trust are also satisfied with the proposed Ecology approach..

9.0  Other issues

9.1  Drainage and flooding - concerns have been raised regarding the drainage within the site.  Whilst the
site does not fall within a Flood Zone 2 or 3, it was noted that the front of the site/access area is prone to low
risk surface water drainage issues.  This was relayed to the Agent who subsequently advised that they would
be happy for a drainage condition to be attached to any forthcoming approval in order to address this
concern.  An initial drainage statement was submitted  which demonstrates that a hierarchical approach to
SUDS will be taken and they are aware that infiltration methods are the preferred approach.  It is understood
that to determine this, an infiltration test will need to be carried out.  This will form part of a full drainage
strategy.  The layout of the dwelling, to be further agreed as part of a reserved matters submission, will need
to be positioned within the site to avoid areas identified as at risk of surface water drainage issues.

9.2  The Council's Environmental Health Team raised no objection to the scheme subject to a condition in
respect of foul water disposal.

10.0  Conclusion

10.1  In terms of the overall planning balance, the proposal is considered acceptable given the site's
proximity to the existing settlement boundary, the presence of dwellings either side and the limited character
and likely amenity impacts resulting from a dwelling in this location.   In addition, the tree implications and
ecological implications have been fully assessed and the additional dwelling will go toward the 5 year
housing land supply deficit.  The application is therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning permission subject to conditions:.

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years) Early Delivery
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 230



TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within TWO YEARS of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority in accordance with the highways specification TRAD 4 and thereafter
retained at the position shown on the approved plan. Arrangements shall be made for
surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposal of separately so that it does not
discharge from or onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety having regard to
Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy and NPPF (2019).
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan
Site access onto The Street

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted visibility splays measuring
2.4 metres x 43 metres shall be provided to each side of the access where it meets the
highway.The splays shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction
exceeding 0.6 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF (2019)
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan
Low Lane onto The Street

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 231



Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay measuring
2.4 metres x 43 metres shall be provided to the western side of the junction of Low Lane
with The Street.The splay shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any
obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF (2019).
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Drainage strategy - surface water
The reserved matters submission shall include a Drainage Strategy which details how
surface water drainage will be disposed of and development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
In order to ensure that the development does not increase surface water run-off/exacerbate
surface water flooding in the locality having regard to Policy DC13 of the Core Strategy and
NPPF (2019).

8 Ecology - Sections 8 and 10 of the PEA
The proposed development shall proceed in-line with section 8 and section 10 of the
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Eco-check; May 2019). The reserved matters submission
must demonstrate that any lighting will be sensitive to reduce potential impacts on bats.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the development is not detrimental to Protected Species and in order to protect
the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009 and the National
Planning Policy Framework ( 2019)

9 Ecology - enhancements
The reserved matters submission shall include the following ecological enhancement
measures and such details shall be clearly shown on the final site plans.  Development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details:
- At least one nest box in a suitable location;
- at least one bat box in a suitable location;
- wildlife friendly fencing;
- the creation of vegetated buffers along the site margins; and,
- a hibernacula.
Reason for condition:-
In order to enhance the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document
2009 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

10 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 232



 

writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Foul water drainage
Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme for the provision,
implementation, ownership and maintenance of the foul water drainage shall be submitted
and agreed in writing with the Local Authority. The works/scheme shall be constructed and
completed in accordance with the approved plans/specification at such time(s) as may be
specified in the approved scheme.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure a satisfactory method of foul water drainage.

12 Trees - no dig driveway details as part of
Reserved Matters
The reserved matters submission shall include site specific details of the no-dig driveway.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
In order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in
accordance with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 233



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: Allowed
REF NO: 3OB/2019/0018/OB CASE OFFICER Chris Hobson

LOCATION: SWAFFHAM APPNTYPE: Planning Obligation
Land on the East of Brandon Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Swaffham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Abel Homes Limited
Neaton Business Park(North) Norwich
Road

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Abel Homes Limited
Neaton Business Park(North) Norwich
Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Affordable Housing Provision

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application relates to the variation of a Section 106 Agreement for a major development, as defined by
the Council's scheme of delegation.

KEY ISSUES

Whether the proposed variation to the Section 106 Agreement with respect to affordable housing provision is
acceptable.

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Modification of Section 106 Agreement dated 04/10/2018 in connection with outline planning permission
reference: 3PL/2016/0068/O to reduce affordable housing requirement from 28.6% to 25%. This would be via
amending Schedule 2 of the Section 106 Agreement. This would be in connection with the development for:
"Up to 175 dwellings including affordable housing and open space with detailed means of access".

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site comprises an area of agricultural land on the southern edge of Swaffham.  The site is
irregular in shape and extends to around 8.7 hectares.  The land slopes down gently from west to east and
north to south.  The site is bounded to the west by a development of 250 dwellings currently under
construction by the applicant.  The site is also bounded to the north and south by housing, including a
development of 335 dwellings to the south being constructed by Avant Homes and Taylor Wimpey.  The site
is bounded to the east by Watton Road, with open countryside beyond.  The area is generally open, but
includes some field boundary hedgerows and trees.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 234

Agenda Item 9m



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2016/0068/O - Up to 175 dwellings including affordable housing and open space with detailed means of
access - Permitted - 05/10/2019.
3PL/2019/0713/D - Reserved matters for 175 dwellings including affordable housing, infrastructure and open
space following outline application 3PL/2016/0068/O (Phase 4 & 5) - Under consideration.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.05 Developer Obligations
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

CONSULTATIONS

SWAFFHAM TOWN COUNCIL
Swaffham Town Council note that the existing permission secured less than the 40% affordable housing
requirement in the current Core Strategy.

SWAFFHAM TOWN COUNCIL No Comments Received
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

None

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Assessment

1.1 The applicant seeks a reduction of affordable housing from 28.6% to 25% from that agreed under the
S106 dated 05/10/2018 in connection with planning permission reference: 3PL/2016/0068/O for up to 100

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 235



 

 

 

dwellings. This reduced requirement would be in accordance with emerging Policy HOU 7. Whilst this
emerging Policy is not yet adopted, it has been through Examination in Public, and the 25% requirement has
not been amended as part of the current Main Modifications consultation. Whilst the Council contends that
the emerging Policies have limited weight at this stage, this particular requirement has been underpinned by
Council's Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment, 2017. Furthermore, it is consistent with the NPPF 2019
and has no unresolved objections where paragraph 49 of the NPPF 2019 advised that weight should be
given to the emerging policy.

1.2 The reduction in affordable housing does not affect the overall planning balance and it's acceptability.
Having referred to the committee report for Outline application, this did not state that 28.6% affordable
housing was essential to making an otherwise unacceptable development acceptable. Furthermore, it notes
that the site was well located in relation to local services and facilities and would be compatible with the
established character of the area. Furthermore, that the prospect of the site coming for employment use was
limited.

1.3 Based on the foregoing, with consideration to paragraph 48 of the NPPF 2019, it is considered 25%
affordable housing is acceptable and the modification should be allowed.

RECOMMENDATION

Application for modification of planning obligation should be allowed.

CONDITIONS

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 236



Item. 9(m)  

Location:  Land on the East of Brandon Road, Swaffham 

Proposal: Variation of Affordable Housing Provision with in the Section 106 Agreement 

REFERENCE: 3OB/2019/0018/OB 

Applicant: Abel Homes 

Author: Chris Hobson 

CONSULTATIONS 

Housing Officer 

As per the agreed protocol for such cases, this is acceptable provided that the Council does not have 

a 5 year land supply, and the level of affordable housing was not one of the key reasons for approval, 

and made an otherwise unacceptable development acceptable. 

ASSESSMENT & CORRECTIONS 

The Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land and affordable housing  

Report Corrections:  

First sentence of paragraph 1.1, the existing planning permission is for 175 dwellings (not 100). 

Delete last sentence in paragraph 1.2.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

237



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0152/VAR CASE OFFICER Chris Hobson

LOCATION: SWAFFHAM APPNTYPE: Variation of Cond's
Great Friars Farm Silver Drift POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Swaffham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Redstow Renewables Ltd
10-12 Frederick Sanger Road Surrey
Research Park

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Cornerstone Planning Ltd
Greenlands 7 Nelson Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Variation of conditions No 2 & 3 on 3PL2013/0623/F (anaerobic digestion renewable energy
facility) - revised layout and design of buildings/plants and feedstock quantum

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

This application is referred to Planning Committee as a major application.

KEY ISSUES

Whether the variations of condition are acceptable

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The current application seeks to vary condition 2 (retention of revised layout and design of buildings/plant) -
retrospectively; and condition 3 (feedstock quantum) of planning permission ref. 3PL/2013/0623/F which
granted permission for the following:

-Anaerobic Digestion renewable energy facility and associated landscaping works

The permission has since been implemented and the plant has been operational since 2015. The as-built
development varies from the aforementioned consented scheme in various respects which the current
application seeks to regularise the development.

Specifically, the application seeks to vary Condition 2 which sets out the set of approved plans with the
amendments relating to the layout of the development as well as the relocation of some plant and
introduction of additional plant. The full details of the amended development are as follows:

-Landscaping Bund - 140m x 30m;
-Sileage clamps; 3 built in lieu of 4 (125m x 44m instead of 120m x 27m);
-Access road; relocation;
-Attenuation lagoon; relocation; 2,000m3

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 238

Agenda Item 9n



 

-Concrete Apron; change of design;
-CHP; 3 instead of 2; relocation;
-Weighbridge; relocation;
-Liquid digestate tank (x2); relocation; smaller diameter (30m)/taller (21m);
-Fermenter tank (x2); relocation; smaller diameter (27m)/lower height (8m);
-Digestate Removal Station; relocation;
-Flare; relocation;
-Site Office; relocation;
-Festoffbunker (solid digestate); relocation;
-Feedhopper; H4.25m x L27m x W4.5m;
-Digestate Drier; relocation; H5m x L10.8m x W32.3m;
-Transformers; new; H1.9m x L9.2m x W3m
-Oil tanks for CHP; new; H5m x L10.8m x W32.3m;
-Thermal oil burner; new; H2.6m x L12.9m x W2.9m; exhaust pipe height = 11m;
-Site Storage Container (x2); new; H3.2m x L6.3m x W2.5m each;
-Stores building (for storing spare parts and other equipment); new; H12m x L20m x W15m;
-Stores offices; new; H3.2m x L12.3m x W2.6m;
-Weighbridge Office; (required for measuring and recording feedstock deliveries); new; H3.2m x L6.5m x
W2.5m;
-Substation (previously approved as Non-Material Amendment - ref.3NM/2014/0034/NMA);
-Access Ramps (x3); new;
-Blower chiller; new; H2.2m x L10m x W5m;
-Buffer tanks; new; H8m x 2.8m diameter;
-Separation Unit; new; H4m x L5m x W2.8m (auger raises up to 5.5m);
-Condensate trap; new; 1.8m diameter;
-Economizer; new; H7.8m x L36m x W3.6m;
-Straw Feedhopper; new; H8.6m x L42.8m x W7m;
-Leachate pump; new; H1.2m x L3.5m x W1.5m.

The application also seeks to vary Condition 3 which states the following:

3)Prior to commencement of the development precise details of the type and amount of feedstock materials
to be used per annum shall be submitted in writing for approval by the Local Planning Authority and shall not
exceed the stated limits, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The condition was subsequently discharged in January 2016 pursuant to details setting out that the plant will
use 55,000 tonnes of feedstock per annum, derived from plant-based materials. The current application
seeks to vary condition 3 to allow for the throughput of 85,000 tonnes of feedstock per annum.

It should be noted that the application is submitted concurrently with a separate application
(3PL/2019/0154/F) which relates to the creation of an earth bund and 2 x surface water lagoons.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site comprises a broadly rectangular parcel of land around 3km to the west of Swaffham.
The site is approximately 4.9 hectares and is located in close proximity to existing agricultural buildings
including two sets of poultry units to the north-west and to the east. The site is accessed via the A47 which
runs approximately 600m to the south and south west. The site and surrounding landscape is generally flat
and level.  Restricted byway (Swaffham RB60) runs to the north of the application site, and for a short stretch

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 239



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

shares the vehicular access track to the site.

EIA REQUIRED

An EIA Scoping request was submitted prior to the determination of the parent application and it was
concluded that the the works would not have significant environmental impacts to warrant a full
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) at this time. Therefore, the development did not constitute EIA
development.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3SR/2013/0011/SCR - Concluded not EIA development
3PL/2013/0623/F - Anaerobic Digestion renewable energy facility and associated landscaping works.
Approved
3PL/2019/0154/F - Retention of 2 x surface water lagoons and earth bunding. Submitted concurrently with
current application and is pending consideration

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.15 Renewable Energy
DC.16 Design
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

SWAFFHAM TOWN COUNCIL
No objections but the Town Council asks that condition 3 is looked at. In the Design and Access
consideration was not given to account for the volume of extra traffic that will be generated through the town.
There will be a consequence to the town in regard to air quality.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 240



ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
No objections
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to appropriate condition ensuring that servicing traffic is not routed through Swaffham
town centre.
HISTORIC ENGLAND
No comments,.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT OFFICER
No comments.
RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA
At the time of the original application, The Ramblers was concerned for the impact on users of Swaffham
Restricted Byway 60 of the traffic generated by this development, and the absence of significant mitigation
measures. We therefore object to the proposed increase in processing from 55,000 tonnes per annum of
feedstock to 85,000 tonnes unless accompanied by measures to safeguard walkers, horse riders and
carriage drivers, all legally entitled to use the Restricted Byway.
NATURAL ENGLAND
No objections.

Should the proposal be amended in a way which significantly affects its impact on the natural environment
then, in accordance with Section 4 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, Natural
England should be consulted again. Before sending us any further consultations regarding this development,
please assess whether the changes proposed will materially affect any of the advice we have previously
offered. If they are unlikely to do so, please do not re-consult us.
HIGHWAYS ENGLAND
No objection.
AIR QUALITY OFFICER
Comments of 06/03/19
I recommend approval providing the development proceeds in line with the application details and subject to
the following conditions to alleviate environmental concerns. The application provides air quality and
transport impact assessments and these make reference in part to the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)
in the centre of Swaffham declared in 2017 but conclude that due to distance air quality will not be impacted
upon by the proposal. Whilst I note that the emission from the digestion process itself is unlikely to have an
impact consideration needs to be given to the impact of emissions from feeder traffic particularly large
agricultural tractors and trailers bringing feed stock to the site specifically during the intensive 120 day
harvest period when the majority of material will be delivered. As part of the development of the Air Quality
Action Plan drawn up under the AQMA significant attention has been drawn to the need to consider and
control the impact of emissions from heavy goods vehicles and agricultural vehicles passing through the
centre of Swaffham on the A1065 road which I would suggest will include a large number of vehicles
supplying feedstock to the proposal site from the south of the town. In this regard I would recommend that
the impact of vehicles transporting feedstock to the site, particularly that which passes through the centre of
Swaffham, needs to be considered as part of this proposal and measures put in place to limit emissions
adding to the air quality issues in the town. As part of this I would recommend that the applicant is required to
consider and provide / implement alternative delivery routes away from the centre of Swaffham and to limit
pollution emissions through measures including the use of clean less polluting vehicles and eco driving
principles.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 241



 

Comments of 30/05/19
I do not believe that the issue of emissions to air from vehicles bringing feeder stock to the site through the
centre of Swaffham on the A1065 has been assessed. (An Air Quality Management area was declared in
2017 in the town due to Nitrogen dioxide levels principally due to motor engine emissions exceeding national
limits). In this respect I am unable to comment further on this application at this time.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
At the time the original planning application was made, the noise survey submitted made reference to the
closest noise sensitive premises, Heath Farm. Heath Farm was therefore specifically named in condition 4 of
the planning application. It was understood that the bungalows and farm house on site were connected to the
application. Within the first year of operation of the digester I received a noise and dust complaint in relation
to a feedstock clamp positioned on a field adjacent to the application, directly opposite Great Thorn Farm. I
understand that this was contrary to the original application. In light of this information I would seek to revise
condition 4 to reflect this.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No comments.
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER
We do not object to the proposal on rights of way grounds but would make the following comments. There
appears to be limited recognition of the existence of a Public Right of Way ( Design and Access Statement
5.11) "on the north west boundary of the site", but no reference to how the frequent vehicular movements
may impact on users of a right of way. However, the application has highlighted a discrepancy between the
legal document and some published versions of Ordnance Survey maps ( commonly used by the public for
route finding on Public Rights of Way). The applicant may be assuming that the Public Right of Way (
PROW), follows the alignment of the farm access track that runs through the complex of buildings at Great
Friars' Thornes, which is shown on some versions of OS maps. However, both the draft Definitive Map and
the Definitive Statement appear to describe a different route, running in a more direct east-west direction,
avoiding the 'diversion' route into the farm complex. This suggests an error on the legal document, which the
County Council will seek to redress in due course. The reference for this route is Swaffham Restricted Byway
No60. This enables pedestrian, cycle, horseriding and non motorised vehicular traffic use. The additional
route through the farm complex appears to be unofficial even though it is recorded on some OS maps but
this may have resulted in public rights now existing over both the original route and the additional one, by
virtue of it being in use as a PROW. This is the route that will be affected in part by the vehicular movements
associated with this proposal. Consequently, although public rights are not formally recorded on the section
of route proposed for public access, they may well exist and therefore the potential for conflict still exists,
especially the proximity of tractors and horses. Assuming public rights are proven to exist on this route, then
any public rights take precedence over private rights, whereby the commercial use would be obliged to give
way to public users. Over a relatively short stretch of track, this is unlikely to be a significant issue. However,
the applicants may wish to consider the Ramblers Association comments and consider creating sufficient
width along this stretch of route to allow segregation between private and public use.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objections to the variation of conditions No 2 & 3 on 3PL2013/0623/F.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE
No objection.

MINISTRY OF DEFENCE No Comments Received
NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST No Comments Received

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 242



 

 

 

R S P B No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

A site notice has been posted and neighbours notified.

One objection received raising the following matter:
The effect on Swaffham of the increased number of vehicles as a consequence of the applied for variation.
The town centre is currently the subject of an Air Quality Management Area designated by Breckland
Council. There will be further hazards to the health of the general public, specifically schoolchildren and the
elderly. The Air Quality Consultants, Redmore Environmental Ltd, appear to have looked at the effect of
emissions and pollution from the site and not looked at any effect of traffic on Swaffham. Although the report
is very comprehensive and well put together, and includes potential effects on wildlife in the surrounding
countryside, the Consultants should be directed to include the effect of increased traffic on the pollution,
noise and vibration in Swaffham. The increase from 55000 tonnes of feedstock to 85000 tonnes represents a
significant increase. Unless some way can be found to take any increase in traffic away from Swaffham then
I object very strongly to the application.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1The application relates to an already established use which was approved in 2013 as an Anaerobic
Digestion renewable energy facility. The current application seeks to regularise the intensity of the current
use which goes over and above that which was approved under the consented scheme.

1.2The revisions to the approved layout and the increase in the use of feedstock to 85,000 tonnes per annum
would not fundamentally alter the established use. To this end Policy DC15 supports proposals for renewable
energy subject to criteria relating to the impact of development on landscape, conservation, local amenity
and highways; all of which are addressed in subsequent sections of this report.

2.0 Landscape Impact

2.1Policy DC15 supports renewable energy projects subject to certain criteria, including landscape impact.
Policy CP11 requires rural landscapes to be protected in order to maintain their appearance and
ecological/historical value.  The site falls within the Heathland with Plantations Landscape Character Area as
defined in the Council's Landscape Character Assessment, defined by large scale plantation forestry and a
simple composition.

2.2The facility is located next to existing agricultural buildings on agricultural land to the north of the A47.
The site is bounded in part to the north by a small wooded area and existing agricultural buildings, albeit
some of these are poultry units which are low in height.  Apart from this, the site is largely open.

2.3In the determination of the previous application, it was considered that whilst there would be some short
and long terms harm to the landscape, the development would not have a significant adverse effect on the
character and appearance of the surrounding rural landscape. Nevertheless, the current application seeks to
regularise the as built scheme which has amended the layout and size of the various components and plant
on site and as such a fresh assessment is required.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 243



2.4The application is supported by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment which assesses the visual
impact of the development from a set of agreed viewpoints located in strategic locations around the site.
Whilst it is clear from the LVIA that the development would be visible in its context, this would not be to an
extent that would constitute a significant harmful impact. Furthermore, the consented scheme sets a baseline
for consideration which ensures that the additional impact of the as built scheme is not significantly over and
above the baseline impacts.

2.5 The application is therefore considered to accord with policy CP11 of the Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies DPD.

3.0 Ecology

3.1The site falls approximately 900m to the northeast of the Breckland Forest Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI) forming part of the Breckland Special Protection Area (SPA).  The ecological appraisal
concludes the impacts on the SPA population are considered to be negligible as a result of the proposed
development.

3.2 Natural England were consulted on the application and requested additional information relating to air
quality impacts of the application, in relation to the sensitive receptors of the Breckland Special Protection
Area and Breckland Forest Site of Special Scientific Interest. Following the submission of further information
to address the impacts on Air Quality and the protected sites from the increased output at the facility, Natural
England have raised no objections.

3.3 The application has also been accompanied by a Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP)
setting out the required mitigation and enhancement measures to be undertaken to ensure there would be no
adverse impacts on wildlife and nature considerations following the completion of the AD facility. Following
the submission of further information, the County Ecologist has raised no objections subject to conditions
ensuring that the Stone Curlew nesting plot and biodiversity enhancements are implemented and the
ongoing landscape and ecology maintenance measures are carried out as set out in the submitted LEMP. A
condition has been recommended accordingly, and therefore the application is considered to accord with
policy CP10 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD.

3.4 The Tree & Countryside Consultant has also raised no objections to the varied scheme as built.
Therefore, the proposal is considered acceptable and to accord with relevant local and national planning
policy.

4.0 Amenity Impact

4.1The nature of the development is such that it has the potential to impact on local residents due to
increased smells and noise.  Core Strategy Policies DC1 and DC15 require consideration to be given to
effects of all new development on residential amenity.

4.2It is understood that site operates 24 hours per day 7 days per week with staff on site and deliveries made
between 7am and 7pm.  The noise impact assessment submitted with the consented application determined
that the noise rating levels generated fall below the noise rating level criteria agreed with Breckland District
Council. The noise assessment submitted with the current application relates to the as built development and
similarly demonstrates that the noise impact of the development would continue to fall within acceptable
parameters with respect to noise levels at Heath Farm which is located to the south of the site.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 244



4.3Nevertheless, upon assessing the submitted noise impact assessment, the Council's Environmental
Health Officers have identified residential properties which were not identified in the assessment of the
original application and recommended that these be included in the revised wording of the associated noise
compliance condition attached to the original permission. However, those two residential properties to the
northeast sit adjacent to the established poultry unit, and changes resulting from the operation of the as built
AD facility principally relate to the additional deliveries and associated activity along the access track and the
siting of plant and equipment. Given that these properties were not protected by the original condition and do
not sit significantly nearer to the access and other noise generating equipment at the site than the permitted
scheme it is not considered reasonable to amend the condition in this manner.

4.4 With regards to the residential property to the west at Great Thorn Farm, similarly this dwelling was not
protected by the noise compliance condition on the original permission. The main changes to the operation of
the AD facility over the permitted scheme relates to the additional traffic movements from the additional
feedstock processed which equates to 3 two way movements per hour in the harvesting season. As this
property sits adjacent to the site access road it is considered necessary to include a condition restricting the
time of movements into and out of the site beyond 7pm and 9pm in the harvesting season and a condition
limiting the amount of feedstock processed at the site, in the interest of neighbour amenity.

4.5The anaerobic digestion plant is fuelled by biomass; the operations of the plant may result in odour
emissions from number activities; these have the potential to cause an impact at sensitive receptors within
the vicinity of the site.  In this regard, the odour assessment submitted with the application predicted odour
concentrations would be below the relevant benchmark level at all sensitive receptors in the vicinity of the
site. Therefore, the as built development is not considered to cause any unacceptable impact on amenity by
way of odour impacts in accordance with policy DC1  of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
DPD.

5.0 Highway Safety

5.1 In the assessment of the consented application, the Highways Agency concluded that the traffic
generated by the development would be unlikely to adversely affect the operation of the A47 trunk road. The
application has been supported by a Transport Statement which has assessed the changes in traffic
movements over and above the permitted scheme. The additional movements equate to 3 additional per
hour during the harvesting season and outside of this season there would be a negligible change in vehicle
movements. This is not considered to result in a significant adverse impact on the function and operation of
the broader highway network given the sites access directly on to the A47.

5.2 The impact of the additional traffic on users of the restricted byway (Swaffham RB60) which forms part of
the northern boundary of the site has raised concerns from The Ramblers Association.  It is considered that
having regard to the relatively short stretch of track where this conflict would exist, when considering the
modest number of vehicles associated with the revised scheme as built and the fact that vehicles already use
this track, no significant harm would occur.

5.3At the request of NCC Highways, additional information was submitted relating to the routing of vehicles to
and from the site. The information provided suggested that the origin of the feedstock and location of the
application site, provides opportunity for alternative routes to be taken which would avoid Swaffham Town
Centre where there are existing congestion and air quality issues. Nevertheless, officers do not consider that
the routing plan is detailed, robust and explicit enough to be used in a compliance condition. The applicants
and operators of the AD facility have agreed to a condition requiring HGV and tractor movements to avoid
Swaffham Town Centre and providing further details in this regard for approval by the Local Planning

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 245



 

 

Authority. Therefore, a full and robust servicing management plan will be secured by way of condition if this
application is granted.

6.0 Air Quality

6.1It is noted that Swaffham Town Centre is now the subject of an Air Quality Management Area and as such
it is important to consider what impact the intensification of the existing use would have upon air quality levels
within the town centre. The application has been supported by an Air Quality Assessment which has
concludes that there would be no significant adverse impacts from the operation of the site itself and its
impacts on surrounding wildlife sites. In addition, as set out in the preceding section of this report, additional
detail was requested relating to the origin of the feedstock used in the plant and the traffic routes from these
origin fields to the application site. The routing plan submitted shows that routes to and from the site,
avoiding the town centre, is feasible and as such a condition stating that deliveries be undertaken in line with
an approved routing strategy is attached. Whilst Air Quality Officers have commented that the impact on
existing air quality in the town centre has not been adequately addressed, it has been demonstrated that
routing of servicing vehicles away from the town centre is achievable. The applicants have agreed to a
condition requiring delivery traffic to avoid Swaffham Town Centre and compliance with a routing and service
management plan in this regard. A full servicing management plan will therefore be sought by condition
which would include service routes avoiding the town centre.

6.2 Therefore, subject to such a condition controlling the routing of traffic to and from the site, the variation of
the conditions to allow greater processing of biomass is not considered to have a significant adverse impact
on the air quality within Swaffham Town Centre and the application accords with policy DC1 and DC15 of the
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD.

7.0 Conclusion

7.1It is considered that the application to regularise the as built scheme would accord with Council policies
relating to protection of rural landscapes and residential amenities. Some harm would be caused to the
appearance of the area, but it is not considered that this would be significant and it would be increasingly
mitigated by proposed landscaping. The visual impact would also not be significantly over and above the
consented scheme. It is considered the proposed plant would be sufficiently far from existing properties to
avoid significant impacts on local amenities and ramblers would not be unacceptably put in danger. Subject
to condition controlling the routing of traffic to and from the site to avoid Swaffham Town Centre it is
considered that there would be no significant adverse impacts on the air quality and highway network in the
town centre.

7.2On balance, it is considered that the proposed development is appropriate and, as such, it is
recommended for approval subject to revised conditions. The consultation period for this application expires
on the 25th July 2019, therefore this recommendation is made subject to no new material considerations
being raised during the remainder of the consultation period.

RECOMMENDATION

That the application be APPROVED subject to conditions, subject to no new material considerations being
raised during the remainder of the consultation period (25th July 2019).

CONDITIONS

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 246



1 In accordance with submitted
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, plans,
drawings, and other documents and details submitted or provided by the applicant, as
amended by the documents referred to above.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

2 Non-standard condition
The type and amount of feedstock materials to be used per annum shall not exceed 85,000
tonnes.

Reason for condition:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby properties in accordance
with policy DC1 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD.

3 Non-standard condition
The development hereby permitted shall not generate a rated noise level measured (or
calculated) at the boundary of the nearest noise sensitive premises, Heath Farm greater
than 35LAeq, 5mins during night time hours (23:00 07.00) and 40LAeq, 60mins during day
time hours (07:00 23:00). All measurements to be taken with a sound level meter of IEC 651
Type 1, or BS EN 61672 Class 1, standard (or the equivalent relevant UK adopted standard
in force at the time of the measurements) set to measure using a fast time weighted
response. This should be calibrated and the assessment carried out in accordance with the
procedure specified in BS 4142: 2014 (or the equivalent relevant UK adopted standard in
force at the time of the measurements).

Reason for condition:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby properties In addition I
would recommend the following condition; No feedstock shall be stored on site, or in
adjacent fields other than within the clamps indicated on the plans provided. . Reason for
condition:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby properties

4 Non-standard condition
The dry feeder shall not be filled outside of daytime hours (07:00 - 23:00).

Reason for condition:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby properties in accordance
with policy DC1 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD.

5 Non-standard condition
No loudspeaker, amplifier, relay or other audio equipment shall be installed on external
areas of the development nor installed or used inside any building in such a manner as to
cause detriment to the amenity of the area by reason of noise.
Reason for condition:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby properties in accordance
with policy DC1 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD.

6 Non-standard condition
Where reversing alarms are used on any vehicles on site they shall be of the broadband
white noise type.
Reason for condition:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby properties in accordance
with policy DC1 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD.

7 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 247



8 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC

9 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC

10 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC

11 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC

12 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC

13 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC

14 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC

15 Non-standard condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC

16 Non-standard materials condition
The development shall proceed in accordance with the details submitted and approved
under application reference 3DC/2014/0173/DOC

17 Non-standard condition
For the duration of the construction period road signage shall be used to make users of
Swaffham Restricted Byway No60 aware of construction traffic sharing the section of the
Public Right of Way to the north of the application site.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of maintaining highway efficiency and safety in accordance with policy CP4
of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD.

18 Non-standard condition
For the duration of the construction period road signage shall be used to make drivers of
construction traffic aware of possibility of pedestrians using Swaffham Restricted Byway
No60 which shares a section of the access track. Reason for condition:-
In the interests of maintaining highway efficiency and safety, in accordance with policy CP4
of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies DPD.

19 Non-standard condition
Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, a delivery management strategy shall be
submitted to and approved in writing within 6 months of the determination of this application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 248



The strategy shall include:
1.  Vehicular routes to and from the site for all sources of input material and destinations of
output material.
2. All routes shall thereafter avoid Swaffham Town Centre as shown on an scaled drawing
showing the Swaffham Town Centre Exclusion Zone, approved pursuant to this condition.
3. Details of a log of all vehicles delivering or distributing input and output material. The log
shall include, the vehicle registration number, date, tonnage, the origin and on going
destination of the vehicle.
The development shall thereafter be carried out and operated in accordance with the
approved strategy. The site operators shall thereafter at all times maintain a log for the
lifetime of the development and the log shall at all times be made available for review by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:- To control emissions from the increased use of the site and to ensure
that increased vehicle emissions do not result in adverse harm to the Swaffham Air Quality
Management Area. In the interests of highway safety and to avoid adverse harm to the
function of the highway network within Swaffham Town Centre. In accordance with the Core
Strategy and NPPF.

20 Non-standard condition
With the exception of urgent maintenance requirements, the following site operating hours
shall apply:
Feedstock deliveries and unloading, and/or the filling of the silage clamps, between the
hours of 07:00 to 19:00 on any one day, and between the extended hours of 07:00 to 21:00
on no more than 90 individual days in any one calendar year, notice of which shall first be
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority giving at least 14 days' notice prior to the
first instance of extended hours operation each calendar year.
Reason for condition:- To control the hours of traffic movement into and out of the site and to
ensure that increased vehicle movements do not result in adverse harm to the amenity of
residential properties in accordance with policy DC1 of the Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies DPD and the NPPF.

21 Non-standard condition
Within 6 months of the date of this planning permission, the stone curlew nest plot will be
installed in accordance with the approved details and maintained and monitored thereafter in
accordance with the Letter prepared by Wild Frontier Ecology dated April 2019. The plot
shall thereafter be retained for the lifetime of the development.
Reason for condition: The details are required prior to the commencement of development in
order to ensure the biodiversity measures are designed into any scheme, in the interests of
maintaining and enhancing biodiversity and ecological value of the site and surrounding
area. In accordance with policies CP10, CP11, DC12, and DC16 of the Core Strategy and
Development Management Policies DPD.

22 Non-standard condition
Within 6 months of the date of this permission or the next planting season, the mitigation and
enhancement measures set out in the approved Landscape Ecology Management Plan
(LEMP) Prepared by Wild Frontier Ecology, dated October 2018, shall be completed in
accordance with the approved details. The development hereby permitted shall at all times
thereafter be carried out in accordance with approved Landscape Ecology Management
Plan (LEMP) Prepared by Wild Frontier Ecology; dated October 2018.
Reason for condition:  In the interests of maintaining and enhancing biodiversity and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 249



ecological value of the site and surrounding area. In accordance with policies CP10, CP11,
DC12, and DC16 of the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies DPD.

23 Non-standard highways condition
ADVISE TO APPLICANT OF THE ENVIRONMENT AGENCY

Land contamination investigations should be carried out in accordance with BS 5930:1999-
2010 'Code of Practice for site investigations' and BS 10175:2011 'Investigation of potentially
contaminated sites - Code of Practice' as updated/amended. Site investigation works should
be undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced professional. Soil and water analysis
should be fully MCERTS accredited.

Any further site investigation, demolition, remediation or construction works on site must not
create new pollutant pathways or pollutant linkages in to the underlying principal aquifer to
avoid generating new contaminated land liabilities for the developer. Clean drilling
techniques may be required where boreholes, piles etc penetrate through contaminated
ground.

Waste:
The CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice (version 2)
provides operators with a framework for determining whether or not excavated material
arising from site during remediation and/or land development works are waste or have
ceased to be waste. Under the Code of Practice:
-excavated materials that are recovered via a treatment operation can be re-used on-site
providing they are treated to a standard such that they are fit for purpose and unlikely to
cause pollution;
-treated materials can be transferred between sites as part of a hub and cluster
project;
-some naturally occurring clean material can be transferred directly between sites.
Contaminated soil that is, or must be disposed of, is waste. Therefore, its handling,
transport, treatment and disposal is subject to waste management legislation, which
includes:

Duty of Care Regulations 1991;
-Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005;
-Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010;
-The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011.
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised both
chemically and physically, including in line with British Standards BS EN 14899:2005
'Characterisation of Waste - Sampling of Waste Materials - Framework for the Preparation
and Application of a Sampling Plan' for waste to be removed from site, and that the
permitting status of any proposed treatment or disposal activity is clear. If in doubt, the
Environment Agency should be contacted for advice at an early stage to avoid any delays.
If the total quantity of waste material to be produced at or taken off site is hazardous waste
and is 500kg or greater in any 12 month period the developer will need to register with us as
a hazardous waste producer.
SuDS:
We would welcome use of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) at the site provided it could
be demonstrated to pose an acceptable level of risk to controlled waters.  We therefore offer
the following advice on the design and location of sustainable drainage systems, in

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 250



 

accordance with Position Statement G1 ¿ G13 of our GP3 (2013) document:
-Soakaways and other infiltration SuDS must not be constructed in contaminated ground.
The use of infiltration drainage would only be acceptable if a phased site  investigation
showed the presence of no significant contamination. The use of non infiltration SuDS may
be acceptable subject to our agreement. We would need to be consulted on the results of
the site investigation and on any protection measures.

We recommend that developers should:
1. Follow the risk management framework provided in CLR11, Model Procedures for the
Management of Land Contamination, when dealing with land affected by contamination;
2. Refer to our Guiding Principles for Land Contamination for the type of information that we
require in order to assess risks to controlled waters from the site. The Local Authority can
advise on risk to other receptors, for example human health;
3. Refer to our Verification of Remediation of Land Contamination report;
4. Refer to our NEW Groundwater Protection: Principles and practice (GP3:2013 v1.1)
documents including land contamination, waste management, drainage, effluent drainage
and cemeteries (http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/
research/library/publications/144346.aspx);
5. Refer to our Position Statement on the Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of
Practice;
6. Refer to our Technical Aspects of Site Investigations¿ Technical Report P5-065/TR;
7. Refer to our Piling and Penetrative Ground Improvement Methods on Land Affected by
Contamination National Groundwater & Contaminated Land Centre Project NC/99/73.
8. Refer to our website at www.environment-agency.gov.uk for more information.

24 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 251



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0154/F CASE OFFICER Chris Hobson

LOCATION: SWAFFHAM APPNTYPE: Full
Silver Drift POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Swaffham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Redstow Renewables Ltd.
10-12 Frederick Sanger Road Surrey
Research Park

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Cornerstone Planning Ltd
Greenlands 7 Nelson Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Retention of 2 x surface water lagoons and earth bunding

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

This application is referred to Planning Committee as a major application.

KEY ISSUES

The impact of the surface water lagoons on potential flood risk and drainage of the site and surrounding area,
the impacts on the surrounding landscape, impacts on ecology and amenity of the surrounding area.

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks to retain 2 x surface water lagoons that have been implemented as part of the wider
development of an Anaerobic Digestion renewable energy facility and associated landscaping works. The
development was implemented at variance with the approved plans and the surface water lagoons did not
form part of the consented scheme and fall outside of the red line boundary of the previous application (ref.
3PL/2013/0623/F). The current full application seeks to regularise the situation and seeks retrospective
consent for the lagoons.

It should be noted that the application is submitted concurrently with an application which seeks to vary
condition 2 (retention of revised layout and design of buildings/plant) retrospectively; and condition 3
(feedstock quantum) of application ref. 3PL/2013/0623/F.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site comprises a broadly rectangular parcel of land around 3km to the west of Swaffham.
The site is approximately 4.9 hectares and is located in close proximity to existing agricultural buildings
including two sets of poultry units to the north-west and to the east. The site is accessed via the A47 which
runs approximately 600m to the south and south west. The site and surrounding landscape is generally flat
and level.  Restricted byway (Swaffham RB60) runs to the north of the application site, and for a short stretch

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 252

Agenda Item 9o



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

shares the vehicular access track to the site.

EIA REQUIRED

An EIA Scoping request was submitted prior to the determination of the parent application and it was
concluded that the proposed works would have significant environmental affects to warrant a full
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). Therefore, the development did not constitute EIA development.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3SR/2013/0011/SCR - Concluded not EIA development
3PL/2013/0623/F - Anaerobic Digestion renewable energy facility and associated landscaping works.
Approved
3PL/2019/0152/VAR - Variation of conditions No 2 & 3 on 3PL2013/0623/F (anaerobic digestion renewable
energy facility) - revised layout and design of buildings/plants and feedstock quantum. Submitted
concurrently and pending consideration.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.15 Renewable Energy
DC.16 Design
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

SWAFFHAM TOWN COUNCIL
No objection but the Town Council has concerns that in the Design and Access consideration was not given

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 253



 

 

 

 

to account for the volume of extra traffic that will be generated through the town. There will be a
consequence to the town in regard to air quality.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
Additional information requested relating to the construction details of the existing lagoons including
information on the subgrade (nature, thickness, and permeability), pipe layout, liner properties and panel
layout, including max freeboard levels. Following the submission of additional information, the Environment
Agency raise no objections.
NATURAL ENGLAND
No objections.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objections.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
The development would be classed as minor development (see section 7.3 of our current guidance). Norfolk
County Council LLFA Statutory Consultee for Planning - Guidance Document If there is an incident of
flooding that has been investigated by Norfolk County Council in the vicinity of the site, further information on
key findings and recommendations are publicly available on our website (https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/rubbish-
recycling-and-planning/flood-and-water-management/flood-investigations). The Local Planning Authority
would be responsible for assessing the suitability
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objections.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objections.

R S P B No Comments Received
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE No Comments Received
NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

None

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1The application relates to an already established use which was approved in 2013 as an Anaerobic
Digestion renewable energy facility. The current application seeks to retain 2 surface water lagoons which
serve the site and were implemented outside of the previous red line boundary but are intrinsically linked to
the wider use of the site as part of the drainage strategy. Given that the surface water lagoons support and
enable the consented use, it is considered that the principle of development is acceptable.

2.0 Landscape Impact

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 254



2.1Policy DC15 supports renewable energy projects subject to certain criteria, including landscape impact.
Policy CP11 requires rural landscapes to be protected in order to maintain their appearance and
ecological/historical value.  The site falls within the Heathland with Plantations Landscape Character Area as
defined in the Council's Landscape Character Assessment, defined by large scale plantation forestry and a
simple composition.

2.2The lagoons have been provided along with some adjacent landscape bunding and are located within
close proximity of the buildings associated with the facility. In this context it is considered that the impact of
the lagoons on the landscape character of the area in accordance with Policies CP11 and DC15 of the
Breckland Core Strategy.

3.0 Ecology

3.1The site falls approximately 900m to the northeast of the Breckland Forest Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI) forming part of the Breckland Special Protection Area (SPA).  The ecological appraisal
submitted with the accompanying application 3PL/2019/0152/VAR concludes the impacts on the SPA
population are considered to be negligible as a result of the proposed development.

3.2Natural England were consulted on the application and have raised no objections to the application.The
County Ecologist has also raised no objections. Accordingly the application and surface water lagoons as
built are considered to accord with policy CP10 of the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies DPD.

4.0 Amenity Impact

4.1Core Strategy Policies DC1 and DC15 of the Breckland Core Strategy require consideration to be given to
effects of all new development on residential amenity.

4.2The development in consisting of ground level surface lagoons and earth works and of the size as built
cause very limited adverse impact in terms of amenity. The surface water lagoons as built are therefore in
accordance with Policies DC1 and DC15 of the Breckland Core Strategy.

5.0 Highway Safety

5.1 The proposed development in itself would not give rise to any concerns from a transport and highways
perspective having regard to policy CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
DPD and the NPPF.

6.0 Flood Risk

6.1The application relates to the retention of two surface water lagoons which are for the purpose of
soakaways. The Environment Agency requested additional information relating to the construction details of
the existing lagoons including information on the subgrade (nature, thickness, and permeability), pipe layout,
liner properties and panel layout, including max freeboard levels.

6.2 Following the submission of the above information, the Environment Agency have confirmed the drainage
scheme implemented is fit for purposes and have raised no objections. Therefore, the scheme as built is
considered to accord with policy DC13 and policies contained within the NPPF.

7.0 Conclusion

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 255



 

 

 

7.1It is considered that the application to regularise the as built scheme would accord with Council policies
relating to protection of rural landscapes and residential amenities.

7.2On balance, it is considered that the proposed development is appropriate and, as such, it is
recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

It is therefore recommended that the application be APPROVED subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 In accordance with submitted
The development hereby approved relates the application form, plans, drawings, and other
documents and details submitted or provided by the applicant, namely drawing numbers:
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

2 Lagoon covered
Within 6 months of the date of this planning permission, the digestate storage lagoons shall
be permanently covered with a cover suitable to exclude birds from accessing the lagoon
and such cover shall remain in place and appropriately maintained for as long as the
aerodromes at RAF Marham remains operational in accordance with details to be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
In order to comply with safeguarding requirements having regard statutory birdstrike
safeguarding zones.

4 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new planning application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 256



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/0952/O CASE OFFICER Fiona Hunter

LOCATION: WATTON APPNTYPE: Outline
Land at Thetford Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Watton ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Gladman Developments Ltd
Gladman House Alexandria Way

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Gladman Developments Ltd
Gladman House Alexandria Way

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of up to 180 dwellings, the provision of open space and recreational facilities, with
site access and associated highways and infrastructure works

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is a major application as defined by the Council's scheme of delegation and is a deviation
from the adopted development plan.

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development
Impact Upon the Countryside and Setting of the Village
Quantum of Development
Highways
Trees
Ecology
Residential Amenity
Contamination
Flooding and Drainage
Housing Mix and Tenure
Open Space
Infrastructure
Other Matters

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Outline planning permission with details of access only for up to 180 dwellings, together with open space and
associated highways and infrastructure works on land at Thetford Road, Watton.

The 'Development Framework Plan' details two accesses for which approval is sought. One is access is from
a new roadabout at the south edge of the site, connecting to Thetford Road (A1075) and Watton Road. A
second access is proposed off Thetford Road towards the north-west part of the site.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 257

Agenda Item 9p



 

 

 

 

The layout is indicative, however, it shows how the site could be delivered. It details two areas of housing,
one to the north and one to the south separated by a green/ SUDS corridor. A further green corridor along
the eastern part of the site. In the south-east corner is a public open space with play area. A pedestrian and
cycle route is shown along the east, south and west part of the site.

The site has extant planning permission for 180 homes (reference: 3PL/2014/1253/O). The key difference
between this application and the extant planning permission is the reduction of affordable housing from 40%
as granted to 25% as proposed.

In addition, following comments from consultees including Norfolk Wildlife Trust (NWT), Natural England (NE)
and NCC Natural Environment Team (NET) the ecological and PRoW mitigation proposals have been
amended. Lastly, the proposed limit of storey height at the north of the site, via the Framework Plan, has
been removed.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site comprises approximately 7.4 hectares of agricultural land and lies at the southern edge
of the Watton. The northern boundary of the site backs on to existing residential properties at Canon Close.
The eastern edge of the site is bound by hedges and trees. The southern boundary of the site is adjacent the
A1075 Thetford Road. To the east of the site is a residential estate granted permission under
3PL/2013/0510/F.

The site is wholly outside but adjacent to the Settlement Boundary. The market town of Watton is identified in
the adopted Core Strategy as being of mid-size and providing a good range of services for residents' day-to-
day needs but with limited capacity for expansion.

The site is located approx. 240 metres away from the statutory-designated Wayland Wood Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and 1.89 km from Breckland Special Protected Area (SPA) and Breckland Farmland
SSSI.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2014/1253/O - Residential development of up to 180 dwellings, provision of recreational facilities, site
access & associated works - Refused by LPA on 27th July 2015. Appeal allowed on 20th April 2016.

3PL/2019/0384/D - Reserved matters application for 180 dwellings, provision of recreational facilities, site
access & associated works, following outline application 3PL/2014/1253/O - Undetermined

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 258



 

 

 

 

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.05 Developer Obligations
CP.06 Green Infrastructure
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.03 Replacement Dwellings and Extensions in the Countryside
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.11 Open Space
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Draft Heads of Terms have been agreed which will be secured by S106 Agreement if the planning committee
resolve the application is to be approved. The following are proposed to be provided by the development and
included in the S106:

- 25% affordable homes
- Education (infant & junior) - amount subject to final mix
- Fire Hydrants 1 per 50 dwellings rounded up (to be conditioned)
- Library - £75 per dwelling
- SSSI Mitigation including: funding for community warden/ ranger; ongoing surveys; new signage. The
contribution in total equates to approximately : £92,750
- Travel Plan Monitoring/ Implementation approximately £90,552
- Off-Site Sports Contribution £146,560.00.
- Monies for the upgrade of surface of PRoW Watton Footpath 7 of £55,000

CONSULTATIONS

WATTON TOWN COUNCIL

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 259



28-01-2019
Watton Town Council re-iterates former objections to development of this site and endorses the report
submitted by Watton Neighbourhood Plan Drainage Group. There are relevant new material changes since
the initial application that should now be considered.

03-09-2018
Watton Town Council objects to this application as it did to previous applications for this site. It was noted the
documents submitted for this application are very much the same as submitted for the original application
with only minor amendment. It was felt the Drainage Report is misleading as it notes there are no issues with
flooding or drainage (Watton Town Council believes past experience has shown the area is prone to
flooding). The Council objects to this application on the grounds of its proximity to SSSI Wayland Wood and
believes there are material changes since the original planning permission was granted. Development which
has taken place in the area should suggest housing need be re-assessed and consideration should be given
to the Drainage Report compiled as part of the Watton Neighbourhood Plan supporting documents. The
same conditions should be applied to this application as on the original permission.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
Objection withdrawn following submission of amended drainage strategy dated 26 June 2019.  Correction
needed in text of the submitted drainage plan.
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
There are assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject to an adoption agreement within or close to the
development boundary that may affect the layout of the site. Anglian Water would ask that notification of this
is appended to any approval notice.

The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Watton Water Recycling Centre which
currently does not have capacity to treat the flows the development site. Anglian Water are obligated to
accept the foul flows from the development with the benefit of planning consent and would therefore take the
necessary steps to ensure that there is sufficient treatment capacity should the Planning Authority grant
planning permission.

From the details submitted to support the planning application the proposed method of surface water
management does not relate to Anglian Water operated assets. As such, we are unable to provide comments
on the suitability of the surface water management.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE
The site has potential that heritage assets with archaeological interest (buried archaeological remains) will be
present at the site and that their significance will be adversely affected by the proposed development. If
planning permission is granted, we therefore ask that this be subject to a programme of archaeological
mitigatory work.
RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA
07-05-2019
The Ramblers fully endorses the comments made by Michelle Sergeant, Green Infrastructure Officer,
attributed to PRoW Officer dated 18-01-19.

02-09-2018
We note and welcome the intention to promote walking and cycling routes through the site and in connection
with existing rights of way. We would suggest that provision is also made to use the site as a link with Watton
FP7, shown on several of the applicants maps as approaching the site from the west. As it emerges on to
Thetford Road close to the proposed location of a roundabout, we propose that the design here clearly

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 260



encourages pedestrians to cross Thetford Road safely and enter the site, using it as access to the town and
also to link to Watton FP13 to the east.
NATURAL ENGLAND
Natural England notes the concerns of the Norfolk Wildlife Trust about the potential damage to Wayland
Wood, Watton Site of Special Scientific Interest. Consequently we think that further mitigation may be
required in addition to what we suggested in our previous letter. We agree that on-site measures may be
necessary and that these may include a visitor management plan and a community warden.
NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST
No objection subject to the SSSI mitigation measures being secured.
MINISTRY OF DEFENCE
No objection.
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER
The proposed new PRoW across third party land is unlikely to be legally achievable as it does not meet the
requirements of section 119 of the Highways Act 1980.  Furthermore, the monies proposed are insufficient.
We would like to suggest, therefore, as this would be a far more effective use of this available sum, that this
is now made available directly to Norfolk Wildlife Trust for additional mitigation measures within Wayland
Wood.

However, we are still concerned that as public footpath 7 leads directly to local schools from opposite the
development on Thetford Road, this footpath would suffer damage from increased footfall and so we would
request that developer undertakes surface improvements themselves, in agreement with the County Council,
to this public footpath as mitigation for this. It has been agreed that the developer will make a financial
contribution with the County Council to arrange the works.
NHS ENGLAND MIDLANDS & EAST (EAST)
The existing GP practice does not have resource capacity to accommodate the additional growth resulting
from the proposed development. The development could generate approximately 414 residents and
subsequently increase demand upon existing constrained services.

A developer contribution will be required towards the one off cost of recruiting additional clinical personnel for
the benefit of the patients at Watton Medical Practice to mitigate the impacts of this proposal. NHS England
calculates the level of contribution required, in this instance to be 10,000 pounds. Payment should be made
before the development commences.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions. Recommends the north and south area have a vehicle link, and that
development faces Thetford Road to naturally reduce traffic speeds.
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL
Contributions sought for infant and junior education, fire hydrants and libraries due to existing capacity
constraints.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
No objection following receipt of additional and amended information. Condition for further information to be
submitted with reversed matters application recommended.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection. Updated tree reports will be required to support an application for the final layout.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 261



 

No further comments, providing the viability assessment has been confirmed via external testing.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objection subject to CMP condition and the agreed mitigation package to manage recreational impacts on
Wayland Wood SSSI needs to be secured through the planning permission.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to condition for contamination investigation and remediation.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
Raise concern in relation to Anglian Water system capacity due to a number of complaints from existing
properties in the area. Recommend conditions requiring Anglian Water that the existing mains sewage
network has sufficient capacity to cope with the additional flow from this development. Where improvements
are necessary to prevent the system from failing these works should be completed prior to the first dwelling
being occupied.
FACILITIES MANAGEMENT
The Council may consider adoption of simple areas of grass but will not adopt drainage features such as
storage lagoons or underground tanks. Consequently the S106 Agreement should provide an opportunity for
BDC to have first refusal of the open space with an option to decline the adoption if it chooses, and for the
developer to then make other arrangements for the management of the land, such as through the Town
Council or a management company.

There was serious flooding in Watton in 2016 and consequently the future maintenance of the ditches and
drainage infrastructure is an important issue.
WATTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN DRAINAGE
The Group objects to this application based on its local knowledge of the area which has been severely
flooded on 15 June 2009 and 23 June 2016. The boulder clay layer close to the surface means that water
does not drain away quickly but accumulates on the surface. Even on days of steady moderate rain the field
floods for this reason.

Disputes the submitted Flood Risk Assessment Report including ownership of ditches.

Existing problems with foul sewer network, including backing up into residents homes.
CPRE NORFOLK
Objects to this application due to:

- Lack of viability evidence
- Site not suitable for housing particularly of this scale
- Flooding issues
- Proposed development would harm the setting and appreciation of Wayland Wood, as well as bringing the
possibility of harm to that valued landscape
- Harm to Waland Wood value as a SSSI / habitat
- Not allocated in adopted development plan
- Emerging plan suggests the housing planned does not include this site.

ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING No Comments Received
BUCKENHAM AVIATION CENTRE LTD No Comments Received
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER No Comments Received

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 262



 

 

 

AIR QUALITY OFFICER No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

The application was advertised in the press on 10/09/2018 and letters sent to immediate neighbours on
15/08/2018. Three site notices were erected on 12/09/2018. Due to submission of revised information, a
further consultation was issued on 20th May 2019 and 4th July for immediate neighbours.

Approximately 55 local representations were received raising the following objections:

- Watton is already over developed
- Application based on theories and statistics which bear little relation to the reality of Watton in 2019
- The Council will struggle to service the town if there are extra houses (doctors, schools, jobs etc.)
- Only one supermarket in the town and certain facilities have closed such as the bank and post office,
together with very limited employment
- Public Transport has deteriorated
- Roads at gridlock/ capacity. Can be difficult to get onto the roads due to this and dangerous. This also
causes pollution
- Attention drawn to newspaper article from unspecified newspaper dated 22-09-2018. Article states less
homes are being built despite assistance from the taxpayer. High level of bonuses and profits for house
builders.
- Harm to Wayland Wood which is a SSSI and Ancient Woodland (setting/ environment/ wildlife)
- Sewerage system is inadequate/ at capacity and clean water system pressure too low
- Trees may be cut down for wood burners and rubbish left
- Breckland have a 5 year plan and no longer need this site to meet housing needs
- Affordable homes unlikely to be used/ allocated to local people
- Houses will be too expensive
-  Report have not been updated since 2014/ original application
- Houses are proposed and the site is next to bungalows
- Issues of flooding in the site area and surrounds
- The site is within a flood plain
- Local views should be listened to
- Need more areas for children to play
- Extra pressure on Wayland Wood by the extra houses including the protected bird species which live there
- Proposed access on the bend would be dangerous
- Loss of views
- Ecological/ Biodiversity/ protected species harm

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1 This application seeks Outline planning permission with details of access for 180 dwellings with
associated open space and infrastructure at land off Thetford Road, Watton. The site is outside the
settlement boundary falling within the countryside. For this reason, the proposal conflicts, in principle, with
Policies SS01, DC02 and CP14 of the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 263



1.2 The Council does not currently have a published 5 year land housing supply as required by the NPPF,
currently reporting 4.77 years as of 31st March 2018. The NPPF is a strong material consideration in the
determination of planning applications and paragraph 11 states that where an authority does not have an up-
to-date five year housing land supply the relevant local policies, should not be considered up-to-date.
Furthermore, housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of
sustainable development unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits or specific policies in the Framework indicate that development should be restricted.
On the aforementioned basis, other principle planning issues for the application are considered below.

1.3  The site is immediately adjacent to the built up part of Watton which is a mid sized market town which
has a good range of services and facilities to meet the day-to-day needs of existing residents. The site's
northern entrance (proposed) is within 800m easy walking distance of the town centre and the various offer it
provides. Whilst residents concerns are note about lack of facilities and capacity, this Market Town is our 4th
/5th most sustainable location. Issues with GP capacity/ lack of GPs is known to be a UK wide issue.  The
site is therefore considered a sustainable location for new housing.

1.4 The site has extant planning permission granted at appeal for up to 180 dwellings on the site, which was
considered under the same adopted development plan. The site has therefore already been found to be
acceptable, and the existing consent could be developed at any time, albeit this is tempered by the question
of whether it is viable given this current application to reduce affordable requirement. Whilst NPPF has been
updated since the decision was granted, which represents a change in material consideration, it is
considered the changes are not materially different to have resulted in a different outcome for this
application, in terms of the inspectors recommendation.

1.5 A further consideration is that the emerging development plan which is at an advanced stage and those
policies which have not been advised to be altered and consulted on by the Inspector carry moderate weight.
These policies include the new settlement boundary for Watton which shows the development site as within
and where new residential development should be directed (GEN 1, GEN 03 and GEN 05).

1.6 Based on the foregoing, the principle of development is considered to be acceptable.

2.0 Impact Upon the Countryside and Setting of the Village

2.1  The site is located within the countryside, however, is immediately adjacent to the built up part of Watton
and is to the east of a new housing estate. The site is not a valued landscape as defined by the NPPF.
Clearly, owing to its scale and current undeveloped nature, the proposal would represent a significant
change in nature and appearance of the land itself.

2.2 The Breckland Landscape Character Assessment (2007) indicates that the site is located within an area
known as the 'Wayland Plateau'.  Land within this area is predominantly farmland interspersed with small
blocks of woodland or farm coverts and occasional paddocks.  Blocks of Ancient Woodland are also a
distinctive feature, e.g. Wayland Wood, approximately 240 metres to the east of the site.  The Settlement
Fringe analysis of Watton highlights the open edge to the town adjacent to Canon Close, but concludes that
the area in general has a low sensitivity to change.  The Character Area Study does however highlight the
need to conserve and continue to manage a functional agricultural landscape to this edge of Watton, and the
aim should be to conserve and enhance Wayland Wood, which is sensitive to further development that would
adjoin or increase recreational pressure within the wood.  Overall, it is suggested that any new development
should seek to create a well integrated settlement edge with the adjacent farmland.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 264



2.3 The Planning Inspector for the previous appeal for the site found that "the proposal would bring
significant change but would not harm the landscape character and appearance of the area, would not
diminish the importance of Wayland Wood within the landscape and would not conflict with adopted Policy
CP11 or the provisions of the NPPF". The indicative layout remains very similar and would provide the open
space infrastructure needed to successfully integrate the development with the adjacent fields, and therefore
the Inspectors conclusion remains applicable and the development is therefore found compliant with Policy
CP 11.

3.0 Quantum of Development

3.1 The proposal would provide up to 180 new dwellings in Watton. The emerging plan which is at an
advanced stage allocates 1,130 new dwellings for Watton which comprises a mix of completed, those with
planning permission and new land allocations. This site is included within these calculations and therefore
has found to be acceptable for the town.

3.2 In relation to net density, the proposal equates to 34 dwellings per hectare. Policy DC2 stipulates that a
density of 40 dwellings per hectare is appropriate in sustainable locations with good public transport. The
development is below this.  The latest version of the NPPF (paragraphs 118 and 123), also supports securing
optimum densities for new developments.  However, this application proposes providing a green edge to
protect the landscape and the SSSI and was previously found to be acceptable under the extant planning
permission, although resulting in the lower density, it is considered acceptable for these reasons.

4.0 Access, Highways Network and Parking

4.1 This application seeks approval of details for access and the application proposes two accesses to
Thetford Road. One is access is from a new roundabout at the south edge of the site, connecting to Thetford
Road (A1075) and Watton Road. A second access is proposed off Thetford Road towards the north-west part
of the site.  The Highways Authority have not objected to these access arrangements subject to conditions
for the detailed design of the roundabout to be approved in writing together, with the delivery prior to
occupation. The Planning Inspector for the previous application also commented that the provision of the
roundabout would have some benefit in itself as it would slow traffic on Thetford Road (the A1075).

4.2 In relation to highways network capacity, under the previous appeal decision, the Planning Inspector
reported that the highway authority considered that the existing road network can accommodate the traffic
generated by this proposal, along with that from other committed developments.  Under the current
application the highways authority have not raised an objection, subject to a number of conditions.

4.3 A number of residents have raised objection due to existing traffic congestion and that the extra houses
will exacerbate this problem. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be refused
on highways grounds where their is an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe. Whilst the development will increase traffic, it is not
considered that the impact would be severe which is reflected by no objection from the highways authority
and the granting of the earlier consent. Furthermore, a Interim Travel Plan is recommended to be conditioned
together with a Travel Plan Contribution of £500 per dwelling as per Highways advice. This should
encourage residents to travel using sustainable modes and fund the County Council to development new
strategies and implement them.

4.4 The Ramblers Association have requested that the development includes proposals to connect Watton
Footpath 7 to the south-west of the site to the development and then to Watton Footpath 13. The Transport
Statement details a roundabout proposal which includes a pedestrian refuge which would provide this link,

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 265



and would be controlled by way of condition.

4.5 The Public Right of Way Officer (PRoW) has asked for a contribution for the improvements of the surface
of Watton Footpath 7 which connects Thetford Road to Merton Road and Wayland Academy, to mitigate
against the development.  This has been agreed by the agent and the agreed estimate is £55,000.

4.6 Given the proposed density of development there is no reason why each unit could not be provided with
at  least two parking spaces in accordance Policy DC 19.

4.7 In relation to Highways and parking, the development is considered compliant with Policy DC 19, CP 4
and Paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

5.0 Layout

5.1 The layout broadly accords with that previously considered by the Planning Inspectorate and approved at
appeal, and a condition was attached to this permission requiring the layout to broadly accord with the
indicative plan.  The Inspector's conclusion is concurred with, and the layout is considered to be of a good
standard. The reasons for this is that a sizable green open space is shown at the south of the site and along
the eastern border which assists with creating a positive transition from rural landscape to the town.
Furthermore, it provides a buffer to Wayland Wood SSSI. These are considered essential to making the
development acceptable, and results in a recommended condition for the Reserved Matters layout to broadly
accord with the Framework Plan.

5.2 Other positive features include a pedestrian and cycle route around the west, south and east of the site,
which in turn connects to existing off-site public footpaths. This route would go some way to mitigating that
the development is next to a busy highway, giving residents an pleasant alternative route to the town centre.
The site is split into a north and south area, each of which benefit from a "green" space focal point. The
drainage strategy is likely to require a pond feature, which would be designed to enhance the open space
and landscape proposals.

5.3 Highways have requested that the northern parts of the site have an internal vehicle connections. This is
can be reflected in a condition.

5.4 Based on the foregoing, the indicative layout is considered of good quality and assist in creating a sense
of place together with creating sustainable places. The plan therefore would meet the objectives of Policy 16
and paragraphs 91 and 127 of the NPPF.

Residential Amenity

5.5 The development is a sensible density, with immediate neighbours only to the northern boundary.
Therefore there is no reason why a layout cannot be achieved which protects existing and new residents
amenity.  Based on the foregoing the impact to residential amenity is acceptable and complies with DC 1,
DC2 and DC16.

6.0 Trees

6.1 The Tree Officer has advised that the internal area of the site is free from arboricultural constraints. As
shown by the indicative plan, trees and hedges along the site border which are category A or B, should be
retained as part of the final layout. In addition, the density and indicative layout provided opportunity for new
planting.  The proposal therefore complies with Policy DC 12, subject to conditions.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 266



7.0 Ecology

7.1 The application has been supported by an Ecology Report. The report found no protected species on site
and made a number of recommendations for mitigation and enhancements.

7.2 NWT originally objected to the application in September 2018  due to the addition of human disturbance
on Wayland Wood SSSI which already faces routine damage from antisocial behavior including vandalism,
littering and fly-tipping. Sensitive species at the site include woodcock and Yellow Star-of-Bethlehem
(woodland plant), for which Wayland Wood is the only site in the whole county. In response to this, the
application was amended to include mitigation measures they had requested, and take a proposal for a new
PRoW which was not legally feasible. The proposed Wayland Wood mitigation measures is monies for NWT,
whom are the wood managers, for: new signage, a woodland warden/ ranger and ongoing surveys to monitor
the condition of the wood. The developer will also undertake works to improve existing PRoW FP7 which
leads to Wayland Academy (secondary school).

7.3  NWT, NCC Natural Environment Team (NET) and Natural England have following these revised
mitigation proposals not raised an objection.

7.5 The part time on-site warden and new signage will directly mitigate against damage from the new
residents, but will also positively address existing issues as well. This is considered satisfactory and ensure
no significant environmental impact to Wayland Wood.  On the foregoing basis, no conflict with Policy CP10
has been identified.

8.0 Contamination

8.1 The Council's Contaminated Land Officer has reviewed the submitted Ground Conditions Desk Study
Report and has not raised an objection subject to a conditions for further site investigation, remediation and
unexpected contamination. On this basis, the development is acceptable in relation to contamination and
compiled with Policy CP 9.

9.0 Flooding and Drainage

9.1 The site is within Flood Zone Risk 1 which has the lowest risk of flooding from rivers and sea as identified
by the governments mapping system. The risk of ground water flooding is identified by the same system as
very low with some areas of low risk.

9.2 During the course of the application there has been further investigations and drainage design work
together with consultation with the LLFA and Environment Agency with different surface water drainage
options considered. This has resulted in an indicative drainage proposal of shallow soakaways in the form of
permeable paving and roadside swales.  Should the rainfall intensity exceed the infiltration rate then the
swales and permeable paving will connect to a piped network and discharge into an attenuation basin.  This
basin will attenuate the storm water and provide some infiltration.  During the more extreme rainfall events
there will be an overflow from the basin into the existing culvert under Thetford Road and into a wider
drainage network, the rate of discharge from this basin plus the rate of infiltration will not exceed the
greenfield runoff rates for the site, thus ensuring flood risk downstream is not increased and will provide a
slight improvement by the controlled rate. The LLFA and EA have lifted their objections to the latest proposal.

9.3 Residents and the Watton Neighborhood Plan Drainage Working Group (WNPDWG) have raised
objection to the development of the site due to existing/ past flooding and this sites development

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 267



exacerbating this. The WNPDWG raised specific concerns in relation to the disposal of surface water via the
ditch. However, as discussed in paragraph 9.2 the development is not anticipated to increase off-site
flooding.

9.4 Residents and the WNPDWG also raised that existing foul water system is not suitable and also advised
that the foul and surface water sewer for Watton is combined. Anglian Water (AW) as the statutory
undertaker for foul drainage and has a responsibility to provide suitable foul drainage for any new
developments. AW have responded and confirmed that the Watton Water Recycling Centre does not have
capacity to serve the proposal and they would be obliged to upgrade it. On this basis, the foul water system
will be upgraded as necessary to serve the development. The Environmental Health Officer has
recommended that a condition be applied requiring the necessary improvement to be made to the foul
drainage system before first occupation of the development. Instead, we recommend the foul water disposal
condition is worded to allow the approved system to be fully functional for each unit prior to its occupation.

9.5 The development is acceptable in respect of flooding and drainage and accords with Policy DC 13.

10.0 Housing Mix and Tenure

10.1 The development proposes 25% affordable housing, which if the maximum 180 units were built would
equate to 45 units. This is considered to be an acceptable provision as it accords with emerging Policy HOU
7. Whilst this emerging Policy is not yet adopted, it has been through Examination in Public, and the 25%
requirement has not been amended as part of the current Main Modifications consultation. Whilst the Council
contends that the emerging Policies have modest weight at this stage, this particular requirement has been
underpinned by Council's Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment, 2017. Furthermore, it is consistent with
the NPPF 2019 and has no unresolved objections where paragraph 49 of the NPPF 2019 advised that
weight should be given to the emerging policy.

10.2 In relation to mix, this is reserved for future determination and there are no site constraints which would
prevent an appropriate mix coming forward as part of a reserved matters application.

11.0 Open Space

11.1 Policy DC 11 requires for a proposal of this number of units an mix as indicatively shown in the
supporting information, to provide: 3,840sqm of childrens play space of which there must be a minimum one
LEAP together with a contribution for off-site sports outdoor space contribution of £148,800 or alternatively
on-site provision.

11.2 The layout is indicative, however, it has been demonstrated that it could provide 180 units plus at least
3,840sqm of childrens play space including a LEAP. In addition, the developer has agreed to the financial
contribution towards off-site sports outdoor space. The development is therefore compliant with Policy DC 11
and will provide sufficient facilities to support the new residents.

11.3 Other landscaping areas are shown a green SUDs corridor running east to west and a green corridor
along the eastern part of the site and a green buffer along the eastern edge.

12.0 Infrastructure

12.1 The additional dwellings will create increased demand on local services and facilities.

12.2 Norfolk County Council Infrastructure Team have commented on the application and advised that infant

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 268



education/care, junior education, libraries and fire hydrants contributions are required.

12.3 In respect of education the combined amount sought is approximately, subject to final mix, £690,062
which would go towards a new classroom at Watton Westfield Infant and Nursery School and Wayland Junior
Academy. The developer has  agreed to these contributions together with the fire hydrant provision condition
and library contribution of £75 per dwelling.

12.4 The NHS have advised they cannot accommodate the development and are seeking £10,000 to cover
the one off cost of recruiting additional clinical personnel for the benefit of the patients at Watton Medical
Practice. The developer has agreed to this obligation. However, this does not meet the S106/CIL tests.

12.5  Ecological mitigation obligations are discussed in Section 7.0 of this report.

12.6 The proposal does therefore provide for the infrastructure identified as necessary to support the new
residents of the development.

13.0 Other matters

13.1 The site has archaeological potential as evidenced by the supporting reports and confirmed by NCC
Environment Services, whom have not raised an objection subject to a condition for further investigation.

14.0 Conclusion/ Planning Balance

14.1 The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls out any settlement
boundary.  However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the NPPF and
this development would provide a contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. On this basis, the other
key principle considerations for this proposal must be considered and a planning balance judgement made.

14.2 The Council are currently able to demonstrate a 4.77 year land housing supply as of March 2018. This
equates to deficit of 211 houses. This development would therefore equate to providing 85% of the deficit
which is a strong positive benefit. The additional residents would also support local business in the town and
existing public transport services.

14.3 The site is in a sustainable location adjacent to the built up part of the mid-sized market town of Watton,
and within 800m walking distance of the town centre. The site is also within the development boundary of the
emerging plan and contributes to 5 year land housing supply of the emerging plan.

14.4 The development of the site will change an agricultural field to built development changing the character
of the site, however, there is modern housing development to the west of the site and Watton to the north.
The development would therefore be seen in context of these built up areas, and proposals are included for a
soft green edge. The harm to the landscape and setting of Watton has been found to be minor in nature.

14.5 The PRoW, signage and open space mitigation proposals are considered sufficient to moderate any
harm to Wayland Wood SSSI.

14.6 The development would give rise to no harms which would significantly and demonstrably out-weigh the
benefits including a sizeable contributions towards the Council's 5 year land housing supply and 47
affordable houses. In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the application should therefore be
approved subject to conditions and S106 legal agreement.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 269



 

 

RECOMMENDATION

Approve subject to conditions and S106.

CONDITIONS

1 Early delivery of Housing Time limit
Valid Application for Approval of all Reserved Matters must be made not later than the
expiration of TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development
must be begun within ONE YEAR of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED
MATTERS or, in the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE
LAST SUCH MATTER to be approved.

Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to ensure
the early delivery of housing.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping of the development.

Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
This notice relates to the land identified by drawing number G.0223_06 entitled Site Location
Plan. The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form
and the approved plans and documents listed in at the end of this decision notice.

The reserved matters details shall broadly accord with drawing no. P18-1177_03 Rev A
(Development Framework Plan) in respect of green spaces and pedestrian and cycle routes
and connections.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site and to provide good connectivity and
promote walking and cycling in accordance with Sections 8, 9 and 10 of the National
Planning Policy Framework 2019; together with mitigating against additional visitor demand
to Wayland Wood in accordance with Policy CP 10 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009) and The Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.

4 Standard outline landscaping condition
The reserved matters as specified by Condition 2 of this decision, shall include details of a
landscaping and tree planting scheme, which shall take account of any existing trees or
hedges on the site. The landscaping and tree planting shall be carried out in accordance
with the scheme as approved during the planting season of the November/March
immediately following the commencement of the development, or within such longer period
as may be agreed in writing, with the Local Planning Authority, and in accordance with the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 270



Council's leaflet "Tree pack" (Landscaping advice for applicants).

Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 (five) years from the completion of the
landscaping scheme die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced during the next planting season with others of the same size and species unless
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development having regard to Policy
CP 10 of the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009).
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Height Restriction
No dwelling shall exceed 2½ storeys in height.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policies DC16
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009 and paragraph 131 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

6 External materials to be approved
No development above the laying of foundations shall take place until a schedule of
materials to be used in the construction of the external elevations of each dwelling hereby
approved has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Only such agreed materials shall be used in connection with this approval.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC16
of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 In accordance with Arboricultural report
No development whatsoever shall take place until a Tree Protection Plan and Method
Statement, which retains all existing category A and B trees on site, has been submitted to
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The construction works shall be carried out in
accordance with the scheme as approved.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required prior to commencement to ensure trees and hedgerows are
protected in accordance with Policy DC12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Fencing protection for existing trees
Prior to the commencement of any work on the site, all existing trees shall be protected by
the erection of Tree Protection Fencing as per the details approved under Condition 7 of this
notice.   This fencing shall be retained throughout the period of the development and at all
times when works (as defined below) are being carried out on the site.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 271



For the purposes of this condition "work" shall include the storage of plant, materials, site
huts or the use of any machinery either for preparatory site work or construction itself.
"Trees" shall refer to all trees both on and adjacent to the site.

Protective fencing shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with BS5837:2012
and the Council's document Practice Note: Construction and Maintenance of Tree Protection
Fencing, which is available to download from the Council's website.

Reason for condition:-
The works are required to be undertaken prior to the commencement of the development in
order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in accordance
with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

9 Contaminated Land - Site
Investigation/Remediation
Unless otherwise first agreed in writing, the following details shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the
development hereby approved:

A.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include: (i) a survey of the extent, scale
and nature of contamination; (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of remedial options,
and proposal of the preferred option(s).

B.  Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.

C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 272



The above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.

Reason for condition:-
Details are required prior to commencement ensure that risks from land contamination to the
future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite
receptors. This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core
Strategy.

INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed.  In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. This condition is
imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Archaeological work to be agreed
A) No development shall take place until an archaeological written scheme of investigation
has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. The scheme
shall include an assessment of significance and research questions; and 1) The programme
and methodology of site investigation and recording, 2) The programme for post
investigation assessment, 3) Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and
recording, 4) Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and
records of the site investigation, 5) Provision to be made for archive deposition of the
analysis and records of the site investigation and 6) Nomination of a competent person or
persons/organization to undertake the works set out within the written scheme of

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 273



investigation; and,

B) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the written scheme of
investigation approved under condition (A); and,

C) The development shall not be occupied, unless otherwise first agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority, until the site investigation and post investigation assessment has
been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the archaeological written
scheme of investigation approved under condition (A) and the provision to be made for
analysis, publication and dissemination of results and archive deposition has been secured.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of the development to
ensure the potential archaeological interest of the site is investigated and protected from the
outset of the development,  in accordance with Policy DC 17 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Any drainage conditions
Any reserved matters application shall be accompanied by a detailed drainage plan(s) and
calculations. The approved drainage system shall be completed in full prior to first
occupation or in accordance with a timetable to be first submitted to and agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of surface water from
the site for the lifetime of the development and to protect and prevent the pollution of
controlled waters from potential pollutants associated with current and previous land uses in
line with National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and having regard to Policy DC 13 of
the Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009).

13 Drainage Maintenance and Management
Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, full details of the maintenance
company to manage and maintain the drainage systems and adjacent landscape areas,
where proposed, on the site shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority. These details shall include the type and structure of the maintenance
company (including provisions for replacement personnel) as well as details of the frequency
and types of maintenance proposed for each drainage feature on site. The approved
maintenance company shall be responsible for the management and maintenance of the
drainage and immediately adjacent landscape areas in perpetuity in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason for the condition:-
To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site, for the lifetime of the
development in accordance with Policy DC 13 of the Core Strategy and Development
Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

14 External Lighting

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 274



No external lighting shall be installed without prior written approval from the Local Planning
Authority. Only such approved lighting shall be installed.  Such lighting shall be kept to a
minimum for the purposes of security and site safety, and shall prevent illumination of
mature trees and boundary hedges. Lighting shall be expected to have the following
specification unless it can be demonstrated that a different specification would be acceptable
in terms of ecology and pollution:

1) fully shielded (enclosed in full cut-off flat glass fitments)
2) directed downwards (mounted horizontally to the ground and not tilted upwards)
3) be sensor operated
4) white light low-energy lamps (LED, metal halide or fluorescent) and not orange or pink
sodium sources

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of amenity and reduce disruption to commuting/ foraging bats and to limit
light pollution, in accordance with Policies CP 9,  CP10 and DC 1 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

15 Ecological Management Plan
An Ecological Management Plan (EMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to laying of foundations of the development here by permitted.
The content of the EMP shall include the following.

a)            Description and evaluation of features to be managed,
b)            Ecological constraints on site that might influence management
c)            Aims and objectives of management
d)            Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives including
mitigation detailed in the Ecological Appraisal (fpcr; July 2018) submitted with the application
namely that for:
·             The provision of open space and green infrastructure
·             Creation and management of the SUDs for amphibians and other wildlife
·             protection and enhancement of bat feeding and commuting corridors,
·             protection and enhancement of hedgerows
·             No. of nest boxes for birds
·             No. of bat boxes
·             the development needs to proceed in-line with the mitigation and enhancement
measures outlined in section 4 of the Ecological Appraisal (fpcr; April 2019).
e)            Prescriptions for management actions
f)             Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being
rolled forward over a five-year period)
g)            Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan
h)            On-going monitoring and remedial measures

The EMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanisms by which the long-
term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer. The plan shall also set out
(where the results of monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the EMP are
not being met) how remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so the
development still delivers the fully function biodiversity objectives of the originally approved
scheme.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 275



The approved EMP legal and funding mechanisms will be set up and operational prior to first
occupation of the development and thereafter retained in perpetuity.

Reason for condition:-
To provide biodiversity mitigation and enhancement in accordance with Policy CP 10 of the
Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
(2009) and having regard to Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.
This condition will require to be discharged

16 Precise details of foul water disposal
No development above the laying of foundations or development of any drains shall take
place unless or until precise details of the means of foul water disposal shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved foul water system
shall be made available and fully functional for each dwelling prior to their first occupation.

Reason for condition:-
Details are required at an early stage in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the
Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

17 Non-standard highways condition
No works shall commence on the site until such time as detailed plans of the roads,
footways, cycleways, foul and surface water drainage have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All construction works shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved plans.

Prior to occupation of any dwelling hereby approved the road(s), footway(s) and cycleway(s)
shall be constructed to binder course surfacing level from the dwelling to the adjoining
County road in accordance with the approved details.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with paragraph 108(b) of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CP 4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009).
This condition will require to be discharged

18 Visibility Splays
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted visibility splays measuring
2.4 metres x 59 metres shall be provided to each side of the access where it meets the
highway. The splay(s) shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction
exceeding 0.225 metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with paragraph 108(b) of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CP 4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009).

19 Parking for Construction Workers

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 276



Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing provision for parking for
construction workers for the duration of the construction period has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented
throughout the construction period.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with paragraph 108(b) of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CP 4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009).
This condition will require to be discharged

20 Non-standard highways condition
No development above the laying of foundations or development of any drains or roads shall
take place unless or until the detailed drawings for the off-site highway improvement works
as indicated on Drawing 4746/19/02 D have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, the approved off-site
highway improvement works shall be completed unless first otherwise agreed in writing with
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with paragraph 108(b) of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CP 4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009).
This condition will require to be discharged

21 Interim Travel Plan
A. No works above the laying of foundations shall commence, unless or until an Interim
Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

B. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied prior to implementation of
the Interim Travel Plan referred to in Part A of this condition. During the first year of
occupation an approved Full Travel Plan based on the Interim Travel Plan referred to in Part
A of this condition shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved Full Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the
timetable and targets contained therein and shall continue to be implemented as long as any
part of the development is occupied subject to approved modifications agreed by the Local
Planning Authority as part of the annual review.

Reason for condition:-
To create a sustainable form of development in accordance with the National Planning
Policy Framework 2019, specifically paragraph 8 and 9.
This condition will require to be discharged

22 Construction Method Statement
No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction
Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.
The Statement shall provide for:

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 277



 

ii.         loading and unloading of plant and materials
ii.         storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
iii.         the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate
iv.          wheel washing facilities
v.          measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
vi.         a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction
works
vii.        noise mitigation measures for piling, drilling and powered machinery

Reason for condition:
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development in the interests of
the amenity of the area and to ensure a safe development from the outset of the
development having regard to Policy DC1 and CP4 of the Breckland Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009).
This condition will require to be discharged

23 Fire Hydrants
No development above the laying of foundations shall take place until a scheme has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the provision of fire
hydrants (served by mains water supply) serving the development.  No dwelling shall be
occupied until the approved hydrant(s) for that Phase have been provided in accordance
with the approved scheme.

Reason for condition:-
In order to secure the provision of fire hydrants to serve the development.
This condition will require to be discharged

24 Boundary Screening
Prior to any works progressing above slab level, a scheme for the provision of boundary
screening, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.  Such scheme as
may be agreed shall be completed prior to the occupation of the development which the
screening adjoins.

Reason for condition:-
To safeguard the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and to ensure the
satisfactory appearance of the development, in accordance with Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of
the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28th May 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 278



Item. 9(p)  

Location:  Land at Thetford Road, Watton 

Proposal: Erection of up to 180 dwellings, the provision of open space and recreational facilities, with 

site access and associated highways and infrastructure works.  

REFERENCE: 3PL/2018/0952/O 

Applicant: Gladman Developments Ltd 

Author: Fiona Hunter 

Report Corrections  

Obligations/ CIL Section and paragraph 4.5 PRoW contribution should be £52,000. Paragraph 11.1 – 

off-site sports area contribution where required should be an estimate of £146,560 subject to final 

mix. Paragraph 12.3 education contribution estimate is £504,474, exact amount subject to final mix. 

Paragraph 14.6 – Should refer to 45 affordable dwellings not 47. 

Replace paragraph 14.2 with the following: The Council are currently able to demonstrate a 4.77 year 

land housing supply as of March 2018. This development is included in the 5 year land supply 

calculations, and without this development the Council will have less than the reported 4.77 years. 

The development therefore provides a meaningful contribution to the 5 year land housing supply. The 

additional residents would also support local businesses in the town and existing public transport 

services. 

Condition 3 should refer to the latest framework plan which is revision B. 

Condition 4 – landscaping works should not be restricted to winter months only, and instead limit this 

to planting of trees and plants. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approval subject to conditions, including amendments detailed above, and S106 legal agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

279



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0408/F CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: WHISSONSETT APPNTYPE: Full
Development plot next to POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
The Paddocks  London Street ALLOCATION: N
Whissonsett CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr E Anderson & Mrs. Anderson
The Paddocks, London Street
Whissonsett

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Stone Planning Consultants
4, Redisham Close, Lowestoft

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of One bungalow

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Planning Committee as the recommendation is contrary to policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on character and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Tree implications
Ecological implications

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks Full permission for the erection of one dwelling.  The dwelling is single storey and will
comprise of three beds. A detached garage is also proposed to the front of the property.  The existing access
off London Street is proposed for use.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is currently gravelled with several outbuildings and storage containers ancillary to The Paddocks.
There is screening to the side and rear boundaries by way of established hedging.  The site is situated
behind existing development which fronts London Street, therefore the site is well screened from public
views.

EIA REQUIRED

No

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 280

Agenda Item 9q



 

 

 

 

 

 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2016/0812/O - Demolition of outbuilding and erection of two dwellings - Withdrawn

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

WHISSONSETT P C
Whissonsett Parish Council has no objections to this application.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
This proposal is a resubmission of 3PL/2016/0812 which received a highway objection and which was
subsequently withdrawn. Following this the, then, agent advised me that some vegetation had been removed
to the south of the access and requested I took another look at the site. This I did and advised the issue was
the same as before in that the verge in front of Crawford House does not form part of the highway and
physical obstructions remain which limit visibility, including the face of a building to the south and and wall
adjacent to The Smithy to the north. According to my records the highway boundary is roughly in line with the
wall of The Smithy, the telegraph pole and the buildings fronting the highway to the south of Crawford House.
The submited information clearly shows that visibility to the south is restricted by the face of a building and,
notwithstanding that, requires land outside of the applicants control. When I previously visited the site
planting in the private verge restricted visibility to a matter of metres. The wide verge in front of Crawford
House does not form part of the highway and the applicant consequently has no control over any future

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 281



 

 

 

planting. Consequently my advice remains as originally given and which I repeat below. The site is served by
a private track which links into London Street (C229), a classified County highway designated as a Local
Access Route in the County Council's Route Hierarchy. In the vicinity of the site, London Street is subject to
a 30mph speed restriction for which Government safety standards, as defined in Manual for Streets,
recommend access visibility of 43m from a 2.4m set back.  Visibility from the existing access is limited to
around 7m to the south (the critical, on-coming traffic direction) and around 9m to the north. Any additional
visibility is gained by looking over land which lies outside of the highway boundary and outside of the
applicant's control. This level of visibility represents a mere 16% and 21%, respectively, of the recommended
safety guidance. The area to be developed is ancillary to the applicants dwelling and would therefore
generate little to no independent traffic in it's own right. By comparison it is considered that a development of
2 dwellings would result in an additional 12 vehicular movements per weekday plus those movements
associated with deliveries.

In this location, where no regular public transport, shops or other amenities exist it is considered that
residents would be reliant on travelling by car and therefore it would be unlikely vehicular activity would fall
below this figure. It is the view of this Authority that the introduction of further traffic movements, in a location
where visibility is severely restricted, would give rise to the potential for collision and personal injury accident
and I would therefore recommend that permission be refused.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to condition.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; April 2019) is fit for purpose. We agree with the proposed
mitigation measures outlined in the report to reduce the likelihood of impacts on ecological receptors to
acceptable levels. Due to the scale of the proposed development and the distances involved there are
unlikely to be impacts of the proposed development on designated sites. If you are minded to approve this
application, it is recommended that you condition the proposed development  proceed in-line with the
mitigation measures outlined in section 7 of the Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; April 2019) and
enhancement measures outlined in section 8 must be incorporated into the site's design to provide 'net gains
for nature' in accordance with paragraph 170 of the NPPF.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 9th May 2019
Consultations issued: 1st May 2019
Re-consultations issued: 30th May 2019

7 representations received raising the following objections:
- Creeping development
- Flooding
- Narrow access/highway safety issues
- Fire tender access
- Safety of a wooden fence as boundary treatment
- Wildlife and ecological implications

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 282



 

- Red line/site boundary disputes
- Inaccuracies on the application form
- Damage to adjoining properties during construction
- The holiday let at The Paddocks.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  Background

1.1  The original submission proposed two dwellings, the scheme was reduced to one following discussion
with the Case Officer.  This was the subject of a re-consultation.

2.0  Principle

2.1  The application seeks permission for the erection of one dwelling on land outside of the Whissonsett
settlement boundary.  For this reason the proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC02 and CP14 of the
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus
new housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.  However, as the Council cannot currently demonstrate a
5 year supply of housing land, policies in respect of the supply of housing cannot be considered to be up-to-
date and can be given little weight.  The application is therefore assessed against the benefits provided in
relation to the sustainable development tests as set out in the NPPF.

2.2 The NPPF identifies three dimensions of sustainable development:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

2.3  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF also stresses that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation because
they are mutually dependent; therefore a balanced assessment against these three roles is required.

2.4  In terms of the very limited economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide one new dwelling
and would provide some short-term economic benefits through construction, and longer-term economic
benefits through additional household spend within the surrounding area that would be generated by the
provision of the dwelling.

2.5 Socially, the application site sits just beyond of the Settlement Boundary of Whissonsett. Whissonsett
does not offer a sufficient range of services and facilities to meet the essential day-to-day needs of occupiers
of the proposed dwelling. In this respect, the proposal would not make a significant contribution to the
enhancement or maintenance of the vitality of rural communities. Services and facilities to meet day-to-day
needs, including shops and schools, would be found in higher order settlements such as Fakenham and

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 283



Dereham, several miles away from the application site. Bus services do operate between Whissonsett and
King's Lynn, Norwich, Fakenham and Tittleshall. The services are infrequent and would provide limited
service for any potential occupiers.  These factors weigh against the proposal.

3.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

3.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

3.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

3.3  The proposal seeks permission for a single storey dwelling which will be sited in area currently occupied
by gravel and several outbuildings and storage containers, as a result, there is an argument that the dwelling
will be an improvement in terms of the site's current appearance.  The dwelling proposed will be positioned in
line with the current building line of The Paddocks and has been designed taking account of the existing form
of development, i.e. typical pitched roof and modest scale and the proposed materials are also in keeping
with other development in the village.  The dwelling will also be positioned behind the road fronting
development and there will therefore be limited views from the public realm.  Solar panels are also proposed
which goes some way to help improve the dwelling's energy efficiency.  In light of these factors, the proposal
is considered to accord with the environmental role of sustainable development, policy DC16 and paragraph
127 of the NPPF (2019).

4.0  Amenity impact

4.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

4.2  As stated, the dwelling has been positioned behind the road fronting dwellings with good and generous
separation distances between it and the nearest neighbouring elevations at The Paddocks and Crawford
House.  The dwelling is single storey and therefore won't cause any significant overlooking issues with the
aid of boundary treatment, nor will the dwelling appear overbearing.    The plot has also been afforded a
good amount of private amenity space.  The addition of dwelling is also considered to be negligible in terms
of the levels of noise and disturbance likely generated as a result, it is estimated at a possible 6 vehicle
movements a day.  In light of these considerations, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DC1 and
paragraph 127(f) of the NPPF (2019).

5.0  Highway safety

5.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.  Paragraphs 108 and 109 of
the NPPF are also relevant.

5.2  The existing access leading to The Paddocks is proposed for use to serve the new dwelling.  The
dwelling will benefit from a detached double garage with turning space available.  Norfolk County Council

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 284



Highways Team was consulted and advised the following:

"The site is served by a private track which links into London Street (C229), a classified County highway
designated as a Local Access Route in the County Council's Route Hierarchy.

5.3  In the vicinity of the site, London Street is subject to a 30mph speed restriction for which Government
safety standards, as defined in Manual for Streets, recommend access visibility of 43m from a 2.4m set back.

5.4  Visibility from the existing access is limited to around 7m to the south (the critical, on-coming traffic
direction) and around 9m to the north. Any additional visibility is gained by looking over land which lies
outside of the highway boundary and outside of the applicant's control. This level of visibility represents a
mere 16% and 21%, respectively, of the recommended safety guidance.

5.5  The area to be developed is ancillary to the applicants dwelling and would therefore generate little to no
independent traffic in its own right. By comparison it is considered that a development of 2 dwellings would
result in an additional 12 vehicular movements per weekday plus those movements associated with
deliveries. In this location, where no regular public transport, shops or other amenities exist it is considered
that residents would be reliant on travelling by car and therefore it would be unlikely vehicular activity would
fall below this figure. It is the view of this Authority that the introduction of further traffic movements, in a
location where visibility is severely restricted, would give rise to the potential for collision and personal injury
accident and I would therefore recommend that permission be refused."

5.6  Whilst this advice was carefully taken into consideration, the scheme was reduced from 2 dwellings to 1,
therefore reducing anticipated vehicular movements from 12 to 6 daily.  Given this reduction alongside the
relatively low traffic speeds along London Road and the access does already serve one dwelling with an
additional access created at Crawford House following a 2002 permission for a garage, that the highway
safety implications on the road network were not considered to be 'severe' and therefore a refusal on this
basis could not be justified.

6.0  Tree implications

6.1  Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.

6.2  There are limited trees in the vicinity of the single dwelling proposed none near the site are the subject of
a protection order and the site does not lie within a conservation area, as a result the Tree and Countryside
Officer rasied no objection to the proposed scheme.

7.0  Ecological implications

7.1  Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  There is an
expectation that development will incorporate biodiversity or geological features where opportunities exist.

7.2  The application was supported by an Ecology Report which was sent to the Ecology Team for comment.
They advised that the Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; April 2019) is fit for purpose.  The proposed
mitigation measures outlined in the report to reduce the likelihood of impacts on ecological receptors to
acceptable levels are agreed. Due to the scale of the proposed development and the distances involved
there are unlikely to be impacts of the proposed development on designated sites.  No objection raised
subject to the mitigation and enhancement measures being conditioned.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 285



7.4  In light of this, and subject to appropriate conditions, the application is considered to have due regard to
Policy CP10.

8.0  Other issues

8.1  The majority of the comments raised by the neighbours are addressed within the other sections within
the report.  The comments made in respect of flooding were noted however the site does not fall within a
flood zone 2 or 3 nor is it prone to surface water drainage issues having checked the Government's Flood
maps, therefore there is no requirement to request a Flood Risk Assessment and therefore no justification to
refuse the application on this basis.

8.2 Fire tender access - this was raised with the Agent during the course of the application given the distance
of the dwellings footprint to the highway.  The agent is aware of the Building Regulations implications, and
this will be properly assessed by them should approval be forthcoming.

8.3 Safety of a wooden fence as boundary treatment - a suggestion of an 8ft wall was raised by a neighbour
as a means of  boundary treatment, however this is not considered to be in keeping with the green and
natural nature of the existing boundary treatment and 8ft is an excessive height.  Wooden boundary fences
are considered acceptable as boundary treatment.

8.4 Red line and land ownership - In terms of the ownership issues the agent has confirmed that they are the
owners of the site edged red.  Notwithstanding this, land ownership is a civil issue that would be dealt with
outside of the planning process.

8.6 Damage to properties during construction - the access track is considered a sufficient width to cater for
traffic, however ultimately this is not a material planning consideration and if damage was made would be a
civil issue between each party.

9.0  Conclusion

9.1 In terms of the overall planning balance, the application does not accord with the adopted development
plan as the site falls outside of any settlement boundary.  However,the Council does not currently have a 5
year land supply as required by the NPPF and this development would provide a small contribution towards
Breckland's Housing supply. On this basis, the other key principle considerations for this proposal must be
assessed and are whether the site is a sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the
countryside.

9.2 The site is in close proximity to the existing settlement boundary and to other dwellings. The application
demonstrates that the site can be developed whilst having limited impact on the character of the area and
views will be limited. On this basis, the development of the site would not negatively impact the character and
appearance of the countryside and therefore complies with Policy DC16.

9.3 The site is not in a sustainable location with good access to services and facilities. This is a negative
aspect of the proposal, and does not accord with policies SS01 and CP14.

9.4 When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the close proximity of other
dwellings, weighed against the the small negative harm created by the site's location away from services and
facilities for a single dwelling, is considered to be outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in
the district and due to the aforementioned reasons the development will not cause significant harm to the
street scene or character and appearance of the countryside.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 286



 

 

9.5 In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and therefore the grant of Outline planning permission subject to
conditions, is recommended.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning Permission subject to conditions:

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External materials as approved
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed using the materials specified on the
planning application form and / or submitted drawings.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the
development, as required by policies DC 1 & DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

4 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted the proposed car
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/ manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety in accordance with Policy CP4 of the
Breckland Adopted Local Plan.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Ecology
The proposed development shall proceed in-line with the mitigation measures outlined in
section 7 of the Ecology Report (Wild Frontier Ecology; April 2019) and prior to the first
occupation of the development hereby approved, the enhancement measures outlined in
section 8 shall be incorporated into the site's design and evidence and details submitted and
approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the development is not detrimental to Protected Species and in order to protect

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 287



 

and enhance the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted
Core Strategy and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009 and the
National Planning Policy Framework.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Ground Gas Measures  - CLand
Prior to the commencement of work on site, full details of ground gas protection measures
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, or a site investigation
may be undertaken to provide site specific assessment which would need to be acted on
accordingly.  The scheme shall be constructed and completed in accordance with the
approved specification at such times as may be specified in the approved scheme.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure a safe development in accordance with Policy CP9 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009.

Informative: The developer is referred to the BRE report 414, CIRIA665 / C149 or similar for
guidance on gas protection measures, or CLR11 or similar for guidance on site investigation.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Implementation of submitted boundary treatment
The boundary treatment shown on the plans and particulars hereby approved shall be
constructed in the manner shown and completed before the dwelling is first occupied.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policy
DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 288



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2019/0321/F CASE OFFICER Naomi Minto

LOCATION: WRETHAM APPNTYPE: Full
Tofts Barns Church Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Wretham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: Adjacent

APPLICANT: Mr Matthew Freeman
Plot to the south of Tofts Barn Church
Road

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Philip Cowen
Cowen Consulting Ltd Chiara Mere
Road

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of dwelling and detached garage

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The agent for the application is a Councillor.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on the chartacter and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Ecological implications
Tree impact

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Erection of dwelling and detached garage.  The proposal includes the erection of a two storey dwelling in a
barn style, gable end facing the highway, to be constructed of facing brick and feature flint panels at ground
floor with weather boarding to first floor areas.  The proposal is to have a slate pitched roof on its two storey
element.  There is a large flat roofed single storey element projecting off the southern side of the barn and a
single storey flat roofed garage to the front of the site.  Access and car parking is off Church Road.  The
garage and flat roofed element of the proposals are to have green roofs.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site is located to the west of the A1075 Thetford Road at Manor Farm a former pig farm to the south of
Church Road.  The site is bounded by Church Road on the western boundary.  The site adjoins the
Conservation Area to the west of the site.  The neighbouring properties are mainly to the north of the site,
although there is a neighbouring property to the south west and one to the north east with further permitted

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 289

Agenda Item 9r



 

 

 

dwellings under construction (see site history).

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3DC/2017/0128/DOC DOC-Discharge PART 11-10-17
Discharge of condition 8 on 3PL/2017/0506/VAR

3DC/2018/0099/DOC DOC - COMPLETE 11-07-18
Discharge of conditions 3,5,6, on 3PL/2018/0263/F

3PL/2014/0686/F Permission 29-01-15
Conversion of barn to two dwellings & erection of 7 houses (resubmission of 3PL/2005/1159/F)

3PL/2016/1381/HOU Withdrawn INVALID 12-12-16
Roadside brick wall to the Northern boundary of Billingford Hall (grade II listed building).
Closure of the existing road access and the creation of new road access into the site

3PL/2017/0506/VAR Permission 23-06-17
Revision of  3PL/2014/0686/F Condition 1 - Amended house design (Plot 4)

3PL/2017/0874/VAR Withdrawn INVALID 28-07-17
Conversion of barn to two dwellings & erection of 7 houses (resubmission of 3PL/2005/1159/F
3PL/2014/0686/F Conditions(s) Condition No 1

3PL/2017/1031/F Permission 05-10-17
Conversion of existing barn into two dwellings with associated garages and carports

3PL/2018/0263/F Permission 09-05-18
Erection of two dwellings & garages (New build due to barn collapse)

There is no site history for this site, but relevant site history on neighbouring parcels of land, as follows:

3PL/2005/1159/F - Removal of piggery, demolish redundant farm buildings, convert old barn to 3 dwellings
and erection of 6 dwellings.

3PL/2014/0686/F - Conversion of barn to two dwellings & erection of 7 houses (resubmission of
3PL/2005/1159/F) - Permission

3PL/2015/1253/F - Revised house design Plot D - Permission

3PL/2016/1318/F - Re-design 3-bed detached dwelling with attached garage on plot 5 - Permission

3PL/2017/0506/VAR - Revision of  3PL/2014/0686/F Condition 1 - Amended house design (Plot 4) -
Permission

3PL/2017/1031/F - Conversion of existing barn into two dwellings with associated garages and carports -

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 290



 

 

 

 

 

 

Permission

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.03 Replacement Dwellings and Extensions in the Countryside
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.14 Energy Efficiency
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.19 Parking Provision
LBC Planning(Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

WRETHAM P C
No objection.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection, subject to conditions.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
No objection.

NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS No Comments Received

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 291



 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS

A site notice was erected and consultation with neighbours undertaken but no representations have been
received.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle

1.1  The application site is located outside of any defined Settlement Boundary, with Wretham not having a
settlement boundary and being located in the Countryside, as designated by the adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009). For this reason the proposal conflicts in
principle with Policies DC 2 and CP 14, which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries.

1.2  Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications for housing are out-of-date,
granting permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits.

1.3  The Council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document, with regard to housing supply, are not considered up-to-date
and therefore the material considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within
paragrapgh 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.4  In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide one new dwelling and would
therefore make a very small contribution to the housing supply shortfall. The proposal would also provide
some limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during
construction, and longer-term economic benefits through the additional household spend within the
surrounding area that would be generated by the provision of up to three new homes.

1.5  Wretham does not have a designated settlement boundary and therefore lies in The Countryside, in
accordance with Policy SS1 of the Core Strategy.  Only minimal development is permitted in these locations

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 292



in accordance with Policy SS1.  However, from the site history of the area, dwellings have been permitted to
the north and south of the site and given the Council's current lack of a five year housing land supply, a
further dwellings in this location is considered acceptable in this instance, despite the sites unsustainable
location.

1.6  In light of these factors, the site is considered to meet the aims and objectives of the economic and
social roles of sustainable development.

2.0  Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2  Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.3  Policy CP11 seeks the protection and enhancement of the landscape for the sake of its intrinsic beauty
and benefit to the rural character.  Development should have particular regard to maintaining the aesthetic
and biodiversity qualities of natural and man-made features within the landscape, including consideration of
individual or groups of natural and man-made features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers,
streams or other topographical features.

2.4  The application has been designed to replicate other barn style development in the immediate proximity,
and permitted immediately to the north of the site.  The proposal is for a two storey barn style development
with gable end facing Church Road.  This is considered, with the materials proposed to mimic other new
development in this location, with the rather narrow proportions of this part of the proposal taking reference
from the projecting single storey element of the adjacent development to the north.  This will sit well in the
wider context of this area, which comprises a mix of types and styles but all with barn or agricultural 'ad-hoc'
development principles, using good quality materials and staggered approach to development.

2.5 The proposal does include a flat roof garage to the front of the site and a large flat roofed side extension.
Both are proposed to have green, flat roofs.  It is considered that both these elements are at odds with the
proposed barn concept and wider site design.  However, it has been pointed out that the adjacent barn
development of two dwelling includes a large flat roof front extension facing Church Road.  Although, this is
flanked by two single storey pitched roof elements which partially hide it from the wider area, it is still clearly
visible from the Highways.  Therefore, it is difficult to raise an objection to the design of the garage and side
extension, in light of the permitted adjacent development.  These elements are at least single storey, with
green roofs and with some additional landscaping and management of the green roof (which can be secured
via condition), they may blend into the wider green context of the site, which has significant green/open
amenity space surrounding.

2.6 On balance, and taking into consideration the titled balance, as required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, it
is not considered to that the proposal would have such a significant and detrimental impact on the street
scene to warrant refusal on this basis.  In light of the above, the application is considered to have due regard
to the aforementioned policies and the environmental role of sustainable development as well as paragraph
127 of the NPPF.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 293



3.0  Amenity impact

3.1  Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2  The proposal does extend back further into the site than the neighbouring permitted development, at two
stories.  However, it is considered sufficiently distanced from this neighbouring property so as not to unduly
overshadow or be overbearing.  The proposed dwelling  has access to a large area for amenity space and for
these reasons the proposal is unlikely to have a significant impact on the amenity of existing
properties/permissions or future occupants.  In light of these factors, the proposal is considered to accord
with Policy DC1 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF which in part seeks a high standard of amenity for existing
and future users.

4.0  Highway safety

4.1  Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient parking for all new development.

4.2  The proposal includes a vehicle access off Church Road, there appears sufficient space for visibility,
access and car parking within the site to meet the requirements of policy and highway standards.  The
comments of the Highways Authority have been sought for this application but none have been received.
These have been chased and will be reported to members of the Planning Committee and any relevant
conditions added, if planning permission is granted.  For these reasons the proposal is considered to accord
with Policies CP4 and DC19 of the Core Strategy.

5.0 Conservation Area

5.1 The application lies outside of but adjacent to the Wretham Conservation Area.  Policies 16 of the NPPF,
DC17 of the Core Strategy and Section 71 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990
requires the character and appearance of Conservation Areas to be preserved and enhanced. The flat roofed
elements of the proposals have been noted and set out above.  They are likely to be visible from within the
Conservation Area.  However, they are flat roofed and the green roofs (if details are conditioned) will help
blend these parts of the proposals with the wider green context of the area, which contributes also to the
character of this part of the Conservation Area.  To that end and given the sites location just outside of the
Conservation Area then it is consider the proposals will preserve the character and appearance of the
Conservation area in accordance with Policy 16 of the NPPF and Section 71 of the Planning (Listed Building
and Conservation Area) Act 1990.

5.2 There are Listed Buildings to the north and the west of the application site, but these are sufficiently
distanced with intervening development so as not to be harmed in terms of their significance by the
development proposed.  The proposal is therefore also in accordance with Policies 16 of the NPPF, DC17 of
the Core Strategy and Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990 in this
regard.

6.0 Other matters

6.1 Ecological implications
Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  There is an expectation

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 294



that development will incorporate biodiversity or geological features where opportunities exist.  The site is
located in the SPA, Stone Curlew buffer.  However, the site is a mowed and well managed site, with built
development progressing to the north of the site.  The views of our ecologist have been sought in this regard
and will be reported to members at the Planning Committee.

6.2  Tree impact
Policy DC12 seeks to preserve the District's trees, hedgerows and other natural features and secure
appropriate landscaping schemes to mitigate the impact of, and complement, new development.  There are
no trees within the application site and some planting to the boundary of the site with the road.  therefore
there are no arboriculture implications and the proposal is considered in accordance with policy DC12.

6.3 Contamination
Policy 15 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should take account of ground conditions and
contamination risk.  The Councils contamination officer raises no objection to the proposals, subject to the
imposition of a standard condition with regards to unexpected contamination and therefore the proposal is
considered in accordance with Policy 15 of the NPPF in this regard.

6.4 Flood Risk
Policy 14 of the NPPF requires seeks to direct new development away from areas at highest risk of flooding
and for new development to not increase flood risk elsewhere.  There is a small area of poor surface water
drainage, in-between the proposal and the neighbouring property to the north.  If permitted, a sustainably
worded surface water drainage condition will ensure any future impacts in this regard do not affect flood risk
elsewhere.  The proposal is therefore considered in accordance with Policy 14 of the NPPF.

7.0  Conclusion

7.1  The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls outside of any
settlement boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the
NPPF and this development would provide a small contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. On this
basis, the other key principle considerations for this proposal must be assessed and whether the site is a
sustainable location for housing and the visual impact on the countryside.

7.2  The site is in close proximity to other dwellings.  The plans indicate that the site can be developed and
due to the presence of dwellings to the north and south and east, given the design principles of the site (barn
like development) the impact will be limited both on the character of the area and the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area. On this basis, the development of the site would not negatively impact
the character and appearance of the countryside or the amenity of the neighbours and therefore complies
with Policy CP 11, DC1 and DC17.

7.3  When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the nature of the site and its
proximity to the existing recently permitted development when weighed against the the small negative harm
created by the site's location outside of the settlement boundary, is considered to be outweighed by the
positive, albeit modest contribution towards housing in the district and due to the aforementioned reasons the
development will not cause significant harm to the street scene or character and appearance of the
countryside.

7.4  In accordance with the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, and therefore the granting of planning permission is recommended.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 295



 

 

RECOMMENDATION

The application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (3 years)
The development must be begun not later that the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning with
the date of this permission.
Reason for Condition:
As required by section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External wall and roof materials to be agreed
No development beyond slab level shall take place until precise details, (including samples
where required), of the materials used in the construction of the external walls and roof(s) of
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  This condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to
these matters that have been given in the current application.  The materials to be used in
the development shall be in accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the colour, tone, texture and appearance of
the materials used to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, as required by
Policy DC 1, DC 16 and DC 17 of the Adopted 7Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 Landscaping scheme to be submitted - hard and
soft
No development shall take place above slab level until full details of both hard and soft
landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority and these works shall be carried out as approved.  These details shall include:
-hard surfacing materials;
-means of enclosure;
-proposed finished levels or contours;
-minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units,
signs, lighting etc,)
Soft landscaping shall include:
-Planting plans;
-Written specifications ( including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and
grass establishment);
-Schedules of planting, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where
appropriate;
-Implementation programme

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 296



Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC12 and DC17 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Access gates - restriction
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order)
(with or without modification), no gates, bollard, chain or other means of obstruction shall be
erected across the approved access unless details have first been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for the condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CP4 of the Breckland Core
Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Provision of parking and servicing - when shown
on plan
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed accesses,
parking and turning areas shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking / manoeuvring area, in the interests of
highway safety.

7 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

8 non standard condition
Prior to development progressing above slab level, full details of the green roofs to the
garage and single storey southern element of the proposals, including planting, species, soil
depth, management and maintenance regime, shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC12 and DC17 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

9 Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 297



 

the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP 9 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009 and Planning Policy
Statement No 23.

11 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 22nd July 2019

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 298



Item. 9(r)  
 
Location:  Tofts Barns, Church Road, Wretham 
 
Proposal: Erection of dwelling and detached garage 
 
REFERENCE: 3PL/2019/0321/F 
 
Applicant: Mr Matthew Freeman 
 
Author: Naomi Minto 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Ecology 
No ecological information has been submitted in support of this application. From publicly available 
aerial sources there appears to be several ponds within 250 metres of the site and an area of woodland 
neighbouring the site and therefore potential for protected species to be present on the site.  
However, the site does not appear to contain suitable habitat for great crested newts, and we 
recommend providing the below informative and conditioning an ecological enhancement plan to 
ensure ‘net gains for nature’ (para 170, NPPF) on the site. 
  
Great Crested Newts – Informative 
“Occasionally European protected species, such as great crested newts, can be found during the course 
of development even when the site appears unlikely to support them or after an ecological survey has 
found no previous evidence of them. In the event that this occurs, it is advised that the developer stops 
work immediately and seeks the advice of a suitability qualified ecological consultant.” 
 
Highways Authority 
Given the extent of other new development locally I will be unlikely to raise an objection in principle 
even though the occupants of the dwelling will be reliant on travelling by car. It is noted that a 
garage/cart shed is to be erected adjacent to Church Road and I am concerned that this may encroach 
on the highway or lie within the visibility splay approved under 3PL/2016/1318. The applicant will 
need to arrange for the highway boundary to be researched and plot this on the drawing, together 
with the 2.4m x 43m visibility splay aforementioned, to prevent any encroachment – including the 
newly planted hedge which is set back around 1.8m from the carriageway edge. Further it is noted 
that the access to be used to serve the property has not been surfaced in accordance with 
3PL/2016/1318 nor visibility provided. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
A condition to be added with regards to ecological enhancement plan (and the great crested newts 
note), as well as for the required visibility splays and the positioning of the garage to be agreed in 
writing prior to construction to ensure the proposal meets the required highways standards. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
The application is recommended for approval subject to conditions detailed in the committee report 
and further conditions with regards to ecology, the positioning of the garage and visibility splays.  
 
 

299



 
Date of list - 11th July 2019

 

List of decisions made by Breckland Council under the agreed terms of delegation.
 
_______________________________________________________________________________

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE

DOC - COMPLETE

3DC/2019/0117/DOC Clayland Estates Ltd ASHILL
Land between
Edelweiss and No6
Hale Road
Ashil

Discharge of Conditions No 3,4,
on 3PL/2017/1077/O Linear
residential development
consisting of 7no dwellings with
separate or integral garages
and carports

3DC/2019/0123/DOC Devonshire BRIDGHAM
6-10(Even) Back
Lane
Bridgham

Confirmation that all conditions
have been discharged on
3PL/2006/1783/F

3DC/2019/0111/DOC Mr Charlie Haller COLKIRK
Proposed
Development Site
Jarvis Drive
Colkirk

Discharge of Conditions 6 & 7
on Erection of Two Dwellings
3PL/2019/0192/F

3DC/2019/0097/DOC Norfolk Land Development
Ltd

DEREHAM
Yaxham Road
Dereham

Discharge of Condition 23 on
3PL/2018/1556/F - Surface
Water Drainage

3DC/2019/0100/DOC Mr Paul Stewart GARBOLDISHAM
Cherry Tree Barn
Harling Road
Garbolisham

Discharge of Condition No 3 on
3PL/2017/1008/F - Materials

3DC/2019/0099/DOC Roger Warnes Transport
Limited

GREAT DUNHAM
Great Dunham Hall
Litcham Road
Great Dunham

Discharge of Conditions 3,5,7,
on 3PL/2018/0046/F

3DC/2019/0102/DOC Mr & Mrs  Thomas GREAT
ELLINGHAM

Discharge of Conditions
3,4,5,6,&12 on

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 300

Agenda Item 10



Orchard House Bow
Street
Great Ellingham

3PL/2017/0556/F

3DC/2019/0103/DOC Mr Gerry Grant GRISTON
Dormer Cottage/Well
Cottage Church
Road
Griston

Discharge of Conditions No 4
on 3PL/2016/1403/D use of
topsoil

3DC/2019/0112/DOC The Trustees of the Lexham
Estate Settlement

LEXHAM
Church Farm Barn
Lexham Road
East Lexham

Discharge of Conditions No 8
on 3PL/2017/1544/F
(Conversion and extension of a
single storey barn to a single
residential dwelling)

3DC/2015/0120/DOC Ben Bailey Homes Midlands SWAFFHAM
Land East of
Brandon Road

Discharge of conditions 3, 5, 7,
9, 10, 15, 16, 17, 19 and 20
3PL/2014/1154/F

3DC/2019/0108/DOC Mr Steve Mellstrom SWAFFHAM
Unit 1a Tower
Meadows
Swaffham

Discharge of Condition No 10
on 3PL/2017/0117/F Erection of
Industrial Unit for B1

3DC/2018/0132/DOC Pigeon Thetford Limited THETFORD
KingsFleet Phase 1 -
Land North West of
A1075
Norwich Road,
Thetford, Croxton &
Kilverstone

Discharge of condition no. 4 (a)
of 3PL/2011/0805/O - Phasing
Programme for Phase 1

3DC/2019/0107/DOC Freeman Historic Properties
Lt

THETFORD
St Mary the Less
Bury road

Discharge of Condition 3 on
3PL/2019/0103/LB

3DC/2019/0109/DOC Freeman Historic Properties
Lt

THETFORD
St Mary the less
Bury Road
Thetford

Discharge of Conditions No 3
on 3PL/2019/0102/F

3DC/2019/0124/DOC Devonshires THETFORD
10 Crown House
Close
Thetford

Confirmation that all conditions
have been discharged on
3PL/2004/0451/F

3DC/2019/0096/DOC Abel Homes Ltd WATTON Discharge of Conditions No 12

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 301



Land Off Watton
Green
Watton

on 3PL/2015/1191/O

3DC/2019/0122/DOC Devonshires WATTON
1-8 Nicosia Court &
38A & 38B Akrotiri
Square
Watton

Confirmation that all conditions
have been discharged on
3PL/2006/0566/F

No Prior Approval

3PN/2019/0028/PNE Mr & Mrs May COCKLEY CLEY
12 Swaffham Road
Cockley Cley

Erection of conservatory to rear
elevation

3PN/2019/0029/PNE Mr Trevor Taylor SHIPDHAM
17 Dereham Road
Shipdham

Single Storey Rear Extension to
Bungalow

3PN/2019/0024/PNE Mr C Hill THETFORD
16 Icknield Way
Thetford

Single storey rear extension to
existing terraced house

Permission

3PL/2019/0568/A East Anglia's Childrens
Hospice

ATTLEBOROUGH
Queens House
Queens Square
Attleborough

Signage to Advertise E A C H
1 Fascia Sign & 5 others (non
illuminated)

3PL/2019/0491/F Mrs Victoria Kemp BANHAM
Stable Block, Mill
Farm, Winfarthing
Road
Winfarthing Road

Erection of  2 x stables

3PL/2019/0535/VAR Mr & Mrs T List BEESTON
Ashtree Farmhouse
Herne Lane
Beeston

Variation of Condition No4 on
3PL/2013/0769/F to include the
use of the building to be used
for accommodating livestock

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 302



and breeding gun dogs in
addition to storage and
maintenance works

3PL/2019/0567/HOU Mr Nick Harvey BRIDGHAM
126 To 136 Manor
Cottages The Street
Bridgham

Creation of Vehicular Access
and parking/turning areas for
126-136 Manor Cottages

3PL/2019/0592/HOU Mr & Mrs James Nash BRISLEY
Tumbleweed School
Road
Brisley

Proposed front extension &
veranda,  conversion of
garage/outhouse (to include
new pitched roof) and
weatherboard cladding of whole
dwelling.

3PL/2019/0485/VAR Scoulton Hall Farms CARBROOKE
Development Plot At
4 The Bungalows
Caston Road
Carbrooke

Raising the height of the roof by
300mm to approved planning
permission 3PL/2018/0217/F to
approved one and a half storey
agricultural workers dwelling

3PL/2019/0559/HOU Mr Mike Kimber & Mrs
George I McCall

CARBROOKE
The Pines
Broadmoor Road
Carbrooke

Garage conversion to
residential accommodation with
first floor extension over former
Garage creating loft storage
room and erection of new
detached single garage in front
garden

3PL/2018/0728/EU Mrs Lynda Kett DEREHAM
18 & 18a
Commercial Road
Dereham

Convert back to a single
dwelling from 2 self contained
flats

3PL/2019/0365/F Quebec Hall Ltd DEREHAM
Quebec Hall Quebec
Road
Dereham

Proposed single storey rear
extension.

3PL/2019/0366/LB Quebec Hall Ltd DEREHAM
Quebec Hall Quebec
Road
Dereham

Proposed single storey rear
extension.

3PL/2019/0463/F Specsavers Optical Stores
UK

DEREHAM
4 Norwich Street
Dereham

5 no. Air conditioning
condensing units to rear of
property

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 303



3PL/2019/0564/HOU Mr Peter Turney DEREHAM
7 George Borrow
Road
Dereham

Single storey rear extension,
solar panels to west elevation,
erection of rear boundary fence
and installation of air source
heat pump unit

3PL/2019/0585/CU Love Dereham DEREHAM
Bennett House 4
Norwich Street
Dereham

Change of use from a retail
premises (A1) to a
counseling/drop in centre for
people with mental health
issues.

3PL/2019/0586/VAR Mr & Mrs Bridgham DEREHAM
Garden House, 5
Stanton Close
Dereham

Variation of Condition Nos 2,4,5
on 3PL/2019/0086/HOU -
Changes to fenestration

3PL/2019/0598/HOU Mr & Mrs  Udal-Barrett DEREHAM
7 Quebec Road
Dereham

Single Storey Rear Extension to
Replace Existing Conservatory.

3PL/2019/0605/HOU Mr & Mrs G Brown DEREHAM
12 Fen View
Toftwood
Dereham

Demolish existing garages and
erect single storey extension to
side

3PL/2019/0409/HOU Mr Daniel Russell EAST TUDDENHAM
Sunnyside Rotten
Row
East Tuddenham

Proposed conservatory to side
of property

3PL/2019/0489/LB Mr Peter Rollin GARBOLDISHAM
Jacques Back Street
Garboldisham

Replace existing front door with
identical design and colour but
better quality wood

3PL/2019/0338/HOU Miss Theresa Downes GREAT
ELLINGHAM
14 Long Street
Great Ellingham

Flat Roof Rear Extension with
Garage conversion and garage
to the front

3PL/2019/0556/HOU Mr & Mrs R. Goodfellow GREAT
ELLINGHAM
12 Long Street
Great Ellingham

Demolishing existing
conservatory and replacing it
with a fully glazed side
extension and covered porch

3PL/2019/0426/F Norfolk Land Development
Ltd

GRISTON
J W Morris
Mouldings Church

Demolition of derelict
workshops (industrial use)
erection of 5no dwellinghouses

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 304



Road
Griston

with associated access and
services

3PL/2019/0469/HOU Mr Ilie Bursuc HARLING
6 The Crescent
Harling

Replace  Timber Windows with
Pilkinton slimlite conservation
sealed units. - 2x Front
windows, 5x Side  windows
1xRear window, plaster the
walls and ceilings in the
bedrooms

3PL/2019/0470/LB Mr Ilie Bursuc HARLING
6 The Crescent
Harling

Replace  Timber Windows with
Pilkinton slimlite conservation
sealed units. - 2x Front
windows, 5x Side  windows
1xRear window, plaster the
walls and ceilings in the
bedrooms

3PL/2019/0574/F Mr & Mrs David Ramstead HARLING
Town Cottage
Garboldisham Road
Harling

New replacement dwelling and
change of use of former
agricultural land to domestic
use.

3PL/2019/0601/D H Clark and T Burgess HILBOROUGH
Development Site
Opp Taylor Barn
Brandon Road
Hilborough

Reserved matters application
for dwelling following outline
approval ref 3PL/2018/1184/O

3PL/2019/0604/LB Mrs Elizabeth Curson MATTISHALL
Talbot House
Church Lane
Mattishall

Replacement of defective
windows and doors

3PL/2019/0357/F Mr Billy Williams NARBOROUGH
Veltshaw Builders
Pentney Road
Narborough

Proposed change of use to
incorporate Class C3
(Residential Use) within existing
Class B1 (Offices) & B8
(Warehousing, Storage &
Distribution) uses

3PL/2019/0511/HOU Mr D Jackman NECTON
23 Ketts Hill
Necton

Single Storey Extension to rear

3PL/2019/0629/A FOOD PROGRAMME
DELIVERY ORCHID

NECTON
CO-OPERATIVE

1 x Internally illuminated Co-op
Logo

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 305



FOOD AND
PETROL
STATIONTUNS
LANE
NECTON

3PL/2019/0579/LB Tracey Woolridge NEW BUCKENHAM
Fair View King
Street
New Buckenham

Alter window (W1) to window &
door and replace window/door
(W2)

3PL/2019/0475/F Black Lion Hotel Ltd NEWTON BY C.
ACRE
George And Dragon
Public House Road
From Swaffham To
Weasenh
Castle Acre

Erection of 5 additional
bedrooms and conference room
(single block C) and single
storey extension to public
house

3PL/2019/0537/F Mr Jermy Ashford NORTH ELMHAM
Orchard House
Pump Street
North Elmham

Brick Build Double Garage 7m x
7m

3PL/2019/0499/LU North Pickenham Community
Project

NORTH
PICKENHAM
St Andrew's Primary
School South
Pickenham Road
North Pickenham

Proposed Use of the Old
School as Community Hub for
use by public use during the
daytime and evenings as
required -  Certificate of
Lawfulness

3PL/2019/0344/VAR C/o NKF Planning
Consultancy Ltd

ROCKLANDS
Griffin Lodge Mill
Lane Rockland All
Saints
Rocklands

Variation of Condition no 2 on
3PL/2017/1225/F approved on
appeal
(APP/F2605/W/18/3203158) -
Enlargement and changes to
approved design of the dwelling

3PL/2019/0609/HOU Mr & Mrs Richard & Laura
Spratt

ROCKLANDS
The Cottage
Attleborough Road
Rockland All Saints
Rocklands

Proposed new rear window to
first floor landing at the rear of
the house

3PL/2019/0621/HOU Mrs S Wood SAHAM TONEY
Sunnybanks
Chequers Lane
Saham Toney

Erection of conservatory to side
of dwelling

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 306



3PL/2019/0566/F Mrs Erica Whettingsteel SCOULTON
Lincoln Barn
Norwich Road
Scoulton

Change of use of agricultural
land to garden land and
erection of ancillary building for
use as winery and store

3PL/2019/0578/HOU Dr & Mrs  Henderson SCOULTON
The Granary
Norwich Road
Scoulton

Proposed single storey
extension

3PL/2019/0288/HOU Mr Michael Macisaac SHIPDHAM
Ambelside New
Road
Shipdham

Rear Porch Extension Single
Storey Brick Construction
Front Door Canopy Timber
Construction Tiled Roof

3PL/2019/0392/HOU Miss Claire Johnson SHIPDHAM
Mill House Mill Road
Shipdham

Proposed Single Storey Side &
Rear Extension, shed and new
access

3PL/2019/0570/F Mr  Dagless SHIPDHAM
Weathervane Farm
Dereham Road
Shipdham

Proposed Change of Use of
0.27 Acres of land and existing
agricultural unit to B2 (car
workshop) and replacement of
a second Agricultural Storage
Shed with a new industrial unit
under Use Class B2 - MOT
(DVSA) Testing.
Resubmission of
3PL/2018/1575/F with
Additional Information

3NM/2019/0041/NMA McDonald's Restaurants Ltd SNETTERTON
Snetterton Park,
Heath Road
Snetterton

Amendment to
3PL/2019/0099/VAR - Removal
of the external wind lobby and
create internal wind lobby

3PL/2019/0016/CU Mr Julian Hammond SPARHAM
Land Adjacent to
Wensum Lodge
Lyng Road
Sparham

Change of use of land to a
Leisure Plot for Private Leisure
purposes ( Retrospective)

3PL/2019/0600/HOU Mr & Mrs J. Corley SPORLE
The Gables 8 The
Street
Sporle

Single storey side/rear
extension

3PL/2019/0534/LB Holmwood House Holdings SWAFFHAM External repairs to failed lintels

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 307



Holmwood House 40
White Cross Road
Swaffham

and other external cracking
using a mixture of re-pointing,
re-building and Helifix repair
techniques to the main two
storey building only.

3PL/2019/0552/HOU Mr  Kimmins SWAFFHAM
9 Nelson Crescent
Swaffham

Single Storey front extension
and new door to the side

3PL/2019/0523/HOU Mr  Holt SWANTON
MORLEY
6 Mason Road
Swanton Morley

Proposed two storey side
extension

3NM/2019/0037/NMA Mr Richard Lines THETFORD
Tanner House
Tanner Street
Thetford

Amendment to pp
3PL/2015/0910/F - to move the
location of the front door on the
furthest left flat from the rear of
the building currently to the
front of the building so the front
door opens on to Tanner Street

3PL/2019/0390/HOU Mr Paul Mudd THETFORD
36 Woodlands Drive
Thetford

Replace the existing Flat Roof
of the ground Floor side
extension and converted
garage room with a pitched tiled
roof to match the existing roof
of the house

3PL/2019/0413/HOU Ms Paula Dean THETFORD
33 Churchill Road
Thetford

Rear Extension and
Replacement Side Extension /
Re-Roofing

3PL/2019/0527/F Greggs plc THETFORD
6 Stapleford Way
Thetford

Two air conditioning condenser
units within fenced bin store
area, and two extract grilles.

3PL/2019/0528/A Greggs plc THETFORD
6 Stapleford Way
Thetford

Three new fascia signs & three
internal posters, community
notice board and grey vinyl
panel

3PL/2019/0544/LU Mr Augustine Paul THETFORD
78 Bury Road
Thetford

External walls of property to be
rendered, plastered and painted
grey (certificate of lawfulness)

3PL/2019/0571/HOU Mr Simon Tofrik THETFORD Conversion of integral garage

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 308



24 Woodruff Road
Thetford

into part storage space and part
additional living room.

3PL/2019/0588/HOU Mr Keith Mindham THETFORD
69 Churchill Road
Thetford

Single storey front extension to
include a larger internal
hallway, lounge and shower
room off the toilet.

3PL/2019/0533/HOU Paula Matthews WATTON
Holly House 1 St
Marys Close
Watton

Erection of a timber framed
open fronted car port

3PL/2019/0577/F Mr David Ellis WATTON
Happy Feet Day
Nursery St Giles
Road
Watton

Change of use of part of
existing car park to garden area
for nursery, including 1.8 close
boarded fence, convert one
existing window to door way for
access to and from the main
building

3PL/2019/0584/VAR Mr John Engleden WATTON
3 & 3A Dereham
Road
Watton

Variation of Condition No 7
3PL/2018/0275/VAR - Revised
siting of 6 parking spaces

3PL/2019/0418/HOU Mr Christopher McCarthy WEASENHAM ALL
SAINTS
101 Rowan House
Church Lane
Weasenham All
Saints

Demolish Existing Double
Garage and replace with new
one in the same place

3PL/2019/0354/VAR Mr & Mrs  Hamilton WELLINGHAM
Manor Farm Cottage
The Street
Wellingham

Variation of Condition No2 on
3PL/2018/0443/HOU various
amendments including removal
of first floor extension

Prior Approval Given

3PN/2019/0022/UC Mr Daisley FRANSHAM
Manor Farm Main
Road
Little Fransham

Change of Use from redundant
Agricultural Buildings to 4
dwellings ( Prior approval
application Class Q ,General
Permitted Development Order

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 309



2015)

Refusal

3PL/2019/0451/LU Mr Spencer Latham BEESTON
Paynes Business
Park, Unit 7a
Dereham Road
Beeston

Installation of an MOT Station
including hydraulic lifts falls
under the same use (Use Class
B2) as the existing unit. -
(Certificate of lawfulness)

3PL/2019/0553/F Mr Tony Westwood BEETLEY
Land at Beetley
Grange Beetley
Grange
Beetley

Two self-build bungalows.

3PL/2019/0432/O Mr & Mrs T  Wood HOE
Land Adjacent
Woodview Lodge
Fakenham Road
Hoe

Erection of Two detached
Single Storey Dwellings and
Garages

3PL/2019/0287/F Mr Des Hunt OLD BUCKENHAM
Poplar Farm Fen
Road
Old Buckenham

Demolish Existing  agricultural
building and construct new
residential dwelling

3PL/2019/0056/F Mr Henry Hewson SCARNING
Former Dereham
Water Supplies
International Ltd
Bradenham Lane

Conversion of existing office to
a dwelling and erection of
garage; conversion of existing
workshop building to three
dwellings and erection of
garage; erection of two houses
and garages

3PL/2019/0522/F Mr Mick Jolly WATTON
Land adjacent 1East
Road
Watton

Erection of two storey dwelling

Withdrawn INVALID

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 310



3PL/2019/0813/VAR Mr Paul Rutter ROCKLANDS
Yeomans Cottage
1 Low Lane
Rockland All Saints

Discharge of condition 3 of
3PL/2019/0130/VAR

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 311



APPEALS SUMMARY- JULY 2019

3PL/2018/0924/O- Church Lane, Stanfield, Norfolk (Proposed residential development 
for 4 dwelligs)

DISMISSED

The key issues of consideration were whether this would be an appropriate location for four 
dwellings proposed, with regard to (i) accessibility to services and facilities (ii) the character 
and appearance of the area (iii) the safety of highway users and (iv) the effects on 
biodiversity. In terms of accessibility the site is immediately outside the settlement boundary 
defined for Stanfield as such the proposal conflicts with Policies DC2 and CP14 of the Core 
Strategy. Access to a regular bus service is not within convenient walking distance of the 
site, apart from the church, there are little or no services or facilities within the adjacent 
village. The occupiers of the dwellings would be highly dependent on private car use to meet 
daily needs for matters such as shopping, schooling or employment. There would be 
significant harm arising from locating 4 dwellings within such relatively poor accessibility to 
services and where frequent private car journeys would be essential. The proposal would 
conflict with Policy SS1 which is to focus most residential development in higher order 
settlements where there are services present. In terms of impact on character and 
appearance of the area extending the existing ribbon of development along Church Lane 
further into the open countryside would inevitably harm its intrinsic beauty and detract from 
the present character and appearance of the village contrary to Policies CP11, CP14 and 
DC16. 

There were no issues raised regarding highway safety or biodiversity. In terms of the overall 
planning balance the proposal fails the environmental objectives in the Framework by 
conflicting with the general aim to promote sustainable transport and to actively manage 
patterns of growth in support of these objectives. In addition there would be environmental 
harm arising from the adverse impact of development within the countryside in terms of 
impact on the intrinsic character and beauty.  In conclusion the Inspector found that the 
adverse environmental impacts found would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
small social and economic benefits deriving from 4 dwellings. The appeal was accordingly 
dismissed.

3PL/2018/0549/0- Land south of Swaffham Road, Wendling (Erection of two dwellings)

DISMISSED

The Inspector considered the main issues are (i) the effect of the development on the 
character and appearance of the area (ii) the effect on highway safety (iii) Whether or not the 
appeal site is in an accessible location. With regards impact on the character and 
appearance of the area the Inspector reasoned that the proposal would be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the area. It would therefore be contrary to Policy CP11 of the 
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies 2009. In terms of highway safety the 
Inspector considered that the proposal would be harmful to highway safety contrary to Policy 
CP4 of the DPD and paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework. These 
require that access and safety concerns are resolved in all new developments and that safe 

312

Agenda Item 11



and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users. In terms of accessibility of the 
appeal site, whilst the accessibility of the appeal site is less than ideal, it is not so poor that it 
has to be regarded as obviously unsustainable. The Inspector found no fundamental conflict 
with paragraphs 78, 79 and 103 of the Framework in respect of the countryside location. In 
conclusion the Inspector concluded that the proposed development would be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the area and highway safety. These impacts would be contrary 
to the environmental and social roles to which significant weight was given. The adverse 
impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal when 
assessed against the Framework taken as a whole.The appeal was accordingly dismissed.

313


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Deferred Applications
	8a Dereham: Rear of Greenfields Road: Reference: 3PL/2016/0952/O
	Agenda item 8a Dereham

	8b Dereham:  Land East of Yaxham Road, South of Dumpling Green: Reference: 3PL/2010/1361/F - THIS APPLICATION HAS BEEN DEFERRED UNTIL THE SEPTEMBER MEETING
	8c Watton: Rear of 121A, Brandon Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1087/F
	Agenda item 8c Watton

	8d Yaxham: The Old Post Office, Norwich Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0312/F
	9a Banham: Land to the south of Kenninghall Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0091/D
	9b Beeston: Land at Syers Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0424/VAR
	Agenda item 9b Beeston

	9c Billingford: Old Bells Farm, Elmham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1254/O
	9d Carbrooke: Land to the rear of The Crown House, Meadow Lane: Reference: 3PL/2019/0596/F
	Agenda item 9d Carbrooke

	9e Griston: 1 Watton Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1361/O
	Agenda item 9e Griston

	9f Lynford: Lynford Gardens, Lynford Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0576/F
	9g Mileham: Litcham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1564/O
	Agenda item 9g Mileham

	9h Narborough:  Land to the west of Chalk Lane: Reference: 3PL/2015/1180/O
	9i North Lopham: Land at Meadow Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1118/F
	Agenda item 9i North Lopham

	9j North Lopham: Church Farm, Church Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0608/VAR
	Agenda item 9j North Lopham

	9k Quidenham: Land at Station Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1608/D
	Agenda item 9K Quidenham

	9l Rocklands: Land South of The Street, Rockland All Saints: Reference: 3PL/2018/1533/O
	9m Swaffham: Land on the East of Brandon Road: Reference: 3OB/2019/0018/OB
	Agenda item 9m Swaffham

	9n Swaffham: Great Friars Farm, Silver Drift: Reference: 3PL/2019/0152/VAR
	9o Swaffham: Silver Drift, Reference: 3PL/2019/0154/F
	9p Watton:  Land at Thetford Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0952/O
	Agenda item 9p Watton

	9q Whissonsett: The Paddocks, London Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/0408/F
	9r Wretham: Toft Barns, Church Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0321/F
	Agenda item 9r Wretham

	10 Applications determined by the Executive Director of Place
	11 Appeals (for information)

